# CHALLENGES IN INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE: CURRENT, FUTURE AND UNMET NEEDS

EDITED BY: Antonietta G. Gravina and Fabiana Zingone PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine and Frontiers in Public Health









#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-771-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-771-7

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## CHALLENGES IN INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE: CURRENT, FUTURE AND UNMET NEEDS

Topic Editors: Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Fabiana Zingone, University of Padua, Italy

**Citation:** Gravina, A. G., and Zingone, F., eds. (2022). Challenges in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current, Future and Unmet Needs. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-771-7

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Challenges in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current, Future and Unmet Needs

Antonietta Gerarda Gravina, Raffaele Pellegrino and Fabiana Zingone

- Relationship Between Patient Sex and Serum Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonist Drug and Anti-drug Antibody Concentrations in Inflammatory Bowel Disease; A Nationwide Cohort Study
   Mohammad Shehab, Hajer Alasfour, Israa Abdullah, Ghadeer Alhendi, Anwar Alhadab, Ahmad Alfadhli, Ali H. Ziyab and Robert Battat
- 17 Delayed Infliximab Treatment Affects the Outcomes of Patients With Crohn's Disease During the COVID-19 Epidemic in China: A Propensity Score-Matched Analysis

Yong Li, Lulu Chen, Shuijiao Chen and Xiaowei Liu

- 24 Perceived Stigma and Self-Efficacy of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease-Related Stoma in China: A Cross-Sectional Study Yuting Wang, Shuyan Li, Jianfeng Gong, Lei Cao, Dingting Xu, Qiao Yu, Xiaoying Wang and Yan Chen
- Inflammatory Indexes for Assessing the Severity and Disease Progression of Ulcerative Colitis: A Single-Center Retrospective Study
   Hanyang Lin, Zhaohui Bai, Qiong Wu, Guiyang Chu, Yongguo Zhang, Xiaozhong Guo and Xingshun Qi
- 44 Clinico-Epidemiological Characteristics of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Egypt: A Nationwide Multicenter Study Mohamed Elbadry, Mohamed O. Nour, Mohamed Hussien, Elsayed Awad Ghoneem, Mohammed A. Medhat, Hany Shehab, Sherif Galal, Mohamed Eltabbakh, Fathiya El-Raey, Mohamed Negm, Shimaa Afify, Walaa Abdelhamed, Ahmed Sherief, Ahmed Abdelaziz, Mohamed Abo Elkasem, Aya Mahrous, Ghada Kamal, Maha Maher, Omar Abdel-Hameed, Abubakr Elbasuny, Islam El-Zayyadi, Ahmed Bassiony, Abdelmajeed Moussa, Essam Bedewy, Asem Elfert and Mohamed El Kassas
- 54 Ulcerative Colitis: Novel Epithelial Insights Provided by Single Cell RNA Sequencing

Joao M. Serigado, Jennifer Foulke-Abel, William C. Hines, Joshua A Hanson, Julie In and Olga Kovbasnjuk

66 Crohn's Disease Complicated by Rare Types of Intestinal Obstruction: Two Case Reports

Kai Xia, Renyuan Gao, Xiaocai Wu, Yu Ruan, Jian Wan, Tianqi Wu, Fangtao Wang, Yin Lin, Lu Yin and Chunqiu Chen

72 The Impact of Intestinal Ultrasound on the Management of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: From Established Facts Toward New Horizons Olga Maria Nardone, Giulio Calabrese, Anna Testa, Anna Caiazzo, Giuseppe Fierro, Antonio Rispo and Fabiana Castiglione

#### 81 Overview of Three Proliferation Pathways (Wnt, Notch, and Hippo) in Intestine and Immune System and Their Role in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBDs)

Seyed Mobin Khoramjoo, Nesa Kazemifard, Shaghayegh Baradaran Ghavami, Maryam Farmani, Shabnam Shahrokh, Hamid Asadzadeh Aghdaei, Ghazal Sherkat and Mohammad Reza Zali

90 Impact of BNT162b2 mRNA Vaccination on the Development of Short and Long-Term Vaccine-Related Adverse Events in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Multi-Center Prospective Study

Mohammad Shehab, Fatema Alrashed, Israa Abdullah, Ahmad Alfadhli, Hamad Ali, Mohamed Abu-Farha, Arshad Mohamed Channanath, Jehad Ahmed Abubaker and Fahd Al-Mulla

97 Impact of Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and IBD Medications on Risk of Hyperlipidemia and in vitro Hepatic Lipogenic-Related Gene Expression: A Population-Based Cohort Study

Ni Tien, Tien-Yuan Wu, Cheng-Li Lin, Chia-Jui Wu, Chung-Y Hsu, Yi-Jen Fang and Yun-Ping Lim

110 Immunogenicity of BNT162b2 Vaccine Booster Dose in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Receiving Infliximab Combination Therapy: A Prospective Observational Study

Mohammad Shehab, Fatema Alrashed, Ahmad Alfadhli, Abdulwahab Alsayegh, Usama Aldallal, Mariam Alsayegh, Preethi Cherian, Irina Alkhair, Thangavel Alphonse Thanaraj, Arshad Channanath, Ali A. Dashti, Anwar Albanaw, Hamad Ali, Mohamed Abu-Farha, Jehad Abubaker and Fahd Al-Mulla

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Arch Mainous, University of Florida, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE Antonietta Gerarda Gravina antoniettagerarda.gravina@ unicampania.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 27 June 2022 ACCEPTED 06 July 2022 PUBLISHED 18 July 2022

#### CITATION

Gravina AG, Pellegrino R and Zingone F (2022) Editorial: Challenges in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current, Future and Unmet Needs. *Front. Med.* 9:979535. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.979535

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gravina, Pellegrino and Zingone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Editorial: Challenges in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current, Future and Unmet Needs

Antonietta Gerarda Gravina<sup>1</sup>\*, Raffaele Pellegrino<sup>1</sup> and Fabiana Zingone<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Hepatogastroenterology Unit, Department of Precision Medicine, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Naples, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Surgery, Oncology, and Gastroenterology, University of Padova, Padua, Italy

#### KEYWORDS

Inflammatory Bowel Disease, Crohn's Disease, Ulcerative Colitis, biologic therapy, COVID-19

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Challenges in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Current, Future and Unmet Needs

## Introduction

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD), to which Crohn's Disease (CD) and Ulcerative Colitis (UC) belong, are chronic digestive disorders with a natural history of remittingrecurrent course that can directly impact the patient's quality of life. UC is limited to the colon and rectum with continuous and non-transmural involvement while CD has a much more complex disease topography as it can affect the entire gastrointestinal tract from the mouth to the anus with discontinuous and transmural involvement. IBD are associated with numerous extra-intestinal manifestations (such as articular, ocular, cutaneous, urogenital, and cardiorespiratory) that greatly complicate the basic clinical picture resulting in a disease phenotype that can be extremely varied. Treatment relies on pharmacological, nutritional even surgical interventions. Often the patient, in case of intolerance or failure of conventional therapy or in case of dependence or refractoriness to steroid therapy, undergoes immunosuppressive therapy also with biologic drugs. The latter have positively revolutionized the prognosis and course of IBD. However, IBD patients on immunosuppressive therapy are exposed to a wide range of infectious agents for which appropriate preventive measures are recommended, even considering the incipient Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome CoronaVirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic. The purpose of this Research Topic was to gather new evidence on the complex needs of patients with IBD.

## **Current and future IBD needs**

Having a non-single-perspective view of the IBD patients but looking at them from a multidimensional perspective contemplating intra-individual, inter-individual, and international differences, is certainly merit that research must constantly pursue. Some of the papers on our Research Topic have helped in this regard.

Elbadry et al., for example, studied the clinicepidemiological characteristics of Egyptian IBD patients in a large sample of 1,104 patients, observing, among various findings, a greater presence of male patients. Always staying within the gender characteristics Shehab et al. found, in a retrospective multicenter study of more than one thousand patients, that in IBD patients on therapy with Infliximab, anti-drug antibody levels were higher in males than in females. Confirming the finding, trough levels were also lower in the male sex. The same finding was not confirmed for adalimumab.

Among the needs of IBD patients are those undergoing stoma placement, who are adapting to a new routine and new disease management with no small psychological repercussions, which have to be of extreme interest. Wang et al. observed in a stoma court of IBD patients how there is a moderate degree of perceived stigma with a low-moderate level of self-efficacy that increased in patients with higher educational status. Having a close person who accepts the stoma helps the patient in relative self-awareness and self-acceptance.

Special attention should be also paid to patients with CD at risk of common complications, including stenosis and intestinal obstruction. Xia et al. presented two clinical cases, of which in one there was endoscopic capsule retention in the small bowel of a patient with CD with concomitant bowel obstruction and, in the second case of a patient with a CD with rare intestinal obstruction from mesangial hernia and ileal stenosis. Both cases were treated with minimally invasive surgery. Thus, the authors emphasized careful evaluation of bowel patency by the clinician before performing an endoscopic video capsule.

Nardone et al. provided us with a detailed review of the role of intestinal ultrasound in the clinical management of IBD, also providing insights into the detection of post-surgical recurrence in CD. Tien et al. conducted, moreover, a retrospective study investigating the impact of IBD and specific IBD therapy on the risk of developing hyperlipidemia, comparing more than 10,000 patients with IBD with a control group. Within the IBD group, the subgroup not receiving any therapy presented an increased risk compared with patients being treated for IBD. IBD therapy appeared to downregulate the expression of hepatic lipogenic genes and, therefore, the authors stigmatized screening for hyperlipidemia in the management of IBD. Certainly, the study of non-invasive markers to monitor and assess the severity of IBD is important for our clinical practice. Lin et al. found, by examining different indices, how some of these including the C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio and C-reactive proteinto-albumin ratio can help in this field.

Khoramjoo et al., in addition, in an interesting mini-review examined the role of three proliferative pathways namely Wnt, Notch, and Hippo in IBD. This assumption draws its origin in the impairment and dysregulation of these pathways in IBD. Indeed, it emerged how these pathways are essential in maintaining an adequate bowel epithelial barrier that is impaired in inflammatory digestive diseases such as IBD. Modern techniques, such as Single Cell RNA Sequencing, have added knowledge to IBD pathogenesis. Serigado et al. have reviewed the role of this technique and found how it can provide remarkable potential in characterizing the different cytologic subpopulations involved in the pathogenesis of UC (such as BEST4+ cells, colonic M cells).

# The problem of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic

Coronavirus pandemic disease 2019 (COVID-19) has inevitably resulted in treatment delays in IBD patients, especially those on biologic agent therapies. Li et al. provided a retrospective study that examined the risk factors for delaying treatment with Infliximab in patients with CD, with a propensity-matching score, to compare the effects of the same delay on short- and long-term outcomes. They identified a treatment delay rate, in a retrospective cohort of 53 patients, of 71.7% in Xiangya Hospital, China. They found that the CD Activity Index decreased less, over the course of the study time, in the delayed-treatment patient group with a higher long-term hospital readmission rate increased by 33%.

The safety of patients with IBD, especially on immunosuppressive therapy toward infectious risk is relevant, particularly considering the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic status.

Shehab et al. studied the safety of the vaccine by examining short- (within 3 weeks of vaccine administration) and long-term (within 24 weeks) adverse events in a sample of 408 subjects (50% allocated in the IBD group and 50% in a sample of healthy controls). A good safety profile and absence of serious adverse events emerged with some local adverse events (pain at the injection site observed in patients with IBD after the first dose and fatigue after the second dose). An additional possibility is, as described in previous evidence, that patients on immunomodulating therapies, may present an attenuated antibody responses after anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. Again Shehab et al. studied, in 162 patients on combination therapy (with azathioprine) with Infliximab, the immunogenicity of the vaccine and observed how the levels of specific anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG as well as neutralizing Ig were significantly higher in recipients of a third booster dose than in those vaccinated

with only two doses. They also observed how the booster dose increased the rate of patients who developed positive anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibodies (96.5 vs. 90%) and neutralizing antibodies (100 vs. 88.9%).

## Author contributions

AG and FZ contributed equally to the editorial process of this Research Topic and the drafting of this editorial. AG, RP, and FZ equally contributed to the writing this manuscript. All authors of approved contributed article to the and the submitted version.

#### Acknowledgments

The editors are extremely grateful to all the authors who made contributions and participated in this Research Topic. We thank all the reviewers who engaged in deep peer-review work in a prompt, fast, effective, and constructive form. We would also like to thank Dr. Alain P. Gobert, from Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States, who edited a manuscript that was included in this Research Topic.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.





## Relationship Between Patient Sex and Serum Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonist Drug and Anti-drug Antibody Concentrations in Inflammatory Bowel Disease; A Nationwide Cohort Study

Mohammad Shehab<sup>1\*</sup>, Hajer Alasfour<sup>2</sup>, Israa Abdullah<sup>2</sup>, Ghadeer Alhendi<sup>2</sup>, Anwar Alhadab<sup>2</sup>, Ahmad Alfadhli<sup>1</sup>, Ali H. Ziyab<sup>3</sup> and Robert Battat<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Mubarak Alkabeer University Hospital, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmacy, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>3</sup> Department of Community Medicine and Behavioral Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>4</sup> Jill Roberts Center for Inflammatory Bowel Disease, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, New York, Presbyterian-Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY, United States

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Borja Hernández-Breijo, University Hospital La Paz Research Institute (IdiPAZ), Spain Ivan Guerra, Fuenlabrada University Hospital, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Mohammad Shehab dr\_mshehab@hotmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 25 October 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 23 December 2021

#### Citation:

Shehab M, Alasfour H, Abdullah I, Alhendi G, Alhadab A, Alfadhli A, Ziyab AH and Battat R (2021) Relationship Between Patient Sex and Serum Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonist Drug and Anti-drug Antibody Concentrations in Inflammatory Bowel Disease; A Nationwide Cohort Study. Front. Med. 8:801532. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.801532 **Background:** Anti-drug antibodies to infliximab (ATI) and adalimumab (ATA) are associated with loss of response to tumor necrosis factor antagonist (anti-TNF) therapy in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). We evaluated the relationship between patient sex and serum TNF antagonist drug and antibody concentrations in inflammatory bowel disease.

**Methods:** A nationwide multicenter retrospective cohort study was conducted by evaluating patients' charts from July 2018 until September 2021. The effect of patient sex on anti-drug antibodies and serum drug concentration in patients with IBD across seven hospitals was investigated. A subgroup analysis also investigated the effect of anti-TNF combination therapy. Geometric means were calculated, and multiple linear regression was used to estimate the adjusted ratio of geometric means (RoGM) and their 95% confidence intervals (CI).

**Results:** In the total study sample (n = 1093), males receiving infliximab had higher anti-drug antibody concentrations (38.3 vs. 22.3 AU/ml; aRoGM = 1.72, 95% CI: 1.30–2.27, p < 0.001) compared to females. Additionally, infliximab serum drug concentrations among males were lower compared to females (2.6 vs. 4.1 ug/ml; aRoGM = 0.62, 95% CI: 0.44–0.88, p = 0.007). In the subgroup analysis (n = 359), male compared to female patients on combination therapy with infliximab and immunomodulators had similar anti-drug antibody concentrations (30.2 vs. 21.9 AU/ml; aRoGM = 1.38, 95% CI: 0.79–2.40, p = 0.254). There was no difference in the anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentrations among males and females on adalimumab.

**Conclusion:** In patients receiving infliximab, anti-drug antibodies were higher in males than females. Consistent with this, serum drug concentrations were lower in males than females on infliximab. There was no difference in anti-drug antibody and serum drug

8

concentrations among males and females on adalimumab. In addition, no difference in anti-drug antibodies between males and females receiving anti-TNF combination therapy was observed.

Keywords: IBD, TDM (therapeutic drug monitoring), anti-TNF agent, sex, immunogenicity

## INTRODUCTION

Tumor necrosis factor antagonist (anti-TNF) therapies are commonly used for the management of moderate to severe inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (1-4). However, about one-third of patients treated with anti-TNF therapy develop primary treatment failure (primary non-response), in which a lack of response is observed in induction therapy (5, 6). Furthermore, approximately half of patients with initial response may experience secondary loss of response by losing treatment effect during the maintenance of remission (7). One of the most common causes of treatment failure is immunogenicity, the formation of anti-drug antibodies, which is also associated with low or undetectable drug serum concentrations (8, 9). The serum drug concentrations of anti-TNF therapy might also vary depending on the severity of the disease, degree of inflammation, concurrent use of immunomodulator, patient sex, serum albumin concentration, body mass index (BMI), and genetic factors (7, 8).

Previous data show that anti-drug antibodies exist in over 20% of IBD patients treated with anti-TNF therapy (10). Additionally, patient sex and body weight significantly influence the pharmacokinetics of infliximab as its clearance has been shown to be increased in the presence of anti-drug antibodies and low serum albumin (11). On the other hand, combination therapy, the concurrent administration of an immunomodulator with an anti-TNF, has been associated with improvement in pharmacokinetics by decreasing immunogenicity and increasing serum drug concentrations (1-4). With respect to infliximab, the SONIC and UC-SUCCESS trials demonstrated that the use of infliximab combination therapy is superior to monotherapy in reducing immunogenicity and maintaining remission (12, 13). Conversely, DIAMOND trial and two other meta-analyses, by Kopylov et al. and Chalhoub et al., demonstrated that adalimumab combination therapy is associated with limited impact on maintenance of clinical remission or response (3, 14-16). When considering anti-TNF therapy for pediatric patients with IBD, the ECCO-ESPGHAN guidelines recommend the use of infliximab combination therapy, with an immunomodulator, to reduce the risk of developing anti-drug antibodies to infliximab (ATI). However, for adalimumab, it is preferred to be prescribed as a monotherapy when started as the first anti-TNF agent in children (17, 18). When combination therapy is used in pediatric patients, it is recommended to stop the concomitant use of the immunomodulator after 6-12 months, and the benefits of continuing combination therapy should be weighed against the risk of adverse events (17).

A large-scale real world studies with patient-level data are lacking on the relationship between patient sex and anti-TNF therapy and anti-drug antibody concentrations. Additionally, the impact of combination therapy on anti-TNF pharmacokinetics when accounting for sex has not been described. To address these knowledge gaps, this study utilized a large cohort with patient level data to determine the relationship between patient sex and immunogenicity of infliximab and adalimumab when accounting for important factors such as albumin and concomitant immunomodulator use.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design**

A nationwide multicenter retrospective cohort study was conducted to measure the effect of patient sex on anti-TNF anti-drug antibodies and serum drug concentrations in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). A subgroup analysis was performed at an inflammatory bowel disease center, Mubarak al-Kabeer Hospital, for patients who received either infliximab or adalimumab monotherapy or in combination with an immunomodulator. This study was performed and reported in accordance with Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines (19). The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the standing committee for coordination of health and medical research at the ministry of health of Kuwait (IRB 2020/1410).

We included patients that: (1) were previously diagnosed with inflammatory bowel disease (2) had been tested for an anti-drug antibody and/or serum drug trough concentrations reactively or proactively and (3) were receiving an anti-TNF therapy for at least 6 weeks at the time of measurement. (4) who received regular standard dose anti-TNF therapy. Proactive therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) testing was at week 6 for adalimumab and at week 14 for infliximab. Reactive TDM testing was perfumed at trough levels, before next scheduled dose. Any random testing, beyond the above scheduled times, were excluded. Both serum drug and anti-drug antibody concentrations were measured at the same time. Patients who had past medical history of other autoimmune diseases, such as inflammatory arthritis, or were on immunosuppressant therapies for other non IBD medical conditions were excluded. The data were collected from patients' electronic medical records from seven different hospitals (Mubarak al-Kabeer Hospital, Alamiri Hospital, Farwaniya Hospital, Aladan Hospital, Jahra Hospital, Alsabah Hospital, and Kuwait Oil Company Hospital). Data were collected from July 22nd, 2018 until September 1st, 2021. A subgroup analysis, from the total sample, was performed at an inflammatory bowel disease center, Mubarak al-Kabeer Hospital, for patients who received either infliximab or adalimumab combination or monotherapy.

Patient's characteristics were obtained from patient's electronic medical records including age, body mass index (BMI), type and extent of IBD at the time of serum drug/antibody concentration measurements.

<b>TABLE 1</b>   Characteristics of total study sample and subsample with information
on combination therapy use.

Variable	Total study sample $(n = 1,093)$	Subsample* (n = 359)
Age (years)		
Median (interquartile range)	26.0 (19.0–36.0)	25.0 (19.0–39.0
Age group, <i>n</i> (%)		
≤16	197 (18.0)	61 (17.00)
17–40	719 (65.8)	238 (66.3)
>40	177 (16.2)	60 (16.7)
Sex, n (%)		
Male	567 (51.9)	187 (52.1)
Female	526 (48.1)	172 (47.9)
Ethnicity, n (%)		
Middle East	1,007 (92)	330 (91.9)
Others	86 (7.9)	29 (8.1)
Median body mass index (BMI), median (IQR)	23.1 (22.0–24.2)	23.2 (23.0–24.0
Ulcerative colitis (UC), n (%)	486 (44.5)	161 (44.8)
E1: ulcerative proctitis	50 10)	16 (10)
E2: left sided UC	147 (30)	48 (30)
E3: Extensive colitis	289 (60)	97 (60)
Crohn's disease (CD), n (%)	607 (55.5)	198 (55.2)
L1: ileal CD	280 (46)	89 (45)
L2: colonic CD	55 (9)	18 (9)
L3: ileocolonic CD	242 (40)	79 (40)
L4: upper gastrointestinal CD	30 (5)	12 (6)
B1: non-stricturing,	285 (47)	91(46)
non-penetrating CD	200 (11)	01(10)
B2: stricturing CD	158 (26)	49 (25)
B3: penetrating CD	164 (27)	58 (29)
Median infliximab therapy duration (years), median (IQR)	4.2 (4.0–4.2)	4.3 (4.0–4.4)
Median adalimumab therapy duration (years), median (IQR)	4.6 (4.0–4.6)	4.5 (4.0–4.6)
Anti-TNF drug, <i>n</i> (%)		
Infliximab	461(42.2%)	147(40.9%)
Adalimumab	632 (57.8%)	212 (59.1%)
Infliximab serum concentration, (ug/ml)		
Geometric mean (95% Cl)	3.3 (2.7-4.1)	2.3 (1.6–3.3)
Sample size, (n)	(461)	(147)
Adalimumab serum concentration, (ug/ml)		
Geometric mean (95% Cl)	8.4 (7.4–9.5)	8.4 (7.0–10.3)
Sample size, (n)	(565)	(201)
Anti-Infliximab antibody serum levels, (A	AU/ml)	
Geometric mean (95% Cl)	29.0 (24.9–33.8)	25.0 (18.8–33.2
Sample size, (n)	(461)	(147)
Anti-Adalimumab antibody serum levels	s, (AU/ml)	
Geometric mean (95% Cl)	12.2 (10.9–13.7)	11.0 (9.2–13.1)
Sample size, (n)	(631)	(212)
Active inflammation $n$ (%)	. ,	. ,
Yes	125 (11)	43 (12)
		(Continue

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Variable	Total study sample (n = 1,093)	Subsample* (n = 359)
No	965 (88)	314 (87)
Missing, (n)	3	2
Anti-TNF combination therapy use, n (%	b)	
Yes	NA	226 (62.9%)
No	NA	133 (37.1%)

Cl, confidence interval; NA, data not available.

\*Subsample includes patients with information on immunomodulators (combination therapy).

Diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) was made according to the international classification of diseases (ICD-10 version: 2016). Patients were considered to have IBD when they had ICD-10 K50, K50.1, K50.8, K50.9 corresponding to Crohn's disease (CD) and ICD-10 K51, K51.0, K51.2, K51.3, K51.5, K51.8, K51.9 corresponding to ulcerative colitis (UC) (20).

#### **Study Definitions**

Patients were considered to have active inflammation if they have one of the following within 14 days from serum drug/antibody concentration measurements: (1) C-reactive protein (CRP) levels above 10 mg/L or (2) stool fecal calprotectin (Fcal) more than 250 ug/g or (3) receiving steroids. Patients were considered to be receiving steroids if they were concomitantly receiving budesonide, methylprednisolone, hydrocortisone, prednisone/prednisolone, or any steroidal agent. Moreover, patients who received an immunomodulator (such as azathioprine, 6-mercaptopurine or methotrexate) concurrently with an anti-TNF therapy were classified to be on combination therapy while patients on infliximab or adalimumab alone were classified to be on monotherapy.

Anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentration samples from all the hospitals were measured at one central immunology laboratory. A drug-tolerant, the homogeneous mobility shift assay (HMSA) was used for all study participants. Anti-drug antibodies were considered detectable at levels >5 AU/ml for infliximab or >10 AU/ml for adalimumab. Additionally, serum drug concentrations/antibody levels were collected only at trough levels, i.e., before the next scheduled dose. A serum drug level of  $\geq$ 5, and  $\geq$ 7.5 ug/ml was considered therapeutic for infliximab and adalimumab, respectively. Trough serum drug and antidrug antibody concentrations were performed either reactively, e.g., due to treatment failure, or proactively to optimize therapy, e.g., at week 14 for infliximab, as per each physician clinical judgment and practice.

#### Outcomes

The primary outcome was to compare anti-drug antibody levels between male and female patients on infliximab and adalimumab. In addition, the association between patient sex and serum drug concentration for infliximab and adalimumab was evaluated. Secondary outcomes, in sub-analyses, evaluated the impact of combination therapy among male and female patients on infliximab or adalimumab anti-drug antibody levels. The association between serum drug concentration and combination therapy in both sexes was estimated as well. Moreover, combination therapy was compared to monotherapy in terms of anti-drug antibody levels and serum drug concentration.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). The statistical significance level was set to  $\alpha =$ 0.05 for all association analyses. Descriptive analyses were conducted to calculate frequencies and proportions of categorical variables in the total study sample (n = 1,093) and subsample, which was part of the main total sample, (n = 359). To account for skewed distribution of the continuous variables (i.e., serum drug concentrations, and anti-drug antibodies), geometric means were estimated by log<sub>10</sub>-transformation of the data and subsequently taking the antilog of the calculated means on the transformed scale (21). Correlations between anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentration according to anti-TNF drug type (infliximab and adalimumab) were assessed using Spearman correlation coefficients (r). In the total study sample analysis, the effect of patient sex on anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentrations of both adalimumab and infliximab was assessed. In the subsample analysis, the effect of patient sex on infliximab and adalimumab use in combination or alone on anti-drug antibody levels and serum drug concentrations was assessed.

Associations of adalimumab and infliximab with  $log_{10}$ transformed anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentration (outcome variables) were evaluated using multiple linear regression models. Associations were assessed in the total sample and stratified by sex. In the total sample analysis, associations were adjusted for the effects of sex and age at assessment. In the subgroup analysis, associations were adjusted for sex, age at assessment, and active inflammation. In the sex stratified analysis, associations were adjusted for the effects of active inflammation and age at assessment. Given that we regressed log<sub>10</sub>-transformed anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentration, taking the antilog of the linear regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ) yields an adjusted ratio of geometric means (aRoGM), not the difference between geometric means. Hence, the related 95% confidence intervals (CIs) represent limits for RoGM with a null value of "1." Anti-drug antibodies and serum drug concentrations were analyzed as continuous variables while applying log-transformation to account for skewness in the data and maximize the value of the continuous measurements (see Discussion).

Additional analyses were conducted to determine whether albumin can be a confounder of the assessed associations. Albumin was categorized as normal ( $\geq$ 40 g/L) and abnormal (<40 g/L). The association of albumin (normal vs. abnormal) with anti-drug antibodies to infliximab and adalimumab was assessed by applying the Wilcoxon rank sum test. This analysis allowed us to determine whether concentrations of anti-drug antibodies differ across albumin categories. Moreover, albumin was added to the multiple linear regression models to determine if confounding is present.

## RESULTS

#### Demographics

In total, 1,093 patients [567 (51.9%) males] were included in the total study sample analysis and a total of 359 patients [187 (52.1%) males] were included in the subsample analysis. The total study sample and the subsample were similar in all characteristics investigated. Of the total study sample, 42.2% of patients were on infliximab and 57.8% were on adalimumab. Similarly, in the subsample, 40.9 and 59.1% of patients were on infliximab and adalimumab, respectively (**Table 1**). Among patients in the subsample, 62.9% used anti-TNF combination therapy.

TABLE 2 | Anti-drug antibody serum levels stratified by sex according to monotherapy and combination therapy for infliximab and adalimumab use: inter-sex comparisons.

			Anti-dru	ig antibody serum levels	s, Au/ml	
		Males		Females		
Drug	n	Geometric mean* (95% Cl)	n	Geometric mean (95% Cl)	Ratio of geometric means* (95% Cl) [M vs. F]	P-value
Total sample						
Infliximab	233	38.3 (31.4–46.6)	228	22.3 (18.2–27.2)	1.72 (1.30–2.27)	< 0.001
Adalimumab	333	11.1 (9.4–13.1)	298	13.3 (11.2–15.9)	0.84 (0.66-1.06)	0.147
Subsample <sup>†</sup>						
Infliximab	14	106.5 (47.9–236.6)	19	24.2 (12.0–49.0)	4.39 (1.58–12.25)	0.005
Infliximab + IM	66	30.2 (20.0-45.6)	48	21.9 (13.8–34.9)	1.38 (0.79–2.40)	0.254
Adalimumab	47	11.8 (7.4–18.9)	53	13.7 (8.7–21.4)	0.86 (0.48–1.55)	0.621
Adalimumab + IM	60	13.5 (8.9–20.4)	52	12.0 (7.8–18.4)	1.13 (0.64–1.98)	0.677

CI, confidence interval; IM, immunomodulator; M, males; F, females.

\*Adjusted for sex, active inflammation, and age at assessment.

+Includes patients with information on immunomodulators (combination therapy).

<sup>†</sup>Patients with information on immumodulator and corticosteroid use.



FIGURE 1 | (A) Anti-drug antibody levels in male and female patients with IBD in the total sample analysis for infliximab and adalimumab. The Y-axis corresponds to the geometric mean of the anti-drug antibodies serum levels. (B) Anti-drug antibody serum levels in males and females with IBD in the subgroup analysis for Infliximab and Adalimumab. The Y-axis corresponds to the geometric mean of the anti-drug antibodies serum levels.

			Anti-TN	IF serum concentrations	s, ug/ml	
		Males		Females		
Drug	n	Geometric mean* (95% Cl)	n	Geometric mean (95% Cl)	Ratio of geometric means* (95% Cl) [M vs. F]	P-value
Total sample						
Infliximab	233	2.6 (2.0-3.3)	228	4.1 (3.2–5.3)	0.62 (0.44–0.88)	0.007
Adalimumab	295	8.3 (6.7–10.2)	270	8.7 (7.0–10.9)	0.95 (0.70-1.29)	0.725
Subsample <sup>†</sup>						
Infliximab	14	0.9 (0.3–2.5)	19	1.4 (0.6–3.2)	0.71 (0.34–1.48)	0.361
Infliximab + IM	66	1.8 (1.1–3.1)	48	1.7 (1.0–3.0)	1.06 (0.54-2.10)	0.856
Adalimumab	47	5.3 (2.9–9.5)	53	7.4 (4.2–13.0)	0.67 (0.19–2.33)	0.529
Adalimumab + IM	60	4.9 (2.9–8.2)	52	8.1 (4.7–13.7)	0.61 (0.30–1.22)	0.158

TABLE 3 | Anti-TNF serum concentrations stratified by sex according to monotherapy and combination therapy for infliximab and adalimumab use: inter-sex comparisons.

Cl, confidence interval; IM, immunomodulator; M, males; F, females.

\*Adjusted for sex, active inflammation, and age at assessment. <sup>†</sup>Patients with information on immumodulator and corticosteroid use.

Specifically, of the 147 patients on infliximab, 114 (77.6%) were on combination therapy while among the 212 patients on adalimumab, 112 (52.8%) were on combination therapy.

#### Outcomes

Inter-sex comparisons of anti-drug antibody within anti-TNF therapy are shown in **Table 2**. Whilst the proportion of male and female patients are similar, male patients on infliximab had higher anti-drug antibody concentrations than female patients in the total sample (38.3 vs. 22.3 AU/ml; aRoGM = 1.72, 95% CI: 1.30–2.27, p < 0.001) (**Table 2**, **Figure 1A**) and in the subsample sample (106.5 vs. 24.2 AU/ml; aRoGM = 4.39, 95% CI: 1.58–12.25, p = 0.005) (**Table 2**, **Figure 1B**). However, male and female patients on infliximab combination therapy in the subsample had similar anti-drug antibody levels (30.2 vs. 21.9 AU/ml; aRoGM = 1.38, 95% CI: 0.79–2.40, p = 0.254) (**Table 2**, **Figure 1B**).

In the subsample, male and female patients on adalimumab alone had similar anti-drug antibody levels (11.8 vs 13.7 AU/ml; aRoGM = 0.86, 95% CI: 0.48–1.55, p = 0.62). Males and females on adalimumab combination therapy had similar anti-drug antibody levels as well (13.5 vs 12 AU/ml; aRoM = 1.13, 95% CI: 0.64–1.98, p = 0.67, **Table 2, Figure 1B**).

Associations between anti-TNF therapy and serum drug concentrations are shown in **Table 3**. In the total study sample, male patients had lower infliximab serum drug concentrations compared to female patients (2.6 vs. 4.1 ug/ml; aRoGM = 0.62, 95% CI: 0.44–0.88, p = 0.007). No other between sex differences in serum drug concentrations were observed (**Table 3**). Serum drug concentrations were similar among patients on infliximab alone compared to those on infliximab combination therapy (**Supplementary Table S1**). Similarly, no difference in serum drug concentrations was observed among patients on adalimumab alone and those on adalimumab combination therapy (**Supplementary Table S1**).

Anti-drug antibody levels among patients on infliximab combination therapy were significantly lower than in patients

on infliximab alone (25.7 vs. 50.8 AU/ml; aRoGM = 0.51, 95% CI: 0.28–0.91, p = 0.023; **Supplementary Table S2**). In addition, there was no difference in anti-drug antibody between patients on adalimumab combination therapy and those on adalimumab alone (12.7 vs. 12.7 AU/ml; aRoGM = 1.00, 95% CI: 0.66–1.51, p = 0.995; **Supplementary Table S2**).

In the total study sample, a negative correlation between infliximab serum concentration and anti-drug antibodies to infliximab (ATI) (spearman r = -0.388, p < 0.001) and adalimumab serum concentration and anti-drug antibodies to adalimumab (ATA) (spearman r = -0.415; p < 0.001; **Figure 2**) was observed.

In an additional analysis, we assessed the association of serum albumin [>40 g/L (normal) vs. <40 g/L (abnormal)] with anti-drug antibodies to infliximab and adalimumab. Comparing subjects with normal and abnormal serum albumin levels, we found that average levels of antidrug antibodies to infliximab (10.6 vs. 19.2 AU/ml, p =0.158) and anti-drug antibodies to adalimumab (7.5 vs. 7.4 AU/ml, p = 0.991) to be similar across categories of serum albumin. Moreover, when including serum albumin in the multiple linear regression models, the observed associations between male sex and higher anti-drug antibodies to infliximab (aRoGM = 1.79, 95% CI: 1.02-3.11, p = 0.041) and male sex and lower infliximab serum drug concentrations (aRoGM = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.23-0.96, p = 0.046) remained statistically significant. Hence, these additional analyses indicate that albumin does not confound the reported associations.

#### DISCUSSION

In 1,093 Mediterranean patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), we evaluated the effect of patient sex and combination therapy on anti-drug antibody levels and serum drug concentrations among all patients who were on infliximab



or adalimumab. The effect of the patient sex on the antidrug antibody levels was investigated in both monotherapy and combination therapy in our subgroup analysis. The results showed that serum drug concentrations of infliximab in male patients are commonly lower than female patients. Since weight and sex are somehow correlated, where males generally weigh more than females, it is thought that male patients have higher clearance rates than female patients. These patient factors can affect the pharmacokinetics of infliximab, however; the exact mechanism of this effect is still unknown (7, 11). In our study the median BMI of all patients was within normal range. In a systematic review by Billioud et al. which evaluated loss of response to adalimumab found that male sex was associated with higher likelihood of loss of response and need for dose escalation (22). Moreover, male compared to female patients on infliximab had higher anti-drug antibody concentrations; nonetheless, there is no previously available evidence, to our knowledge, that supports the association between patient sex and presence of anti-drug antibodies. On the other hand, the presence of higher anti-drug antibody levels seems to accelerate the clearance of anti-TNF therapy, which is supported by Fasanmade et al. study that analyzed two randomized-controlled trials (23).

The available data on therapeutic drug response of patients with IBD to medications, stratified by sex, are extremely limited. A recent review by Rustgi et al. suggested the need for further investigation to the role of sex hormones on IBD, to get better therapeutic response for patients with IBD (24). Further studies needed to identify if there is a genetic factor behind a correlation between the patient sex and the anti-drug antibody levels. Two previous studies, by Wilson et al. and Sazonovs et al., identified an association between the genetic variant HLA-DQA1\*05 and the formation of anti-drug antibodies, against both infliximab and adalimumab, in patients with Crohn's disease (CD) (25, 26). A study by Sazonovs et al. showed that this variant increased the anti-drug antibodies formation by 2-folds, regardless of the concurrent immunomodulator use (26). They also concluded that to minimize the risk of therapy failure, a pretreatment genetic testing for HLA-DQA1\*05 might be helpful in deciding whether to use anti-TNF, or combination therapy in IBD.

As a secondary outcome of our study, the effect of combination therapy was investigated in one inflammatory bowel disease center. The results of our study were similar to the PANTS study, which showed that immunogenicity is more common in patients with CD treated with infliximab than adalimumab, and that the concomitant use of immunomodulator was associated with lower the immunogenicity (27). Moreover, higher drug concentrations and remission rates were found in patients treated with infliximab combination therapy. However, these effects were not shown in patients treated with adalimumab combination therapy, this might be influenced by lower rates of immunogenicity compared to infliximab (27). Furthermore, our study results agree with Hazlewood et al. network metaanalysis, where the effectiveness of immunosuppressants and anti-TNF were found to be comparable, and considered the combination therapy of infliximab with azathioprine and adalimumab monotherapy to be the most effective strategies for inducing and maintaining the remission of CD (28). In addition, a systematic review, by Strand et al., emphasized the role of monitoring both anti-drug antibody levels and serum drug concentrations of the used anti-TNF agent (29). This might be potentially helpful in guiding clinicians to improve anti-TNF therapy management as well as clinical outcomes. It can also reduce risks associated with immunogenicity and help in lowering costs of therapy (29).

We did not analyze anti-drug antibodies and drug concentrations as dichotomous/categorical variables (e.g., normal/low vs. abnormal/high), such categorization is helpful in clinical practice, but has some drawbacks. Loss of information, reduced statistical power, underestimating the true variability in the data, and residual confounding are the major issues with categorization of continuous variables in clinical research (30). Given the previous drawbacks, we have analyzed the outcome variables (i.e., anti-drug antibodies and serum drug concentrations) as continuous variables.

Our study has several strengths. It is a nationwide multi center study that involved all hospitals in the country where therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) testing is done. It is well designed with over 3 years total of all available data of eligible patients. It also addresses a gap in knowledge and encourage future research in this area.

However, there were some limitations to our study. Being a retrospective cohort, there might be some confounders, such as those on monotherapy could have been on combination therapy previously and then were discontinued due to adequate serum drug concentration and low anti-drug antibodies. In addition, patients' adherence to anti-TNF therapy at regular intervals could not be evaluated. Moreover, endoscopic and clinical targets were not studied; however, we controlled for objective inflammatory markers (CRP, Fcal, and steroids use). Combination therapy was only assessed at one center due to lack of data from other centers. Finally, the proportion of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) tests that were done reactively vs. proactively was not assessed.

In conclusion, anti-drug antibodies to infliximab (ATI) were higher in males than females whereas anti-drug antibodies to adalimumab (ATA) were similar in both sexes. In addition, male patients had lower infliximab serum drug concentrations compared to female patients while no sex differences was observed in adalimumab serum drug concentrations. Moreover, combination therapy was more effective than monotherapy in reducing ATI, but not better than monotherapy in reducing ATA. However, male and female patients on infliximab combination therapy had similar anti-drug antibody levels. Future studies are needed to assess the effect of patient sex, i.e., sex hormones, on anti-TNF anti-drug antibody and serum drug concentrations in patients with inflammatory bowel disease.

## REFERENCES

- Feuerstein JD, Ho EY, Shmidt E, Singh H, Falck-Ytter Y, Sultan S, et al. AGA clinical practice guidelines on the medical management of moderate to severe luminal and perianal fistulizing crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology.* (2021) 160:2496–508. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021. 04.022
- Feuerstein JD, Isaacs KL, Schneider Y, Siddique SM, Falck-Ytter Y, Singh S, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on the management of moderate to severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 158:1450–61. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.006
- Torres J, Bonovas S, Doherty G, Kucharzik T, Gisbert JP, Raine T, et al. ECCO guidelines on therapeutics in crohn's disease: medical treatment. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:4–22. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz180
- Harbord M, Eliakim R, Bettenworth D, Karmiris K, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, et al. Third european evidence-based consensus on diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis. Part 2: current management. J Crohns Colitis. (2017) 11:769–84. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx009
- Papamichael K, Vande Casteele N, Ferrante M, Gils A, Cheifetz AS. Therapeutic drug monitoring during induction of anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: defining a therapeutic drug window. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2017) 23:1510–5. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000001231

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the standing committee for coordination of health and medical research at the ministry of health of Kuwait (IRB 2020/1410). Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MS: study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and submission of the manuscript. HA, IA, GA, and AnA: acquisition of data and drafting of the manuscript. AhA: drafting of the manuscript. AZ: statistical analysis, analysis and interpretation of data. RB: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, study supervision, and responsible for the overall work as a guarantor. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.801532/full#supplementary-material

- Papamichael K, Cheifetz AS. Use of anti-TNF drug levels to optimise patient management. *Frontline Gastroenterol.* (2016) 7:289–300. doi: 10.1136/flgastro-2016-100685
- Steenholdt C, Bendtzen K, Brynskov J, Ainsworth MA. Optimizing treatment with TNF inhibitors in inflammatory bowel disease by monitoring drug levels and antidrug antibodies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:1999–2015. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000772
- Vermeire S, Gils A, Accossato P, Lula S, Marren A. Immunogenicity of biologics in inflammatory bowel disease. *TAG*. (2018) 11:1756283x17750355. doi: 10.1177/1756283X17750355
- Feuerstein JD, Nguyen GC, Kupfer SS, Falck-Ytter Y, Singh S. American gastroenterological association institute guideline on therapeutic drug monitoring in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2017) 153:827– 34. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.07.032
- Battat R, Lukin D, Scherl EJ, Pola S, Kumar A, Okada L, et al. Immunogenicity of tumor necrosis factor antagonists and effect of dose escalation on anti-drug antibodies and serum drug concentrations in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2020) 27:1443–51. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa313
- Ordás I, Mould DR, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ. Anti-TNF monoclonal antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: pharmacokineticsbased dosing paradigms. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (2012) 91:635–46. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2011.328

- Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth A, Rachmilewitz D, et al. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:1383–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904492
- Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Middleton S, Márquez JR, Scott BB, Flint L, et al. Combination therapy with infliximab and azathioprine is superior to monotherapy with either agent in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2014) 146:392-400.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.052
- Matsumoto T, Motoya S, Watanabe K, Hisamatsu T, Nakase H, Yoshimura N, et al. Adalimumab monotherapy and a combination with azathioprine for crohn's disease: a prospective, randomized trial. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2016) 10:1259–66. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw152
- Kopylov U, Al-Taweel T, Yaghoobi M, Nauche B, Bitton A, Lakatos PL, et al. Adalimumab monotherapy versus combination therapy with immunomodulators in patients with Crohn's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Crohns Colitis.* (2014) 8:1632–41. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.07.003
- Chalhoub JM, Rimmani HH, Gumaste VV, Sharara AI. Systematic review and meta-analysis: adalimumab monotherapy versus combination therapy with immunomodulators for induction and maintenance of remission and response in patients with crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2017) 23:1316– 27. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001203
- van Rheenen PF, Aloi M, Assa A, Bronsky J, Escher JC, Fagerberg UL, et al. The Medical Management of Paediatric Crohn's Disease: an ECCO-ESPGHAN Guideline Update. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) jjaa161. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa161
- Turner D, Ruemmele FM, Orlanski-Meyer E, Griffiths AM, de Carpi JM, Bronsky J, et al. Management of paediatric ulcerative colitis, part 1: ambulatory care-an evidence-based guideline from European Crohn's and Colitis Organization and European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2018) 67:257–91. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000002035
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Lancet*. (2007) 370:1453–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61602-X
- 20. WHO. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision (2016).
- Bland JM, Altman DG. The use of transformation when comparing two means. BMJ. (1996) 312:1153. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7039.1153
- Billioud V, Sandborn WJ, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Loss of response and need for adalimumab dose intensification in Crohn's disease: a systematic review. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2011) 106:674–84. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2011.60
- Fasanmade AA, Adedokun OJ, Ford J, Hernandez D, Johanns J, Hu C, et al. Population pharmacokinetic analysis of infliximab in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2009) 65:1211–28. doi: 10.1007/s00228-009-0718-4

- Rustgi SD, Kayal M, Shah SC. Sex-based differences in inflammatory bowel diseases: a review. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2020) 13:1756284820915043. doi: 10.1177/1756284820915043
- Wilson A, Peel C, Wang Q, Pananos AD, Kim RB. HLADQA1\*05 genotype predicts anti-drug antibody formation and loss of response during infliximab therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2020) 51:356–63. doi: 10.1111/apt.15563
- Sazonovs A, Kennedy NA, Moutsianas L, Heap GA, Rice DL, Reppell M, et al. HLA-DQA1\*05 carriage associated with development of antidrug antibodies to infliximab and adalimumab in patients with crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 158:189–99. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019. 09.041
- 27. Kennedy NA, Heap GA, Green HD, Hamilton B, Bewshea C, Walker GJ, et al. Predictors of anti-TNF treatment failure in anti-TNF-naive patients with active luminal Crohn's disease: a prospective, multicentre, cohort study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 4:341–53. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30012-3
- Hazlewood GS, Rezaie A, Borman M, Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Seow CH, et al. Comparative effectiveness of immunosuppressants and biologics for inducing and maintaining remission in Crohn's disease: a network metaanalysis. *Gastroenterology*. (2015) 148:344–54.e5. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014. 10.011
- Strand V, Balsa A, Al-Saleh J, Barile-Fabris L, Horiuchi T, Takeuchi T, et al. Immunogenicity of biologics in chronic inflammatory diseases: a systematic review. *BioDrugs*. (2017) 31:299–316. doi: 10.1007/s40259-017-0231-8
- Altman DG, Royston P. The cost of dichotomising continuous variables. *BMJ*. (2006) 332:1080. doi: 10.1136/bmj.332.7549.1080

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Shehab, Alasfour, Abdullah, Alhendi, Alhadab, Alfadhli, Ziyab and Battat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Delayed Infliximab Treatment Affects the Outcomes of Patients With Crohn's Disease During the COVID-19 Epidemic in China: A Propensity Score-Matched Analysis

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Bolin Yang, Jiangsu Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, China Raffaele Pellegrino, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Shuijiao Chen shuijiaoxy@163.com Xiaowei Liu liuxw@csu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 21 November 2021 Accepted: 20 December 2021 Published: 12 January 2022

#### Citation:

Li Y, Chen L, Chen S and Liu X (2022) Delayed Infliximab Treatment Affects the Outcomes of Patients With Crohn's Disease During the COVID-19 Epidemic in China: A Propensity Score-Matched Analysis. Front. Med. 8:819557. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.819557

#### Yong Li<sup>1†</sup>, Lulu Chen<sup>1†</sup>, Shuijiao Chen<sup>1\*</sup> and Xiaowei Liu<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>2</sup> Hunan International Scientific and Technological Cooperation Base of Artificial Intelligence Computer Aided Diagnosis and Treatment for Digestive Disease, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>3</sup> National Clinical Research Center for Geriatric Disorders, Xiangya Hospital, Changsha, China

**Background:** The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has swept the world and led to delays in the treatment of Crohn's disease patients treated with biologics. This study aims to investigate the risk factors for delayed treatment during the epidemic and to observe the short- and long-term influences of such delays among them to provide some reference on treatments.

**Methods:** This study retrospectively enrolled patients diagnosed with Crohn's disease who received infliximab treatment between January 23, 2020 and April 30, 2020. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression were used to analyze the risk factors for delayed treatment. Propensity score matching was utilized to compare the effects of delayed treatment on the short- and long-term outcomes.

**Result:** Our cohort identified a total of 53 patients with a delay rate of 71.7%. Of these patients, 38 were in the delayed group, and 15 were in the non-delayed group. Logistic regression analysis showed that the baseline levels of C-reactive protein were an influence factor for delaying treatment (OR = 0.967, 95% CI = 0.935–1.000, p = 0.047). Regarding short-term effects, the delayed group had a lower decrease in the Crohn's Disease Activity Index than the non-delayed group [-43.3 (-92.7, -9.7) vs. -17.3 (-29.0, 79.9), p = 0.038] and significantly higher long-term readmission rates (33.3% vs. 0%, p = 0.014).

**Conclusion:** Delayed infliximab treatment could affect the short- and long-term outcomes in patients with Crohn's disease. Our study suggested that the regulated course of treatment with biological agents should be performed effectively and that education should be enhanced to minimize delays in treatment.

Keywords: COVID-19, infliximab, Crohn's disease, delayed treatment, readmission

## INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic originating from severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) was an ongoing outbreak that was more widespread than any pandemic from the past century (1). On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic (2). The main route of transmission was aerosol spread by patients in the air (3).

Although COVID-19 was primarily characterized by respiratory symptoms, it also causes some gastrointestinal symptoms, such as diarrhea, nausea, vomiting and abdominal discomfort (4), which is related to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) used by coronaviruses to penetrate target cells (5). The ACE2 is expressed by intestinal epithelial cells, especially in the inflamed terminal ileum and colon (6). Therefore, several gastroenterologists concerned that patients with Crohn's disease (CD) may have a higher risk for COVID-19 infection. In addition, they suggested that long-term administration of steroids and immunosuppressive agents in CD patients was also a susceptibility factor (7). According to the guidelines of the most qualified international societies and organizations for the study of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), outpatient visits for CD patients should be postponed as well as colonoscopy and non-urgent surgery to reduce the risk of contagion (8, 9). Data were reported from an international survey with a reduction of endoscopic activities by 75-100% in the majority of IBD centers (10). Furthermore, early in the epidemic, relevant vaccines were not yet available, although current guidelines considered vaccination less impactful in patients with IBD (11, 12). These all put a tremendous strain on the mind of patients. In a series of surveys of IBD patients, the rates of anxiety and depression in them have been high as 48-62% compared to the general population, and most perceived increased vulnerability due to disease in response to the pandemic (13, 14).

Therefore, for CD patients receiving regular infliximab treatment, there is a concern that weighting the pros and cons of admission to the hospital and viral infections becomes a concerning matter. Most current studies focus on the diagnosis and management of IBD patients infected with COVID-19. A few researches showed that patients on intravenous biological treatments were more likely to stop or delay treatment (15, 16). In a recent report,  $\sim$ 27.7% of patients with IBD discontinued their medication during the COVID-19 epidemic, among patients of whom, 29.3% suffered aggravated conditions (17). However, these studies did not have a long-term follow-up of patients with delayed treatment. Whether delayed treatment affects the long-term outcome of the disease and the efficacy of biological agents is currently unknown.

This study aimed to determine factors associated with delayed infliximab treatment in patients with CD during the COVID-19 crisis (from January 23, 2020 to April 30, 2020) and to investigate the short- and long-term clinical consequences of delayed treatment with infliximab infusion. It would provide some reference on biologics treatments in CD patients at present given that the epidemic has normalized.

## METHODS

## **Patient Population**

Consecutive patients with CD receiving infliximab treatment between January 23, 2020 and April 30, 2020 in the Gastroenterology Department of Xiangya Hospital of Central South University were enrolled. Patients with a diagnosis of CD according to clinical, radiological, or endoscopic evidence as suggested by the European Crohn's and Colitis Organization (ECCO) guidelines with a disease duration of more than 3 months were included. In addition, included patients aged 17–75 years should have an indication for treatment with infliximab (18). Excluded patients were allergic to or intolerant of the agent or changed to infliximab treatment during the COVID-19 epidemic. Patients lost to follow-up or without complete medical record data were not considered in our research. If combined with other drugs during the follow-up, patients would be excluded.

## Study Design

All included patients received intravenous treatment with infliximab before and during the COVID-19 epidemic. The induction treatment for infliximab was 5 mg/kg at weeks 0, 2 and 6 and maintenance was 5 mg/kg every eight weeks. There were two groups (delayed group and non-delayed group) according to whether there was a delay of infliximab infusion. Data, including demographics, serological indicators [i.e., erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), and hematocrit], disease activity assessed by Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI) score, the change in treatment regimen, and the utilization of telemedicine, were retrospectively collected for each patient by 2 independent observers. Baseline data were recorded at the last treatment before the COVID-19 outbreak. The follow-up was performed by telephone or internet. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was used to evaluate the quality of patients' sleep (19). The need for surgery and readmission during the follow-up period were identified as indicators of the long-term influence.

## Definition

Treatment delay was defined as more than 2 weeks after the scheduled date. This study chose 2 weeks in light of logistical challenges regarding previous studies (20). The deadline for follow-up was December 31, 2020. The secondary endpoint was the occurrence of a surgical or readmission event during follow-up. The time of first infliximab exposure during the outbreak was regarded as the time point of short-term efficacy assessment. Patients who underwent gastrointestinal surgery excluding anal fistula during the follow-up were considered to have a surgical history. A history of readmission was defined as readmission due to recurrence or exacerbation of the disease with a hospital stay longer than 2 days.

## **Statistical Analyses**

Continuous variables expressed as medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs) or means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SDs) depending on the underlying data distribution were used to describe the statistics of the cohort. Independent Student's t-test





53 patients with CD assessment

and Wilcoxon rank-sum test were used where appropriate. Categorical variables were described as numbers with percentages. Pearson's chi-squared test was used for independent categorical variables. Univariate analysis was performed to identify the baseline variables that were significantly different between the delayed and non-delayed groups. Multivariable logistic regression analyses were performed to determine associations with short-term influence and baseline characteristics. The factors with p < 0.1 in univariate analysis were included in multivariate analysis. A Kaplan-Meier curve was used to evaluate the surgical or readmission events. Propensity score matching (PSM) was applied in this study to increase the comparability between the two groups. A binary logistic regression test was performed to generate a propensity score for each patient with and without delayed treatment by the significant factors. Subsequently, a one-to-one match between both groups was obtained using the nearest-neighbor matching method with a Caliper value of 0.2 (21). All reported *P*-values are two-tailed, and p < 0.05 indicated statistical significance. Analyses were performed with SPSS Statistics version 26.0 software.

## **Ethical Considerations**

The study was approved by the Xiangya Hospital of Central South University Ethics Committees, and each subject provided written, informed consent prior to study participation.

## RESULTS

## **Characteristics of the Study Population**

A total of 155 patients with Crohn's disease were included in this study. A schematic diagram of the selection process is shown in **Figure 1**. Fifty-three patients met the inclusion criteria. The patients included 34 (64.2%) males and 19 (35.8%) females with a median age of 26.0 years (IQR 18.5–36.0). Approximately three-quarters (71.7%) of patients did not receive treatment as planned with an average delay of  $43.1 \pm 28.3$  days.

**Table 1** presents the baseline data between both groups. Patients in the delayed group had significantly lower CDAI scores [89.7 (58.5, 116.9) vs. 125.9 (99.0, 200.8), p = 0.030] and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels [3.8 (1.5, 12.1) vs. 8.9 (2.0, 39.4), p = 0.030] than those in the non-delayed group. No differences in sex or age were noted between the groups. Disease duration, other serological indicators, and the utilization of telemedicine at baseline were similar in the delayed group compared with the non-delayed group (p > 0.05).

# Comparison of the Delayed and Non-delayed Groups

On univariable analysis, the baseline characteristics that predicted delayed treatment during the COVID-19 epidemic included lower CDAI scores (OR = 0.0991, 95% CI = 0.982–1.000, p = 0.05) and lower CRP levels (OR = 0.965, 95% CI = 0.933–0.998, p = 0.038), as presented in **Table 2**. Additionally, lower CRP levels (OR = 0.967, 95% CI = 0.935–1.000, p = 0.047) were the only significant predictor of a delayed infusion of infliximab for CD patients in the multivariable analysis.

## Characteristics of the Study Population After Propensity Score-Matched Analysis

To circumvent covariate imbalance between the two groups, a 1:1 propensity score-matched analysis was performed, resulting in 15 patients in the delayed group being matched with 15 non-delayed patients. There were no significant differences in the baseline CDAI score [135.6 (94.1, 185.2) vs. 125.9 (99.0, 200.8), p = 1.000] and CRP levels [10.4 (2.4, 21.5) vs. 8.9 (2.0, 39.4), p = 0.540] after matching, nor in the remaining variables (p > 0.05). The baseline characteristics after propensity score matching are indicated in **Table 3**.

# Short- and Long-Term Effects of Delayed Treatment

On the short-term efficacy assessment, data after matching for details reported in **Table 4** indicated that patients in the nondelayed group experienced a greater decrease in CDAI score compared to the delayed group [-43.3 (-92.7, -9.7) vs. -17.3 (-29.0, 79.9), p = 0.038]. Delayed treatment appeared to have minimal impacts on ESR levels, CRP levels, hematocrit levels, PSQI score, and change in clinical decision making, whereas trends toward increased weight and BMI were noted in the delayed group (p = 0.070).

Considering the long-term influence, the continuous followup of enrolled patients after matching showed that the delayers had a higher readmission rate (33.3% vs. 0%, p = 0.014) and a higher surgery rate, although the difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.068). Outcomes evaluated for each endpoint are displayed in **Table 4** and **Figure 2**.

## DISCUSSION

The advent of biologics has presented new options for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease, and infliximab is the most widely used biological agent in the clinic (22). However,

#### TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristic of the enrolled patients.

Variable	Total patients ( $n = 53$ )	Delayed group ( $n = 38$ )	Non-delayed group ( $n = 15$ )	<b>P</b> *
Male, No. (%)	34.0 (64.2)	23.0 (60.5)	11.0 (73.3)	0.381
Age, median (IQR), year	26.0 (18.5, 36.0)	27.0 (19.0, 38.0)	24.0 (16.8, 32.3)	0.243
Height, median (IQR), cm	167.0 (160.0, 170.0)	165.0 (160.0, 170.0)	170.0 (165.3, 172.5)	0.052
Weight, median (IQR), kg	52.5 (48.0, 60.0)	53.0 (48.0, 60.0)	51.3 (43.8, 63.0)	0.901
BMI, median (IQR), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	18.9 (17.6, 21.1)	19.0 (17.7, 21.3)	18.5 (16.2, 21.1)	0.343
Disease course, median (IQR), year	2.0 (1.0, 5.0)	3.0 (1.0, 5.0)	1.0 (0.7, 3.9)	0.051
CDAI, median (IQR)	96.6 (60.1, 144.0)	89.7 (58.5, 116.9)	125.9 (99.0, 200.8)	0.030
Utilization of telemedicine, No. (%)	26.0 (49.1)	21.0 (55.3)	5.0 (33.3)	0.150
Serological parameters				
ESR, median (IQR), mm/h	34.0 (18.5, 62.5)	34.0 (19.5, 54.3)	38.0 (15.5, 77.5)	0.657
CRP, median (IQR), mg/L	4.4 (1.6, 15.2)	3.8 (1.5, 12.1)	8.9 (2.0, 39.4)	0.030
Hematocrit, median (IQR), %	38.6 (22.6, 42.1)	39.4 (36.5, 44.5)	40.6 (36.6, 44.6)	0.778

BMI, body mass index; CDAI, Crohn's Disease Activity Index score; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; IQR, interquartile range. \*Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and chi-square for proportions.

TABLE 2 | Univariable and multivariable analyses of risk factors of delayed treatment.

Variable	Univariate analy	vsis	Multivariate analysis		
	HR (95%CI)	p	HR (95%CI)	р	
Male	0.392 (0.094–1.634)	0.198			
Age, year	1.040 (0.980–1.103)	0.192			
Height, cm	0.904 (0.810-1.008)	0.071			
Weight, kg	1.000 (0.933–1.072)	0.998			
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	1.131 (0.900–1.421)	0.29			
Disease course, year	1.241 (0.940–1.639)	0.127			
CDAI	0.991 (0.982-1.000)	0.05			
Utilization of telemedicine	0.476 (0.135–1.681)	0.476			
Serological parameters					
ESR, mm/h	0.993 (0.975-1.012)	0.462			
CRP, mg/L	0.965 (0.933–0.998)	0.038	0.967 (0.935-1.000)	0.047	
Hematocrit, %	1.023 (0.927-1.128)	0.652			

BMI, body mass index; CDAI, Crohn's Disease Activity Index score; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval.

there are issues with the required intravenous injection, especially with nonhuman biological agents that are prone to allergic reactions; specifically, patients have to physically come to the hospital for infusion (23). Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, patients opted to decrease their chances of contracting COVID-19 by providing home self-care rather than going to the hospital for regular care, which has caused a greater than 50% reduction in hospitalization volume (24). On the other hand, whether infliximab increased the risk of viral infection remained ambivalent early in the epidemic (25, 26). Above all, Crohn's disease patients experienced great difficulty in adhering to the infliximab schedule. In addition, the prognostic impact of a short delay in treatment on Crohn's disease remains unknown.

In this study, the final cohort of 53 patients with Crohn's disease previously treated with standard infliximab demonstrated a delayed rate of 71.7%, which is considerably increased compared with 26.4% in Khan's study (20). This finding may

be related to policies in different countries at the beginning of the epidemic as well as the population's sense of self-protection. Additionally, this study suggested that delayed treatment was significantly associated with the CDAI score and CRP level at baseline. CRP is an acute-phase protein that increases with the aggravation of inflammatory reactions (27) and can also objectively respond to disease activity in CD patients (28). Therefore, the reason for this effect might be attributed to the fact that the more severe disease patients have, the more the disease is actively treated.

For the short-term effects, this study found that delayed treatment with infliximab led to a lower decrease in the CDAI score, suggesting worse control of symptoms in these patients, but this finding is not consistent with the results of serological indicators, such as CRP and ESR. However, these indicators are not specific markers of intestinal inflammation; other factors (such as infection or extraintestinal inflammation) can also TABLE 3 | Baseline characteristic of the enrolled patients after propensity score-matched analysis.

Variable	Total patients ( $n = 30$ )	Delayed group ( $n = 15$ )	Non-delayed group ( $n = 15$ )	<b>P</b> *
Male, No. (%)	22.0 (73.3)	11.0 (73.3)	11.0 (73.3)	1.000
Age, median (IQR), year	24.0 (17.8, 33.8)	23.5 (18.0, 35.3)	24.0 (16.8, 32.3)	0.697
Height, median (IQR), cm	170.0 (160.0, 172.0)	165.0 (160.0, 170.0)	170.0 (165.3, 172.5)	0.131
Weight, median (IQR), kg	50.5 (44.8, 57.8)	50.5 (45.6, 55.1)	51.3 (43.8, 63.0)	0.473
BMI, median (IQR), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	18.3 (16.2, 21.1)	18.3 (15.9, 21.2)	18.5 (16.2, 21.1)	0.822
Disease course, median (IQR), year	2.0 (1.0, 4.3)	3.0 (1.5, 4.5)	1.0 (0.7, 3.9)	0.093
CDAI, median (IQR)	130.4 (101.9, 188.9)	135.6 (94.1, 185.2)	125.9 (99.0, 200.8)	1.000
Utilization of telemedicine, No. (%)	12.0 (40.0)	7.0 (46.7)	5.0 (33.3)	0.456
Serological parameters				
ESR, median (IQR), mm/h	42.5 (23.0, 76.5)	45.0 (33.3, 74.3)	38.0 (15.5, 77.5)	0.667
CRP, median (IQR), mg/L	9.2 (2.1, 25.5)	10.4 (2.4, 21.5)	8.9 (2.0, 39.4)	0.608
Hematocrit, median (IQR), %	39.2 (36.4, 44.4)	39.1 (36.3, 41.4)	40.6 (36.6, 44.6)	0.377

BMI, body mass index; CDAI, Crohn's Disease Activity Index score; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; IQR, interquartile range. \*Mann-Whitney U-test for continuous variables and chi-square for proportions.

TABLE 4 | The comparison of the effect of delayed treatment between both groups after propensity score-matched analysis.

Variable	Total patients ( $n = 30$ )	Delayed group ( $n = 15$ )	Non-delayed group ( $n = 15$ )	<b>P</b> *
Short-term effect				
Weight, median (IQR), kg	53.5 (46.4, 60.4)	53.5 (44.3, 57.3)	52.5 (46.3, 62.4)	0.759
$\Delta$ Weight, median (IQR), kg	0 (-1.5, 3.3)	1.5 (-0.4, 4.0)	-0.8 (-1.9, 0.6)	0.070
BMI, median (IQR), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	18.8 (16.3, 21.4)	18.9 (16.1, 22.5)	18.7 (16.3, 21.2)	0.697
$\Delta$ BMI, median (IQR), kg/m <sup>2</sup>	0 (-0.5, 1.2)	0.5 (-0.1, 1.4)	-0.3 (-0.7, 0.2)	0.070
CDAI, median (IQR)	103.7 (79.4, 185.2)	135.8 (85.4, 235.5)	91.7 (67.9, 121.9)	0.093
$\Delta$ CDAI, median (IQR)	-27.1 (-70.8, 34.4)	-17.3 (-29.0, 79.9)	-43.4 (-92.7, -9.7)	0.038
Change in clinical decision making, No. (%)	9.0 (30.0)	5.0 (16.7)	4.0 (13.3)	0.69
PSQI, median (IQR)	4.0 (3.0, 5.5)	4.5 (4.0, 6.8)	4.0 (2.0, 5.0)	0.156
Serological parameters				
ESR, median (IQR), mm/h	40.0 (17.0, 68.0)	35.0 (18.3, 73.3)	42.0 (12.3, 61.8)	0.886
$\Delta$ ESR, median (IQR), mm/h	-2.0 (-23.3, 10.8)	-2.0 (-26.8, 8.0)	-4.5 (-22.5, 19.5)	0.667
CRP, median (IQR), mg/L	9.1 (2.0, 23.9)	10.2 (1.8, 36.0)	9.1 (5.6, 16.8)	1.000
$\Delta$ CRP, median (IQR), mg/L	0.6 (-2.4, 9.2)	1.0 (-2.1, 12.3)	-4.5 (-22.5, 19.5)	0.313
Hematocrit, median (IQR), %	40.1 (34.7, 44.2)	40 (34.9, 43.7)	41.4 (33.9, 44.8)	0.728
$\Delta$ Hematocrit, median (IQR), %	1.6 (-3.4, 3.4)	1.0 (-1.9, 3.3)	2.2 (-4.5, 4.1)	0.951
Long-term effect				
Surgery, No. (%)	3 (10.0)	3 (20.0)	O (0.0)	0.068
Readmission, No. (%)	5 (16.7)	5 (33.3)	0 (0.0)	0.014

BMI, body mass index; CDAI, Crohn's Disease Activity Index score; PSQI, Pittsburgh sleeps quality index score; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; IQR, interquartile range; Δ, the difference between the recent value of the variable and the baseline value.

\*Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and chi-square for proportions.



FIGURE 2 | Long-term effect of delayed treatment. (A) Comparison of readmission rate; (B) comparison of surgical rate.

affect the results (29). Indicators, such as endoscopic activity score and fecal calprotectin, should be included in further studies. For long-term prognosis, this study identified that delayed treatment with infliximab increased the readmission and operation rates of patients, which may be due to the lower infliximab concentrations in blood. Previous studies have shown that the interval of administration was closely related to the blood infliximab concentration and treatment effects. During maintenance treatment of IBD patients, the trough concentrations of infliximab in patients treated with a 4-week interval was significantly higher than that of patients treated with an 8-week interval (30). The trough concentration of infliximab was positively correlated with the remission rate of IBD (31). In addition, Scaldaferri et al. found that the noncompliance of patients during infliximab treatment could significantly increase the concentration of the antibody in serum and the rate of secondary treatment failure (32). Khan's study also showed that irregular infusion of biological agents was significantly associated with the rate of glucocorticoid-free remission during the COVID-19 epidemic (20).

There are some innovations in the study. First, previous studies mostly focused on the impact of long-term irregular delayed infliximab treatment on the prognosis of patients with Crohn's disease (33, 34), whereas this study showed that the short-term delay in infliximab treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic may also affect the long-term prognosis of patients. Second, the propensity matching method was used to eliminate possible confounding factors, thus increasing the comparability between the two groups of patients and making the results more reliable. However, this study is a single-center retrospective study with a small sample size, which needed for further verification.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, the study suggested that approximately threequarters of CD patients receiving infliximab regularly have delays in their treatment during the COVID-19 epidemic, thereby affecting which the independent risk factor was CRP levels at baseline. Delayed treatment may not only aggravate short-term

## REFERENCES

- Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature*. (2020) 579:270–3. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7
- Habas K, Nganwuchu C, Shahzad F, Gopalan R, Haque M, Rahman S, et al. Resolution of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.* (2020) 18:1201–11. doi: 10.1080/14787210.2020.1797487
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early transmission dynamics in wuhan, china, of novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia. *n Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:1199–207. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001316
- Jin X, Lian JS, Hu JH, Gao J, Zheng L, Zhang YM, et al. Epidemiological, clinical and virological characteristics of 74 cases of coronavirus-infected disease 2019 (COVID-19) with gastrointestinal symptoms. *Gut.* (2020) 69:1002–9. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320926
- Beyerstedt S, Casaro EB, Rangel EB. COVID-19: angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) expression and tissue susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2021) 40:905–19. doi: 10.1007/s10096-020-04138-6

disease activity but also increase the readmission rate in the future. Therefore, implementation of infliximab infusion based on an effective schedule and education programs for patients about the relative safety of these biologic medications are needed for patients and clinicians despite the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Xiangya Hospital of Central South University Ethics Committees, and each subject provided written, informed consent prior to study participation. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YL, LC, SC, and XL: study concept and design and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. SC and LC: acquisition of data. XL and YL: analysis and interpretation of data. YL and LC: statistical analysis and drafting of the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript, including the authorship list.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 81770584 and 81700464) and Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province (No. 2018JJ3841).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank AJE (www.aje.com) for its linguistic assistance during the preparation of this manuscript.

- Garg M, Christensen B, Lubel JS. Gastrointestinal ACE2, COVID-19 and IBD: opportunity in the face of tragedy? *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 159:1623– 24. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.04.051
- Xiao F, Tang M, Zheng X, Liu Y, Li X, Shan H. Evidence for Gastrointestinal Infection of SARS-CoV-2. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 158:1831–3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.02.055
- Kennedy NA, Jones GR, Lamb CA, Appleby R, Arnott I, Beattie RM, et al. British Society of Gastroenterology guidance for management of inflammatory bowel disease during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Gut.* (2020) 69:984–90. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321244
- Scaldaferri F, Pugliese D, Privitera G, Onali S, Lopetuso LR, Rizzatti G, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the daily management of biotechnological therapy in inflammatory bowel disease patients: Reorganisational response in a high-volume Italian inflammatory bowel disease centre. United European Gastroenterol J. (2020) 8:775–81. doi: 10.1177/2050640620929133
- Ng SC, Mak JWY, Hitz L, Chowers Y, Bernstein CN, Silverberg MS. COVID-19 pandemic: which ibd patients need to be scoped-who gets scoped now, who can wait, and how to resume to normal. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2020) 14:S791– 7. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa128

- D'Amico F, Rabaud C, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Danese S. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in IBD: more pros than cons. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 18:211– 3. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00420-w
- Siegel CA, Melmed GY, McGovern DP, Rai V, Krammer F, Rubin DT, et al. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination for patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: recommendations from an international consensus meeting. *Gut.* (2021) 70:635–40. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-324000
- Mosli M, Alourfi M, Alamoudi A, Hashim A, Saadah O, Al Sulais E, et al. A cross-sectional survey on the psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on inflammatory bowel disease patients in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi J Gastroenterol.* (2020) 26:263–71. doi: 10.4103/sjg.SJG\_220\_20
- Spagnuolo R, Larussa T, Iannelli C, Cosco C, Nistico E, Manduci E, et al. COVID-19 and Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Patient Knowledge and Perceptions in a Single Center Survey. *Medicina (Kaunas)*. (2020) 56:8. doi: 10.3390/medicina56080407
- Rizzello F, Calabrese C, Salice M, Calandrini L, Privitera H, Melotti L, et al. COVID-19 in IBD: The experience of a single tertiary IBD center. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2021) 53:271–6. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2020.12.012
- Viola A, Giambo F, Chiappetta MF, Costantino G, Pallio S, Fries W. Management of patients with inflammatory bowel disease and outcomes during the first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2021) 53:689– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2021.03.021
- Chen J, Peng X, Zhang M, Zhi M. Impact of medication discontinuation on patients with inflammatory bowel disease during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Gastroenterology*. (2021) 160:2223. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.087
- Gomollon F, Dignass A, Annese V, Tilg H, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, et al. 3rd European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease 2016: part 1: diagnosis and medical management. J Crohns Colitis. (2017) 11:3–25. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw168
- Pilz LK, Keller LK, Lenssen D, Roenneberg T. Time to rethink sleep quality: PSQI scores reflect sleep quality on workdays. *Sleep.* (2018) 41:5. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsy029
- Khan N, Patel D, Xie D, Pernes T, Lewis J, Yang YX. Adherence of infusible biologics during the time of COVID-19 among patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a nationwide veterans affairs cohort study. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 159:1592–94. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.06.044
- Austin PC. Optimal caliper widths for propensity-score matching when estimating differences in means and differences in proportions in observational studies. *Pharm Stat.* (2011) 10:150–61. doi: 10.1002/pst.433
- Danese S, Vuitton L, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Biologic agents for IBD: practical insights. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2015) 12:537–45. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2015.135
- Lichtenstein L, Ron Y, Kivity S, Ben-Horin S, Israeli E, Fraser GM, et al. Infliximab-related infusion reactions: systematic review. J Crohns Colitis. (2015) 9:806–15. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv096
- SuArez Ferrer C, Perez Robles T, Martin-Arranz MD. Adherence to intravenous biological treatment in inflammatory bowel disease patients during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig.* (2020) 20:113. doi: 10.17235/reed.2020.7562/2020
- Brenner EJ, Ungaro RC, Gearry RB, Kaplan GG, Kissous-Hunt M, Lewis JD, et al. Corticosteroids, But Not TNF antagonists, are associated with adverse COVID-19 outcomes in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: results from an international registry. *Gastroenterology.* (2020) 159:481–91. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.0 5.032

- Khan N, Patel D, Xie D, Lewis J, Trivedi C, Yang YX. Impact of antitumor necrosis factor and thiopurine medications on the development of COVID-19 in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a nationwide veterans administration cohort study. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 159:1545– 6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.065
- Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Rutgeerts P. Laboratory markers in IBD: useful, magic, or unnecessary toys? *Gut.* (2006) 55:426– 31. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.069476
- Mosli MH, Zou G, Garg SK, Feagan SG, MacDonald JK, Chande N, et al. C-Reactive protein, fecal calprotectin, and stool lactoferrin for detection of endoscopic activity in symptomatic inflammatory bowel disease patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 110:802– 19. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.120
- Seguin A, Monnier V, Palandri A, Bihel F, Rera M, Schmitt M, et al. A yeast/drosophila screen to identify new compounds overcoming frataxin deficiency. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2015) 2015:565140. doi: 10.1155/2015/565140
- Krajcovicova A, Batovsky M, Gregus M, Hlista M, Durina J, Leskova Z, et al. Dosing interval and diagnosis predict infliximab levels in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on maintenance treatment. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg.* (2018) 81:465–70.
- Ward MG, Warner B, Unsworth N, Chuah SW, Brownclarke C, Shieh S, et al. Infliximab and adalimumab drug levels in Crohn's disease: contrasting associations with disease activity and influencing factors. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2017) 46:150–61. doi: 10.1111/apt.14124
- 32. Schultheiss JPD, Brand EC, Lamers E, van den Berg WCM, van Schaik FDM, Oldenburg B, et al. Earlier discontinuation of TNF-alpha inhibitor therapy in female patients with inflammatory bowel disease is related to a greater risk of side effects. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2019) 50:386–96. doi: 10.1111/apt.15380
- Martelli L, Lopez A, Strobel S, Danese S, Roblin X, Baumann C, et al. Adherence to infliximab therapy in inflammatory bowel disease patients in a real-life setting. J Dig Dis. (2017) 18:566–73. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12539
- 34. Haar GS, Vasudevan A, Curtain CM, van Langenberg DR. Assessing adherence to infusion-based biologic therapies in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* (2020). 20:11. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.10.011

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Li, Chen, Chen and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Perceived Stigma and Self-Efficacy of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease-Related Stoma in China: A Cross-Sectional Study

Yuting Wang<sup>1†</sup>, Shuyan Li<sup>1†</sup>, Jianfeng Gong<sup>2</sup>, Lei Cao<sup>2</sup>, Dingting Xu<sup>1</sup>, Qiao Yu<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoying Wang<sup>1</sup> and Yan Chen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, Department of Gastroenterology, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup> Center for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, Department of General Surgery, Jinling Hospital: East Region Military Command General Hospital, Medical School of Nanjing University, Nanjing, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Raffaele Pellegrino, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Dennis Frohlich, Bloomsburg University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Yan Chen chenyan72\_72@zju.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 13 November 2021 Accepted: 24 January 2022 Published: 16 February 2022

#### Citation:

Wang Y, Li S, Gong J, Cao L, Xu D, Yu Q, Wang X and Chen Y (2022) Perceived Stigma and Self-Efficacy of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease-Related Stoma in China: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Med. 9:813367. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.813367 **Background:** Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)-related stoma face physical, psychological, and social adjustment challenges. However, knowledge about stigmatization and self-management, which is important for clinical care and patient education strategies, is lacking.

**Objective:** To evaluate the level of stigma and self-management ability of Chinese patients with IBD-related stoma using an online questionnaire.

**Methods:** Participants were recruited from two general hospitals in mainland China and the internet platforms of the China Crohn's and Colitis Foundation (CCCF). Participants completed a questionnaire, which gathered data on sociodemographic, clinical, and experience in online groups, self-efficacy scale, and social impact scale. The influencing factors of self-efficacy and perceived stigma were assessed by stepwise multivariate regression analyses.

**Results:** One hundred and seventy-six respondents were included. Most of the respondents (78/176, 44.32%) spent between 500 and 999 RMB (\$77–153) on ostomy care accessories monthly. Three patients reported using homemade ostomy products. The average score on the self-efficacy scale was  $75.79 \pm 23.91$ , which reflected a moderate level of self-efficacy, and 69 (39.2%) respondents had low-level self-efficacy. The average social impact scale score was  $62.76 \pm 12.69$ , which reflected a moderate level of perceived stigma. Forty-three (24.43%) patients experienced severe levels of perceived stigma. Stepwise multivariate regression analysis revealed that self-efficacy was associated with educational level (P = 0.007), whereas stigma was associated with nursing privacy (P = 0.021) and acceptance by the closest person (P = 0.005). A total of 91% of respondents who participated in online peer support groups believed the groups were helpful for disease management.

**Conclusions:** Chinese patients with IBD-related stoma reported a moderate degree of perceived stigma; their level of self-efficacy was low to moderate. High educational level was associated with high self-efficacy. Notably, acceptance of the stoma by the closest person was an influencing factor protecting patients from perceived stigma. Interventions

24

aimed at improving patient education, reducing economic burden, and strengthening social support should be considered to help improve the living conditions of patients with IBD-related stoma.

Keywords: inflammatory bowel disease, stoma, self-efficacy, perceived stigma, online peer support group

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a group of diseases characterized by chronic inflammation of the digestive tract. The prevalence of IBD is increasing globally, and it is expected to continue to increase in the future, with important implications for health and the economy (1). IBD incidence in China, which includes up to 11.6 ulcerative colitis (UC) cases per 100,000 person-years and 1.4 Crohn's disease (CD) cases per 100,000 person-years, is estimated to be the highest in Asia (2-4). Ostomy is an effective and commonly used treatment option for refractory or severe IBD (5). However, post-ostomy changes and complications, such as altered body image, stool leakage, social isolation, ostomy-related dermatitis, sexual dysfunction, psychological distress, and perceived loss of control, result in decreased quality of life (6-8). Given these circumstances, patients with stoma are at risk of experiencing perceived stigma, which describes the degree to which individuals perceive discrimination directed at them or others (9). Perceived stigma is associated with decreases in self-efficacy and is a significant predictor of poorer outcomes in patients with IBD (10). According to a survey, stoma was the most embarrassing complication perceived by patients with IBD (9). A Chinese study reported 44% of participants with colorectal cancer (CRC)related stoma experienced high levels of stigma (11). However, the level of stigma in patients with IBD-related stoma has not been accurately measured yet.

Research on chronic diseases shows that self-efficacy is an important core concept of self-management and an important predictor of stoma health care management ability (12). Improving the self-management ability of patients with stoma after ostomy is the key to their smooth recovery and adaptation to new life from the perspective of psychosocial factors. Self-management focuses on patient's ability to manage their condition rather than treatment based within the healthcare system or centered on a healthcare professional. Therefore, this management strategy seeks to restore patient's autonomy, position patients at the center of their own management process, and help them acquire and maintain competencies to enable them to efficiently manage their condition (13). From the limited data available, the self-efficacy level of patients with IBD-related stoma is unclear, whereas those with CRC-related stoma showed a moderate level (14).

Rapid development in internet technology and digital interventions (accessed via computers and mobile phones) that provide self-management information has been proposed as a promising mode of self-management intervention (13). Studies have estimated that more than 50% of patients with IBD use the internet as a source of information for disease management (15, 16). More people are participating in online peer-led social support groups, which connect people in similar circumstances and transcend geographical limitations (17–19). The function, importance, and future development strategy of online peer support groups need to be explored further.

To date, no studies have been published on stigma and self-management in patients with IBD-related stoma in China. This study seeks to address these research questions: (1) Is the extent of perceived stigma and self-efficacy in patients with IBDrelated stoma consistent with those with CRC-related stoma? (2) Which social and disease factors affect perceived stigma and selfefficacy of patients with IBD-related stoma? (3) Is participating in online groups helpful for patients with IBD-related stoma in disease management?

## METHODS

## **Study Design and Participants**

A cross-sectional observational study was conducted among Chinese patients with IBD-related stoma through an electronic questionnaire in two hospitals in China from March 16 to April 23, 2021. The questionnaire was produced using Wenjuanxing (20), a professional online questionnaire tool. It was distributed to patients at the IBD clinic of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang University Medical College and the general surgery clinic of the General Hospital of Eastern Theater Command. Additionally, the survey was posted on the internet platforms of the China Crohn's and Colitis Foundation (CCCF) to facilitate the collection of questionnaires. The inclusion criteria were patients who: (1) gave informed consent; (2) were 18 years of age or older; (3) diagnosed as CD, UC or indeterminate colitis; (4) with a stoma whether it was a colostomy or an ileostomy and was expected to be permanent or temporary; (5) being able to complete Web-based surveys in Chinese. Diagnoses of IBD were confirmed by reviewing medical records and querying treating physicians directly as needed. Identified charts were reviewed by IBD experts in detail, including clinic notes, hospitalization records, endoscopic evaluations, surgical reports, laboratory testing, microbiological testing, radiologic studies, and pathology results. Patients with questionable IBD diagnoses were excluded. The exclusion criteria included patients with a history of mental illness, cancer or other serious physical illnesses. As shown in Figure 1, the questionnaire was modified based on feedback from the pilot samples and was iteratively refined by IBD experts. This study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang University Medical College (approval number: 2021–0237).

Abbreviations: AIDS, Acquired immune deficiency syndrome; CCCF, China Crohn's & Colitis Foundation; CD, Crohn's disease; CRC, Colorectal cancer; IBD, Inflammatory bowel disease; SIS, Social impact scale; UC, Ulcerative colitis.



## **Measurements**

Participants were asked to report the following sociodemographic and clinical information: age, gender, education level, employment status, place of residence, marital status, IBD diagnosis, disease duration, remission status, income, health insurance status. Study data also included type of stoma, time of ostomy, cost of stoma supplies, complications of stoma, body image, privacy of care for the stoma, ostomy leaks and difficulty of stoma care.

Information about social support was obtained, including acceptance of stoma by the closest person, and the main source of psychological support was obtained. Participants were asked to provide information on their experiences in online groups, and if so, they were asked about topics of interest, their activity state, feelings of participation in online groups and whether it's helpful. The subjects who indicated "it's helpful" were further asked about what aspects of online groups were perceived to be helpful. They could choose out of options including "increased sense of belonging," "gained confidence in the management of stoma or disease," "helped to made up my mind to undergo ostomies," "released the negativity and resonated with fellows," "drew strength from helping others" or fill in any other answers.

The self-efficacy scale by Bekkers (21) in 1996 is currently the most tested and widely used scale for measuring the level of self-efficacy of patients with stoma. The scale comprises 28 items,

two dimensions (stoma care self-efficacy and social self-efficacy), and six separate items, which are scored on a 5-point scale (1 = no confidence, 2 = slightly confident, 3 = fairly confident, 4 = highly confident, and 5 = extremely confident). The total score ranges from 28 to 140, and is divided into three grades:  $\leq$ 65 indicates low-level self-efficacy, 66–102 indicates moderate-level self-efficacy, and  $\geq$ 103 indicates high-level self-efficacy. Wu et al. (22) from Hong Kong developed a Chinese version of the self-efficacy scale for patients with stoma, authorized this study to use the Chinese version. In this study, Cronbach's  $\alpha$  coefficient of the scale was 0.926.

The social impact scale (SIS) was developed by Fife and Wright (23) in 2000 and translated into Chinese by Pan et al. (24) in 2007. It was originally used to assess stigma among patients with acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) and cancer. This scale contains 24 items and examines four domains of perceived stigma—social rejection, financial insecurity, internalized shame, and social isolation. The items are scored from 1 (strongly agree) to 4 (strongly disagree). Average item scores were classified into three levels: mild (1–1.99), moderate (2–2.99), or severe (3–4) stigma. Pan authorized this study to use the Chinese version. In this study, Cronbach's  $\alpha$  coefficient was 0.949.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS software (version 25, IBM Corporation). Demographic data and stoma-related information were summarized as means and standard deviations for continuous variables after testing for normal distribution and as frequency counts (percentages) for categorical variables. The means and standard deviations of stigma and self-efficacy scores were calculated and reported as high, moderate, or low. The mean scores were compared with different characteristics using t-tests (for two-level variables, such as gender) or one-way ANOVA (for variables with three or more levels, such as employment status) to determine the associations between demographic data or stoma-related information and dependent variables (self-efficacy or stigma level). Least significant difference corrections were used for *post-hoc* comparisons. An  $\alpha$ -level of 0.05 was used to statistical significance.

Multivariate linear regressions (with stepwise variable selection) were used to explore the main factors that influenced stigma or self-efficacy among patients with stoma. Collinearity diagnostics was used to exclude correlations among independent variables. The variables for which the results of univariate linear regression analysis were statistically significant were used as independent variables. The inclusion standard was 0.05, and the removal standard was 0.10.

## RESULTS

## **Participant Characteristics**

As shown in **Figure 1**, a total of 244 questionnaires were completed. Only 176 questionnaires were valid. Respondents came from 24 provinces and cities across the country. The male-female ratio of the respondents was almost 1:1(89 males vs. 87



females). The mean age was  $37.10 \pm 9.98$  years (range: 18–64 years). Out of 176 respondents, 156 (87.5%), 16 (9.09%), and 6 (3.41%) respondents reported a diagnosis of CD, UC, and unformed colitis, respectively. Regarding the type of stoma, 97 (55.11%) participants had a temporary stoma and planned to retract it in the future, 70 (39.77%) participants had a permanent stoma, and 9 (5.11%) participants had no idea about the type of stoma. With respect to the surgical procedure participants had undergone, 126 (71.59%), 36 (20.45%), and 5 (2.84%) participants underwent ileostomy, colostomy, and jejunostomy, respectively. Approximately 39.2% of the respondents had been diagnosed with IBD for more than 10 years, whereas, 42.6% had a stoma for 1–5 years.

## Self-Efficacy of Patients With IBD-Related Stoma

Before ostomy, 67 (38.07%) participants decided the location of the stoma with their doctors, whereas 36 (20.45%) participants

reported no communication with their doctors. Fifty-nine (33.52%) of participants were only informed of the location of the stoma. The ostomy affected the employment status of participants. As shown in Figure 2A, only 17.61% of participants worked full-time and maintained normal working ability; 9.09% of the participants worked part-time; and 42.05% of the patients were unemployed. Concerning the ostomy care accessories. most of the respondents (78/176, 44.32%) spent between 500 and 999 RMB (\$77-153) monthly, whereas 19 (10.8%) of participants spent more than 1,500 RMB (\$231). Three patients chose to make homemade ostomy bags (Figure 2B). Additionally, the reimbursement rates for these costs were assessed. Although 34.1% of the respondents indicated that estimation was difficult, the reimbursement rate of most of the remaining patients (73/176, 42.2%) was < 10%. Only 23.69% of the patients exceeded 10%.

The average score of the self-efficacy scale was 75.79  $\pm$  23.91. Sixty-nine (39.2%) respondents had a low level of self-efficacy, 77 (43.75%) had a moderate level of self-efficacy, and 30

Characteristic	n	Self-efficacy Mean $\pm$ SD	t/ <b>F(P)</b> ª	Characteristic	n	Self-efficacy Mean $\pm$ SD	t/F(P)
Gender				Place of residence			
Male	89	$77.27 \pm 23.64$	0.829(0.912)	City	119	$76.99 \pm 23.28$	0.952(0.337)
Female	87	$74.27 \pm 24.22$		Village	57	$73.28\pm25.19$	
Age (years)				Employment status			
18–29	32	$84.42\pm22.81$	6.118( <i>0.003</i> )	Full-time	66	$85.53 \pm 24.09$	6.268(0.002)
30–49	126	$76.03\pm23.85$		Part-time	16	$75.91 \pm 14.16$	
≥50	18	$59.98\pm23.76$		Unemployed	94	$70.33 \pm 23.77$	
Duration of IBD (years)				Education level			
<1	11	$67.03 \pm 20.26$	2.843(0.026)	Primary school	8	$66.98 \pm 12.43$	7.719(<0.001)
1–2.99	25	$71.86 \pm 21.74$		Junior high school	45	$61.46 \pm 18.82$	
3–4.99	21	$90.17\pm28.80$		High/technical secondary school	38	$77.64 \pm 27.44$	
5–9.99	50	$72.32 \pm 21.07$		Junior college	39	$85.96 \pm 22.11$	
≥10	69	$76.74 \pm 24.25$		College or beyond	46	$81.51 \pm 22.39$	
Duration of stoma (years)				Participation in activities with other stoma patients			
<0.25	13	$64.67 \pm 19.36$	3.293(0.022)	Yes	17	$81.27 \pm 26.45$	0.995(0.321)
0.25-0.99	42	$73.04 \pm 19.21$		No	159	$75.20 \pm 23.64$	
1–5	75	$81.80\pm26.30$		Joined online groups of stoma patients			
≥5	46	$71.63\pm21.99$		Yes	100	$79.53\pm23.24$	2.413(0.017)
Monthly household income (equivalent to US\$)				No	76	70.87 ± 24.03	
<2,000 (<\$308)	26	70.47 ± 19.75	5.228(<0.001)	Acceptance of the			
				stoma by people closest to you			
2,000–4,999 (\$308–771)	69	$69.76 \pm 22.27$		Not at all accepted	10	$59.98\pm14.65$	16.289(<0.001)
5,000–9,999 (\$772–1,542)	51	$77.63\pm23.29$		Not accepted	22	$60.07 \pm 15.93$	
≥10,000 (≥\$1,543)	30	$91.13\pm25.57$		Basically accepted	97	$72.08 \pm 21.36$	
				Completely accepted	47	$94.68 \pm 23.85$	

**TABLE 1** Summary of the associations between demographic and stoma-related characteristics and self-efficacy (n = 176).

<sup>a</sup>Values in italics are significant at P < 0.05.

(17.05%) had a high level of self-efficacy (17.05%). **Table 1** shows the associations between demographic data or stoma-related information and self-efficacy. Significant differences in self-efficacy scores were observed among different groups regarding age, duration of illness, duration of stoma, employment status, monthly household income, education level, membership in online groups, and acceptance of stoma by the closest person.

## Perceived Stigma of Patients With IBD-Related Stoma

Most patients felt that their relatives accepted the stoma (88 accepted basically and 45 accepted completely), whereas 15 (8.52%) participants reported that relatives did not accept well, 7 (3.98%) participants were certain their relatives were unaccepting of the stoma.

The average score of the SIS scale was  $62.76 \pm 12.69$ . Twelve (6.82%) patients had mild levels of perceived stigma, 121 (68.75%) patients had moderate levels of perceived stigma, and 43 (24.43%) patients had severe levels of perceived stigma. **Table 2** shows the associations between demographic data or stoma-related information and perceived stigma. Significant differences in stigma scores were observed among different groups of patients regarding age, residence in rural areas, monthly household income, privacy of stoma care, image satisfaction, education level, presence of pocket leakage, stoma complications, and acceptance of the stoma by the closest person.

## Influencing Factors of Perceived Stigma and Self-Efficacy

Multivariate stepwise linear regression analysis showed that age ( $\beta = -0.211$ , P < 0.001), stigma ( $\beta = -0.555$ , P < 0.001), and educational level (college or above vs. primary school) ( $\beta = 3.388$ , P = 0.007) were the main factors affecting the self-efficacy of patients with IBD-related stoma (**Table 3**). Self-efficacy ( $\beta = -0.524$ , P < 0.001), nursing privacy ( $\beta = 0.146$ , P < 0.001), acceptance of the stoma by the closest person ( $\beta = -0.178$ , P = 0.005), and age ( $\beta = -0.132$ , P = 0.029) were the main factors affecting stigma in patients with IBD-related stoma (**Table 4**).

TABLE 2 Summary of the associations between demographic and stoma-related characteristics and perceived stigma (n = 176).

Characteristic	n	Stigma Mean $\pm$ SD	t/F( <i>P</i> ) <sup>a</sup>	Characteristic	n	Stigma Mean $\pm$ SD	t/F( <i>P</i> )
Type of stoma (classified by time)				Place of residence			
Temporary	97	$62.31 \pm 12.03$	-0.446(0.656)	City	119	$61.06 \pm 12.18$	-2.615(0.01)
Permanent	70	$63.21 \pm 14.11$		Village	57	$66.32 \pm 13.09$	
Age (years)				Pocket leakage in past 3 months			
18–29	32	$65.93\pm14.43$	0.957(0.386)	Yes	116	$64.50\pm12.63$	2.568(0.011)
30–49	126	$62.31 \pm 11.91$		no	60	$59.40\pm12.21$	
≥50	18	$63.72\pm13.78$					
Educational level				Monthly household income (equivalent to US\$)			
Primary school	8	$68.38\pm12.27$	4.399(0.002)	<2,000(<\$307)	26	$69.50\pm13.47$	5.903(<0.001)
Junior high school	45	$68.58 \pm 11.78$		2,000-4,999(\$308-771)	69	$65.14 \pm 12.33$	
High/technical secondary school	38	$60.32\pm13.31$		5,000-9,999(\$772-1,542)	51	$59.71 \pm 10.61$	
Junior college	39	$58.79\pm10.02$		≥10,000(≥\$1,543)	30	$56.63 \pm 12.45$	
College or beyond	46	$61.78\pm13.38$					
Acceptance of the stoma by people closest to you				Privacy of care for the stoma			
Not at all accepted	10	$71.00\pm7.44$	13.751(<0.001)	Cannot be protected at all	11	$71.86 \pm 16.60$	8.469(<0.001)
Not accepted	22	$73.53 \pm 16.27$		Mostly cannot be protected	33	$70.62 \pm 11.82$	
Mostly accepted	97	$63.17 \pm 10.43$		Mostly can be protected	114	$60.47 \pm 11.65$	
Completely accepted	47	$54.47 \pm 11.34$		Completely can be protected	18	$54.46\pm10.82$	
Body image				Have ever had Complications			
Not at all satisfied	68	$68.63\pm14.02$	11.53(<0.001)	Yes	108	$64.51 \pm 10.76$	2.33(0.021)
Not satisfied	60	$62.21 \pm 9.88$		no	68	$59.99 \pm 14.92$	
Well enough	43	$55.95\pm9.98$					
Satisfied	5	$48.00\pm5.00$					

<sup>a</sup>Values in italics are significant at P < 0.05.

# Social Support and Online Peer Support Groups

"The most important source of psychological support or the main driving force for you to accept the stoma" was a multiplechoice question, and respondents could choose three choices at most. As shown in **Figure 2C**, the most popular choice was "family" (91/176, 51.7%), followed by "self-adaptation" (82/176, 46.59%). Some patients received psychological support from ward mates (42/176, 23.86%), doctors and nurses (40/176, 22.73%), volunteers with a stoma (35/176, 19.89%), and friends in the online groups (30/176, 17.05%).

In this survey, 100 respondents had experiences with online peer support groups. Further investigation revealed that most of them were "diving" in group discussions, barely interacted with others but paid attention to the events happening in the group (42/100, 42%), or occasionally expressed ideas and opinions on topics of interest (41/100, 41%). Regarding which messages or discussions were of much interest, discussions on the methods of stoma care were the most popular (55/100, 55%), followed by discussions on lifestyle modifications of patients with stoma, such as diet and exercise (48/100, 48%), and discussions on disease or ostomy-related life experiences of other patients (46/100, 46%) (**Figure 2D**). Of the 100 participants, 91 participants believed that group participation was helpful for individual disease or stoma management. This finding was corroborated by the finding that group participants helped fellow patients increase their sense of belonging (65/91, 71.43%) or their confidence in the management of stoma or disease (63/91, 69.23%). For some patients (19/91, 20.88%), participating in the group helped them decide on undergoing ostomies.

#### DISCUSSION

According to previous studies 0.66 and 1.5% of patients with IBD in the United Kingdom and United States undergo ostomies, respectively, but no authoritative statistics on IBD are available in China (25, 26). Patients with stoma represent a minor proportion of patients with IBD in China, according to our clinical practice conditions. Additionally, the current status of such patients are poorly recognized. Psychosocial assessments of patients with stoma have been increasingly performed in recent years, but the study population predominantly included patients with CRC (11, 14). Few studies have been conducted exclusively on patients with IBD-related stoma. To our knowledge, this study is the first to assess the levels of self-efficacy and stigma in patients with IBD-related stoma.

TABLE 3   Factors influencing self-efficacy among patients with IBD-rel	ated
stoma.	

Model	В	β	T-value	P-value <sup>a</sup>
Constant	156.238		14.824	<0.001
Stigma	-1.046	-0.555	-9.329	<0.001
Educational level (Junior high school and high/technical secondary school)	6.158	0.105	1.558	0.121
Educational level (college or above)	9.310	3.388	2.748	0.007
Age	-0.551	-0.211	-3.569	<0.001

 ${}^{a}F = 35.254$ ;  $R^{2} = 0.452$ ; values in italics are significant at P < 0.05.

In this study, the stigma level of patients with IBD-related stoma was consistent with that of patients with CRC-related stoma in other studies evaluated with the same SIS scale (11, 27). However, the average self-efficacy score seems to be slightly lower than the measurement level of the same scale for patients with CRC ( $75.79 \pm 23.91$  vs.  $81.03 \pm 16.30$ ) (14). One obvious difference was that patients with IBD-related stoma were younger than those with CRC-related stoma ( $37.10 \pm 9.98$ vs.  $60.95 \pm 7.38$ ) (14). Moreover, patients with IBD-related stoma usually have a longer course before surgery than patients with CRC-related stoma. Additionally, ostomy may only be a clinical remission rather than a cure; therefore, they need to prepare mentally to cope with the disease for life. Therefore, the present situation of patients with IBD-related stoma should be understood.

Our previous study revealed that economic burden is a major difficulty faced by Chinese patients with IBD, and low-income patients have worse disease control (28). Another Chinese study showed that 30.6% of patients with IBD spent over half of their income on medical costs, which is an independent factor that impairs their quality of life (29). Consistent with these results, 96.02% (169/176) of participants thought that a certain degree of economic burden is caused by disease and treatment in this study. Further analysis found higher self-efficacy (P <0.01) and lower stigma scores (P < 0.01) among participants with monthly family income more than 10,000 RMB (\$1,545) compared with those with family monthly income less than this value. The economic burden to patients with IBD-related stoma is substantial and cannot be ignored. Majority of the participant (108/176, 61.36%) in our survey experienced a stoma complication, which means more additional associated costs, not to mention that re-operation is needed in some cases. Ostomy products are consumables and require regular replacement, but the highest proportion of respondents (73/176, 42.2%) in this study reported the reimbursement ratio for cost is < 10%. Three respondents reported using their homemade ostomy products made of polythene bags and rubber rings to save money.

Educational level is one of the key factors that influence selfefficacy. Understanding that patients with higher educational levels are more likely to accept various issues in daily life, obtain pertinent medical knowledge and information, and use their knowledge and skills to solve problems, is not difficult. Economic **TABLE 4** | Factors influencing stigma among patients with IBD-related stoma.

Model	В	β	T-value	P-value <sup>a</sup>
Constant	93.998		20.228	<0.001
Self-efficacy	-0.278	-0.524	-7.955	<0.001
Nursing privacy	4.208	0.146	2.324	0.021
Acceptance of the stoma by the closest person	-5.567	-0.178	-2.840	0.005
Age	-0.183	-0.132	-2.207	0.029

 ${}^{a}F = 34.191$ ;  $R^{2} = 0.444$ ; values in italics are significant at P < 0.05.

and educational factors may partly explain why rural residents have a stronger sense of stigma than urban residents in this survey (P = 0.01). Compared with urban residents, rural populations have a lower proportion of medical insurance payments, have more restricted access to health care, and are relatively lacking in educational resources (30). Due to IBD (74/176, 42.05%) or other reasons (20/176, 11.36%), more than half of the respondents were unemployed. The self-efficacy score of full-time patients with stoma was higher than that of unemployed patients (P < 0.01). On the one hand, employment status directly affects economic resources and the ability to fund one's lifestyle establishes confidence and self-worth, as these patients can undertake social and family responsibilities. On the other hand, employment status affects their participation in community life, affecting their sense of belonging and ability to address challenges.

In this survey, the main source of postoperative psychological support for patients with stoma was family (91/176, 51.7%), which is related to the strong traditional family concept in China. Family members are highly interdependent, take care of each other, and fulfill their family relationship obligations. Social support mainly refers to emotional and material help and assistance from family, relatives, friends, and other members of society, such as colleagues, organizations, groups, and communities, which reflects the closeness and quality of one's social connections (31). Studies have shown that social support has an irreplaceable role in maintaining the stability of life for patient with stoma (31), and the ability to take care of stoma is related to the level of support received and emotional "readiness" (32). Our study confirmed that acceptance of stoma by the closest person remained as a significant factor for reduced stigma in the multivariate regression analysis.

Additionally, peer support is a form of social support, which is provided by specific groups with the same experience or similar demographic characteristics by sharing experiences or transmitting information (33). Online social networking represents a prominent form of communication in many people's lives. For individuals with stigmatized illnesses or difficulties in in-person interpersonal communication, social media makes connection with others who share similar health conditions to seek or disclose health information without revealing one's personal identity possible (34). As in this survey, 42% of the respondents were fully participating in the internet group's activities. Compared with spontaneous in-person encounters, social media users maintain greater control, meaning that they can choose their own level of engagement and the extent to which they interact with others. Studies have confirmed that identifying with a social group can improve self-esteem and self-efficacy and reduce uncertainty (35). Consistent with these findings, the self-efficacy of patients who joined the online peer support group in this survey was higher than that of patients who did not (P < 0.05).

Among the respondents who joined the online support group, 91% of participants found the experience helpful to the management of disease or stoma by increasing the sense of belonging (65/91, 71.43%) and enhancing confidence in the stoma management (63/91, 69.23%). This finding is consistent with other results indicating that peer support promotes positive emotional support, allows venting of negative emotions, and helps patients find strategies to deal with challenging environments (36, 37). The fear and worry about ostomy is common among patients with IBD (26), but 20.88% of patients in this study agreed that the online peer support group gave them the courage and determination to undergo surgery. Among the online group discussion topics, the most popular were stoma nursing methods (55/100, 55%), lifestyle (48/100, 48%), and peer experience (46/100, 46%), which suggested that teaching and resources from medical staff are practical for stoma management, but they may be far inferior to peer patients in emotional value.

Stoma care is not a simple task, as patients need to adjust their diet, clothing, exercise, and other daily life activities. Additionally, they need to learn to change stoma pouches, handle excrement, prevent complications, and adapt their social lives. Few patients with IBD have stoma; therefore, regarding enterostomy, patients with CRC are more considered than patients with IBD. This is the first nationwide survey of patients with IBD-related stoma to assess patient's level of stigma and self-efficacy in China. Our findings reflect the current situation of Chinese patients with IBD stoma, and specialist physicians and nurses need to understand their specific situations. The results of this study are helpful in identifying patients prone to low self-efficacy or severe stigma in the clinic for timely adjustment of medical measures and provide individualized care. In addition, this study investigated the participation and interaction characteristics of patients with IBD stoma in online peer support groups to deepen our understanding of the role of online peer support. The study findings may be significant to the future planning of CCCF online group projects.

This study had few limitations. First, the cross-sectional study design precluded the possibility of ascertaining causality between risk factors and self-efficacy or stigma. Second, few patients with IBD have stoma; therefore, the study could not gather a large sample size. Third, the questionnaire was completed online; therefore, patients with limited access

#### REFERENCES

- Alatab S, Sepanlou SG, Ikuta K. The global, regional, and national burden of inflammatory bowel disease in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 5:17–30. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30333-4
- 2. Population density and risk of inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective population-based study in 13 countries or regions in

to the internet could not be included in our study, and these patients were likely to have poor economic power and disease control. Therefore, selection bias could be present in this study.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Chinese patients with IBD-related stoma reported a moderate sense of stigma and a low-to-moderate level of self-efficacy. Patients with stoma who completed higher education (college and above) had higher levels of self-efficacy. Additionally, this survey revealed that financial burden may have a direct effect on quality of stoma care. Therefore, strengthening patient education and reducing economic burden may be the keys to improving this situation. Patients whose relatives were not accepting of their condition experienced high levels of stigma. Online peer support groups are worthy of further promotion, as social support may have a significant impact on stigma among patients with IBDrelated stoma.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang University Medical College. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YC and YW conceived and designed the project. SL, JG, LC, and XW collected the data. YW and QY analyzed the data. YW, DX, and YC wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all of the patients who participated in the survey and thank the CCCF staff Jie Zhao for her help with recruiting participants. We also acknowledge Professor Helen Kit-Man Wu and Professor Ay-Woan Pan for authorization to use the scales.

asia-pacific. Am J Gastroenterol. (2018) 114:107-15. doi: 10.1038/ s41395-018-0233-2

- 3. Kaplan GG, Ng SC. Understanding and preventing global the increase of inflammatory bowel disease. 10.1053/ (2017)152:313-21. Gastroenterology. doi: j.gastro.2016.10.020
- 4. Ng SC, Zeng Z, Niewiadomski O, Tang W, Bell S, Kamm MA, et al. Early course of inflammatory bowel disease in a population-based inception cohort

study from 8 countries in Asia and Australia. *Gastroenterology*. (2016)150:86–95. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.09.005

- Tom Ø, Bemelman WA, Sampietro GM, Spinelli A, Windsor A, Ferrante M, et al. European evidence based consensus on surgery for ulcerative colitis. J Crohns Colitis. (2015) 9:4–25. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.08.012
- Ross L, Abild-Nielsen AG, Thomsen BL, Karlsen RV, Boesen EH, Johansen C, et al. Quality of life of Danish colorectal cancer patients with and without a stoma. Support Care Cancer. (2007) 15:505–13. doi: 10.1007/s00520-006-0177-8
- Liao C, Qin Y. Factors associated with stoma quality of life among stoma patients. Int J Nurs Sci. (2014) 1:196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2014.05.007
- Sarabi N, Navipour H, Mohammadi E. Relative tranquility in ostomy patients' social life: a qualitative content analysis. World J Surg. (2017) 41:2136– 42. doi: 10.1007/s00268-017-3983-x
- 9. Guo L, Rohde J, Farraye FA. Stigma and disclosure in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2020) 26:1010–6. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izz260
- Taft TH, Keefer L, Leonhard C, Nealon-Woods M. Impact of perceived stigma on inflammatory bowel disease patient outcomes. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2009) 15:1224–32. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20864
- Yuan JM, Zhang JE, Zheng MC, Bu XQ. Stigma and its influencing factors among Chinese patients with stoma. *Psychooncology*. (2018) 27:1565– 71. doi: 10.1002/pon.4695
- Seo HW. Effects of the frequency of ostomy management reinforcement education on self-care knowledge, self-efficacy, and ability of stoma appliance change among Korean hospitalised ostomates. *Int Wound J.* (2019) 16:21– 8. doi: 10.1111/iwj.13047
- Nicholl BI, Sandal LF, Stochkendahl MJ, McCallum M, Suresh N, Vasseljen O, et al. Digital support interventions for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e179. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7290
- 14. Jin Y, Ma H, Jimenez-Herrera M. Self-disgust and stigma both mediate the relationship between stoma acceptance and stoma care self-efficacy. J Adv Nurs. (2020) 76:2547–58. doi: 10.1111/ jan.14457
- Cima R, Anderson KJ, Larson DW, Dozois EJ, Hassan I, Sandborn WJ, et al. Internet use by patients in an inflammatory bowel disease specialty clinic. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2007) 13:1266–70. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20198
- Internet use among inflammatory bowel disease patients: an Italian multicenter survey. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2009) 21:1036–41. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e328321b112
- Zhaohua D, Ziying H, Ren C, Zhang W, Xiang F. What predicts patients' adoption intention toward mhealth services in China: empirical study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. (2018) 6:e172. doi: 10.2196/ mhealth.9316
- Greene JA, Choudhry NK, Kilabuk E, Shrank WH. Online social networking by patients with diabetes: a qualitative evaluation of communication with facebook. J Gen Intern Med. (2011) 26:287–92. doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1526-3
- Smith-Merry J, Goggin G, Campbell A, McKenzie K, Ridout B, Baylosis C, et al. Social connection and online engagement: insights from interviews with users of a mental health online forum. *JMIR Ment Health*. (2019) 6:e11084. doi: 10.2196/11084
- 20. Wenjuanxing: Platform For Survey Design. Available online at: https://www. wjx.cn.
- Bekkers M, Knippenberg FV, Van D, Berge-Henegouwen GV. Prospective evaluation of psychosocial adaptation to stoma surgery: the role of self-efficacy. *Psychosom Med.* (1996) 58:183– 91. doi: 10.1097/00006842-199603000-00013
- Wu KM, Chau PC, Twinn S. Self-efficacy and quality of life among stoma patients in Hong Kong. *Cancer Nurs.* (2007) 30:186–93. doi: 10.1097/ 01.NCC.0000270704.34296.86
- Wright F. The dimensionality of stigma: a comparison of its impact on the self of persons with HIV/AIDS and cancer. J Health Soc Behav. (2000) 41:50–67. doi: 10.2307/2676360

- Ay-Woan Pan LC, Betsy L. Fife and ping-chuan hsiung, evaluation of the psychometrics of the social impact scale:a measure of stigmatization. *Int J Rehabil Res.* (2007) 30:235–8. doi: 10.1097/MRR.0b013e32829fb3db
- Mowat C, Cole A, Windsor A, Ahmad T, Arnott I, Driscoll R, et al. Guidelines for the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. *Gut.* (2011) 60:571–607. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.224154
- Beddy D, Dozois EJ, Pemberton JH. Perioperative complications in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2011) 17:1610–9. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21504
- Qin F, Zhen L, Ye X, Wei H, Zhu M, Chen J, et al. Stigma and its influence on patients with temporary ostomy: a cross-sectional survey. *J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs.* (2020) 47:244–8. doi: 10.1097/WON.00000000000645
- Yu Q, Zhu C, Feng S, Xu L, Hu S, Chen H, et al. Economic burden and health care access for patients with inflammatory bowel diseases in China: web-based survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2021) 23:e20629. doi: 10.2196/ 20629
- Luo XP, Mao R, Chen BL. Over-reaching beyond disease activity: the influence of anxiety and medical economic burden on health-related quality of life in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2017) 11:23–31. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S118589
- Meng Q, Fang H, Liu X, Yuan B, Xu J. Consolidating the social health insurance schemes in China: towards an equitable and efficient health system. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:1484–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00342-6
- Ito N, Kazuma K. Factors associated with the feeling of stability in the daily life among colostomy patients. *Japan J Nurs Sci.* (2010) 2:25– 31. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7924.2005.00029.x
- Thorpe G, Arthur A, McArthur M. Adjusting to bodily change following stoma formation: a phenomenological study. *Disabil Rehabil*. (2016) 38:1791– 802. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1107768
- Kornhaber R, Wilson A, Abu-Qamar M, McLean L, Vandervord J. Inpatient peer support for adult burn survivors-a valuable resource: a phenomenological analysis of the Australian experience. Burns. (2014) 41:110–7. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2014.05.003
- Berger M, Wagner TH, Baker LC. Internet use and stigmatized illness. Soc Sci Med. (2005) 61:1821–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.03.025
- Mckenna K, Bargh JA. Coming out in the age of the Internet: Identity ("demarginalization\" through virtual group participation. J Personal Soc Psychol. (1998) 75:681–94. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.75.3.681
- 36. Lauritzen J, Pedersen PU, Bjerrum MB. The meaningfulness of participating in support groups for informal caregivers of older adults with dementia: a systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep. (2015) 13:373– 433. doi: 10.11124/01938924-201513060-00018
- Vitaliano P, Katon W, Unützer J. Making the case for caregiver research in geriatric psychiatry. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. (2005) 13:834–43. doi: 10.1097/00019442-200510000-00002

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Li, Gong, Cao, Xu, Yu, Wang and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Inflammatory Indexes for Assessing the Severity and Disease Progression of Ulcerative Colitis: A Single-Center Retrospective Study

Hanyang Lin<sup>1,2†</sup>, Zhaohui Bai<sup>1,3†</sup>, Qiong Wu<sup>4†</sup>, Guiyang Chu<sup>5</sup>, Yongguo Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Xiaozhong Guo<sup>1\*</sup> and Xingshun Qi<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Raffaele Pellegrino, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Maria Mourão, Instituto Politécnico de Viana do Castelo, Portugal

#### \*Correspondence:

Xingshun Qi xingshunqi@126.com Xiaozhong Guo guo\_xiao\_zhong@126.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 09 January 2022 Accepted: 07 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

#### Citation:

Lin H, Bai Z, Wu Q, Chu G, Zhang Y, Guo X and Qi X (2022) Inflammatory Indexes for Assessing the Severity and Disease Progression of Ulcerative Colitis: A Single-Center Retrospective Study. Front. Public Health 10:851295.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.851295

College, China Medical University, Shenyang, China, <sup>3</sup> Postgraduate College, Shenyang Pharmaceutical University, Shenyang, China, <sup>4</sup> Department of Thoracic Surgery, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China, <sup>5</sup> Information Section of Medical Security Center, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China

<sup>1</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China, <sup>2</sup> Postgraduate

**Background:** Active and severe ulcerative colitis (UC) and non-response to 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) are related to poor outcomes and should be accurately identified. Several integrated inflammatory indexes are potentially useful to assess the disease severity in patients with acute or critical diseases but are underexplored in patients with UC.

**Methods:** Patients with UC consecutively admitted to our hospital between January 2015 and December 2020 were retrospectively grouped according to the activity and severity of UC and response to 5-ASA. The neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), systemic immune-inflammation index (SII), neutrophil-to-platelet ratio (NPR), platelet-to-albumin ratio (PAR), C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio (CAR), and C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio (CLR) were calculated. The areas under receiver operating characteristic curves (AUC) were calculated.

**Results:** Overall, 187 patients with UC were included, of whom 151 were active, 55 were severe, and 14 were unresponsive to 5-ASA. The active UC group had significantly higher NLR, PLR, SII, and PAR levels. SII had the greatest predictive accuracy for active UC, followed by PLR, PAR, and NLR (AUC = 0.647, 0.641, 0.634, and 0.626). The severe UC group had significantly higher NLR, PLR, SII, PAR, CAR, and CLR levels. CLR had the greatest predictive accuracy for severe UC, followed by CAR, PLR, SII, NLR, and PAR (AUC = 0.732, 0.714, 0.693, 0.669, 0.646, and 0.63). The non-response to the 5-ASA group had significantly higher CAR and CLR levels. CAR had a greater predictive accuracy for non-response to 5-ASA than CLR (AUC = 0.781 and 0.759).

**Conclusion:** SII, CLR, and CAR may be useful for assessing the severity and progression of UC, but remain not optimal.

Keywords: ulcerative colitis, inflammatory indexes, activity, severity, 5-aminosalicylic acid

33

## INTRODUCTION

Ulcerative colitis (UC) is a relapsing and remitting mucosal inflammation often restricted to the colon and rectum, which may be associated with dysregulated immune response (1). The highest incidence and prevalence of UC is 4.6 per 100,000 personyears and 57.3 per 100,000 persons in Eastern Asia, respectively (2). Patients with active UC always suffer from embarrassing and painful symptoms, such as fecal incontinence, abdominal pain, bloody diarrhea, arthritis, and fatigue, and tend to develop poorer psychosocial outcomes than those with inactive UC (3). Active UC is usually classified into mild, moderate, and severe according to the recommendation by the international guideline (4). Generally, severe UC can bring more negative impact on the patient's quality of life, social and psychological wellbeing, healthcare resource utilization (5), and prognosis than mildmoderate UC (6, 7). Early medications can avoid the progression from mild-moderate to severe UC (7). 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) is the first-line choice of medication for patients with UC diagnosed within the first year (8). Usually, patients with severe UC are not well responsive to 5-ASA, leading to the use of corticosteroids, immunosuppressants, and biologics (9-12). Therefore, it is a clinical priority to identify patients who require more aggressive treatment to reach clinical remission.

In 1955, Truelove and Witts (13) established their criteria to explore the efficacy of cortisone medications in patients with UC. Currently, the Truelove and Witts criteria have been the cornerstone of assessing the severity of UC. However, it still has several potential limitations. The most critical limitation is that the definitions of improvement and worsening are ambiguous (14), as well as that of moderate UC. In 1987, Schroeder et al. (15) further developed the Mayo score by combining clinical symptoms, laboratory tests, and endoscopic findings. Despite one of the most commonly used scores for the severity of UC, it contains endoscopic procedures, which may be invasive, expensive, and time-consuming. Recently, the partial Mayo score (PMS) has been increasingly recognized, because it can properly discriminate this disease based on stool frequency, rectal bleeding, and physician's global assessment, but does not contemplate endoscopic data (16-18). However, the requirement of clinician's subjective evaluation of patient's symptoms remains its potential drawback (19).

Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C reactive protein (CRP) are two traditional serologic biomarkers and are usually used for monitoring the disease course of UC, but their sensitivity and specificity are unsatisfactory (20). Recently, several integrated indexes have been used for the assessment of infective, acute, and critical diseases, including neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) (21), platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR) (22), systemic immune-inflammation index (SII) (23), neutrophil-to-platelet ratio (NPR) (24), platelet-to-albumin ratio (PAR) (25), CRP-to-albumin ratio (CAR) (26), and CRP-to-lymphocyte ratio (CLR) (27). Notably, they are non-invasive and easier to use at a low cost. Thus, the purpose of this study is to determine the accuracy of inflammatory indexes for diagnosing active UC and severe UC and identifying the response to 5-ASA medication.

## METHODS

#### **Patient Selection**

This is a single-center retrospective, cross-sectional study. We extracted the medical records of all UC patients who were consecutively admitted to the General Hospital of Northern Theater Command between January 1, 2015 and December 31, 2020 from the inpatient information system. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) medical records cannot be reviewed in detail; (2) patients were diagnosed as suspected UC and unclassified inflammatory bowel disease; (3) routine blood tests were missing; (4) history of colectomy; (5) co-existing conditions that potentially influence inflammatory indexes (i.e., severe trauma, pregnancy, liver cirrhosis, uremia, and malignancy); and (6) other autoimmune diseases (i.e., psoriasis, Behcet's disease, urticarial vasculitis, and rheumatoid arthritis). The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of General Hospital of Northern Theater Command [Y (2021) 078] and conformed to the ethical guidelines of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki. The requirement of informed written consent was waived because only the data from the inpatient's electronic medical records were extracted.

#### **Data Collection**

The patient's demographics, history of surgery, comorbidities, duration of UC, history of UC-related medication treatments, clinical symptoms of UC (i.e., abdominal pain, diarrhea, hematochezia, and fever), endoscopic reports, blood tests at admission, extra-intestinal manifestations, UC-related complications, UC-related medications during hospitalization, and length of stay (LOS) were manually extracted from the inpatient's electronic medical records. Fever was defined, if the body temperature, which was measured on the first day of admission according to the electronic medical records, was > 37.3°C. The Montreal classification for disease extent of UC (28) and Mayo endoscopic subscore (29) were also assessed through endoscopic reports. Several inflammatory indexes, including NLR, PLR, SII, NPR, PAR, CAR, and CLR, were calculated. NLR was calculated as the neutrophil counts (10<sup>9</sup>/L) divided by the lymphocyte counts  $(10^9/L)$  (21). PLR was calculated as the platelet counts  $(10^9/L)$  divided by the lymphocyte counts  $(10^{9}/L)$  (22). SII was calculated as the neutrophil counts  $(10^{9}/L)$ multiplied by the platelet counts (10<sup>9</sup>/L) and divided by the lymphocyte counts (109/L) (23). NPR was calculated as the neutrophil counts  $(10^9/L)$  multiplied by 1,000 and divided by the platelet counts (10<sup>9</sup>/L) (24). PAR was calculated as the platelet counts  $(10^9/L)$  divided by the albumin levels (g/L) (25). CAR was calculated as the CRP levels (mg/L) divided by the albumin levels (g/L) (26). CLR was calculated as the CRP levels (mg/L) divided by the lymphocyte counts  $(10^9/L)$  (27).

#### Groups

The patients were grouped according to the activity of UC, the severity of active UC, and response to 5-ASA. First, patients were classified into active and remission UC groups according to the modified Mayo score, which has different definitions of clinical activation and remission of UC as compared to



5-aminosalicylic acid.
TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of ulcerative colitis (UC) patients.

Variables	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)
Age (years)	187	47.4 ± 16.3 49 (13.3–89.3)
Male (%)	187	100 (53.5%)
History of smoking (%)	187	38 (20.3%)
History of alcoholism (%)	187	17 (9.1%)
History of surgery (%)	187	52 (27.8%)
Comorbidities		
Hypertension/Diabetes/CHD (%)	187	14/8/10 (7.5%/4.3%/5.3%)
Duration of UC (years)	187	3.6 ± 6.5 0.5 (0-40)
History of UC related medication treatments		
5-ASA (%)	187	97 (51.9%)
Corticosteroids (%)	187	15 (8%)
Immunosuppressants (%)	187	1 (0.5%)
Biological agents (%)	187	1 (0.5%)
Traditional Chinese medicine (%)	187	48 (25.7%)
Probiotics (%)	187	28 (15%)
Clinical symptoms of UC		
Abdominal pain/Diarrhea/Hematochezia/Fever (%)	187	125/135/121/7 (66.8%/72.2%/ 64.7%/3.7%)
Activity of UC	107	
Active/Remission	187	151/36 (80.7%/19.3%)
Severity of UC Severe/Mild and moderate/Cannot be evaluated (9	%) 151	55/89/7 (36.4%/58.9%/4.6%)
Montreal classification for disease extent		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
E3/E2/E1/None/Cannot be evaluated (%)	187	53/24/32/12/66 (28.3%/12.8%/17.1%/ 6.4%/35.3%)
Mayo endoscopic subscore of UC		
3/2/1/0/Cannot be evaluated (%)	187	26/49/7/15/90 (13.9%/26.2%/3.7%/ 8%/48.1%)
Extra-intestinal manifestations		
Cholelithiasis (%)	187	9 (4.8%)
Fatty liver (%)	187	10 (5.3%)
Pyoderma gangrenosum (%)	187	1 (0.5%)
Peripheral arthritis (%)	187	2 (1.1%)
UC-related complications		
Intestinal stenosis (%)	187	5 (2.7%)
Intestinal obstruction (%)	187	3 (1.6%)
Intraepithelial neoplasia (%)	187	15 (8%)
Magnive anotrointegating blooding (0/)	187	7 (3.7%)
	187	9 (4.8%)
Parenteral nutrition (%)		0 /1 10/1
Parenteral nutrition (%) Central venous catheterization (%)	187	2 (1.1%)
Parenteral nutrition (%) Central venous catheterization (%) UC related medication treatments during hos	187 pitaliza	ition
Parenteral nutrition (%) Central venous catheterization (%) UC related medication treatments during hos 5-ASA (%)	187 <b>pitaliza</b> 187	141 (75.4%)
Massive gastrointestinal bleeding (%) Parenteral nutrition (%) Central venous catheterization (%) UC related medication treatments during hos 5-ASA (%) Corticosteroids (%) Biological agents (%)	187 pitaliza	ition

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Variables	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)
Probiotics (%)	187	107 (57.2%)
Length of stay (days)	187	13.2 ± 10.1 11 (1–64)

UC, Ulcerative colitis; SD, Standard deviation; CHD, Coronary heart disease; 5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid; E3, Extensive colitis; E2, Left-sided colitis; E1, Proctitis.

**TABLE 2** | Comparison of inflammatory indexes between active and remission UC groups.

Indexes		Active group		Remission group		
	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)		
NLR	151	3.53 ± 3.16 2.63 (0.63–20.33)	36	2.23 ± 1.06 2 (0.88–5.3)	0.019	
PLR	151	181.17 ± 103.53 153.08 (46.25–632.22)	36	133.75 ± 47.45 136.84 (63.55–240)	0.009	
SII	151	1117.49 ± 1428.01 676 (105–10558.11)	36	552.34 ± 397.31 517.76 (150–2400)	0.006	
NPR	151	19.33 ± 10.66 17.06 (5.25–83.82)	36	17.13 ± 6.21 15.87 (7.58–31.36)	0.457	
PAR	140	8.02 ± 4.39 6.54 (1.57–29.03)	29	6.37 ± 3.33 5.4 (2.86–19.65)	0.023	
CAR	85	0.98 ± 2.01 0.21 (0.003–14.79)	16	0.33 ± 0.59 0.04 (0.006-2.14)	0.091	
CLR	89	21.46 ± 41.9 3.89 (0.06–322)	16	5.9 ± 10.72 0.78 (0.08–38.95)	0.064	

UC, Ulcerative colitis; Pts, Patients; SD, Standard deviation; NLR, Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; SII, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

**TABLE 3** | Correlation analyses of inflammatory indexes with the activity of UC, the severity of UC, and non-response to 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA).

Indexes	Activity of UC		Sever	Severity of UC		Non-response to 5-ASA	
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	
NLR	0.172	0.02	0.245	<0.001	0.137	0.123	
PLR	0.193	0.01	0.324	<0.001	0.097	0.277	
SII	0.201	0.01	0.284	<0.001	0.148	0.096	
NPR	0.055	0.459	0.042	0.618	0.12	0.176	
PAR	0.175	0.02	0.219	0.01	0.159	0.083	
CAR	0.169	0.091	0.369	<0.001	0.353	0.002	
CLR	0.182	0.063	0.401	<0.001	0.321	0.004	

UC, Ulcerative colitis; 5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid; NLR, Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; SII, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

the original Mayo score (15, 29). Briefly, the modified Mayo score is calculated based on the stool frequency, rectal bleeding, endoscopic findings, and physician's global assessment. Clinical

activation was defined as a total modified Mayo score of  $\geq 3$  points. Clinical remission was defined as a total modified Mayo score of  $\leq 2$  points without a sub-score of >1 point. Second, patients with active UC were classified into severe and mild-moderate UC groups according to the modified Truelove and Witts criteria (13). Severe UC was defined as a bloody stool frequency  $\geq 6$  per day along with at least one sign of systemic toxicity, including pulse rate >90 bpm, temperature > 37.8°C, hemoglobin level < 10.5 g/dl, ESR > 30 mm/h, and/or CRP > 30 mg/l. Third, patients with active UC receiving 5-ASA during their hospitalizations were classified into response and non-response to 5-ASA groups. Response to 5-ASA was defined as corticosteroid-free clinical remission, considering that corticosteroids are alternatives in our patients who did not achieve clinical remission after 5-ASA.

## **Statistical Analyses**

All statistical analyses were conducted using the SPSS 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States of America), the MedCalc 20.0 (MedCalc Software bvba, Ostend, Belgium), and the GraphPad Prism 8.0.2 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, United States of America). Categorical data were summarized as the frequency with percentage. Differences between groups were assessed using the chi-squared test. Continuous data were summarized as mean  $\pm$  SD and median with range. Differences between groups were assessed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test. Spearman's correlation coefficients were used to analyze the correlation of inflammatory indexes with the activity of UC, the severity of UC, and response to 5-ASA. Correlation coefficients (r) were reported as follows: 0 < r < 1, positive correlation; -1 < r < 0, negative correlation; and r =0, no correlation. The diagnostic accuracy of the inflammatory indexes for active UC, severe UC, and non-response to 5-ASA medications was identified by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves (30). Their optimal cut-off values, area under the curve (AUC) with 95% CI, sensitivity, and specificity were calculated. The optimal cutoff value was determined in the case that the summation of sensitivity and specificity values was the highest, maximizing Youden's index (31). A two-tailed P < 0.05was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

### **Characteristics of Patients**

A total of 246 patients with UC were initially identified and reviewed for potential inclusion. Finally, 187 patients were eligible for the final analysis in the study (**Figure 1**). The mean age was  $47.4 \pm 16.3$  years. The percentage of males was 53.5%. The mean disease duration was  $3.6 \pm 6.5$  years. Nearly half of the eligible patients (51.9%) had already received 5-ASA medications for UC before admission. Diarrhea (72.2%), abdominal pain (66.8%), and hematochezia (64.7%) were the most common clinical symptoms at admission. Extensive colitis was observed in 53 (28.3%) patients through endoscopy. The Mayo endoscopic sub-score of 3 points was observed in 26 (13.9%) patients. One hundred and forty-one (75.4%) patients received 5-ASA

**TABLE 4** | Comparison of inflammatory indexes between severe and mild-moderate UC groups.

Indexes		Severe group	Μ	Mild-moderate group		
	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)		
NLR	55	4.48 ± 4.02 3.27 (1-20.33)	89	2.92 ± 2.35 2.14 (0.63–15.5)	0.003	
PLR	55	221.57 ± 124.25 183 (81.76–632.22)	89	156.73 ± 80.9 131.69 (46.25–488.89)	<0.001	
SII	55	1587.16 ± 1973.78 910 (212.59–10558.11)	89	844.4 ± 909.58 552 (105–6045)	0.001	
NPR	55	19.91 ± 12.63 18.1 (6.62–83.82)	89	18.78 ± 9.46 16.11 (5.25-50.99)	0.616	
PAR	51	9.27 ± 4.77 7.42 (3.7–29.03)	83	7.44 ± 4.1 6.17 (1.57–27.74)	0.012	
CAR	37	1.64 ± 2.69 0.76 (0.003–14.79)	45	0.51 ± 1.04 0.06 (0.01–5.13)	0.001	
CLR	40	36.72 ± 55.78 20.08 (0.06–322)	46	9.51 ± 18.9 1.22 (0.09–87.06)	<0.001	

UC, Ulcerative colitis; Pts, Patients; SD, Standard deviation; NLR, Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; SII, Systemic immune-in?ammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

 TABLE 5 | Comparison of inflammatory indexes between non-response and response to 5-ASA groups.

Indexes	N	on-response group		Response group	P-value
	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)	No. Pts	Mean ± SD, Median (Range) or Frequency (Percentage)	
NLR	14	4.99 ± 4.85 2.94 (1.13–18.56)	114	3.24 ± 2.57 2.56 (0.63–15.5)	0.122
PLR	14	213.15 ± 134.4 154.04 (109.41-632.22)	114	180.99 ± 102.05 163.44 (54.62–618.75)	0.275
SII	14	$1953.09 \pm 2716.53$ 841.01 (304–10558.11)	114	990.99 ± 1025.29 659.97 (105–6045)	0.096
NPR	14	20.95 ± 8.99 19.72 (8.03–41.97)	114	18.14 ± 8.86 16.28 (5.25–50.99)	0.175
PAR	14	10.89 ± 6.65 8.47 (4.87–29.03)	106	7.97 ± 4.11 6.57 (2.73–27.74)	0.083
CAR	12	3.21 ± 4.16 2.71 (0.01–14.79)	65	0.61 ± 1.07 0.14 (0.003–5.13)	0.002
CLR	12	65.78 ± 88.51 56.63 (0.29–322)	68	14.21 ± 23.26 3.18 (0.06–115)	0.004

5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid; Pts, Patients; SD, Standard deviation; NLR, Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; SII, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

medications for UC at our hospitals. The mean length of hospital stay was 13.2  $\pm$  10.1 days (Table 1).

## Inflammatory Indexes and Activity of UC

Of the 187 included patients, 151 and 36 were diagnosed with active UC and remission UC, respectively. The mean NLR, PLR,



FIGURE 2 | Comparison of predictive performance of inflammatory indexes for active ulcerative colitis (UC). UC, Ulcerative colitis; AUC, Area under the curve; Cl, Confidence interval; NLR, Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; Sll, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

SII, and PAR (P = 0.019, 0.009, 0.006, and 0.023), but not NPR, CAR, or CLR (P = 0.457, 0.091, or 0.064), were significantly higher in the active group than in the remission group (**Table 2**). NLR, PLR, SII, and PAR were significantly correlated with the activity of UC (P = 0.02, 0.01, 0.01, and 0.02) (**Table 3**). SII had the largest AUC (AUC = 0.647), followed by CLR, PLR, PAR, CAR, NLR, and NPR (AUC = 0.646, 0.641, 0.634, 0.634, 0.626, and 0.54) (**Figure 2**). The optimal cut-off value of SII for active UC was 595.47×10<sup>9</sup>/L with a sensitivity and specificity of 58.28 and 75%, respectively (**Supplementary Table 1**). The AUC of SII was significantly different from that of NPR (P = 0.0428), but not NLR, PLR, PAR, CAR, or CLR (P = 0.3506, 0.8508, 0.8233, 0.5929, or 0.6023).

## Inflammatory Indexes and Severity of UC

Of the 144 active UC patients, 55 and 89 were diagnosed with severe UC and mild-moderate UC, respectively. The mean NLR, PLR, SII, PAR, CAR, and CLR (P = 0.003, <0.001, 0.001, 0.012, 0.001, and <0.001), but not NPR (P = 0.616), were significantly higher in the severe group than in the mild-moderate group (**Table 4**). NLR, PLR, SII, PAR, CAR, and CLR were significantly correlated with the severity of UC (P = < 0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0.001, <0

0.01, <0.001, and <0.001) (**Table 3**). CLR had the largest AUC (AUC = 0.732), followed by CAR, PLR, SII, NLR, PAR, and NPR (AUC = 0.714, 0.693, 0.669, 0.646, 0.63, and 0.525) (**Figure 3**). The optimal cut-off value of CLR for severe UC was 7 mg/10<sup>9</sup> with a sensitivity and specificity of 65% and 73.91%, respectively (**Supplementary Table 2**). The AUC of CLR was significantly different from that of SII, NPR, and PAR (P = 0.0473, 0.043, and 0.0138), but not NLR, PLR, or CAR (P = 0.0562, 0.0723, or 0.1886).

# Inflammatory Indexes and Non-Response to 5-ASA

Of the 128 active UC patients who received 5-ASA, 14 were not responsive to 5-ASA. The mean CAR and CLR (P = 0.002 and 0.004), but not NLR, PLR, SII, NPR, and PAR (P = 0.122, 0.275, 0.096, 0.175, and 0.083), were significantly higher in the non-response group than in the response group (**Table 5**). CAR and CLR were significantly correlated with non-response to 5-ASA (P = 0.002 and 0.004) (**Table 3**). CAR had the largest AUC (AUC = 0.781), followed by CLR, PAR, SII, NLR, NPR, and PLR (AUC = 0.759, 0.643, 0.637, 0.627, 0.611, and 0.59) (**Figure 4**). The optimal cut-off value of CAR for non-response to 5-ASA



FIGURE 3 | Comparison of the predictive performance of inflammatory indexes for severe UC. UC, Ulcerative colitis; AUC, Area under the curve; CI, Confidence interval; NLR, Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; SII, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

was 2.41mg/g with a sensitivity and specificity of 58.33% and 95.38%, respectively (**Supplementary Table 3**). The AUC of CAR was significantly different from that of PLR (P = 0.0014), but not NLR, SII, NPR, PAR, or CLR (P = 0.055, 0.0673, 0.1451, 0.1529, or 0.3271).

# DISCUSSION

The present study has compared the value of seven inflammatory indexes, including NLR, PLR, SII, NPR, PAR, CAR, and CLR, at baseline for assessing the activity of UC, the severity of UC, and response to 5-ASA, and found that SII had the greatest predictive value for active UC, CLR for severe UC, and CAR for non-response to 5-ASA.

Systemic immune-inflammation index (SII) was originally developed as an independent predictor of recurrence and survival for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after surgery (23). Recently, it has also been demonstrated that SII level was higher in patients with UC than in healthy control groups and that SII level was positively associated with disease activity in patients (32) with UC. Similarly, our study found that the SII level was significantly correlated with the activity of UC. Moreover, SII had a better diagnostic capability for active UC than other inflammatory indexes. This finding may be attributed to the fact that immunity and inflammation are crucial for the occurrence of UC (1) and SII is calculated as neutrophil counts multiplied by platelet counts and divided by lymphocyte counts (23).

First, in a healthy human body, although  $1-2 \times 10^{11}$  neutrophils are generated every day in the bone marrow (33), chemokine receptors, including CXCR4 and CXCR2, may maintain a delicate balance of neutrophil counts by mediating the retention of neutrophils in the bone marrow and their mobilization to peripheral blood (34, 35). In patients with active inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), there are significantly increased interleukin-17A (IL-17A) levels in inflamed mucosa that promote the transcription of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bone marrow (36), thereby inhibiting and activating the expression of CXCR4 binding ligands and CXCR2 binding ligands, respectively. As a result, increased neutrophils are released from the bone marrow into the peripheral blood (37). Therefore, patients with active IBD often have peripheral neutrophilia (38).

Second, lymphocytes, such as Th1 cells, Th17 cells, and B cells, can produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and activate intestinal



FIGURE 4 | Comparison of the predictive performance of inflammatory indexes for non-response to 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA). 5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid; AUC, Area under the curve; Cl, Confidence interval; NLR, Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio; Sll, Systemic immune-inflammation index; NPR, Neutrophil-to-platelet ratio; PAR, Platelet-to-albumin ratio; CAR, C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio; CLR, C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio.

proteases leading to mucosal damage (39), and are accumulated in the inflamed lamina propria of IBD (40, 41). In patients with active IBD, lymphocytes are accumulated from the peripheral blood into the inflamed intestine, which eventually results in peripheral lymphopenia (39).

Third, platelets are produced from long cytoplasmic processes fragmentation of megakaryocyte in the extravascular marrow space (42). Patients with IBD have elevated levels of thrombopoietin and IL-6, which are involved in megakaryocytic maturation (43). Moreover, in patients with IBD, the platelets in the peripheral blood are active and can spontaneously aggregate with increased susceptibility to proaggregating agents (44). Thus, patients with active UC often have peripheral thrombocytosis (45). Additionally, platelet counts are more strongly associated with the activity of UC than the severity of UC. Platelet counts in peripheral blood are markedly increased in patients with active UC (45), but not correlated with the Ulcerative Colitis Colonoscopic Index of Severity, which has an excellent overall assessment of endoscopic severity (46).

C-reactive protein-to-lymphocyte ratio (CLR) was originally developed as a novel index to predict the major morbidity after esophagogastric cancer resection (27). To our knowledge, only Con et al. explored the role of CLR for assessing the dynamic response to infliximab salvage treatment and predicting the risk of subsequent colectomy in patients with UC (47). Similarly, our study found that CLR had a better capability to predict the severity of UC than other inflammatory indexes. This finding may be attributed to the fact that CLR is calculated as CRP levels divided by lymphocyte counts (27). CRP, the most important acute-phase protein, is produced almost exclusively by hepatocytes in response to stimulation by IL-6, IL-1B, and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ . In the presence of an acute-phase inflammation or infection, CRP levels are increased dramatically. Contrarily, CRP levels are quickly decreased when inflammation is effectively treated (48). CRP alone can be used to predict the severity of active UC (49). Additionally, CRP levels are more strongly associated with the severity of UC than the activity of UC (50).

C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio (CAR) was originally developed to predict the outcome of patients from acute medical ward (26). Gibson et al. (51) detected the predictive value of CAR to steroid response in patients with acute severe UC aiming to select patients who need early rescue treatment (51). Similarly, our study found that CAR had a better capability to predict the response to 5-ASA than other inflammatory indexes. This finding may be attributed to the fact that CAR is calculated as CRP levels divided by albumin levels (26). First, CRP levels are significantly correlated with the proportion of corticosteroid use in patients (52) with Crohn's disease. Corticosteroids, as rescue medications, are usually used in patients who are not well responsive to 5-ASA (9, 10). Second, albumin levels can reflect the nutritional status of patients (53) with UC and are correlated significantly with the clinical severity of UC (54). Moreover, an in vitro study suggested a strong interaction between 5-ASA and human serum albumin (55). In a mouse model of UC, 5-ASA conjugated with human serum albumin was found to show a significant therapeutic effect (56). Thus, albumin levels may influence the therapeutic effect of 5-ASA for UC.

The present study had several limitations. First, it was conducted at a single center with a relatively small sample size of total patients and a very small sample size of patients in the non-response group, probably compromising the statistical analyses presented. Second, the external validity of our findings was lacking. Third, endoscopy was not performed by the same expert at our hospital, so endoscopic assessment might be a bit inconsistent. Fourth, this study was retrospective and cross-sectional, where CRP and albumin levels were not routinely tested in our patients. Moreover, there were some damages in the inpatient information system, leading to the lack of details of two patient's medical records. Fifth, only a few patients were treated with corticosteroids or biologics in our study. Therefore, we cannot evaluate the correlation between inflammatory indexes and response to corticosteroids or biologics.

In conclusion, SII, CLR, and CAR have higher diagnostic performance than other inflammatory indexes for active UC, severe UC, and response to 5-ASA, respectively. Dynamic changes of these inflammatory indexes along with activity and severity of UC should be further explored. Moreover, future studies should also evaluate the association

## REFERENCES

- Kobayashi T, Siegmund B, Le Berre C, Wei SC, Ferrante M, Shen B, et al. Ulcerative colitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2020) 6:74. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-0205-x
- Ng SC, Shi HY, Hamidi N, Underwood FE, Tang W, Benchimol EI, et al. Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:2769–78. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)3 2448-0
- 3. Mikocka-Walus A, Pittet V, Rossel JB, von Känel R. Symptoms of depression and anxiety are independently associated

between these inflammatory indexes and mucosal severity of UC.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of General Hospital of Northern Theater Command. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XQ: conceptualization. HL and XQ: methodology. HL, ZB, and XQ: formal analysis and writing–original draft. HL, ZB, GC, and XQ: data curation. HL, ZB, QW, GC, YZ, XG, and XQ: writing–review and editing. XG and XQ: supervision. All authors have made an intellectual contribution to the manuscript and approved the submission.

## FUNDING

YZ received funding supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Liaoning Province (No. 2019-ZD-1058).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The abstract was published in the 5th Korea Digestive Disease Week (KDDW 2021) Conference as a poster presentation, please see the following link: http://people-x.com/kddw2021/ KDDW2021\_abstract.pdf.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.851295/full#supplementary-material

with clinical recurrence of inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2016) 14:829–35.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015. 12.045

- Rubin DT, Ananthakrishnan AN, Siegel CA, Sauer BG, Long MD. ACG Clinical guideline: ulcerative colitis in adults. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2019) 114:384–413. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000152
- Coward S, Clement F, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, Avina-Zubieta JA, Bitton A, et al. Past and future burden of inflammatory bowel diseases based on modeling of population-based data. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 156:1345– 53.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.002
- Lynch RW, Lowe D, Protheroe A, Driscoll R, Rhodes JM, Arnott ID. Outcomes of rescue therapy in acute severe ulcerative colitis: data from the

United Kingdom inflammatory bowel disease audit. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2013) 38:935–45. doi: 10.1111/apt.12473

- Ko CW, Singh S, Feuerstein JD, Falck-Ytter C, Falck-Ytter Y, Cross RK, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on the management of mild-to-moderate ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 156:748–64. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.12.009
- Jeuring SF, Bours PH, Zeegers MP, Ambergen TW, van den Heuvel TR, Romberg-Camps MJ, et al. Disease outcome of ulcerative colitis in an era of changing treatment strategies: results from the dutch population-based IBDSL COhort. J Crohns Colitis. (2015) 9:837–45. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv129
- Harbord M, Eliakim R, Bettenworth D, Karmiris K, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, et al. Third European evidence-based consensus on diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis. part 2: current management. J Crohns Colitis. (2017) 11:769–84. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx009
- De Cassan C, Fiorino G, Danese S. Second-generation corticosteroids for the treatment of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: more effective and less side effects? *Dig Dis.* (2012) 30:368–75. doi: 10.1159/000338128
- 11. Bourrier A, Carrat F, Colombel JF, Bouvier AM, Abitbol V, Marteau P, et al. Excess risk of urinary tract cancers in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective observational cohort study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2016) 43:252–61. doi: 10.1111/apt.13466
- 12. D'Haens G. Risks and benefits of biologic therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gut.* (2007) 56:725–32. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.103564
- 13. Truelove SC, Witts LJ. Cortisone in ulcerative colitis; final report on a therapeutic trial. *Br Med J*. (1955) 2:1041–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.4947.1041
- Pabla BS, Schwartz DA. Assessing severity of disease in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am.* (2020) 49:671–88. doi: 10.1016/j.gtc.2020.08.003
- Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, Ilstrup DM. Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis. a randomized study. *N Engl J Med.* (1987) 317:1625–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198712243172603
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Hanauer S, Vermeire S, Ghosh S, Liu WJ, et al. Long-term efficacy and safety of ozanimod in moderately to severely active ulcerative colitis: results from the open-label extension of the randomized, phase 2 TOUCHSTONE study. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2021) 15:1120– 9. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab012
- Panaccione R, Danese S, Sandborn WJ, O'Brien CD, Zhou Y, Zhang H, et al. Ustekinumab is effective and safe for ulcerative colitis through 2 years of maintenance therapy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2020) 52:1658– 75. doi: 10.1111/apt.16119
- Amiot A, Filippi J, Abitbol V, Cadiot G, Laharie D, Serrero M, et al. Effectiveness and safety of ustekinumab induction therapy for 103 patients with ulcerative colitis: a GETAID multicentre real-world cohort study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2020) 51:1039–46. doi: 10.1111/apt.15717
- Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Rutgeerts P. Laboratory markers in IBD: useful, magic, or unnecessary toys? *Gut.* (2006) 55:426– 31. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.069476
- Barnes EL, Burakoff R. New biomarkers for diagnosing inflammatory bowel disease and assessing treatment outcomes. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2956–65. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000903
- 21. Zahorec R. Ratio of neutrophil to lymphocyte counts-rapid and simple parameter of systemic inflammation and stress in critically ill. *Bratisl Lek Listy.* (2001) 102:5–14.
- 22. Smith RA, Bosonnet L, Ghaneh P, Sutton R, Evans J, Healey P, et al. The platelet-lymphocyte ratio improves the predictive value of serum CA19-9 levels in determining patient selection for staging laparoscopy in suspected periampullary cancer. *Surgery.* (2008) 143:658–66. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2007.12.014
- Hu B, Yang XR, Xu Y, Sun YF, Sun C, Guo W, et al. Systemic immune-inflammation index predicts prognosis of patients after curative resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:6212– 22. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0442
- Wei XB, Liu YH, He PC, Yu DQ, Tan N, Zhou YL, et al. The impact of admission neutrophil-to-platelet ratio on in-hospital and long-term mortality in patients with infective endocarditis. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2017) 55:899– 906. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2016-0527
- 25. Shirai Y, Shiba H, Haruki K, Horiuchi T, Saito N, Fujiwara Y, et al. Preoperative platelet-to-albumin ratio predicts prognosis of patients with pancreatic ductal

adenocarcinoma after pancreatic resection. *Anticancer Res.* (2017) 37:787-93. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11378

- 26. Fairclough E, Cairns E, Hamilton J, Kelly C. Evaluation of a modified early warning system for acute medical admissions and comparison with C-reactive protein/albumin ratio as a predictor of patient outcome. *Clin Med.* (2009) 9:30–3. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.9-1-30
- Neary C, McAnena P, McAnena O, Kerin M, Collins C. C-Reactive protein-lymphocyte ratio identifies patients at low risk for major morbidity after oesophagogastric resection for cancer. *Dig Surg.* (2020) 37:515– 23. doi: 10.1159/000510963
- Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. *Gut.* (2006) 55:749–53. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.082909
- Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:2462–76. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa050516
- DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. *Biometrics*. (1988) 44:837–45. doi: 10.2307/2531595
- Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer. (1950) 3:32– 5. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:1<32::aid-cncr2820030106>3.0.co;2-3
- 32. Xie Y, Zhuang T, Ping Y, Zhang Y, Wang X, Yu P, et al. Elevated systemic immune inflammation index level is associated with disease activity in ulcerative colitis patients. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2021) 517:122-6. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2021.02.016
- Borregaard N. Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. *Immunity*. (2010) 33:657–70. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.11.011
- Martin C, Burdon PC, Bridger G, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Williams TJ, Rankin SM. Chemokines acting via CXCR2 and CXCR4 control the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow and their return following senescence. *Immunity*. (2003) 19:583–93. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00263-2
- Eash KJ, Greenbaum AM, Gopalan PK, Link DC. CXCR2 and CXCR4 antagonistically regulate neutrophil trafficking from murine bone marrow. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:2423–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI41649
- 36. Su J, Chen T, Ji XY, Liu C, Yadav PK, Wu R, et al. IL-25 downregulates Th1/Th17 immune response in an IL-10-dependent manner in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:720–8. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182802a76
- Veenstra M, Ransohoff RM. Chemokine receptor CXCR2: physiology regulator and neuroinflammation controller? *J Neuroimmunol.* (2012) 246:1– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.02.016
- 38. Saniabadi AR, Hanai H, Takeuchi K, Umemura K, Nakashima M, Adachi T, et al. Adacolumn, an adsorptive carrier based granulocyte and monocyte apheresis device for the treatment of inflammatory and refractory diseases associated with leukocytes. *Ther Apher Dial*. (2003) 7:48– 59. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0968.2003.00012.x
- Giuffrida P, Corazza GR, Di Sabatino A. Old and new lymphocyte players in inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2018) 63:277– 88. doi: 10.1007/s10620-017-4892-4
- Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J, Helmby H, Westendorf A, Buer J, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:1341–6. doi: 10.1038/ni.1659
- Dardalhon V, Awasthi A, Kwon H, Galileos G, Gao W, Sobel RA, et al. IL-4 inhibits TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGFbeta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(-) effector T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:1347–55. doi: 10.1038/ni.1677
- Schneider W, Gattermann N. Megakaryocytes: origin of bleeding and thrombotic disorders. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (1994) 24:16– 20. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1994.tb02420.x
- Heits F, Stahl M, Ludwig D, Stange EF, Jelkmann W. Elevated serum thrombopoietin and interleukin-6 concentrations in thrombocytosis associated with inflammatory bowel disease. J Interferon Cytokine Res. (1999) 19:757–60. doi: 10.1089/1079990993 13604
- Danese S, Motte Cd CdL, Fiocchi C. Platelets in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical, pathogenic, and therapeutic implications. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2004) 99:938–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2004.04129.x

- Kapsoritakis AN, Koukourakis MI, Sfiridaki A, Potamianos SP, Kosmadaki MG, Koutroubakis IE, et al. Mean platelet volume: a useful marker of inflammatory bowel disease activity. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2001) 96:776– 81. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03621.x
- 46. Samuel S, Bruining DH, Loftus EV, Thia KT, Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, et al. Validation of the ulcerative colitis colonoscopic index of severity and its correlation with disease activity measures. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2013) 11:49–54.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.08.003
- 47. Con D, Andrew B, Nicolaides S, van Langenberg DR, Vasudevan A. Biomarker dynamics during infliximab salvage for acute severe ulcerative colitis: Creactive protein (CRP)-lymphocyte ratio and CRP-albumin ratio are useful in predicting colectomy. *Intest Res.* (2022) 20:101–13. doi: 10.5217/ir.2020.00146
- Karoui S, Laz S, Serghini M, Bibani N, Boubaker J, Filali A. Correlation of C-reactive protein with clinical and endoscopic activity in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2011) 56:1801–5. doi: 10.1007/s10620-010-1496-7
- Rosenberg L, Lawlor GO, Zenlea T, Goldsmith JD, Gifford A, Falchuk KR, et al. Predictors of endoscopic inflammation in patients with ulcerative colitis in clinical remission. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:779– 84. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182802b0e
- Sonoyama H, Kawashima K, Ishihara S, Kotani S, Fukuba N, Oka A, et al. Capabilities of fecal calprotectin and blood biomarkers as surrogate endoscopic markers according to ulcerative colitis disease type. *J Clin Biochem Nutr.* (2019) 64:265–70. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.18-92
- Gibson DJ, Hartery K, Doherty J, Nolan J, Keegan D, Byrne K, et al. CRP/albumin ratio: an early predictor of steroid responsiveness in acute severe ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Gastroenterol.* (2018) 52:e48– 52. doi: 10.1097/MCG.0000000000884
- 52. Kwon JH, Im JP, Ye BD, Cheon JH, Jang HJ, Lee KM, et al. Disease phenotype, activity and clinical course prediction based on c-reactive protein levels at diagnosis in patients with crohn's disease: results from the CONNECT study. *Gut Liver*. (2016) 10:595–603. doi: 10.5009/gnl 15411
- 53. Chen YH, Wang L, Feng SY, Cai WM, Chen XF, Huang ZM. The relationship between C-Reactive protein/albumin ratio and

disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Res Pract. (2020) 2020:3467419. doi: 10.1155/2020/34 67419

- Lok KH, Ng CH, Hung HG Li KF, Li KK, Szeto ML. Correlation of serum biomarkers with clinical severity and mucosal inflammation in Chinese ulcerative colitis patients. *J Dig Dis.* (2008) 9:219– 24. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-2980.2008.00350.x
- 55. Cui FL, Qin LX, Li F, Luo HX. Synchronous fluorescence determination and molecular modeling of 5-Aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) interacted with human serum albumin. J Mol Model. (2008) 14:1111–7. doi: 10.1007/s00894-008-0352-6
- 56. Iwao Y, Tomiguchi I, Domura A, Mantaira Y, Minami A, Suzuki T, et al. Inflamed site-specific drug delivery system based on the interaction of human serum albumin nanoparticles with myeloperoxidase in a murine model of experimental colitis. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. (2018) 125:141– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2018.01.016

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lin, Bai, Wu, Chu, Zhang, Guo and Qi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Clinico-Epidemiological Characteristics of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Egypt: A Nationwide Multicenter Study

# **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Ivana Trivic, Children's Hospital Zagreb, Croatia Boldeanu Mihail Virgil, University of Medicine and Pharmacy of Craiova, Romania

#### \*Correspondence:

Mohamed El Kassas m\_elkassas@hq.helwan.edu.eg

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 21 March 2022 Published: 19 April 2022

### Citation:

Elbadry M, Nour MO, Hussien M, Ghoneem EA, Medhat MA, Shehab H, Galal S, Eltabbakh M, El-Raey F, Negm M, Afify S, Abdelhamed W, Sherief A Abdelaziz A Abo Elkasem M, Mahrous A, Kamal G, Maher M, Abdel-Hameed O, Elbasuny A, El-Zayyadi I, Bassiony A, Moussa A, Bedewy E, Elfert A and El Kassas M (2022) Clinico-Epidemiological Characteristics of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Egypt: A Nationwide Multicenter Study. Front. Med. 9:867293. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.867293 Mohamed Elbadry<sup>1</sup>, Mohamed O. Nour<sup>2,3</sup>, Mohamed Hussien<sup>4</sup>, Elsayed Awad Ghoneem<sup>5</sup>, Mohammed A. Medhat<sup>6</sup>, Hany Shehab<sup>7</sup>, Sherif Galal<sup>8</sup>, Mohamed Eltabbakh<sup>9</sup>, Fathiya El-Raey<sup>10</sup>, Mohamed Negm<sup>7</sup>, Shimaa Afify<sup>11</sup>, Walaa Abdelhamed<sup>12</sup>, Ahmed Sherief<sup>9</sup>, Ahmed Abdelaziz<sup>10</sup>, Mohamed Abo Elkasem<sup>11</sup>, Aya Mahrous<sup>4</sup>, Ghada Kamal<sup>6</sup>, Maha Maher<sup>5</sup>, Omar Abdel-Hameed<sup>5</sup>, Abubakr Elbasuny<sup>13</sup>, Islam El-Zayyadi<sup>5</sup>, Ahmed Bassiony<sup>9</sup>, Abdelmajeed Moussa<sup>14</sup>, Essam Bedewy<sup>15</sup>, Asem Elfert<sup>16</sup> and Mohamed El Kassas<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Endemic Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Helwan University, Cairo, Egypt, <sup>2</sup> Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, Damietta Faculty of Medicine, Al-Azhar University, Damietta, Egypt, <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Public Health and Health Informatics, Umm Al-Qura University, Makkah, Saudi Arabia, <sup>4</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Infectious Diseases, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafrelsheikh, Egypt, <sup>5</sup> Department of Hepatology and Gastroenterology, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt, <sup>6</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine and Gastroenterology, Assiut University, Assiut, Egypt, <sup>7</sup> Integrated Clinical and Research Center for Intestinal Disorders (ICRID), Department and Endemic Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt, <sup>8</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt, <sup>9</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt, <sup>10</sup> Department of Hepatogastroenterology and Infectious Diseases, Damietta Faculty of Medicine, Al-Azhar University, Damietta, Egypt, <sup>11</sup> Department of Gastroenterology, National Hepatology and Tropical Medicine Research Institute, Cairo, Egypt, <sup>12</sup> Department Tropical Medicine and Gastroenterology, Sohag University, Sohag, Egypt, <sup>13</sup> Department of Hepatology and Gastroenterology, Talkha Central Hospital, Talkha, Egypt, <sup>14</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine and Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Aswan University, Aswan, Egypt, <sup>15</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, <sup>16</sup> Department of Tropical Medicine and Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Medicine Tanta University, Tanta, Egypt

**Background and Aims:** Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) are the most common types of Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), with variable responses to traditional therapies and unpredicted prognosis. In Egypt and most developing countries, the lack of recent epidemiological and prognostic data adversely affects management strategies. We collected and analyzed data of patients with IBD from multiple centers across Egypt to evaluate patients' clinical and epidemiological characteristics.

Methods: This retrospective multicenter study included patients diagnosed with IBD between May 2018 and August 2021, at 14 tertiary gastroenterology units Record analysis combination across Egypt. addressed а of clinico-epidemiological characteristics, biochemical tests. stool markers. endoscopic features, histological information, and different lines for IBD treatment.

**Results:** We identified 1104 patients with an established diagnosis of IBD; 81% of them had UC, and 19% showed CD. The mean age of onset was  $35.1 \pm 12.5$  years ranging from 5 to 88 years, the mean duration of illness at inclusion was  $13.6 \pm 16.7$  years, gender distribution was almost equal with a significant male dominance (60.4%, p = 0.003) among patients with CD, 57% were living in rural areas, and 70.5% were from Delta and Coastal areas. Two hundred nineteen patients (19.8%) displayed comorbid conditions, primarily associated with CD. The most frequent complaints were diarrhea (73.2%), rectal bleeding (54.6%) that was significantly higher among patients with UC (64%, p < 0.001), and 46.8% with abdominal pain (more often with CD: 71%, p < 0.001). Conventional therapy was effective in treating 94.7% of patients. The main lesion in patients with CD was ileal (47.8%); patients with UC mainly exhibited proctosigmoiditis (28.4%). Dysplasia was detected in 7.2% of patients, mainly subjects with UC.

**Conclusions:** To our knowledge, our effort is the first and largest cohort of Egyptian patients with IBD to describe clinical and epidemiological characteristics, and diagnostic and management approaches. More extensive prospective studies are still needed to fully characterize disease distribution, environmental factors, and pathological features of the disease.

Keywords: ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, multicenter study, Egypt, inflammatory bowel disease

# INTRODUCTION

In 2017, 6.8 million Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) cases were reported globally. The prevalence of IBD has increased substantially in many regions of the world, creating a substantial social and economic burden on health systems (1). Ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) are major chronic IBD conditions in addition to indeterminate colitis that cause varying degrees of gastrointestinal (GI) tract inflammation. This classification was addressed by Montreal working party and commonly used in clinical practice and also for future serological and genetic studies in IBD (2). Data from several studies report a relationship between smoking and CD. However, quitting smoking may be accompanied by an increased risk of UC (3). Dietary fiber (particularly vegetables and fruits), saturated fats, sleep disorders, depression, and low vitamin D levels have been associated with increased IBD incidence. Also, stress, microbiota, some medications, such as NSAIDs, and early antibiotic exposure during infancy are factors that might increase the risk for IBD incidence, especially in genetically susceptible individuals (4, 5). Therefore, some studies concluded that, modification of one or more of these environmental factors has a bidirectional effect on the disease activity (6). Disease presentation includes signs and symptoms such as diarrhea, rectal bleeding, and abdominal pain. Fever, weight loss, extraintestinal symptoms, and fatigue may be observed (7). A serious complication of IBD is the malignant transformation of colonic mucosa that increases the incidence of colorectal carcinoma. Further, psychiatric health is negatively affected by IBD, especially in young patients (8). Also, extraintestinal manifestations (EIMs) can occur in some patients and affect joints, the hepatobiliary system, skin, and eyes (9).

Assessment of patients with IBD includes physical examination with a focus on extraintestinal complications, laboratory evaluation [C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocytes sedimentation rate (ESR), and fecal calprotectin (FC)], endoscopy, and different imaging modalities (10). All these clinical examinations are used to confirm the diagnosis, gauge disease extent, and evaluate severity. Treatment depends on disease extent and severity (7).

The disease is a worldwide concern, but the incidence is highest in the United States, Sweden, and United Kingdom (11–13). IBD has a growing incidence in the Middle East and North Africa; however, a lack of accurate registry and epidemiological cohort studies are still obstacles to evaluating the current situation (14–16). UC is more common than CD in various parts of the world. In Egypt, few data regarding the epidemiology of IBD are available; however, some studies suggest the relative incidence ratio of UC and CD is 6:1 (17).

We conducted this retrospective cross-sectional multicenter study to represent all of Egypt. We collected clinical information to evaluate epidemiological characteristics, laboratory and imaging findings, colonoscopy results, and different treatment strategies. We aimed to assess updated data to draw a real map of IBD in Egypt in order to help us introduce scientific recommendations to optimize IBD diagnosis and management strategies.

# METHODS

# Study Design, Settings, and Inclusion Criteria

This retrospective multicenter study was conducted on patients diagnosed with IBD at 14 tertiary GI units. These centers

are affiliated with universities, distributed across Egypt, and represent the main geographical areas within the country where most of the Egyptian population is concentrated along the banks of the Nile River and on the river's delta including (1) Greater Cairo (Helwan, Cairo, Ain Shams, Al-Azhar, and the National Hepatology and Tropical Medicine Research Institute), (2) Delta region (Mansoura, Tanta, Zegazeg, and Kafr Elsheikh), (3) Coastal region (Alexandria and Damietta), (4) Upper Egypt (Sohag, Assiut, and Aswan). Patients from remote areas in Egypt, Sinai Peninsula, and Oases are largely referred to these tertiary centers. Data were collected both manually and electronically from available medical records between May 2018 and August 2021. Medical records of patients of all ages and both sexes with a confirmed diagnosis of IBD during the study period were enrolled.

## **Study Variables**

Demographic features recorded were age of onset, gender, residence, geographic area, duration of illness, history of smoking, associated comorbidities, and other autoimmune diseases. Disease characteristics, including the severity of symptoms, presence of EIMs, type of medical treatment, and history of surgical intervention, were tabulated. Remission was defined as complete resolution of signs and symptoms, and endoscopic and histological healing of colon mucosa.

# **Diagnosis of IBD**

The diagnosis of CD or UC was based on a combination of clinical manifestations, biochemical tests, stool markers, endoscopic features, and histological evaluation.

The recorded biochemical information included complete blood count (CBC), CRP, ESR, liver, and kidney function tests. Also, FC as a stool marker of intestinal inflammation was noted. Reports of abdominal ultrasonography and upper endoscopy were retrieved for all enrolled patients.

Endoscopic features consistent with UC were continuous and confluent colon inflammation with clear demarcation and rectal involvement. Endoscopic features consistent with CD were discontinuous lesions, mucosal nodularity, ulceration (both aphthous and linear), and strictures. Disease distribution and activity of UC were evaluated using the Montreal classification and Mayo score, respectively. While patients with CD were evaluated according to the severity of the onset of the disease using Harvey-Bradshaw score and Phenotypic distribution according to Montreal classification (2, 18).

# **Treatment of IBD**

All recorded data about treatment approach either step up or step down, type of treatment either topical or systemic or biological in addition to antibiotic and steroid therapy were extracted from the patients' medical records and statistically analyzed.

## **Ethical Considerations**

All procedures involving human participants were carried out according to the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments, or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee for human subject research at the Faculty of Medicine, Helwan University (Serial: 76-2021). The study data set was fully anonymized.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Analysis used SPSS version 25.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp., USA). Mean  $\pm$  SD was used for quantitative variables, and frequency and percentage were used for qualitative variables. Mann-Whitney and Wilcoxon tests were used to assess the differences in means of quantitative non-parametric variables. Chi-square and Fisher's Exact tests were used to assess differences in the frequency of qualitative variables. The statistical methods assumed a significance level of p < 0.05 and a highly significant level of p < 0.001.

# RESULTS

The study included 1,104 patients with an established diagnosis of IBD. Ulcerative colitis was diagnosed in 81.3% of the study population, while -18.7% exhibited CD. The mean age of onset was  $35.1 \pm 12.5$  years ranging from 5 to 88 years with mean duration of illness at inclusion of  $13.6 \pm 16.7$  years for the cohort. The gender distribution was almost equal; however, a significant male dominance (60.4%, p = 0.003) was observed among patients with CD. The residence of the recruited patients was found to be in rural areas in 57% of cases. These patients displayed a higher prevalence of UC (59.2%, p = 0.002). Further, 70.5% were from North of Egypt. About of patients suffered from comorbid conditions, mainly hypertension (HTN) (9.1%) and diabetes (DM) (8.4%). Most comorbidities were more frequent among patients with CD, except for DM and other autoimmune diseases (**Table 1**).

# **Clinical Presentations at Diagnosis**

The most frequent manifestations, at the time of diagnosis, among all patients was diarrhea (73.2%) which was similar for both UC and CD. Bowel movements/day was  $4.7 \pm 2.2$  ranging from 0 to 20. -Rectal bleeding was reported by 54.6% of patients, and it was significantly higher among UC subjects, while 48.6% -of patients complained from abdominal pain. Abdominal pain was higher among patients with CD, but the difference was insignificant. Weight loss was seen in 15.3% of patients, and 11.7% displayed EIM, mainly arthropathy. Fever was the least frequent symptom (8.5%) and was significantly higher among subjects with CD (**Table 2**).

# Laboratory Investigations at Time of Diagnosis

Laboratory characteristics at the time of diagnosis showed significantly improved HB, CRP, ESR, WBC, and FC levels after treatment in both UC and CD patients (**Table 3**). PLT and AST were decreased in CD and UC patients, respectively. No notable change was observed in serum levels of total protein, albumin, and ALT.

Variables		Total <i>n</i> = 1,104 (%)	UC group <i>n</i> = 897 (%)	CD group <i>n</i> =207 (%)	P-value
Age of onset (years)	Mean $\pm$ SD Min–Max	35.1 ± 12.55-88	35.3 ± 12.5 5–88	34.1 ± 12.49–70	0.250
Gender	Male	561 (50.8)	436 (48.6)	125 (60.4)	0.003*
	Female	543 (49.2)	461 (51.4)	82 (39.6)	
Residence	Urban	475 (43.0)	366 (40.8)	109 (52.7)	0.002*
	Rural	629 (57.0)	531 (59.2)	98 (47.3)	
Geographic area	Greater Cairo	154 (13.9)	115 (12.8)	39 (18.8)	0.001*
	Delta & Coastal region	778 (70.5)	626 (69.8)	152 (73.4)	
	Upper Egypt	172 (15.6)	156 (17.4)	16 (7.7)	
Disease duration at inclusion (years)	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	$13.6\pm16.7$	$15.1 \pm 17.9$	$12.8 \pm 14.7$	0.086
Smoking		194 (17.6)	149 (16.6)	45 (21.7)	0.085
Comorbidities <sup>a</sup>		219 (19.8)	176 (19.6)	43 (20.8)	0.700
Diabetes mellitus		93 (8.4)	87 (9.7)	6 (2.9)	0.001*
Other autoimmune disease <sup>b</sup>		36 (3.3)	35 (3.9)	1 (0.5)	0.008*
Cardiac diseases		33 (3.0)	15 (1.7)	18 (8.7)	< 0.001
Hepatic diseases		35 (3.2)	12 (1.3)	23 (11.1)	< 0.001
Renal diseases		24 (2.2)	4 (0.4)	20 (9.7)	< 0.001
Hypertension		101 (9.1)	73 (8.1)	28 (13.5)	0.022*
Others <sup>c</sup>		23 (2.1)	20 (2.2)	3 (1.4)	0.598

TABLE 1 General characteristics of patients with inflammatory bowel disease in Egypt (May 2018 to August 2021).

UC, Ulcerative colitis; CD, Crohn's disease.

<sup>a</sup>Some patients have more than one comorbid condition.

<sup>b</sup>For Ulcerative colitis; 6 hypothyroidism, 5 SLE, 5 thyroiditis, 5 rheumatoid arthritis, 3 ankylosing spondylitis, 2 vitiligo, 2 autoimmune hepatitis, panhypopituitarism, axial arthralgia, scleroderma, myositis, polyarthritis, Behcet disease, and autoimmune hemolytic anemia.

For Crohn's disease; Eosinophilic gastritis.

<sup>e</sup> For Ulcerative colitis; 3 TB, 2 hemorrhoids, 2 ulcers, perforation/sigmoid colon mass, steroid-dependent, fistula (colonic), depression, FMF, 1ry infertility, hyperthyroidism, epilepsy, chest disease, pyoderma gangrenosum, G6PD deficiency, pityriasis versicolor, and conjunctivitis.

For Crohn's disease; osteoporosis, TB, DVT, and Marjolin ulcer.

\*Significant.

## Imaging, Endoscopic, and Histopathological Features of the Rectruited Patients

patients with patients with The lesions in CD subjects at diagnosis were mainly ileal (47.8%) and ileocolonic (38.6%). Lesions were mainly non-stricturing and non-penetrating (61.4%) and less commonly stricturing (20.8%) (**Figure 1**).

At diagnosis, CT/MRI revealed fistulization in about 11.1% of patients, and no abnormality was detected in about 18.4%. Colonoscopy showed proctosigmoiditis in 28.4% of patients with UC, proctitis in 25.1%, and pancolitis in 22.9%. Mild, moderate, and severe lesions were detected in 44.7, 35.8, and 19.5%, respectively (**Figure 2**).

Dysplasia was detected histologically in 80 patients (7.2%), mainly associated with UC (75 patients). Low-grade dysplasia was predominant, seen in 68 patients (6.2%). Sixty-four patients were diagnosed with UC (p = 0.012).

# Lines of Management for the Recruited Patients

Most patients (94.7%) were managed using a step-up approach. The main antibiotics used were quinolone and metronidazole (40–50%). Topical therapies available in Egypt are (5-ASA suppositories and budesonide enema, and they) were used in 21-31% of cases. Unfortunately, other forms of topical therapies

(5-ASA enemas, 5-ASA foams, 5-ASA gels, Corticosteroids foams, tacrolimus suppositories, and cyclosporin enemas) are not present in Egypt. Systemic treatment was prescribed for 50–86%, mainly with 5-ASA. About one-fourth received biological treatment, and only 2.6% were referred for coloniccolectomy or intestinal resection and anastomosis (**Table 4**).

## DISCUSSION

This study is the largest cohort evaluated for IBD in Egypt to the best of our knowledge. We found that the prevalent cases of UC are about four-fold greater than CD. This ratio is higher than reported elsewhere. In 2009, census data estimated that 1,171,000 Americans exhibited IBD (565,000 CD and 593,000 UC) (19). In 2018, the overall prevalence of IBD, CD, and UC in the UK were 725, 276, and 397 per 100 000 people, respectively (20). The occurrence of bleeding, which is more common in UC, is a potent stimulant for seeking medical advice, and so UC cases can be identified more frequently than CD cases. Furthermore, the diagnosis of CD may require exhaustive workup including detailed history taking, laboratory investigations, imaging modalities, and colonoscopy with ileal intubation or even enterostomy. These diagnostic facilities are expensive (not fully covered by insurance) and not available in all centers, particularly that more than half of our study population

TABLE 2	Clinical characteristics of	natients with inflammator	v howel disease in Eavot (N	1ay 2018 to August 2021).
		palients with initial initiator	у ромен изеазе нт суурт (п	lay 2010 to August 2021).

bles	Total <i>n</i> = 1104 (%)	UC group <i>n</i> = 897 (%)	CD group <i>n</i> =207 (%)	P-value
Mean $\pm$ SD Min–Max	4.7 ± 2.20-20	4.6 ± 2.0 0–12	$5.0 \pm 2.81 - 20$	0.162
$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD} \text{ Min-Max}$	$83.7 \pm 12.560 - 133$	$84.0 \pm 12.8\ 60{-}133$	$83.0 \pm 11.666 - 120$	0.234
	808 (73.2)	655 (73.0)	153 (73.9)	0.862
	603 (54.6)	574 (64.0)	29 (14.0)	<0.001*
	517 (46.8)	370 (41.2)	147 (71.0)	<0.001*
	94 (8.5)	66 (7.4)	28 (13.5)	0.008*
ns <sup>a</sup>	129 (11.7)	107 (11.9)	22 (10.6)	0.719
	169 (15.3)	130 (14.5)	39 (18.8)	0.133
	Mean ± SD Min–Max	Mean ± SD Min-Max 83.7 ± 12.560-133 808 (73.2) 603 (54.6) 517 (46.8) 94 (8.5) ns <sup>a</sup> 129 (11.7)	Mean ± SD Min-Max         83.7 ± 12.560-133         84.0 ± 12.8 60-133           808 (73.2)         655 (73.0)           603 (54.6)         574 (64.0)           517 (46.8)         370 (41.2)           94 (8.5)         66 (7.4)           129 (11.7)         107 (11.9)	Mean ± SD Min-Max         83.7 ± 12.560-133         84.0 ± 12.8 60-133         83.0 ± 11.666-120           808 (73.2)         655 (73.0)         153 (73.9)           603 (54.6)         574 (64.0)         29 (14.0)           517 (46.8)         370 (41.2)         147 (71.0)           94 (8.5)         66 (7.4)         28 (13.5)           ns <sup>a</sup> 129 (11.7)         107 (11.9)         22 (10.6)

UC, Ulcerative colitis; CD, Crohn's disease.

<sup>a</sup> For Ulcerative colitis (some patients have more than one condition); 43 arthropathy, 10 pyoderma gangrenosum, 9 oral aphthous ulcers, 7 sacroiliitis, 7 primary sclerosing cholangitis, 6 episcleritis, 4 gall bladder stones, 4 uveitis, 3 erythema nodosum, 3 skin lesions, 3 cholangitis, 3 ankylosing spondylitis, Celiac disease, sickle cell anemia, Budd-Chiari syndrome, DVT and thrombosis, iridocyclitis, renal stones, and fistula.

For Crohn's disease (some patients have more than one condition); 14 arthropathy, 3 skin lesions, 2 erythema nodosum, 2 sacroiliitis, 2 oral aphthous ulcers, gall bladder stones, ankylosing spondylitis, Celiac disease, retroperitoneal fibrosis, and retinitis.

\*Significant.

TABLE 3 | Laboratory characteristics of patients with inflammatory bowel disease in Egypt (May 2018 to August 2021) before and after treatment.

Variables	UC g	group	P-value	CD	group	P-value
	Before	after		Before	After	
WBC	$7.9 \pm 3.2$	$6.5 \pm 2.2$	<0.001*	$7.7 \pm 3.3$	$6.2 \pm 2.0$	<0.001*
HB	$11.2 \pm 1.9$	$11.9 \pm 1.6$	<0.001*	$11.8 \pm 1.8$	$12.3 \pm 1.4$	0.003*
PLT	$314.4 \pm 118.7$	$308.3 \pm 119.0$	0.199	284.5 ±125.9	$231.6 \pm 125.2$	0.001*
Total Protein	$6.97\pm0.79$	$7.09\pm0.70$	0.514	$7.08 \pm 1.13$	$7.24 \pm 1.24$	0.361
Albumin	$3.76\pm0.59$	$3.65\pm0.55$	0.404	$3.73\pm0.56$	$3.72\pm0.45$	0.449
ALT	$28.2 \pm 19.7$	$29.8\pm26.1$	0.433	$29.0 \pm 17.8$	$24.8\pm8.8$	0.084
AST	$30.2\pm18.6$	$27.3 \pm 15.0$	<0.001*	$25.9 \pm 12.1$	$26.5 \pm 10.4$	0.465
CRP	$21.2\pm29.9$	$8.2 \pm 20.4$	<0.001*	$34.1 \pm 35.7$	$4.6\pm6.9$	< 0.001*
ESR	$46.2 \pm 28.8$	$25.7 \pm 21.7$	<0.001*	$52.9\pm28.5$	$21.8 \pm 18.5$	< 0.001*
Fecal calprotectin	$584.5 \pm 652.1$	$220.1 \pm 311.0$	<0.001*	505.1 ±712.2	$176.5 \pm 240.3$	< 0.001*

WBC, White blood cells; HB, Hemoglobin; PLT, Platelets; ALT, Alanine aminotransferase; AST, Aspartate aminotransferase; CRP, C reactive protein; ESP, erythrocyte sedimentation rate. \* Significant.

are from rural areas. However, such differences may be due to many factors that should be studied in community-based research. Key issues may be socioeconomic status, environmental conditions, and access to diagnostic and treatment facilities.

Our study's mean age of onset was 35 and 34 years for UC and CD subjects, respectively. The onset of IBD in adults was reported as 31–34 years in North America, Western Europe, and Oceania (21–25). In Asia, the median age at diagnosis of CD was 34 years, and for UC was 42 years. UC was also found to start at more advanced ages, up to 79 years (26, 27).

The development of UC in our cohort was independent of gender, and however, CD was more common in males. These findings are consistent with epidemiological data from Europe, North America, and Oceania (21–25). However, UC was more common in males in data from Asia (28).

More than half of the study population was from rural areas, inconsistent with the available literature on IBD demographics. The urban population in Egypt has been almost stable since 2010 and represents 42.8% of the Egyptian population (29).

However, the lifestyle in rural areas has been urbanized, and this change should be studied selectively. Zuo et al. (30) indicated that rapid urbanization in the developing world is associated with an increasing incidence of several autoimmune diseases, including IBD. Urbanization impacts gut microbiota through westernization of diet, raised pollution levels, increased usage of antibiotics, and better hygiene status. A westernized diet is low in carbohydrates and high in animal proteins and fats. This diet will alter gut microbiota.

The clinical presentation of IBD in our cohort is consistent with globally published data. The predominant manifestations of UC were diarrhea, rectal bleeding, and mucous discharge from the rectum (31). Conversely, CD was characterized by prolonged intermittent diarrhea with abdominal pain (32–35).

Ileal (47.8%) and ileocolonic (38.6%) regions were predominant sites of CD lesions, Colonic lesions were seen in (12.1%), while isolated upper GI CD was detected in only 1.4% of our study population. Slightly less than two-thirds of our patients (61.4%) showed non-complicated disease. Twenty-point





TABLE 4 | Treatment characteristics of patients with inflammatory bowel disease in Egypt (May 2018 to August 2021).

Treatment <sup>a</sup>		Total <i>n</i> = 1104 (%)	UC group <i>n</i> = 897 (%)	CD group <i>n</i> =207 (%	
Approachfor treatment	Step-up	1045 (94.7)	864 (96.3)	181 (87.4)	
	Step-down	59 (5.3)	33 (3.7)	26 (12.6)	
Antibiotics					
Metronidazole		442 (40.0)	366 (40.8)	76 (36.7)	
Quinolone		556 (50.4)	478 (53.3)	78 (37.7)	
Others		60 (5.4)	40 (4.5)	20 (9.7)	
Local					
5-ASA		344 (31.2)	335 (37.3)	9 (4.3)	
Steroids		239 (21.6)	230 (25.6)	9 (4.3)	
Systemic					
5-ASA		955 (86.5)	797 (88.9)	158 (76.3)	
Steroids		691 (62.6)	582 (64.9)	109 (52.7)	
Azathioprine		553 (50.1)	438 (48.8)	115 (55.6)	
Biological <sup>b</sup>		281 (25.5)	221 (24.6)	60 (29.0)	
Surgical (resection)		29 (2.6)	14 (1.6)	15 (7.2)	

UC, Ulcerative colitis; CD, Crohn's disease; 5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid.

<sup>a</sup>Some patients received more than one treatment regimen and this treatment represented the cumulative frequency of drug usage.

<sup>b</sup>Some patients received more than one type of biological treatment.

eight percent exhibit stricturing CD, and 13.5% show penetrating CD. These data are consistent with data from Europe and North America, where 27–42% of patients with CD have ileal lesions at the time of diagnosis, 23–33% exhibit ileocolonic disease, 28–35% show colonic lesions, and only 1–6% of patients present with upper GI CD (24, 36–39). Data from stricturing CD is estimated to occur in 29% and 19% of patients with CD in Europe (38) and North America (36), respectively. Conversely,

Asian cohorts reported that more than half of patients with CD have an ileocolonic disease (40–42).

Multiple serum biomarkers were evaluated for their ability to confirm the IBD disease type and to predict the disease course. The atypical antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (atypical pANCA) and anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibody (ASCA) are the most studied antibodies in IBD patients. is most often expressed by patients with ulcerative colitis. Atypical pANCA is



more common patients in patients with UC while ASCA in more frequent in CD patients (43). However, these tests are expensive and covered by health insurance, so they are commonly tested in Egypt.

Proctosigmoiditis was the most common disease site in UC cases in our cohort. Proctitis, left-sided colitis, and pancolitis were also seen in order of descending incidence. Most cases were mild to moderate at diagnosis. Disease extent and severity by colonoscopy in patients with ulcerative colitis are shown in **Figure 3**. Other cohorts showed that left-sided colitis was the most common disease site in Europe (39, 44).

Most of our patients (96.3% of patients with UC and 87.4% of patients with CD) received conventional medical therapy as a first-line treatment even if they were indicated for biological therapy. The high costs of biological therapy likely limit its use, which may not be sustainable. However, health insurance and government-sponsored treatment have started to cover the costs of biological therapy at many centers in Egypt. Infliximab and adalimumab began to be used in 2013, and new biological therapies, such as ustekinumab have been used more recently (45).

Fortunately, conventional step-up therapy is a practical approach for treating Egyptian patients with IBD. Significant improvement in inflammatory markers, including CRP, ESR, and FC, were observed after treatment of both UC and CD.

Colorectal cancer is the most serious complication for patients with IBD, and dysplasia usually precedes the development of colorectal cancer (46). In our study, cases with confirmed dysplastic lesions constituted 7.2% of the total population. Most were low-grade and discovered on the first diagnosis.

Available evidence suggests that IBD incidence in Africa is increasing. Data are still lacking to understand the disease pattern across this continent. A few reports from North and South Africa are available (47).

The major strengths of our study are its large sample size and geographic diversity of patients, and collected data provide a comprehensive, updated picture of IBD in Egypt. Data describe differences in some clinical, epidemiological aspects of the disease. However, the study has some limitations. First, the distinction between UC and CD was not always clear. We depended on the most likely diagnosis from the treating physician. Lacking the distinction between IBD subtypes is a global problem. In a recently published population-based cohort study in European countries including 1,289 patients with IBD, the confirmation of IBD subtype was impossible in 7% of the study population, even after 5 years of follow-up (48). Second, the incomplete data for the follow-up of some patients did not allow us to track the changes in the disease patterns or to do a statistical analysis to see the histological features at time diagnosis will affect the outcome of our patients. Third, we may have missed early mild cases of IBD, especially in the private sector. Fourth, risk factors and environmental determinants of IBD were not discussed. Finally, certain socioeconomic factors, such as income and education, in addition to the yearly incidence of new cases could not be assessed.

# CONCLUSION

To our knowledge, our study is the first Egyptian cohort study from multiple highly specialized GI centers from all over the country. It examines the largest cohort of Egyptian patients with IBD and describes the clinical, epidemiological presentation, diagnostic procedures, disease behavior, and prognostic implications along with available therapeutic options. The number of IBD cases was higher in rural than urban areas despite limited resources and relatively poor facilities in rural areas. More effort should be directed toward screening patients with IBD in rural areas for early detection and proper management of the disease. Such effort may relieve the burden of unexpected serious maladies. Step-up conventional therapy for patients with IBD is still recommended and effective, especially in countries with limited resources. More extensive prospective epidemiological studies in Egypt, other countries of the Middle East, and Africa are still needed to fully characterize disease distribution, environmental factors, and pathological features of IBD. Such data can be compared with other parts of the world to complete the global map of IBD and produce worldwide guidelines for managing this severe expanding disease.

# REFERENCES

- GBD 2017 Inflammatory Bowel Disease Collaborators. The global, regional, and national burden of inflammatory bowel disease in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 5:17– 30. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30333-4
- Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. *Gut.* (2006) 55:749–53. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.082909
- Karban A, Eliakim R. Effect of smoking on inflammatory bowel disease: Is it disease or organ specific? World J Gastroenterol. (2007) 13:2150– 2. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i15.2150
- Glassner KL, Abraham BP, Quigley EMM. The microbiome and inflammatory bowel disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2020) 145:16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.11.003
- Ananthakrishnan AN. Epidemiology and risk factors for IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2015) 12:205–17. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2015.34
- Vedamurthy A, Ananthakrishnan AN. Influence of environmental factors in the development and outcomes of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* (N Y). (2019) 15:72–82.
- 7. Veauthier B, Hornecker JR. Crohn's disease: diagnosis and management. *Am Fam Physician*. (2018) 98:661–9.
- Bernstein CN, Benchimol EI, Bitton A, Murthy SK, Nguyen GC, Lee K, et al. The impact of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada 2018: extraintestinal diseases in IBD. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol. (2019) 2:S73–80. doi: 10.1093/jcag/gwy053
- 9. Seyedian SS, Nokhostin F, Malamir MD, A. review of the diagnosis, prevention, and treatment methods of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Med Life.* (2019) 12:113–22.
- Chen P, Zhou G, Lin J, Li L, Zeng Z, Chen M, et al. Serum biomarkers for inflammatory bowel disease. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:123. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00123
- Trallori G, Palli D, Saieva C, Bardazzi G, Bonanomi AG, d'Albasio G, et al. A population-based study of inflammatory bowel disease in Florence over 15 years (1978-92). Scand J Gastroenterol. (1996) 31:892–9. doi: 10.3109/003655296090 51998

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Research Ethics Committee for human subject research at the Faculty of Medicine, Helwan University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MElb and MEK: study design. MON: data analysis. MElb, MON, MH, EG, MAM, HS, SG, MElt, FE-R, MN, SA, WA, AS, AA, MA, AMa, GK, MM, OA-H, AE, IE-Z, AB, AMo, EB, and AE: patient recruitment, data collection, and writing up of the first draft of the paper. All authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Logan RF. Inflammatory bowel disease incidence: up, down or unchanged? Gut. (1998) 42:309–11. doi: 10.1136/gut.42.3.309
- Ehlin AG, Montgomery SM, Ekbom A, Pounder RE, Wakefield AJ. Prevalence of gastrointestinal diseases in two British national birth cohorts. *Gut.* (2003) 52:1117–21. doi: 10.1136/gut.52.8.1117
- Mosli M, Alawadhi S, Hasan F, Abou Rached A, Sanai F, Danese S. Incidence, prevalence, and clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in the Arab World: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Inflamm Intest Dis.* (2021) 6:123–31. doi: 10.1159/000518003
- Ponder A, Long MD, A. clinical review of recent findings in the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2013) 5:237– 47. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S33961
- Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. *Gastroenterology.* (2012) 142:46–54.e42; quiz e30. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.10.001
- Esmat S, El Nady M, Elfekki M, Elsherif Y, Naga M. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of inflammatory bowel diseases in Cairo, Egypt. World J Gastroenterol. (2014) 20:814–21. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i3.814
- Lewis JD, Chuai S, Nessel L, Lichtenstein GR, Aberra FN, Ellenberg JH. Use of the noninvasive components of the Mayo score to assess clinical response in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2008) 14:1660– 6. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20520
- Kappelman MD, Moore KR, Allen JK, Cook SF. Recent trends in the prevalence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in a commercially insured US population. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2013) 58:519–25. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2371-5
- Pasvol TJ, Horsfall L, Bloom S, Segal AW, Sabin C, Field N. etal. Incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in UK primary care: a population-based cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10:e036584. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036584
- Lakatos L, Kiss LS, David G, Pandur T, Erdelyi Z, Mester G, et al. Incidence, disease phenotype at diagnosis, and early disease course in inflammatory bowel diseases in Western Hungary, 2002-2006. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2011) 17:2558–65. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21607
- 22. Vegh Z, Burisch J, Pedersen N, Kaimakliotis I, Duricova D, Bortlik M, et al. Incidence and initial disease course of inflammatory bowel diseases in 2011 in Europe and Australia: results of the 2011 ECCO-EpiCom inception cohort. J Crohns Colitis. (2014) 8:1506–15. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.06.004

- Rönnblom A, Holmström T, Tanghöj H, Karlbom U, Thörn M, Sjöberg D. Low colectomy rate five years after diagnosis of ulcerative colitis. Results from a prospective population-based cohort in Sweden (ICURE) diagnosed during 2005-2009. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* (2016) 51:1339– 44. doi: 10.1080/00365521.2016.1200141
- Su HY, Gupta V, Day AS, Gearry RB. Rising incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Canterbury, New Zealand. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2238– 44. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0000000000829
- Shivashankar R, Tremaine WJ, Harmsen WS, Loftus EV. Incidence and prevalence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in Olmsted county, minnesota from 1970 through 2010. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 15:857–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.10.039
- Yang SK, Yun S, Kim JH, Park JY, Kim HY, Kim YH et al. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in the Songpa-Kangdong district, Seoul, Korea, 1986-2005: a KASID study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2008) 14:542– 9. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20310
- Ng SC, Leung WK, Shi HY Li MK, Leung CM, Ng CK, et al. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease from 1981 to 2014: results from a territorywide population-based registry in Hong Kong. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:1954–60. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000846
- Zeng Z, Zhu Z, Yang Y, Ruan W, Peng X, Su Y, et al. Incidence and clinical characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease in a developed region of Guangdong Province, China: a prospective population-based study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2013) 28:1148–53. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12164
- The World Bank. United Nations Population Division. World Urbanization Prospects: 2018 Revision. Urban population (% of total population)—Egypt, Arab Rep. (2018). Available online at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS?locations=EG (accessed 09 October, 2021).
- Zuo T, Kamm MA, Colombel JF, Ng SC. Urbanization and the gut microbiota in health and inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2018) 15:440–52. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0003-z
- Kornbluth A, Sachar DB, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Ulcerative colitis practice guidelines in adults: American College Of Gastroenterology, Practice Parameters Committee. Am J Gastroenterol. (2010) 105:501–23. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2009.727
- Adams DH. Sleisenger and Fordtran's Gastrointestinal and Liver Disease. *Gut.* (2007) 56:1175. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.121533
- Thoreson R, Cullen JJ. Pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease: an overview. Surg Clin North Am. (2007) 87:575– 85. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2007.03.001
- Panés J, Gomollón F, Taxonera C, Hinojosa J, Clofent J, Nos P. Crohn's disease: a review of current treatment with a focus on biologics. *Drugs.* (2007) 67:2511–37. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200767170-00005
- Ko JK, Auyeung KK. Inflammatory bowel disease: etiology, pathogenesis and current therapy. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2014) 20:1082–96. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990416
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Harmsen WS, Tremaine WJ, Zinsmeister AR, Sandborn WJ, Loftus EV. Surgery in a population-based cohort of Crohn's disease from Olmsted County, Minnesota (1970-2004). Am J Gastroenterol. (2012) 107:1693–701. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2012.298
- 37. Vester-Andersen MK, Prosberg MV, Jess T, Andersson M, Bengtsson BG, Blixt T, et al. Disease course and surgery rates in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based, 7-year follow-up study in the era of immunomodulating therapy. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2014) 109:705–14. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2014.45
- 38. Jeuring SF, van den Heuvel TR, Liu LY, Zeegers MP, Hameeteman WH, Romberg-Camps MJ, et al. Improvements in the long-term outcome of crohn's disease over the past two decades and the relation to changes in medical management: results from the population-based IBDSL cohort. Am J Gastroenterol. (2017) 112:325–36. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.524

- Burisch J, Kiudelis G, Kupcinskas L, Kievit HAL, Andersen KW, Andersen V, et al. Natural disease course of Crohn's disease during the first 5 years after diagnosis in a European population-based inception cohort: an Epi-IBD study. *Gut.* (2019) 68:423–33. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315568
- Burisch J, Katsanos KH, Christodoulou DK, Barros L, Magro F, Pedersen N, et al. Natural disease course of ulcerative colitis during the first five years of follow-up in a European population-based inception cohort-an epi-IBD study. J Crohns Colitis. (2019) 13:198–208. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy154
- Ng SC, Tang W, Ching JY, Wong M, Chow CM, Hui AJ, et al. Incidence and phenotype of inflammatory bowel disease based on results from the Asia-pacific Crohn's and colitis epidemiology study. *Gastroenterology*. (2013) 145:158–65.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.007
- Ng SC, Bernstein CN, Vatn MH, Lakatos PL, Loftus EV Jr, Tysk C, et al. Geographical variability and environmental risk factors in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* (2013) 62:630–49. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303661
- Zhao J, Ng SC, Lei Y, Yi F, Li J, Yu L, et al. First prospective, populationbased inflammatory bowel disease incidence study in mainland of China: the emergence of "western" disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:1839– 45. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e31828a6551
- Roda G, Narula N, Pinotti R, Skamnelos A, Katsanos KH, Ungaro R, et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: proximal disease extension in limited ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2017) 45:1481– 92. doi: 10.1111/apt.14063
- 45. Eltabbakh M, Abd Alaty W, Sakr MA, Sherief AF. Commenting on the Letter (Completing the Picture in Egypt: Response to "Inflammatory Bowel Diseases in Egypt During the COVID-19 Pandemic"). Inflamm Bowel Dis. (2021) 27:e66. doi: 10.1093/ibd/ izab009
- Driessen A, Macken E, Moreels T, Jouret-Mourin A. Dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg.* (2017) 80:299–308.
- Hodges P, Kelly P. Inflammatory bowel disease in Africa: what is the current state of knowledge? *Int Health.* (2020) 12:222–30. doi: 10.1093/inthealth/ ihaa005
- Burisch J, Zammit SC, Ellul P, Turcan S, Duricova D. Bortlik M, et al. Disease course of inflammatory bowel disease unclassified in a European population-based inception cohort: An Epi-IBD study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2019) 34:996–1003. doi: 10.1111/jgh. 14563

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Elbadry, Nour, Hussien, Ghoneem, Medhat, Shehab, Galal, Eltabbakh, El-Raey, Negm, Afify, Abdelhamed, Sherief, Abdelaziz, Abo Elkasem, Mahrous, Kamal, Maher, Abdel-Hameed, Elbasuny, El-Zayyadi, Bassiony, Moussa, Bedewy, Elfert and El Kassas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Ulcerative Colitis: Novel Epithelial Insights Provided by Single Cell RNA Sequencing

Joao M. Serigado<sup>1†</sup>, Jennifer Foulke-Abel<sup>2†</sup>, William C. Hines<sup>3</sup>, Joshua A Hanson<sup>4</sup>, Julie In<sup>1,2</sup> and Olga Kovbasnjuk<sup>1,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>2</sup> Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pathology, University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, Albuquerque, NM, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Xiang Lin, New Jersey Institute of Technology, United States Chunhou Zheng, Anhui University, China Esen Sefik, Yale University, United States

### \*Correspondence:

Olga Kovbasnjuk okovbasnjuk@som.umaryland.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 02 February 2022 Accepted: 14 March 2022 Published: 20 April 2022

#### Citation:

Serigado JM, Foulke-Abel J, Hines WC, Hanson JA, In J and Kovbasnjuk O (2022) Ulcerative Colitis: Novel Epithelial Insights Provided by Single Cell RNA Sequencing. Front. Med. 9:868508. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.868508 Ulcerative Colitis (UC) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the intestinal tract for which a definitive etiology is yet unknown. Both genetic and environmental factors have been implicated in the development of UC. Recently, single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) technology revealed cell subpopulations contributing to the pathogenesis of UC and brought new insight into the pathways that connect genome to pathology. This review describes key scRNA-seq findings in two major studies by Broad Institute and University of Oxford, investigating the transcriptomic landscape of epithelial cells in UC. We focus on five major findings: (1) the identification of BEST4 + cells, (2) colonic microfold (M) cells, (3) detailed comparison of the transcriptomes of goblet cells, and (4) colonocytes and (5) stem cells in health and disease. In analyzing the two studies, we identify the commonalities and differences in methodologies, results, and conclusions, offering possible explanations, and validated several cell cluster markers. In systematizing the results, we hope to offer a framework that the broad scientific GI community and GI clinicians can use to replicate or corroborate the extensive new findings that RNA-seq offers.

Keywords: Ulcerative Colitis, single cell RNA sequencing, intestinal epithelium, goblet cells, colonic microfold cells, stem cells

# INTRODUCTION

Ulcerative Colitis (UC) is a chronic and debilitating inflammatory disease of the colon, and is a distinct condition within a broad group of pathologies termed inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which includes Crohn's disease (CD) and indeterminate colitis. The etiology of UC remains uncertain, but increasing evidence implicates complex genetic and environmental contributions. Early genomic and immunologic studies were crucial to identifying therapeutic targets and avoiding surgical intervention. Development of infliximab and other monoclonal antibodies against TNF $\alpha$ , and the biologics targeting cytokines (IL-12 or IL-23) that significantly reduce inflammation and induce macroscopic/endoscopic healing, were major breakthroughs in the management of UC (1).

54

Newer drugs such as anti-integrin agents (vedolizumab and ustekinumab) and JAK inhibitors also yielded endoscopic improvements (1–4).

With the development of biologic therapies, the goal of UC treatment extended beyond symptomatic improvement to include both histologic and molecular healing. Several observational studies have shown that histological remission, including epithelial tissue restoration, is associated with lower rates of disease-related complications such as hospitalization, corticosteroid use, and colectomy compared to either resolution of symptoms or endoscopic improvement alone (5–7). Recognizing that histologic improvements are now included in UC clinical trials of multiple novel therapeutic agents (8), markers of active disease, therapeutic response and remission are urgently needed.

There are numerous UC-related pathologies that contribute to inadequate epithelial maintenance and regeneration. Cell turnover is increased due to autophagy and apoptosis, yet colonocyte differentiation is reduced (9–11). Barrier defects manifest as abnormal glycosylation and sulfation of mucins, loss of the protective mucus layer, and increased tight junction permeability (12–16). Microbial dysbiosis also contributes to altered epithelial function, in which reduced butyrate oxidation yields energy-deficient epithelium, and increased exposure to microbial signals stimulates inflammatory cytokine secretion (17–20). It is not clear if the many recognized pathologies initiate the disease or are consequences that fuel further development. Overall, the spectrum of pathologies highlights the challenges in defining molecular markers of health, UC damage, and epithelial restoration.

Single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) allows for in-depth transcriptional characterization of epithelial pathologies in UC and identification of possible pharmacologically fruitful targets. In this review, we discuss findings from two independent scRNA-seq datasets generated by the Broad Institute (21) and the University of Oxford (22) that compared subsets of epithelial cell types in healthy and UC colonic tissue. Our goal is to highlight novel markers for epithelial UC disease that, when further validated, may lead to identification of pharmacologic targets to promote epithelial healing in UC patients.

# EPITHELIAL CELL DIVERSITY REQUIRES SINGLE CELL RESOLUTION TO CAPTURE DISEASE MARKERS

The heterogeneity of cells that compose the normal colonic epithelium originates from a common intestinal stem cell through the actions of multiple niche factors. As cells migrate from the crypt to surface epithelium, they mature into specialized cells for molecular transport, sensing, secretion, and barrier formation. Each epithelial cell type is critical to sustain organ function, and perturbations in the proportion or phenotype of a cell lineage can contribute to disease. Thus, approaches to study epithelial cell identity and function must distinguish among unique populations within the epithelium.

Transcript analyses using mRNA microarrays that preceded RNA-seq analysis allowed for the simultaneous detection of thousands of genes at one time (23) and was essential to demonstrate the presence of a persistent inflammatory state in patients with histologic remission (24, 25). A significant disadvantage of the microarray is that they require prior knowledge of the gene sequence under investigation. In contrast, RNA-seq has a wider dynamic range, allows for sequencing of transcripts without prior information, and can detect gene fusions, indels, and single nucleotide polymorphisms (26). scRNA-seq captures detailed molecular snapshots of individual cells that can be compared between healthy and diseased states to identify altered cell populations within nonhomogeneous tissues. scRNA-seq quantifies the expression of each individual gene at a single cell level, offering high sensitivity for low abundance targets that may be masked in a bulk sequencing approach. This technology unveils the heterogeneity within major cell types, describes cell clusters that contribute to the pathogenesis of disease, and allows for a detailed description of the pathways that connect genome and transcriptome to pathology (27). scRNA-seq might be ideal to understand epithelial pathologies associated with UC in relation to healthy cells.

The technical aspects of scRNA-seq are described in great detail in several excellent reviews (28–30). Typical elements of scRNA-seq analysis include single-cell dissociation, isolation, library construction, and single cell sequencing (27, 31, 32). In general, the datasets generated by this technique are large and highly complex requiring robust bioinformatic analysis to be fully interpretable (29, 33).

The complexity of genetics and environmental factors that fuel UC make it a particularly good candidate for investigation through single cell transcriptomics. scRNA-seq potentially allows for detailed molecular snapshots of the different cell types composing the intestinal mucosa in health and UC. In particular, this technology facilitated the identification of previously unrecognized cell types and their potential transcriptional shift in disease that correlated to disease severity. These new findings could have direct implications in the management of UC. By stratifying patients on the basis of underlying transcriptional and genetic variability, scRNA-seq opens new ways for the development of targeted therapies.

A comparison of parameters and outcomes in the Broad and Oxford scRNA-seq studies is highlighted in **Table 1**. Notably, the number of subjects sampled and the epithelial cell types, or clusters identified by the two studies, differs. We focus on cell clusters that exhibited most dramatic transcriptional changes with potential relevance to inflammation, host stress response, immune regulation, and epithelial regeneration: BEST4<sup>+</sup> cells, colonic M-like cells, goblet cells, colonocytes and stem cells.

# **BEST4<sup>+</sup> CELLS**

Both data sets discovered a novel differentiated absorptive surface colonocyte cluster characterized by expression of a  $Ca2^+$ -sensitive chloride channel (BEST4) and proton-conducting ion

#### TABLE 1 | Summary of RNA-seq studies in Ulcerative Colitis.

	Broad study	Oxford study
Study subjects	18 patients with UC and 12 healthy controls	3 patients with UC and 3 healthy individuals
Biopsy samples	One non-inflamed and one inflamed region or Two adjacent non-inflamed and two adjacent inflamed biopsies	Endoscopically inflamed distal areas of the colon and proximal clinically non-involved regions
Number of cells yielded	366,650 cells	11,175 cells
Single cell suspension	Dissociation with TrypLE Express Enzyme	Dissociation with TrypLE Express Enzyme
RNA-seq methodology	Droplet-based scRNA-seq technique	Droplet-based scRNA-seq technique
Library preparation	SMART-Seq2 protocol	SMART-Seq2 protocol
Differential gene expression	MAST; AUC $\geq 0.75$	Seurat; AUC $\geq$ 0.7
Cells identified	Identified fifteen distinct groups of epithelial cells: - Stem cells - TA 1 - TA 2 - Cycling TA - Immature Enterocytes 1 - Immature Enterocytes 2 - Enterocyte Progenitors - Enterocyte Progenitors - Enterocytes - Microfold cells - BEST4 + Enterocytes - Secretory TA - Immature Goblet cells - Goblet cells - Goblet cells - Tuft cells - Enteroendocrine cells	Identified seven distinct groups of epithelial cells*: - Undifferentiated #1 - Undifferentiated #2 - Enteroendocrine cells – Colonocytes - Crypt Top Colonocytes - BEST4 + /OTOP2 cells - Goblet cells

TA: transit amplifying.

\*Which were further subdivided into 5 clusters based on their location along crypt-surface axes.

channel (OTOP2) proposed to regulate luminal pH. These cells were also enriched in the paracrine hormones guanylin (GUCA2A) and uroguanylin (GUCA2B), which can stimulate fluid and electrolyte transport through action on the receptor guanylate cyclase. Among 46 transcripts significantly elevated in healthy BEST4 + cells in the Broad study, 29 were also detected as significantly elevated in the Broad study (**Figure 1**). However, several transcripts were not exclusive to BEST4 + cells and thus do not serve as unique markers.

We performed STRING interactome analysis (human Protein-Protein Interaction Networks and Functional Enrichment Analysis using<sup>1</sup>) of the characteristic transcripts of BEST4 cells which confirmed across both studies that in healthy tissue, BEST4 cell function includes metallothionein expression (HSA-5661231), guanylate cyclase/dehydratase activity (GO:0030250), and proton channel activity (GO:0015252). Surprisingly, proteomic analysis of these BEST4 cells, conducted in the Oxford study, identified several highly upregulated proteins as BAG1 and APOO. These transcripts were not identified as "characteristic" for this cell cluster in Oxford scRNA-seq dataset (the exceptions were BEST4 and CTSE proteins which were only slightly upregulated in comparison to the rest of epithelial cells). These data indicate that further validation at the protein levels are necessary to reliably identify these BEST4 + cells in tissue and better define their role in colonic physiology.

UC-associated changes in the BEST4 + cell transcriptome did not completely agree between the studies. The Broad study found the number of BEST4 + cells were substantially reduced in UC, and 16 significantly upregulated transcripts  $(\log_2 FC \ge 4.0; Figure 1)$  were putative disease-associated BEST4 cell markers. In contrast, the Oxford study observed stable numbers of BEST4 + cells and listed 28 upregulated transcripts (fold increase for each transcript was not provided) of which only two (CCL20 and S100P) overlapped with the Broad results (Figure 1). MT1E was the only transcript elevated in BEST4 + cells in both studies regardless of disease state. Other UC-associated BEST4 + upregulated transcripts, such as MT1H and MUC1 (Oxford) or TNFAIP2 and NCEH1 (Broad), did not correlate between the studies. Results of the Oxford study suggest that BEST4 + cells maintain host protective functions in UC [metallothioneins (HSA-5661231), antibacterial (HSA-6803157) and antiviral (CL:4665) pathways], whereas no specific function was identified in the elevated transcripts from Broad study.

Because most of the upregulated transcripts in UC-associated BEST4 + cells were elevated in other cells types, we crossreferenced the single cell results with an earlier bulk RNA-seq data set generated from three treatment-naïve UC patients (34). Markers of healthy BEST4 + cells, including BEST4, OTOP2, CA7, MT1H, and MT1G, were also downregulated in active UC analyzed by bulk RNA-seq. Elevation of UC-associated transcripts not specific to BEST4 + cells, including CCL20, S100P and PLA2G2A, were also detected in the bulk RNA-seq study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://string-db.org/



Upregulated PLA2G2A expression was further confirmed by qRT- PCR and immuno-histochemistry in tissue samples from UC patients and healthy controls, further supporting the bulk RNA-seq and scRNA-seq data (34).

Additional scRNA-seq study of colon biopsies from UC patients and healthy controls of Chinese Han ancestry (35) complemented the Broad and Oxford studies that were conducted in individuals of primarily European ancestry (21, 22). In this study, 43,218 cells representing UC-affected sigmoid colon, unaffected proximal colon from UC patients, and sigmoid colon from healthy controls with an average of 1053 genes per cell were mapped into 21 clusters, six of which were epithelial cells (enterocytes, enterocyte progenitors, goblet cells, goblet progenitors, LGR5 + stem cells, and TRPM5 + tuft cells). A BEST4 + cell cluster was not uniquely identified but was found among transcripts in the enterocyte cluster.

# COLONIC MICROFOLD (M)-LIKE CELLS

Microfold (M) cells are part of an integrated system of immunosurveillance in the intestinal mucosa, with a principal function of transporting luminal antigens to gut-associated lymphoid tissue (36, 37). This activity has led to the idea that M-like cells could contribute to a "leaky gut" (38). There are several types of small intestinal M cells that display a common set of morphologic and functional features but differ in their specific gene expression patterns. Our knowledge of M-cell morphologic, molecular and functional features are mainly based on small intestinal M cells. M-like cells in the colon have been described to emerge under inflammatory conditions in mouse models, but relatively little is known about M-like cells in human colon (39).

According to the Broad study, specific markers of colonic M-like cells in healthy tissue were quite different from M cells in ileal Peyer's patches. Glycoprotein 2 (GP2), the M cell-specific marker that functions as a bacterial uptake receptor in the Peyer's patches, was not reported in colonic M-like cells, and neither were genes such as PGLYRP2, CLEC7A (Dectin-1), nor JAG1. M cells from Peyer's patches and colon shared only two transcripts, CCL20 and SPIB, which are known to initiate M cell differentiation (41). CCL20 is a UC GWAS gene that may serve as a marker of colonic M-cells in healthy tissue (40). Transcripts for both SPIB and TNFSF11, the RANKL receptor, in colonic M-like cells indicate similarities between the pathway of M cell differentiation in ileum and colon. However, SPIB was also present in BEST4 + and Tuft cells, precluding this gene as a

specific M-like cell marker. SPIB transcription in BEST4 + cells was confirmed by the Oxford study (22).

We analyzed differences between M-like cells in healthy controls and UC (**Table 2**). Not only were M-like cell numbers significantly elevated in inflamed mucosa, these cells also had increased transcription of CCL20 and CCL23, implicating them in the recruitment of other immune cells and propagating inflammation. Only two transcripts, CCL20 and SPINK5, were elevated in M-like cells in healthy colon as well as in UC. However, both transcripts were highly upregulated in UC in other absorptive and secretory cell clusters, thus precluding them from being specific M-like cell markers. Notably, SOX8 did not appear upregulated in any other cell cluster in UC (**Table 2**). We conclude that SOX8 could be used to identify inducible colonic M-like cells and study their function in health and UC.

## **GOBLET CELLS**

Goblet cells are critical in maintaining a protective mucus layer that provides separation between epithelia and luminal content. Both studies identified undifferentiated and differentiated transcriptional clusters of goblet cells (GCs) in relationship

Broad Study				
Health	Ulcerative Colitis			
CCL23				
SOX8	FAM84A			
RP11-161M6.2	CRABP2			
NTRK2	KCNE3			
CCL20	TMEM158			
NPB	SLC6A14			
MIA	ANKRD34A			
SPINK5	HOXB13			
SERPINF2	TCF12			
KCNE2	BHLHE41			
CTSE				
TNFAIP2				
SPIB				
MSLN				
TNFRSF11A				
POLD1				
SLC2A6				
AC026471.6				
TNFRSF11B				
AKR1C2				
GJB3				
	Transcript also reported in Oxford study (but not linked to M-cell)			
Red	Transcript reported in at least one other cell lineage in Broad study			
Blue	Transcript reported in both healthy subjects and UC in Broad study			

to the colonic crypt-surface axis. GCs were sub-classified into immature or mature populations (Broad), or grouped into five transcriptionally distinct clusters (Oxford). Among the 64 major GC markers identified by the Oxford study, 35 were also found elevated in GC clusters in the Broad study. Twelve transcripts highly elevated ( $\log_2 FC \ge 4.0$ ) in both, mature and immature GCs in Broad study were also elevated in this cell type in Oxford study (**Figure 2**). Both studies are concordant in that there is increasing expression of MUC2 and ZG16 along the crypt-surface differentiation axis, while TFF3, ITLN1, SPINK4, CLCA1, and WFDC2 expression is higher in immature GCs (**Figure 2**). Surprisingly, only BEST2 and ZG16 were GCspecific in Broad study.

Importantly, transcripts elevated in goblet cells (**Figure 2**) were in agreement with the subsequent study by Li et al. (35), including MUC2, ITLN1, REP15, LRRC26, NPDC1, TPSG1, SERPINA1, CLCA1, and SPINK4.

Of particular interest is the enrichment of mucins other than MUC2 in mature GCs. Both studies agree that transmembrane MUC1 and MUC4 are enriched in differentiated GCs, but are also detected in other cell clusters (transit amplifying (TA) cells). MUC12 is listed as elevated in GC cluster 4 in the Oxford study, but is elevated in colonocytes in the Broad study. MUC13 is enriched in mature GCs and in absorptive cells in both studies. MUC17 was not reported in GCs in any of the studies. Surprisingly, gel-forming MUC5B was elevated in mature GCs in the Broad study (instead, MUC5B was elevated in TA lineages).

The changes in goblet cells in UC through the prism of scRNAseq are striking. It is widely accepted that number of GCs and the luminal mucus layer are significantly reduced in UC-damaged epithelia (41). Both studies found a significant decrease in GC numbers and significantly altered transcriptional signatures (**Figure 2**). However, the transcriptional sub-populations of spatially distinct goblet cells (crypt bottom vs. top) were preserved in active UC-derived epithelial tissues. Additionally, in the Oxford study, a novel cluster of inflammation-associated GCs was found in UC.

Overall, GC clusters in UC partially lose their secretory identity and are characterized by a mix of transcripts present in both absorptive and secretory lineages. Each GC cluster in UC exhibited highly heterogeneous transcriptional changes, and a consensus for GC markers was not evident. Among 139 transcripts listed in the Oxford study as upregulated in GCs in UC, only 15 (11%) were also found in the Broad study. Additionally, many of these transcripts were also significantly elevated in non-GCs in UC. This significant transcriptional transformation of GCs may explain their functional transformation.

In UC-affected epithelium (Figure 2), only SCD, RNASE1, and ASRGL1 were concordant with goblet cell findings by Li et al. (35).

STRING interactome analysis of GC-upregulated transcripts in UC from the Oxford study suggest that GCs gain properties for antigen presentation (HSA04612), stress response (GO:0006950), and immune regulation (GO:0002376). Other studies have alluded to this ability of GCs to act as antigen presenting cells,



including delivery of antigens to dendritic cells (42) or microbial sensing and recruitment of inflammatory cells (43).

One of the most striking results from both scRNA-seq datasets is that MUC2 transcript levels were similar between healthy and UC samples, yet MUC2 protein is substantially decreased in patients with severe UC (41, 44). The discrepancy in detected MUC2 transcripts and protein in UC prompted us to perform a similar comparison for other goblet cell markers. Proteomic analysis of mucus from healthy or UC sigmoid colon biopsies showed that major core mucus components, including MUC2, FCGBP, CLCA1, and ZG16 were significantly reduced in active UC (42). Protein levels of TFF3, MUC4, 5B, 12 and 13 and ITLN1 did not change in mucus from UC patients. These data suggest post-transcriptional regulation of several core mucus proteins in disease accounts for differences between mRNA and protein expression in active UC.

It was surprising that transcript levels of MUC5AC, a gelforming mucin that is typically associated with surface gastric epithelia, but can be induced in the intestine during infection (45, 46), was significantly elevated in inflamed colon. A recent study also found elevated MUC5AC transcript levels in active UC, although there was no significant correlation between MUC5AC expression levels and UC disease severity (47). However, MUC5AC was not reported among the core mucus proteins in active UC (45). MUC5AC is frequently present in colorectal adenomas and colon cancers, thus it's elevation might be due to UC-induced carcinogenesis (48).

In conclusion, according to both scRNA-seq datasets, goblet cell clusters in UC lost some of their secretory hallmarks and were characterized by a mix of transcripts present in both absorptive and secretory lineages.

## COLONOCYTES

Colonocytes represent the largest cell pool in colonic epithelial tissue. Numerous studies have characterized the UC inflammation-induced pathologies of colonocytes and suggested that these pathologies must be pharmacologically addressed to achieve a full and sustained remission. Colonocytes can be spatially and functionally divided into three groups: Undifferentiated cells at the bottom of crypts, cells undergoing a transitional differentiation, and fully differentiated surface colonocytes. For the first time, scRNA-seq allows for precise characterization of the stages of cell differentiation and identification of the number of transcriptionally stable transition clusters which traverse from undifferentiated to fully differentiated. We analyzed the cluster specific markers of colonocytes in health and UC disease to gain insights into the molecular-cellular pathways driving UC disease.

# Differentiated Absorptive Colonocytes in Health and Ulcerative Colitis Disease

Both studies identified a cluster of terminally differentiated colonocytes (additionally to BEST4 + cells) named Crypt Top Colonocytes (CTC) in the Oxford study or Enterocytes in the Broad study. The CTC cluster included  $\sim$  264 upregulated transcripts (AUC > 0.7) and Enterocyte cluster included  $\sim 150$ significantly upregulated transcripts. Seventeen of these highly elevated transcripts are identified in both studies but neither of these transcripts is cluster-specific (Figure 3A). However, seven less elevated transcripts are cluster-specific and overlap in both studies (Supplementary Table 1A), and thus may serve as markers of mature colonocytes. ABCB1, an ATP-dependent drug efflux pump for xenobiotic compounds, is one of the common transcripts, and mutations in this gene are associated with IBD. Others are interferon-regulated proteins, including dsRNA-activated antiviral enzyme OAS1 which plays a critical role in cellular innate antiviral response, ubiquitin-like modifier ISG15, and sodium-phosphate symporter SLC20A1, which plays a fundamental housekeeping role in phosphate transport.

Many transcripts highly upregulated in differentiated colonocytes in one (Figure 3B) or both studies were also detected in other cell clusters (Supplementary Tables 1B,D,E). For example, CTC-specific CDHR2, CLCA4, MS4A12, and SLC9A3R1 were also significantly elevated in differentiated colonocytes in Broad study, but were not cluster-specific. SLC26A3/DRA, the bicarbonate/Cl- exchanger is one of these transcripts and is a well-known marker of differentiated colonocytes validated in numerous studies (49). Low levels of DRA are also detected in undifferentiated colonocytes in both studies. DRA is involved in response to stimulus, immune system process, cell junction organization, bicarbonate transport and regulation of sodium transport. The expression differences in such transcripts between the two studies is likely due to large differences in the number of analyzed cells (Table 1). A larger number of analyzed cells, as in Broad studies, improves the detection sensitivity for low abundance transcripts. Only a few transcripts are single cluster-specific and could not be detected in other clusters. Instead, the majority of the transcripts form gradients between different cell clusters. Further validation experiments are necessary to test whether inter-cluster copy number difference is large enough to allow use of a particular transcript as the cluster marker of differentiated colonocytes in healthy tissue, as in the case of DRA (Supplementary Tables 1B,D,E).

Only four transcripts were discordant (Supplementary Table 1). These transcripts were elevated

in healthy Enterocytes in the Broad study but were among the UC inflammation-elevated transcripts in the Oxford study.

In UC inflammation, only four highly elevated and specific transcripts for differentiated colonocytes were common (**Figure 3C** and **Supplementary Table 1I**); these might serve as UC disease markers of the differentiated colonocyte cluster. In the Oxford study, the UC-affected CTC cluster is characterized by  $\sim$ 300 upregulated transcripts, with only 17 transcripts shared between inflamed and healthy CTC (**Supplementary Table 1D**), suggesting substantial structural and functional changes in this cell type in disease. STRING analysis of the CTC-specific transcripts in UC confirmed high representation of immune system processes. In contrast, bicarbonate and sodium transport and cell junction organization pathways were absent from the UC transcriptome. Loss of SCL26A3 was previously linked to inflammatory diarrhea in UC patients (50, 51).

Additionally, there were significant changes in the composition of claudins in CTC cells; while CLDN7, 23, and 4 were elevated in healthy epithelium, CLDN1 and eight were elevated in disease. Mutations in NOD2, one of the major UC disease susceptibility genes, have been shown to alter the composition of tight junction proteins including upregulation of CLDN1 (52). scRNA-seq results confirm previous findings and correlate with the less studied CLDN8 in UC. UC-affected CTC cells also lose expression of CDHR5, an important intermicrovillar adhesion molecule that forms calcium-dependent heterophilic complexes with CDHR2 on adjacent microvilli (53). These two proteins control the packing of microvilli at the apical membrane of colonocytes and play a central role in brush border differentiation. Taken together, the CTC transcriptional signature reflects loss of differentiation in UC-inflamed epithelium. Interestingly, transcripts related to viral entry, specifically TMPRSS2, CHMP2A, 2B, and 4B, are downregulated in the CTC cluster in active UC, which might be protective against viral infections, including SARS-CoV2, despite an elevated cytokine profile (54, 55).

In the Broad study, ~111 protein transcripts were upregulated in the UC-inflamed Enterocyte cluster with only 16 being clusterspecific (Supplementary Tables 11,L). Again, large difference between the numbers of cluster specific elevated transcripts in UC-affected differentiated colonocytes between the studies is probably due to the number of analyzed cells; the less cells are analyzed the more cluster-specific transcripts it would produce. Elevation of the proinflammatory cytokine LIF was previously reported in UC patients, confirming the scRNAseq data. LIF stimulates cell proliferation and thus may play a critical role in tumor development in UC patients (56). Another 13 transcripts elevated in multiple clusters in UC from the Broad study were also specifically elevated in UC-affected CTC cells (Supplementary Table 1J). The Broad study identified a single SAA1 transcript elevated in both healthy (specifically) and UC-affected (non-specifically) Enterocytes. SAA1 expression in epithelium has been shown to serve as an important link between mucosal T cells, microbial communities, and their tissue environment in patients with IBD (57), further supporting these scRNA-seq findings.



# Undifferentiated Colonocyte Clusters in Health and Ulcerative Colitis Disease

The pool of immature healthy colonocytes is mainly represented by three distinct clusters of Immature Enterocytes 1 and 2, and Enterocyte Progenitors in the Broad study. We searched for specific cluster markers among the substantially elevated protein coding transcripts (log2fc  $\geq$  4.0; **Supplementary Table 2**). DUOX2 and TMEM150B were exclusively elevated in the healthy Immature Enterocytes 1 cluster. Similarly, FOXH1, C14orf180, and HS3ST6 may serve as markers of Immature Enterocytes 2. Surprisingly, no protein transcripts elevated above this threshold were among Enterocyte Progenitors. In addition, there were no transcripts upregulated above the threshold that are common and specific for all three clusters.

In UC-inflamed tissue, according to the Broad study, eight elevated (log2fc  $\geq$  4.0) transcripts were shared among all three clusters (Supplementary Table 2H). However, these transcripts were upregulated in numerous other clusters, including differentiated absorptive and secretory lineages. Importantly, the expression pattern of these eight transcripts substantially differs between inflamed UC and healthy tissue. In healthy tissue, they are upregulated in a single or few clusters. However, in UC they are spread across many clusters, further demonstrating that the major UC disease phenotype dissociates the molecular boundaries between different cell types and their stage of differentiation. For example, CCL20 appears as an M-like cell marker in healthy tissue, but is broadly elevated in both secretory and absorptive cells in UC. Similarly, in healthy epithelium, GLDN and DUOX2 are elevated exclusively in Enterocyte Progenitors and Immature Enterocytes 1, respectively, but in UC are elevated in at least seven other secretory and absorptive cell clusters. DUOX2 is the only Immature Enterocytes 1 transcript elevated in both healthy and diseased epithelium. It has been shown that epithelial DUOX2 and DUOXA2 form the predominant enzyme system for  $H_2O_2$  production in human colon and in active UC (58), further supporting these scRNA-seq data.

Elevated MUC1 could be considered as a marker of Immature Enterocytes 1 in active UC (Figure 3D), while in healthy tissue MUC1 is expressed throughout all epithelial clusters. SMAD9, KAZN, and DOCK4 (Figure 3D) could be considered as markers of Immature Enterocytes 2. Several transcripts highly elevated in the clusters of undifferentiated colonocytes further illustrate the loss of cluster-specificity expression in inflamed UC epithelium compared to healthy tissue. For example, in healthy epithelium, SDR16C5 is elevated in M-like cells. Goblet cells and Tuft cell clusters, MIA is elevated in M-like and Tuft cells; and PRSS22 is elevated in Secretory and Tuft cells; however, all three transcripts are elevated in nearly all the epithelial cell clusters in UC. Importantly, SI, a well-known marker of fully differentiated small intestinal enterocytes was not detected in healthy human colon, but was broadly expressed in UC, including undifferentiated colonocytes. SI has been detected in inflammatory, regenerative, and dysplastic mucosa in Ulcerative Colitis (59). Additionally, OLFM4 is mainly upregulated in Stem and TA1 clusters in healthy epithelium, but in UC is elevated in TA and Absorptive Enterocytes. The expression pattern of these transcripts again shows the loss of cell type specificity in UC.

The transcriptional comparison of immature colonocytes between two studies is challenging and not straightforward due to differences in transcript clustering algorithms. We speculated that Colonocytes and Absorptive Progenitors could be clusters that represent immature colonocytes in Oxford study. Eight transcripts found to be most elevated in all three undifferentiated colonocyte clusters in the Broad study were also significantly elevated in UC Colonocytes in Oxford study. Four transcripts (TNIP3, S100P, DUOX2, and CXCL1) were also elevated in Absorptive Progenitors. Again, similar to the results of the Broad study, none of the transcripts were cluster-specific and all were upregulated in most clusters except EECs in the Oxford study. Additionally, both datasets suggest that DOCK4, a membrane-associated cytoplasmic protein, which functions as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor involved in regulation of adherence junctions between the cells, may be a reliable marker of undifferentiated colonocytes in UC disease. Although its role in UC disease is not known, DOCK4 was recently identified as a regulator of goblet cell differentiation and MUC2 production in the gut (60).

Several transcripts identified as markers of healthy differentiated colonocytes in the Broad and Oxford studies (VAMP8, OAS1, ISG15, SLC20A1; **Figure 3**) were concordant with data by Li et al. However, the remaining transcripts that were listed as markers of healthy differentiated or undifferentiated colonocytes (**Supplementary Tables 1, 2**) were not reported. CDC42EP2, a potential marker of UC-affected differentiated colonocytes was also reported by Li et al., while MUC1, a potential marker of undifferentiated colonocytes, was elevated in tuft cells in addition to enterocyte progenitors.

# **COLONIC STEM CELLS**

Altered histology and transcriptional profiles in UC epithelia have been observed to persist even after achieving a disease remission (61), suggesting that the colonic stem cell (SC) may be permanently changed during the course of disease (18). Somatic nonsense or gene mutations have been discovered in UC epithelia, including genes involved in IL-17 signaling, such as NFKBIZ, ZC3H12A, and PIGR (62). Inflammation-induced somatic mutations might provide clonal advantage to these stem cells and propagate UC-related pathologies. We next analyzed stem cell profiles in both scRNA-seq data sets to search for potential signatures associated with UC.

The SC cluster from healthy tissue was not described in the Oxford study, possibly because only 38 cells contained the stem cell marker LGR5. The Broad study identified LGR5 as the most SC-enriched and specific transcript (**Table 3**). Among the 18 most elevated SC transcripts ( $\log_2FC \ge 4.0$ ), 16 were SC specific, which might substantially broaden the ability to identify and characterize human colonic SC *via* immunoblotting, immunofluorescence, functional assays and other approaches. OLFM4 is often used as a substitute marker for SC (63) and is elevated ( $\log_2FC$  2.4) in both SC and TA1 cells. Interestingly, several other highly expressed SC-specific transcripts are lincRNAs (RP11-219E7.4 and RP11-760H22.2) and RP11-84C10.4 antisense, all of which might be involved in SC-specific regulation of CFTR.

In the Broad study, 65 transcripts were upregulated in SC in active UC relative to healthy controls. Although a majority of these transcripts were also upregulated at least in one other cell cluster, eight transcripts were specific to SC in UC (**Table 3**). Surprisingly, the upregulated transcripts are commonly associated with healthy differentiated cell types such

as colonocytes (EZR, IFI27) or goblet cells (IER2, HBEGF, NFKBIA, and FAM3D). The functional significance of these UC-induced SC transformations remains to be determined.

STRING analysis of the 65 upregulated SC transcripts found associations to stress response (GO:0006950) and cell communication (GO:0010646) as the most inclusive gene ontology pathways. These pathways also included a large set of molecules involved in immune response. Multiple HLA and IFI transcripts, either SC-specific or shared between SCs and other epithelial cell clusters in UC, were significantly elevated, indicating a shift in SC function toward antigen presentation in UC. HSPA6 and CCL20 are UC GWAS genes, possibly linking genetic predisposition to UC with changes in the SC transcriptome. In UC, the fate of SC markers LGR5, OLFM4, or AXIN2 is not clear, as these transcripts were not listed among those enriched or downregulated in UC in the Oxford study. According to the Broad study, AXIN2 was significantly downregulated in stem cells in UC. In contrast, OLFM4 was slightly upregulated in stem cells and much more elevated in all TA clusters and in Enterocytes in UC. The lack of overlap between the two studies on SC markers in inflamed colonic tissue indicates that it is too soon to hypothesize on the mechanism(s) contributing to long-lasting changes in SCs in active UC.

The expression of potential stem cell-enriched transcripts (**Table 3**) was not reported in healthy epithelium by Li et al., despite the presence of LGR5 + stem cell clusters in both healthy and UC tissues. In UC, markers elevated in stem cell cluster in either the Oxford or Broad study were discordant with the findings reported by Li et al. (35). EZR, a classical marker of epithelial cells, was found elevated in several epithelial cell clusters, and surprisingly, in fibroblasts. IFI27 was non-specifically elevated in stem cells, while FAM3D and PRAC1 were elevated in stem cells when expression was normalized to the proximal colon transcriptome but not to healthy sigmoid colon. NFKBIA, JUNB, and IER2 were elevated in other epithelial and/or non-epithelial cell clusters, but not in LGR5 + stem cells.

# DISCUSSION

RNA-seq of single cells paves the way for discovery of novel epithelial cell clusters in UC. The major differences between the two studies were in the methods and protocols used to isolate cells and the large difference in the number of analyzed cells. In addition, patient selection is also variable and patients are not comparable across studies (Table 1). These limitations should not deter researchers from using the findings in these studies, but rather emphasize the need to validate markers by alternative techniques. The Broad and Oxford studies make important contributions to defining the UC epithelia transcriptional landscape, but points of incongruity suggest that expanded profiles from additional subjects are necessary to refine disease-associated hypotheses. Combining scRNA-seq with other -omics into a reference disease atlas would provide a powerful tool to iteratively model, test, and revise mechanistic models in UC experimental settings for drug testing and other clinical studies.

#### TABLE 3 | Differential gene expression for stem cells.

Health		Ulcerative colitis			
ighly expressed transcripts ported in Oxford Study	Highly expressed transcripts reported in Broad Study	Highly expressed transcripts reported in Oxford Study only	Highly expressed transcripts reported in Broad Study only		
None reported	LGR5	EZR	FN1		
	RP11-219E7.4	NFKBIA	SI		
	CYP4 × 1	C15orf48	SPON1		
	OXGR1	JUNB	B3GNT7		
	SMOC2	IER2	KCTD12		
	NR0B2	IFI27	HOXB13		
	SLC39A2	HBEGF	MT-TV		
	SHISA9	FAM3D	SLC28A2		
	PTPRO		PRAC1		
	RP11-84C10.4				
	CAPN6				
	RGMB				
	FMN2				
	CELF5				
	TERT				
	RP11-760H22.2				
	ASCL2				
	C1orf95				
		Inc RNA			
	Т	Transcript is downregulated in stem cells in UC Transcript is elevated in other healthy cell clusters			
	Tra				
	Transcript is elevated in healthy stem cells				
ed	Transcript is elevated in other cell types in UC				
ue	Transcript identified in Genome-Wide Association Study (GWAS)				

Because parameters vary widely across studies, it is not straightforward to determine whether a particular transcript is specifically changed within a single cluster and thus be a reasonable target for further evaluation in human tissue or organoid models. Our analysis acknowledges this gap and identifies some areas in which non-omics validation is important.

scRNA-seq in the Broad and Oxford studies revealed that transcriptional signatures and cell type boundaries become more nebulous in UC. Multiple transcripts were differentially regulated across many clusters, challenging the classical concept of unique cell cluster markers associated with active UC. The lack of clearly separated transcripts reflects a general loss of cell specialization, replaced by cell phenotypes that do not map to healthy tissue. Evaluating markedly altered transcripts in relation to known interactors (interactome analysis) adds depth to cluster analysis, but these strategies are not useful if cell type clusters lack discrete boundaries in disease.

Study interpretations are limited by the heterogeneity of subjects (including gender, age, ethnicity, site of colon biopsy, stage of UC disease, and prior use of anti-inflammatory therapies). The total number of cells acquired and transcripts sequenced also contribute to variability in sensitivity for detecting rare cell types or transcripts. Validation of findings at the protein level is also imperative to advance understanding of the molecular features conserved in UC epithelia.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JS, JF-A, and OK researched data, contributed to discussion of content and writing, generated figures and tables, and reviewed/edited the manuscript before submission. WH and JH contributed to discussion of content for the article and reviewed/edited the manuscript before submission. JI researched data for the article and reviewed/edited the manuscript before submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This research was supported by NIH grants U01 DK103168, P01 AI125181 to OK, JI, and JF-A, K01 DK113043 to JF-A, and K01 DK106323 to JI, and by University of New Mexico Department of Internal Medicine start-up funds to JI and OK.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Curt H. Hagedorn, Denis M. McCarthy, Henry C. Lin and Mark Donowitz for the critical reading of the manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Schnitzler F, Fidder H, Ferrante M, Noman M, Arijs I, Van Assche G, et al. Mucosal healing predicts long-term outcome of maintenance therapy with infliximab in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2009) 15:1295–301. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20927
- Sakuraba A, Annunziata ML, Cohen RD, Hanauer SB, Rubin DT. Mucosal healing is associated with improved long-term outcome of maintenance therapy with natalizumab in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:2577–83. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182a8df32
- Noman M, Ferrante M, Bisschops R, De Hertogh G, Van den Broeck K, Rans K, et al. Vedolizumab induces long-term mucosal healing in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2017) 11:1085–9. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx048
- Sandborn WJ, Su C, Sands BE, D'Haens GR, Vermeire S, Schreiber S, et al. Tofacitinib as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:1723–36.
- Pai RK, Jairath V, Vande Casteele N, Rieder F, Parker CE, Lauwers GY, et al. The emerging role of histologic disease activity assessment in ulcerative colitis. *Gastrointest Endosc.* (2018) 88:887–98. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.08.018
- Bryant RV, Burger DC, Delo J, Walsh AJ, Thomas S, von Herbay A, et al. Beyond endoscopic mucosal healing in UC: histological remission better predicts corticosteroid use and hospitalisation over 6 years of follow-up. *Gut.* (2016) 65:408–14. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309598
- Christensen B, Hanauer SB, Erlich J, Kassim O, Gibson PR, Turner JR, et al. Histologic normalization occurs in ulcerative colitis and is associated with improved clinical outcomes. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 15:1557–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.02.016
- Ma C, Sedano R, Almradi A, Vande Casteele N, Parker CE, Guizzetti L, et al. An international consensus to standardize integration of histopathology in ulcerative colitis clinical trials. *Gastroenterology*. (2021) 160:2291–302. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.02.035
- Seidelin JB. Colonic epithelial cell turnover: possible implications for ulcerative colitis and cancer initiation. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* (2004) 39:201– 11. doi: 10.1080/00365520310005974
- Shao BZ, Yao Y, Zhai JS, Zhu JH, Li JP, Wu K. The role of autophagy in inflammatory bowel disease. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:621132. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2021.621132
- Wan Y, Yang L, Jiang S, Qian D, Duan J. Excessive apoptosis in ulcerative colitis: crosstalk between apoptosis, ROS, ER stress, and intestinal homeostasis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2021) 6:izab277. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izab277
- Schulzke JD, Ploeger S, Amasheh M, Fromm A, Zeissig S, Troeger H, et al. Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2009) 1165:294–300.
- Bankole E, Read E, Curtis MA, Neves JF, Garnett JA. The relationship between mucins and ulcerative colitis: a systematic review. J Clin Med. (2021) 10:1935. doi: 10.3390/jcm10091935
- Kushkevych I, Dordeviæ D, Vítizová M. Possible synergy effect of hydrogen sulfide and acetate produced by sulfate-reducing bacteria on inflammatory bowel disease development. *J Adv Res.* (2020) 27:71–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2020. 03.007
- Johansson MEV, Gustafsson JK, Holmén-Larsson J, Jabbar KS, Xia L, Xu H, et al. Bacteria penetrate the normally impenetrable inner colon mucus layer in both murine colitis models and patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut.* (2014) 63:281–91. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303207
- Mashimo H, Wu DC, Podolsky DK, Fishman MC. Impaired defense of intestinal mucosa in mice lacking intestinal trefoil factor. *Science*. (1996) 274:262–5. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5285.262
- 17. Gubatan J, Holman DR, Puntasecca CJ, Polevoi D, Rubin SJ, Rogalla S. Antimicrobial peptides and the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2022.868508/full#supplementary-material

disease. World J Gastroenterol. (2021) 27:7402-22. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i43. 7402

- Salas A, Hernandez-Rocha C, Duijvestein M, Faubion W, McGovern D, Vermeire S, et al. JAK-STAT pathway targeting for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 17:323–37. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0273-0
- Wächtershäuser A, Stein J. Rationale for the luminal provision of butyrate in intestinal diseases. *Eur J Nutr.* (2000) 39:164–71. doi: 10.1007/s003940070020
- Foerster EG, Mukherjee T, Cabral-Fernandes L, Rocha JDB, Girardin SE, Philpott DJ. How autophagy controls the intestinal epithelial barrier. *Autophagy.* (2022) 18:86–103. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2021.190 9406
- Smillie CS, Biton M, Ordovas-Montanes J, Sullivan KM, Burgin G, Graham DB, et al. Intra- and inter-cellular rewiring of the human colon during ulcerative colitis. *Cell.* (2019) 178:714–30.e22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.06.029
- Parikh K, Antanaviciute A, Fawkner-Corbett D, Jagielowicz M, Aulicino A, Lagerholm C, et al. Colonic epithelial cell diversity in health and inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature*. (2019) 567:49–55. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0992-y
- Schena M, Shalon D, Davis RW, Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. *Science*. (1995) 270:467–70. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5235.467
- 24. Bjerrum JT, Hansen M, Olsen J, Nielsen OH. Genome-wide gene expression analysis of mucosal colonic biopsies and isolated colonocytes suggests a continuous inflammatory state in the lamina propria of patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:999–1007. doi: 10.1002/ibd. 21142
- Planell N, Lozano JJ, Mora-Buch R, Masamunt MC, Jimeno M, Ordas I, et al. Transcriptional analysis of the intestinal mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis in remission reveals lasting epithelial cell alterations. *Gut.* (2013) 62:967–76. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303333
- Tang F, Barbacioru C, Wang Y, Nordman E, Lee C, Xu N, et al. mRNA-seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. *Nat Methods*. (2009) 6:377–82. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1315
- Ziegenhain C, Vieth B, Parekh S, Reinius B, Guillaumet-Adkins A, Smets M, et al. Comparative analysis of single-cell RNA sequencing methods. *Mol Cell.* (2017) 65:631–43.e4.
- Chen G, Ning B, Shi T. Single-cell RNA-seq technologies and related computational data analysis. *Front Genet.* (2019) 10:317. doi: 10.3389/fgene. 2019.00317
- 29. Hwang B, Lee JH, Bang D. Single-cell RNA sequencing technologies and bioinformatics pipelines. *Exp Mol Med.* (2018) 50:96.
- Luecken MD, Theis FJ. Current best practices in single-cell RNA-seq analysis: a tutorial. *Mol Syst Biol.* (2019) 15:e8746. doi: 10.15252/msb.20188746
- Macosko EZ, Basu A, Satija R, Nemesh J, Shekhar K, Goldman M, et al. Highly parallel genome-wide expression profiling of individual cells using nanoliter droplets. *Cell.* (2015) 161:1202–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.002
- Svensson V, Natarajan KN, Ly LH, Miragaia RJ, Labalette C, Macaulay IC, et al. Power analysis of single-cell RNA-sequencing experiments. *Nat Methods*. (2017) 14:381–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4220
- Yuan GC, Cai L, Elowitz M, Enver T, Fan G, Guo G, et al. Challenges and emerging directions in single-cell analysis. *Genome Biol.* (2017) 18:84. doi: 10.1186/s13059-017-1218-y
- 34. Dotti I, Mora-Buch R, Ferrer-Picón E, Planell N, Jung P, Masamunt MC, et al. Alterations in the epithelial stem cell compartment could contribute to permanent changes in the mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut.* (2017) 66:2069–79. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312609
- Li G, Zhang B, Hao J, Chu X, Wiestler M, Cornberg M, et al. Identification of novel population-specific cell subsets in Chinese ulcerative colitis patients using single-cell RNA sequencing. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 12:99–117. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.01.020

- Dillon A, Lo DD. M cells: intelligent engineering of mucosal immune surveillance. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:1499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01499
- Kobayashi N, Takahashi D, Takano S, Kimura S, Hase K. The roles of Peyer's patches and microfold cells in the gut immune system: relevance to autoimmune diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2345. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2019.02345
- Hollander D, Kaunitz JD. The "leaky gut": tight junctions but loose associations? *Dig Dis Sci.* (2020) 65:1277–87. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05777-2
- Bennett KM, Parnell EA, Sanscartier C, Parks S, Chen G, Nair MG, et al. Induction of colonic M cells during intestinal inflammation. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:1166–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.12.015
- Liu JZ, van Sommeren S, Huang H, Ng SC, Alberts R, Takahashi A, et al. Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:979–86. doi: 10.1038/ng.3359
- Gersemann M, Becker S, Kubler I, Koslowski M, Wang G, Herrlinger KR, et al. Differences in goblet cell differentiation between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Differentiation*. (2009) 77:84–94. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2008.09. 008
- 42. McDole JR, Wheeler LW, McDonald KG, Wang B, Konjufca V, Knoop KA, et al. Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. *Nature*. (2012) 483:345–9. doi: 10.1038/nature10863
- Knoop KA, McDonald KG, McCrate S, McDole JR, Newberry RD. Microbial sensing by goblet cells controls immune surveillance of luminal antigens in the colon. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:198–210. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.58
- Dorofeyev AE, Vasilenko IV, Rassokhina OA, Kondratiuk RB. Mucosal barrier in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* (2013) 2013:431231. doi: 10.1155/2013/431231
- 45. van der Post S, Jabbar KS, Birchenough G, Arike L, Akhtar N, Sjovall H, et al. Structural weakening of the colonic mucus barrier is an early event in ulcerative colitis pathogenesis. *Gut.* (2019) 68:2142–51. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317571
- Hasnain SZ, Gallagher AL, Grencis RK, Thornton DJ. A new role for mucins in immunity: insights from gastrointestinal nematode infection. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2013) 45:364–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2012.10.011
- Olli KE, Rapp C, O'Connell L, Collins CB, McNamee EN, Jensen O, et al. Muc5ac expression protects the colonic barrier in experimental colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2020) 26:1353–67. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa064
- Rico SD, Hoflmayer D, Buscheck F, Dum D, Luebke AM, Kluth M, et al. Elevated MUC5AC expression is associated with mismatch repair deficiency and proximal tumor location but not with cancer progression in colon cancer. *Med Mol Morphol.* (2021) 54:156–65. doi: 10.1007/s00795-020-00274-2
- Hoglund P, Haila S, Socha J, Tomaszewski L, Saarialho-Kere U, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, et al. Mutations of the down-regulated in adenoma (DRA) gene cause congenital chloride diarrhoea. *Nat Genet.* (1996) 14:316–9. doi: 10.1038/ng1196-316
- Ding X, Li D, Li M, Tian D, Yu H, Yu Q. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha acts reciprocally with solute carrier family 26, member 3, (downregulated-inadenoma) and reduces its expression, leading to intestinal inflammation. *Int J Mol Med.* (2018) 41:1224–32. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2017.3347
- Kumar A, Priyamvada S, Ge Y, Jayawardena D, Singhal M, Anbazhagan AN, et al. A novel role of SLC26A3 in the maintenance of intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. *Gastroenterology.* (2021) 160:1240–55.e3. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2020.11.008
- Zhu L, Han J, Li L, Wang Y, Li Y, Zhang S. Claudin family participates in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases and colitis-associated colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1441. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01441
- 53. Weck ML, Crawley SW, Tyska MJ. A heterologous in-cell assay for investigating intermicrovillar adhesion complex interactions reveals a novel

protrusion length-matching mechanism. J Biol Chem. (2020) 295:16191–206. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA120.015929

- 54. Bossa F, Carparelli S, Latiano A, Palmieri O, Tavano F, Panza A, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 outbreak and the serum prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in patients with inflammatory bowel disease treated with biologic drugs. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2021) 53:277–82. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2020.1 2.120
- Conti C, Rosa I, Zito L, Grossi L, Efthymakis K, Neri M, et al. Influence of the COVID-19 outbreak on disease activity and quality of life in inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:664088. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.664088
- Guimbaud R, Abitbol V, Bertrand V, Quartier G, Chauvelot-Moachon L, Giroud J, et al. Leukemia inhibitory factor involvement in human ulcerative colitis and its potential role in malignant course. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (1998) 9:607–12.
- 57. Tang MS, Bowcutt R, Leung JM, Wolff MJ, Gundra UM, Hudesman D, et al. Integrated analysis of biopsies from inflammatory bowel disease patients identifies SAA1 as a link between mucosal microbes with TH17 and TH22 cells. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2017) 23:1544–54. doi: 10.1097/MIB. 000000000001208
- MacFie TS, Poulsom R, Parker A, Warnes G, Boitsova T, Nijhuis A, et al. DUOX2 and DUOXA2 form the predominant enzyme system capable of producing the reactive oxygen species H2O2 in active ulcerative colitis and are modulated by 5-aminosalicylic acid. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2014) 20:514–24. doi: 10.1097/01.MIB.0000442012.45038.0e
- Andrews CW Jr, O'Hara CJ, Goldman H, Mercurio AM, Silverman ML, Steele GD Jr. Sucrase-isomaltase expression in chronic ulcerative colitis and dysplasia. *Hum Pathol.* (1992) 23:774–9. doi: 10.1016/0046-8177(92)90 347-6
- Qin T, Yang J, Huang D, Zhang Z, Huang Y, Chen H, et al. DOCK4 stimulates MUC2 production through its effect on goblet cell differentiation. J Cell Physiol. (2021) 236:6507–19. doi: 10.1002/jcp.30325
- Planell N, Lozano JJ, Mora-Buch R, Masamunt MC, Jimeno M, Ordás I, et al. Transcriptional analysis of the intestinal mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis in remission reveals lasting epithelial cell alterations. *Gut.* (2013) 62:967.
- Nanki K, Fujii M, Shimokawa M, Matano M, Nishikori S, Date S, et al. Somatic inflammatory gene mutations in human ulcerative colitis epithelium. *Nature*. (2020) 577:254–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1844-5
- van der Flier LG, Haegebarth A, Stange DE, van de Wetering M, Clevers H. OLFM4 is a robust marker for stem cells in human intestine and marks a subset of colorectal cancer cells. *Gastroenterology*. (2009) 137:15–7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.05.035

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Serigado, Foulke-Abel, Hines, Hanson, In and Kovbasnjuk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# **Crohn's Disease Complicated by Rare Types of Intestinal Obstruction: Two Case Reports**

Kai Xia<sup>1†</sup>, Renyuan Gao<sup>1†</sup>, Xiaocai Wu<sup>1†</sup>, Yu Ruan<sup>2†</sup>, Jian Wan<sup>1</sup>, Tianqi Wu<sup>1</sup>, Fangtao Wang<sup>1</sup>, Yin Lin<sup>1</sup>, Lu Yin<sup>1\*</sup> and Chunqiu Chen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Diagnostic and Treatment Center for Refractory Diseases of Abdomen Surgery, Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup> Surgery and Anesthesia Center, Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Raffaele Pellegrino, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Serkan Karaisli, İzmir Katip Celebi University, Turkey

#### \*Correspondence:

Lu Yin yinlumaster0105@126.com Chunqiu Chen chenchunqiu6@126.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 13 March 2022 Accepted: 31 March 2022 Published: 28 April 2022

### Citation:

Xia K, Gao R, Wu X, Ruan Y, Wan J, Wu T, Wang F, Lin Y, Yin L and Chen C (2022) Crohn's Disease Complicated by Rare Types of Intestinal Obstruction: Two Case Reports. Front. Med. 9:895202. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.895202 Intestinal obstruction is one of the most common complications of Crohn's disease (CD), jeopardizing the quality of life of patients. Numerous factors may contribute to intestinal obstruction in CD. Thus far, the primary reason has been identified as intestinal fibrosis caused by repeated chronic inflammation during the active phase of CD. Herein, we report two rare complicated CD cases and provide a reference for the clinical diagnosis and treatment of similar patients. Case one involves capsule endoscope retention in the small intestine of one CD patient concurrent with intestinal obstruction. Case two is a CD patient with intestinal obstruction caused by a mesangial hernia and ileal stenosis. Individualized and minimally invasive surgical intervention ultimately resulted in the successful management of these two patients. The two cases serve as an excellent guide for diagnosing and treating CD patients who present with similar symptoms.

Keywords: Crohn's disease, intestinal obstruction, capsule endoscopy, internal hernia, minimally invasive surgery

# INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease that is complicated by genetic susceptibility and environmental triggers (1, 2). It is most frequently diagnosed in individuals between the ages of 20 and 30 (3). At present, the underlying cause of CD is still unknown, and its prevalence is gradually increasing worldwide (4). CD is prone to various complications, with intestinal obstruction being one of the most common. Notably, Lin et al. (5) showed that around 70% of patients inevitably develop fibrosis-associated intestinal stricture 10 years following CD diagnosis, which may contribute to intestinal obstruction. In this study, we described two cases of CD complicated by particular types of intestinal obstruction. The Ethics Committee of Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital approved this case report (Ethical approval number: SHSY-IEC-5.0/22K33), and informed consent was obtained from all patients.

# **CASE REPORT**

## Case 1

On January 25, 2021, a 26-year-old man was diagnosed with incomplete intestinal obstruction in another hospital after experiencing vomiting, abdominal pain, and abdominal distension

following a meal. The symptoms improved after fasting, gastrointestinal decompression, anti-infective treatment, and parenteral nutrition support but remained intractable. On March 11 of the same year, the patient experienced severe abdominal pain while undergoing capsule endoscopy in the same hospital, and the capsule endoscope was not excreted after the examination. Enhanced computed tomography (CT) scans of the abdomen revealed small intestinal obstruction, with multiple thickening and strengthening of the small intestinal wall. The obstruction point was located in the small intestine of the pelvic region. According to the images, the first consideration was a CD of the small intestine. As a result, the patient was admitted to the Diagnostic and Treatment Center for Refractory Abdominal Diseases for additional treatment. Physical examination revealed tenderness in the lower abdomen and no other positive signs. The plain abdominal film revealed that the jejunum in the upper left abdomen was dilated, and the intestinal cavity contained a gas-liquid plane. Moreover, metallic shadows could be seen in the overlapping area of the pelvic cavity (Figure 1A). The patient was diagnosed as "incomplete small intestinal obstruction, CD (?), small intestinal foreign body (capsule endoscope)." The patient then underwent surgery to remove the thickened intestine and foreign body on March 19. During the operation, laparoscopic exploration revealed that the small intestine presented a segmental lesion intertwined with stenosis and dilation. After exploring the entire small intestine from the Treitz ligament, we discovered that the narrowest point of the intestine was approximately 180 cm from the Treitz ligament, and the stenosis segment of the intestine was approximately 30 cm in length. The distal small intestine was almost normal, while the terminal ileum was narrowed and thickened. Endo-GI was used to resect the intestinal cavity at the beginning of ascending colon, dragging out the narrowed ileum, capsule endoscope incarcerated in the proximal ileum was touched (Figure 1B). Then segmental resection of the small intestine with side-to-side stapled anastomosis was performed. Finally, the normal terminal ileum was severed, and the terminal ileostomy was completed. An ileus tube was inserted from the nose to the duodenum. The entire operation lasted 2 h, and the blood loss during the process was about 100 ml. The surgical specimen was inspected, and the multiple polyps of the intestinal wall and capsule endoscope were removed (Figures 1C,D). The patient had an uneventful postoperative period and was discharged 8 days after surgery. Pathology analysis revealed that multiple polyps were seen on the mucosal surface of the small intestine with a paving stonelike appearance, the diameters of which were about 0.2-0.6 cm. A longitudinal ulcer was seen on one side of the surgical margin, with a length and width of approximately 4 and 0.9 cm, respectively. Microscopy revealed acute and chronic intestinal wall inflammation with plasma cells, neutrophils, and lymphocytes infiltration. The ulcerative area reached the muscle layer and was alternated with inflammatory polyps. Combined with clinical history, the diagnosis of CD was considered. The patient underwent ileostomy closure surgery after 3 months. The patient is currently in good condition,

the disease is well controlled, and no apparent complications have been reported.

## Case 2

In 2009, a 36-year-old man with lower abdominal pain and palpable right lower abdominal mass was diagnosed with CD. Since then, he has been followed up regularly in our Gastroenterology Department and treated with medication to slow the progression of the disease. Four days prior to admission, the patient experienced severe abdominal pain and distension following a full meal, which was accompanied by four to five episodes of vomiting. As a result, the patient was admitted to our department for follow-up care. Further examination of the patient's medical history revealed that the patient had not had any excretion or exhaust in the preceding 3 days and had previously defecated two to three times per day. Physical examination revealed tenderness in the middle and lower abdomen, with a palpable mass in the lower abdomen. CT scans of the abdomen showed intestinal tract lesions in the right middle and lower abdomen, causing a proximal small intestinal obstruction (Figures 2A-C). Endoscopic examination indicated noticeable mucosal swelling, irregular fissure ulcers, and multiple polypoid hyperplasias in the sigmoid colon (18 cm away from the anus). The intestinal cavity was so narrowed that the endoscope could not pass through it (Figures 2D-F). As a result, the patient was diagnosed as " CD (A2 L2 B2 P, active phase), small intestinal obstruction, sigmoid stenosis, severe malnutrition (BMI 16.41 kg/m<sup>2</sup>)." After admission, a transnasal ileus tube was inserted under interventional guidance. 1,200, 200, 100 and 10 ml of dark green liquid per day were drained from the tube 4 days before the operation. The patient felt no more abdominal pain after that intervention. Following strict evaluation, the patient underwent subtotal colectomy, ileocecal resection, laparoscopic intestinal adhesiolysis, plication of small intestine, and ileostomy on November 30, 2021.

During the operation, laparoscopic exploration revealed that the proximal small intestine was significantly dilated. Furthermore, a mass wrapped by the omentum majus was seen in the ileocecal junction adhering to the lateral abdominal wall. When an ultrasonic scalpel separated the ileocecal mass, pus was seen flowing from the mass. We then switched to laparotomy because of the unclear anatomical structure and limited vision during the laparoscopic operation. During exploratory laparotomy, contractures were found in the ascending, transverse, descending colon, and mesangium. The proximal small intestine passed through the transverse mesocolon, causing the formation of an internal hernia (Figure 2G). Then, a linear cutter stapler severed the descending colon sigmoid junction, and the ileus tube was delivered from the proximal ileum to the terminal ileum. After the ileocecal mass was dragged out, the specimen was severed with a linear cutter stapler at a distance of 10 cm from the ileocecal junction. The terminal ileostomy was then completed. The entire operation lasted 4 h, blood loss during the process was about 600 ml, and the length of the residual small intestine was about 200 cm. The surgical specimen was inspected, as shown in Figures 2H,I. The patient had an uneventful postoperative period and was





discharged 10 days after surgery. Pathology analysis revealed a protrusion lesion in the ileocecal area, measuring  $10 \times 4 \times 4$  cm. Under the microscope, chronic active inflammation of colonic mucosa could be seen, with erosion, fissure ulcer and polypoid changes. Lymphoplasmacytic cells were distributed in the colonic

mucosa focally. Combining his past clinical history, the diagnosis of CD complicated by intestinal obstruction was given. Since the postoperative follow-up, the patient is in good condition, the disease is under control, and no apparent complications have been reported.



FIGURE 2 | Intestinal obstruction caused by CD combined with internal hernia and ileal stenosis (Case 2). (A–C) CT scans of abdomen: intestinal tract lesions in the right middle and lower abdomen, causing a proximal small intestinal obstruction. (D–F) Endoscopic examination: noticeable mucosal swelling, irregular fissure ulcers, and multiple polypoid hyperplasias in the sigmoid colon (18 cm away from the anus). The intestinal cavity was so narrowed that the endoscope could not pass through it. (G) Intraoperative exploration: the proximal small intestine passed through the transverse mesocolon, causing the formation of the internal hernia. (H–I) The specimen of surgery.

# DISCUSSION

In CD patients, intestinal obstruction resulting from capsule endoscopy is uncommon. However, according to Guevara-Morales and Castellanos-Juárez (6), the capsule endoscope retention rate in CD patients could reach around 5–6%. Therefore, clinicians should pay closer attention, as this can significantly impact these patients. Capsule endoscopy is a minimally invasive procedure that enables visualization of the entire small intestine mucosa in patients with known or suspected CD (7). The widespread use of capsule endoscopy has significantly compensated for the shortcomings of colonoscopy and enteroscopy. However, intestinal obstruction is recognized as one of the most common complications of CD, which increases the possibility of retention of the capsule endoscope in the gut (8). Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate intestinal cavity patency before swallowing capsule endoscopes. Rozendorn et al. (9) revealed that the ability of magnetic resonance enterography (MRE) to predict capsule endoscope retention in patients with CD is relatively significant. The sensitivity and specificity for the predictions by two radiologists were 92.3, 59% and 100, 52.3%, respectively. Minordi et al. (10) further uncovered that MRE provides a superior soft-tissue contrast resolution and a better visualization of the intestinal wall and its inflammatory and fibrotic characteristics. In addition, computed tomography enterography (CTE) is another well-established diagnostic technique for evaluating the intestinal cavity's patency. Therefore, capsule endoscopy should be used with caution in patients with CD complicated by bowel stenosis. In case 2, the primary cause of intestinal obstruction is the formation of trans-mesenteric internal hernia. According to the literature, the incidence of internal hernia is about  $0.2 \sim 0.9\%$ , accounting for  $0.6 \sim 5.8\%$  of all intestinal obstruction cases (11). Internal hernia frequently exhibits no characteristic clinical manifestations prior to the formation of intestinal obstruction, resulting in a low rate of diagnosis preoperatively. Moreover, closed intestinal loops can form quite easily, resulting in intestinal strangulation and necrosis. Patel et al. (12) concluded that when an internal hernia is complicated with acute intestinal obstruction, the mortality rate can reach up to 50%. Therefore, early detection and surgical intervention are critical for optimizing disease outcomes.

Medical treatment is frequently ineffective in CD patients who developed intestinal obstruction, and in both cases, the obstruction was eventually resolved through surgical intervention. Endoscopic intervention or surgical resection is primarily used to treat intestinal stenosis in CD. Endoscopic balloon dilation (EBD) is indicated when the length of strictures is  $\leq$  5 cm, non-angulated, with a sizeable intestinal cavity large enough to allow balloon dilators in the absence of contraindications such as the presence of fistula, abscess, or malignancy (13, 14). In addition, endoscopic stricturotomy (ES) is also an excellent choice when strictures are non-angulated, and the length of the narrowed intestinal cavity is short. Nan et al. (15) demonstrated that the reoperation rate following ES is significantly lower than that following EBD and that ES can result in a higher surgery-free survival rate. However, surgical resection is required when the length of the narrowed intestinal cavity is excessively long or when endoscopic therapy is contraindicated (16). Our department has treated a large number of patients with CD and has accumulated much surgical experience. The narrowed bowel was severed in both cases, and the small intestine cavity was also dilated using an ileus tube. The small intestine must be plicated when the segments of narrowed bowel are long, and the length of the small intestine is insufficient for intestine resection. Not only can plication of the small intestine be used to dilate the intestinal cavity, but it can also be used to prevent the development of adhesive ileus following surgery.

## REFERENCES

- Kong C, Yan X, Liu Y, Huang L, Zhu Y, He J, et al. Ketogenic diet alleviates colitis by reduction of colonic group 3 innate lymphoid cells through altering gut microbiome. *Signal Transduct Target Ther.* (2021) 6:154. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00 549-9
- Roda G, Chien Ng S, Kotze PG, Argollo M, Panaccione R, Spinelli A, et al. Crohn's disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2020) 6:22. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-0156-2
- Ward MC, Studer B, Nora I, Seepaulsing N, Loewe C. Primary sclerosing cholangitis in Crohn's disease: an atypical complication. *Cureus.* (2021) 13:e14964. doi: 10.7759/cureus.14964
- Cushing K, Higgins PDR. Management of Crohn disease: a review. JAMA. (2021) 325:69–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.18936

Notably, our department emphasizes minimally invasive surgery, putting the concept of enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) into practice. By minimizing pain, hospital stay, and adhesion formation, minimally invasive surgical options have significantly reduced postoperative morbidity (17). Our team recently published a retrospective study confirming the safety and efficacy of laparoscopic minimally invasive surgery as a viable alternative therapeutic option for patients with CD (18).

In conclusion, there are numerous CD cases complicated by intestinal obstruction, and surgery is the mainstay modality to relieve the obstruction. As surgeons, we should thus choose individualized and minimally invasive options that will result in long-term benefits for CD patients.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Shanghai Tenth People's Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individuals for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KX: disease diagnosis and treatment, collection of cases, and draft manuscript. RG, XW, and YR: disease diagnosis and treatment, collection of cases, and revise manuscript. JW, TW, FW, YL, LY, and CC: disease diagnosis and treatment, and revise manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Lin XX, Qiu Y, Zhuang XJ, Liu F, Wu XM, Chen MH, et al. Intestinal stricture in Crohn's disease: a 2020 update. J Dig Dis. (2021) 22:390–8. doi: 10.1111/ 1751-2980.13022
- Guevara-Morales GR, Castellanos-Juárez JC. Bowel obstruction due to video capsule endoscopy in a patient with Crohn's disease. *Cir Cir.* (2019) 87:48–52. doi: 10.24875/CIRU.19000710
- Cheifetz AS, Kornbluth AA, Legnani P, Schmelkin I, Brown A, Lichtiger S, et al. The risk of retention of the capsule endoscope in patients with known or suspected Crohn's disease. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2006) 101:2218–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00761.x
- Herle K, Jehangir S. Retained wireless capsule endoscope in a girl with suspected Crohn's disease. APSP J Case Rep. (2016) 7:27. doi: 10.21699/ajcr. v7i4.466
- 9. Rozendorn N, Klang E, Lahat A, Yablecovitch D, Kopylov U, Eliakim A, et al. Prediction of patency capsule retention in known Crohn's disease patients

by using magnetic resonance imaging. *Gastrointest Endosc.* (2016) 83:182–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.05.048

- Minordi LM, Bevere A, Papa A, Larosa L, Manfredi R. CT and MRI evaluations in Crohn's complications: a guide for the radiologist. *Acad Radiol.* (2021). doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2021.07.025 [Epub ahead of print].
- Genser L, Vaillant JC, Siksik JM. Internal hernia after omega loop gastric bypass: beware of ischemic stenosis of small intestine. J Visc Surg. (2019) 156:465–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2019.02.003
- Patel J, Hamedi A, Khalil M, El-Bahri J. Congenital internal hernia: rare cause of acute abdominal pain. *Case Rep Gastroenterol.* (2021) 15:791–4. doi: 10.1159/000518293
- Bettenworth D, Gustavsson A, Atreja A, Lopez R, Tysk C, van Assche G, et al. A pooled analysis of efficacy, safety, and long-term outcome of endoscopic balloon dilation therapy for patients with stricturing Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2017) 23:133–42. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000088
- Chen M, Shen B. Endoscopic therapy in Crohn's disease: principle, preparation, and technique. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2015) 21:2222–40. doi: 10. 1097/MIB.00000000000433
- Nan LM, Stocchi L, Delaney CP, Hull TL, Shen B. Endoscopic stricturotomy versus ileocolonic resection in the treatment of ileocolonic anastomotic strictures in Crohn's disease. *Gastrointest Endosc.* (2019) 90:259–68. doi: 10. 1016/j.gie.2019.01.021
- Rieder F, Latella G, Magro F, Yuksel ES, Higgins PD, Di Sabatino A, et al. European Crohn's and colitis organisation topical review on prediction, diagnosis and management of fibrostenosing Crohn's Disease. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2016) 10:873–85. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw055

- Schwartzberg DM, Remzi FH. The role of laparoscopic, robotic, and open surgery in uncomplicated and complicated inflammatory Bowel disease. *Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am.* (2019) 29:563–76. doi: 10.1016/j.giec.2019.02. 012
- Wan J, Liu C, Yuan XQ, Yang MQ, Wu XC, Gao RY, et al. Laparoscopy for Crohn's disease: a comprehensive exploration of minimally invasive surgical techniques. *World J Gastrointest Surg.* (2021) 13:1190–201. doi: 10.4240/wjgs. v13.i10.1190

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xia, Gao, Wu, Ruan, Wan, Wu, Wang, Lin, Yin and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


## The Impact of Intestinal Ultrasound on the Management of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: From Established Facts Toward New Horizons

Olga Maria Nardone<sup>1†</sup>, Giulio Calabrese<sup>2†</sup>, Anna Testa<sup>2</sup>, Anna Caiazzo<sup>2</sup>, Giuseppe Fierro<sup>2</sup>, Antonio Rispo<sup>2</sup> and Fabiana Castiglione<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Public Health, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Fabiana Zingone, University of Padua, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Raffaele Pellegrino, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Brigida Barberio, University of Padua, Italy Ambrogio Orlando, Azienda Ospedaliera Ospedali Riuniti Villa Sofia Cervello, Italy

> \***Correspondence:** Fabiana Castiglione fabcasti@unina.it

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 17 March 2022 Accepted: 25 April 2022 Published: 23 May 2022

#### Citation:

Nardone OM, Calabrese G, Testa A, Caiazzo A, Fierro G, Rispo A and Castiglione F (2022) The Impact of Intestinal Ultrasound on the Management of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: From Established Facts Toward New Horizons. Front. Med. 9:898092. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.898092 Intestinal ultrasound (IUS) plays a crucial role as a non-invasive and accurate tool to diagnose and assess inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The rationale for using IUS in Crohn's disease (CD), a transmural disease, is widely acknowledged. While the use of IUS in ulcerative colitis (UC), a mucosal disease, is often underestimated, but, recently, it is increasingly expanding. In the context of a treat-to-target approach, the role of IUS is shifting toward a monitoring tool for predicting response to therapy. Hence, adjusting therapeutic strategies based on IUS response could reduce the burden related to endoscopy and speed the decision process with the ultimate goal to alter the natural course of IBD. Assessment of bowel wall thickness (BWT) is the most reliable IUS measure. However, the development of validated and reproducible sonographic scores to measure disease activity and the identification of parameters of therapeutic response remain relevant issues to implement the daily adoption of IUS in clinical practice. Accordingly, this review focuses on the current literature investigating the impact of IUS on CD with emphasis on the concept of transmural healing (TH) and the main related advantages. We further explore new insights on the role of IUS in UC and its clinical implications.

Keywords: transmural healing, transmural remission, Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, noninvasive monitoring, intestinal ultrasound

## **INTRODUCTION**

Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) belong to inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). These are chronic, progressive, and disabling diseases whose incidence has dramatically increased during the last 20 years, impacting on the quality of life, social functioning and psychological health (1–3).

Crohn's disease potentially affects any part of the gastrointestinal tract with three different phenotypes (non-stricturing/non-penetrating, stricturing, and penetrating) (4), and it is characterized by a progressive and transmural involvement of the mucosa that may require intestinal resection for patients with complications or those with intractable disease (5).

Ulcerative colitis is usually limited to the mucosal layer and involves the colon starting from the rectum in a continuous manner (6). It has been shown that extensive, severe disease at diagnosis

and early need for corticosteroids are the main factors significantly associated with a higher risk of colectomy ranging from 1 to 5% at 1 year and from 3 to 8% at 5 years after diagnosis (7).

In recent decades, the clinical management of IBD has significantly evolved, moving from a clinical-based strategy toward a concept of "*deep remission*" with the final intent to reduce structural damage, prevent disease progression and improve long-term outcomes for patients.

The Selecting Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (STRIDE) represented a turning point in the medical strategy of IBD. In 2015, the International Organization for the Study of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IOIBD) first introduced the concept of *treat-to-target strategy and tight monitoring* (8). Since then, the expanding use of immune modulators and the advent of monoclonal antibodies driven against tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha), interleukin-12/23 (IL-12/23), and integrins on the leukocytes surface have made possible to go beyond these conventional treatment goals of the STRIDE toward more ambitious targets. In addition, new advanced non-invasive tools are becoming widely available, providing new opportunities for tight monitoring.

In this scenario, the STRIDE II updated the STRIDE by introducing new additional targets, such as serum and fecal biomarkers, normalization of quality of life, and prevention of disability. Furthermore, transmural healing (TH) in CD and histologic remission in UC have been recognized as adjunct measures with the assumption that deep remission implicates better outcomes (9).

The utility of intestinal ultrasound (IUS) in the assessment of CD is well established (10, 11), while the literature surrounding its use in UC remains questioned. In the context of a "treat-to-target" strategy and close monitoring, IUS plays a crucial role due to its non-invasiveness. In addition, it has been further recognized as a reliable tool for detecting therapeutic responses as it offers notable advantages with respect to endoscopy in terms of cost, safety profile, and lack of bowel preparation (12, 13).

This narrative review aimed to discuss the recent advances of IUS in the management of IBD, starting from the current evidence in CD and focusing on the concept of TH and its clinical implication, to the expanding role in UC.

## **METHODS**

## **Search Strategy and Selection Criteria**

A literature search using the PubMed database from January 2000 to March 2022 was made by two independent reviewers (OMN and GC). The search used the following terms: "transmural healing" or "transmural remission" or "radiological remission" and "Crohn's disease" or "ulcerative colitis" or "inflammatory bowel disease" and "fecal calprotectin" or "non-invasive markers" and "bowel sonography" or "intestinal ultrasound" and "post-operative recurrence."

We screened the title and abstract of 12,798 articles, followed by a full-text analysis of relevant articles. Of these, a total of 41 articles were considered suitable. We selected randomized controlled studies, prospective or retrospective cohort studies, and systematic reviews with meta-analysis and excluded duplications, abstracts and studies in languages other than English. For each study, we collected authors, journal, country, number of enrolled patients, the definition of TH, clinical outcomes, time of follow-up, TH response rate, TH assessment method, IUS accuracy for post-operative recurrence diagnosis, IUS accuracy, and correlation with non-invasive markers.

## RESULTS

## **Cross-Sectional Imaging for Detecting Transmural Healing**

Intestinal ultrasound has become an integral part of IBD clinical management in recent years since it accurately determines disease extent, severity, and response to medical therapy (11).

Bowel wall thickness (BWT) of the mucosal and submucosal layers is the most relevant IUS parameter to detect intestinal inflammation. However, additional IUS parameters of transmural activity include increased echogenicity of the submucosal layer, an amplified color Doppler signal indicative of increased vascularity, and proliferation of mesenteric fat (11). Several meta-analyses have investigated the diagnostic accuracy of cross-sectional imaging methods, i.e., magnetic resonance enterography (MRE), CT enterography (CTE), and IUS and they found high accuracy as well as a high agreement between all these tools without any significant differences (14-17). Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that IUS and MRE are radiation-free methods and, thus, a clear advantage is that patients might have less radiationrelated risk. However, choosing one examination rather than another one could depend on the operators' availability, expertise, costs and times required to do these procedures.

In a pioneering study in 2013, our group (18) evaluated the diagnostic accuracy of IUS and MRE to diagnose small bowel CD. We showed that MRE outperformed IUS in defining CD extension (r = 0.71). The agreement between both the techniques was high in terms of disease location (k = 0.81), while MRE had a fair concordance with IUS for strictures (k = 0.71) and abscesses (k = 0.88), and it showed better detection of entero-enteric fistulas (k = 0.67).

Subsequently, in 2017, the same group confirmed a high agreement between IUS and MRE for assessing TH (k = 0.90; p < 0.001) (19).

Furthermore, Allocca et al. (17), in a single centre study, including 60 patients, analyzed the accuracy of IUS vs. MRE combined with colonoscopy for assessing localization, increased vascular signal at power Doppler, disease activity (ulcers at colonoscopy) and complications (strictures, fistulas and abscesses). Notably, IUS could be a useful tool for detecting ulcers in patients with CD, since it showed a diagnostic accuracy of 91% for localization of disease and 96% for ulcerations. Concerning the complications, they reported diagnostic accuracy of 81% for strictures, 98% for fistulas, and 96% for abscesses.

Similarly, a large randomized controlled trial conducted in eight United Kingdom hospitals (15) compared the accuracy between MRE and IUS for assessing CDs presence, extension and activity. Notably, they reported significantly higher sensitivity and specificity of MRE for small bowel extent and higher sensitivity for disease presence in respect of IUS. Furthermore, when they evaluated the diagnostic accuracy for colonic disease, they found no significant difference (consistently lower than for small bowel disease) between MRE and IUS, although the latter had greater sensitivity than MRE in newly diagnosed patients (15).

In an attempt to facilitate reliable IUS identification of CD activity, a recent expert consensus through a Delphi method identified four IUS key parameters of inflammation: BWT, bowel wall stratification, hyperemia of the wall assessed by using color Doppler imaging, and inflammatory mesenteric fat. These four variables were included in the final International Bowel Ultrasound Segmental Activity Score (IBUS-SAS) with almost perfect reliability [intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) 0.97 0.95–0.99, p < 0.001]. Significantly, all of them could predict overall disease activity, but BWT and i-fat are required to predict overall disease severity (20).

## Transmural Healing – Toward a Standardized Definition

Based on IUS, TH was defined as a BWT less than or equal to 3 mm (18, 19, 21–29). However, some studies used other sonographic features for full and comprehensive characterization. The several definitions of TH are shown in **Table 1**.

For instance, Civitelli et al. (27) added the complete normalization of vascularization assessed by using Doppler US, normal bowel wall stratification, absence of mesenteric fat hypertrophy, nodes enlargement, and disease complications (i.e., strictures, fistulas). Ma et al. (26) used these same features to define TH.

Calabrese et al. (24) defined TH as the normalization of all the IUS parameters, such as BWT less than or equal to 3 mm, Limberg score normalization, normal wall stratification and absence of mesenteric fat hypertrophy, nodes enlargement, and disease complications (i.e., strictures, fistulas).

More recently, Helwig et al. (25) introduced three definitions of TH: simplified TH, extended TH, and complete TH. The first one accounts for BWT and Doppler features normalization; the second one included BWT normalization and the evaluation of at least two parameters among Doppler US normalization, normal wall stratification, and the absence of fibro-fatty proliferation. Finally, the third definition included the normalization of all four parameters.

# Clinical Implications of Transmural Healing

Several studies showed that the achievement of TH in CD had been associated with significant improvements in clinical outcomes, hospitalization rates, corticosteroid-free remission, treatment intensification, and need for surgery (**Table 2**).

The relationship between clinical remission (CR) and TH has been investigated in five studies; three studies found a significant correlation between TH achievement and CR (22, 24, 25). In a prospective multi-centre longitudinal study conducted by Ripollés et al. (22), 51 patients with CD who underwent therapy with anti-tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) drugs were followed at 12 and 52 weeks. A total of 29 (56.9%) patients reported an improvement or normalization of sonographic features at 52 weeks and 28 out of 29 (96.5%) patients showed clinical remission according to the Harvey–Bradshaw Index (HBI) (HBI < 5 for remission) or response (HBI decrease > 3). Hence, there was a significant relationship between sonographic response after 12 weeks predicted clinical response at 1 year, since patients without sonographic improvement were more likely to have a change or intensification in medication or surgery during the year of follow-up.

In a cohort study conducted by our group (19), 80 patients with CD were prospectively enrolled and followed-up for 2 years to assess the rate of TH after starting anti-TNF-alpha therapy.

Overall, 10 out of 40 patients achieved TH (25%) after 2 years. It is noteworthy that there was a good agreement between mucosal healing and TH assessed by IUS (k = 0.63, p < 0.001) and by MRE (k = 0.64, p < 0.001). All the patients who achieved TH were in CR even though the agreement between TH and CR was poor (k = 0.27; P < 0.01).

Subsequently, the same Italian group prospectively analyzed the clinical implications of achieving TH and compared them with those in patients with only mucosal healing or no healing. Overall, 218 patients completed a 2-year treatment with anti-TNF-alpha. A total of 68 (31.2%) patients reached TH measured with BWT  $\leq$  3 mm at IUS and mucosal healing, while 60 (27.5%) patients had mucosal healing. Importantly, patients who reached TH had a higher rate of steroid-free clinical remission (95.6%), lower rates of hospitalization (8.8%), and need for surgery (0%) at 1 year compared to those who had mucosal healing (75, 28.3, and 10%, respectively) and no healing (41, 66.6, and 35.5%, respectively) (P < 0.001). Furthermore, TH was linked to longer intervals until clinical relapse [hazard ratio (HR) 0.87, P = 0.01], hospitalization (HR 0.88, P = 0.002), and surgery (HR 0.94, P = 0.008) than mucosal healing (21).

Similar evidence comes from a study by Zorzi F et al. wherein patients who achieved transmural remission after anti-TNFalpha treatment did not require surgery, needed fewer steroids, and showed reduced hospitalization rates at 18 months (28).

Furthermore, in a prospective Spanish study, including 36 patients, TH assessed with IUS in the week before starting anti-TNF-alpha treatment, at 12 weeks and 1 year later, was significantly related to better clinical outcomes, i.e., no need to re-introduce corticosteroids or intensify maintenance therapy and/or need for surgery (23).

Notably in a prospective observational study, Orlando et al. (29) assessed the role of ultrasound elasticity imaging in predicting therapeutic outcomes in 30 patients with CD who underwent IUS and ultrasound elasticity imaging at baseline, 12 weeks, and 52 weeks. A BWT < 3 mm was used to define TH. Bowel wall stiffness was evaluated through the strain ratio between the mesenteric tissue and the bowel wall. Severe ileal fibrosis was defined by a strain ratio  $\geq$ 2. Eight out of 30 patients achieved TH at 14 weeks during the follow-up and one

#### TABLE 1 | Definitions of transmural healing (TH).

References and number of patients	Definition of transmural healing based on IUS
Castiglione et al. (18), ( $n = 133$ )	BWT ≤ 3 mm
Ripollés et al. (22), ( $n = 51$ )	$BWT \leq 3 \text{ mm}$
Civitelli et al. (27), ( $n = 32$ )	BWT $\leq$ 3 mm and other IUS features
Castiglione et al. (19), $(n = 40)$	BWT $\leq$ 3 mm plus absence of hypervascularisation signs
Orlando et al. (29), (n = 30)	$BWT \le 3 \text{ mm}$
Paredes et al. (23), ( $n = 36$ )	BWT $\leq$ 3 and 0–1 doppler scale
Castiglione et al. (21), ( $n = 218$ )	$BWT \leq 3 \text{ mm}$
Zorzi et al. (28), (n = 80)	$BWT \leq 3 mm$
Ma et al. (26), (n = 77)	$BWT \leq 3 \text{ mm}$ and normalization of stratification, no hypervascularisation, resolution of mesenteric inflammatory fat, and no complications (IUS)
Calabrese et al. (24), (n = 188)	BWT $\leq$ 3 mm ileum/4 mm for colon, normal Limberg score and no complications
Helwig et al. (25), (n = 137)	BWT and Color-Doppler normalization, no loss of stratification and no fibro fatty proliferation

BWT, bowel wall thickness; IUS, intestinal ultrasound.

TABLE 2 | Relationship between transmural healing and clinical outcomes in patients with Crohn's disease (CD).

References	ces Country Clinical outcomes wi		Time of follow-up	TH response rate	TH assessment method		
Castiglione et al. (18), $(n = 133)$	Italy	CR: CDAI < 150 (poor agreement)	2 уо	25%	IUS		
Ripollés et al. (22), (n = 51)	Spain	CR: HBI $< 5 (p = 0.001)$	12 w–1 yo	29.5%	IUS		
Castiglione et al. (19), $(n = 40)$	Italy	CR: CDAI < 150 (poor agreement)	2 уо	25%	IUS/MRE		
Orlando et al. (29), (n = 30)	Italy	Surgery ( $p = 0.003$ )	14 w – 1 yo	30%	IUS		
Paredes et al. (23), ( <i>n</i> = 36)	Spain	Steroid use; hospital admission; surgery (global $\rho = 0.001)$	12 w	42.4%	IUS		
Castiglione et al. (21), ( <i>n</i> = 218)	Italy	Corticoid free remission ( $\rho < 0.01$ ); longer time to clinical relapse ( $\rho = 0.01$ ); surgery ( $\rho < 0.001$ ); hospital admission ( $\rho < 0.001$ ); need for drug escalation ( $\rho < 0.001$ ); switch/swap therapy ( $\rho < 0.01$ ); Clinical outcomes in patients on biologics withdrawal ( $\rho < 0.001$ )	12 w	31.2%	IUS		
Zorzi et al. (28), (n = 80)	Italy	Need of hospitalization ( $\rho = 0.005$ ); need for steroids $\rho = 0.007$ ; surgery ( $\rho = 0.004$ )					
Ma et al. (26), ( <i>n</i> = 77)	China	Corticoid free remission ( $\rho < 0.001$ ); drug escalation ( $\rho = 0.003$ ); hospital admission ( $\rho = 0.005$ ); surgery ( $\rho = 0.03$ )	12–42 mo	32%	IUS		
Calabrese et al. (24), $(n = 188)$	Italy	HBI < 5 (p = 0.002)	12 mo	31.2%	IUS		
Helwig et al. (25), (n = 137)	Germany	HBI < 5 (p = 0.001)	12 w	43%	IUS		

TH, transmural healing; CR, clinical remission; CDAI, Crohn's Disease Activity Index; HBI, Harvey-Bradshaw Index; yo, years; m, months; w, weeks; IUS, intestinal ultrasound; SICUS, small intestine contrast ultrasonography; MRE, magnetic resonance enterography.

patient achieved TH at 52 weeks. Regarding clinical outcome, the frequency of surgery was significantly higher in patients with a strain ratio  $\geq 2$  groups than in <2 groups (p = 0.003).

A prospective, longitudinal cohort study (26) conducted in a single tertiary hospital in China investigated the impact of TH assessed with IUS on long-term positive outcomes compared to mucosal healing. Both the mucosal healing and TH were associated with better long-term outcomes based on the univariate analysis, while in the multi-variate analysis, TH was an independent predictor of steroid-free CR [odds ratio (OR), 52.6; p < 0.001], drug escalation (OR, 0.1; p = 0.002), and hospitalization (OR, 0.05; p = 0.005). More recently, Helwig et al. (25), in a *post hoc* analysis, including 351 patients with IBD belonging to multi-centre studies such as the TRUST and the TRUST&UC, confirmed the positive association between TH and clinical outcomes. Indeed, patients with CD who achieved TH were more likely to reach clinical remission at week 12 [odds ratio (OR), 3.33 (1.09–10.2); p = 0.044].

With the aim of measuring therapeutic response, Allocca et al. (30) have proposed an ultrasound score [bowel ultrasound score (BUS)] to best predict the endoscopic activity of CD. It included the following parameters: BWT; bowel wall pattern; bowel wall flow, vascular signals at color Doppler; stricture, fistula, abscess, enlarged mesenteric lymph nodes (short axis >5 mm) and mesenteric hypertrophy. These features have been evaluated for each intestinal segment affected by the disease. The worst segment was selected and used for the BUS calculation. A score of <3.52 was considered predictive of disease remission.

## Clinical Application of Intestinal Ultrasound for Detecting Post-operative Crohn's Disease Recurrence

The application of IUS in post-surgical CD recurrence has become an essential part of disease monitoring, despite colonoscopy being still considered the gold standard for detecting post-operative recurrence (POR) (31, 32). Early therapeutic intervention is paramount to prevent disease recurrence, as recently suggested (33). However, patients not easily accept and are often reluctant to undergo colonoscopy only a few months after surgery. In this context, IUS could be a surrogate tool to guide early therapeutic strategies and, thereby, the right timing to perform colonoscopy. Several studies have investigated the correlation of IUS and colonoscopy during the first year after CD surgery. A prospective study conducted by our group (34) showed that IUS and small intestine contrast ultrasound (SICUS) had a sensitivity of 77 and 82%, respectively, and they both had a specificity of 94% for POR detection. Subsequently, in a study cohort of 72 patients with CD, Calabrese et al. (35) found a good correlation between BWT (BWT > 3 mm considered predictive of disease recurrence) assessed by SICUS and the Rutgeerts score (RS) (RS  $\geq$  i2 indicating endoscopic recurrence) at colonoscopy (P < 0.0001; r = 0.67). The same group in 2013 (36) confirmed a good correlation between SICUS and CTE in detecting BWT (k = 0.79) and disease extent (k = 0.89; p < 0.0001), supporting the use of SICUS in routine clinical practice.

In a 5-year experience conducted on 40 post-operative patients with CD, Onali et al. (37, 38) reported the usefulness of IUS for 1-year POR assessment; even though, SICUS was not predictive of clinical recurrence at 4 and 5 years. Subsequently, a meta-analysis (39), including 536 patients, observed a good pooled sensitivity and specificity of IUS for POR detection (sensitivity = 0.94; specificity = 0.84). Of note, a BWT  $\geq$  5.5 mm was predictive of severe endoscopic POR (Rutgeerts score > i3), so it could be reasonable to manage therapeutic escalation and decisions based on these IUS findings. However, it is noteworthy that colonoscopy cannot be avoided even in patients with a low risk of POR with BWT < 5.5 mm.

More recently, a retrospective study (40), including 201 post-operative patients with CD followed for a median of 7.6 years, showed that IUS recurrence (defined as either anastomotic BWT > 4 mm or new abdominal complication) predicted surgical recurrence, i.e., new major abdominal surgery or symptoms not controlled by medical treatments, while endoscopic recurrence was not predictive of late clinical recurrence (after 36 months) and, thus lacks prognostic value.

Carmona et al. (41) conducted a retrospective observational study on 31 patients with CD who previously underwent ileocecal resection. They found a sensitivity and specificity of 100% and 86.6% for BWT of 3.4 mm with the area under the receiver operating characteristic (AUROC) curve of 92.9%. Based on these findings, IUS represents a feasible and reliable alternative to colonoscopy, especially in early stage of surgery.

Further non-invasive methods such as faecal calprotectin (FC) have been shown to be accurate for the assessment of POR. In a prospective cohort study, Lopes et al. (42) reported a good correlation between increased FC and POR based on modified Rutgeerts score (MRS – MRS > i2b defining POR). Of note, the AUROC for FC cut-off value of 100  $\mu$ g/g was 0.831 (p < 0.05).

In a systematic review by Tham et al. (43), FC 150  $\mu$ g/g was considered the best cut-off value for predicting POR (defined as a RS > i2) with a pooled sensitivity and specificity of 70% and 69%.

However, large prospective studies are needed to determine how IUS can be collocated in the algorithm of POR and explore the magnitude of benefit of combined IUS and FC for detecting POR and establishing an optimal FC threshold.

## Clinical Application of Intestinal Ultrasound Combined to Non-invasive Markers

In recent years, we have seen the advent of a new era of noninvasive monitoring of IBD.

The use of biomarkers, such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and FC, is more and more expanding in clinical practice. CRP is the most widely used inflammatory marker and it has been shown a strong correlation with CD activity, while less correlation with UC.

A possible explanation could be that in UC, the inflammation is limited to the mucosa unless very severe, whereas, in CD, it is extended to all the bowel wall layers (44). However, CRP normalization does not predict a complete clinical and endoscopic remission (45–47).

The correlation between CRP levels and TH was investigated in 2013 by our group (18) in a longitudinal observational study, including patients with CD. There was a good concordance between TH and CRP levels (k = 0.79; p = 0.02). Subsequently, these results were confirmed in 2017 (19) (k = 0.77; p = 0.02).

Despite practical concerns about variability, lack of standardized cut-off for disease activity and patients' reluctance to collect stool samples serially, FC is now routinely used in clinical practice for monitoring disease activity and response to medication (45, 48).

The trial "Effect of Tight Control Management on Crohn's Disease (CALM)" has paved the way for tight monitoring, including FC measurement (49). When compared with patients in the standard of care group, the treat-to-target group achieved better outcomes, such as mucosal healing, deep remission, and less need for steroids.

Weinstein-Nakar first explored the diagnostic accuracy of FC for predicting deep remission assessed by MRE in a pediatric population. A cohort of 243 patients showed that FC had the AUROC 0.93–0.94 for predicting deep healing, defined as mucosal healing [Simple Endoscopic Score-CD (SES-CD) 0–2] plus TH on MRE. Deep healing resulted in lower FC levels [median 10  $\mu$ g/g, interquartile range (IQR) 10–190] than endoscopic healing or TH alone, with optimal cut-offs of

300  $\mu$ g/g and 100  $\mu$ g/g for mucosal healing and deep healing, respectively (50).

In a retrospective study, 268 Korean patients diagnosed with CD and treated with anti-TNF-alpha agents underwent colonoscopy, radiological assessment and FC measurement in 3 months. They found that an FC cut-point level of 81.1 mg/kg predicted deep healing, defined as the combination of endoscopic and radiological healing, with a sensitivity of 0.623 and a specificity of 0.817 (AUROC, 0.767; 95% CI, 0.702–0.832). The fecal calprotectin AUROC increased to 0.805 when serum albumin and CRP were added to the evaluation (95% CI, 0.752–0.858) (51).

However, there are limited data about IUS and FC. Calabrese et al. (24) explored the correlation between TH and combined CRP and FC. They found that a significant (p < 0.002) proportion of patients achieving TH had clinical remission and normalization of CRP and FC assessed by using qualitative measurement at 3, 6, and 12 months compared to the baseline.

In the *post hoc* analysis of the TRUST study (25), patients with CD who achieved TH at week 12 reported improved CRP and FC levels, even though this was not significant compared with patients without TH, defined as no IUS improvements.

With regards to UC, Maaser et al. (52), in the prospective, observational TRUST&UC study conducted at 42 German IBD-specialized centres, found that an FC normalization (intended as a value >250  $\mu$ g/g becoming <250  $\mu$ g/g at week 12) positively correlates to a BWT normalization in sigmoid (*p* = 0.023) and descending colon (*p* = 0.029).

Furthermore, in a single Italian study, Allocca et al. (53) investigated the diagnostic accuracy of IUS and/or FC compared with colonoscopy (CS) in assessing endoscopic activity. The sensitivity and specificity of BWT > 3 mm or FC > 101  $\mu$ g/g was 100 and 53%, respectively, for endoscopic disease activity, while when taken into account together, they resulted in a sensitivity of 84 and specificity of 93%.

Regardless, more studies are awaited to integrate IUS, CRP, and FC into the definition of deep healing.

## Intestinal Ultrasound and Ulcerative Colitis: Ready for Use?

The application of IUS in UC is less well established since endoscopic evaluation and histology have been considered the critical stakeholders for assessing disease extent and severity.

However, in the setting of tight monitoring, IUS has become the focus of current intense study (54), even in UC, due to the need for non-invasive, easily available tools.

Growing evidence suggests that its use is reliable, objective and well accepted because it could reduce the need for colonoscopy with related risks, potential complications, sedation, and bowel preparation.

Currently, the role of IUS in UC could be to evaluate disease activity and disease extension.

Assessment of BWT is the most reliable IUS measure. A recent expert panel identified several key IUS features complementary to the bowel wall thickness, such as parietal blood flow, Doppler signal, wall layer stratification, and fatty wrapping. They further assessed the reliability of IUS parameters among expert sonographers, and it is noteworthy that inter-observer agreement was almost perfect for BWT [intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC): 0.96] and substantial for color Doppler signs ( $\kappa = 0.63$ ) (55).

Several studies found also differences between different colonic segments and the other age groups of patients (56). Maaser et al. (52), in the TRUST&UC study, identified a threshold of 4 mm for the sigmoid colon and 3 mm for descending, transverse, and ascending colons for defining active disease. In a prospective multi-centric study, Kinoshita et al. (54) described four grades of severity according to the presence of the following features: the first one consisted of normal wall colonic thickness; the second one consisted of thickened mucosa and sub-mucosa without hypoechoic change of the sub-mucosa; the third one consisted of bowel wall thickness with loss of stratification; the last one consisted of bowel wall thickness with loss of stratification and irregular mucosa.

Regarding UC extension, the overall accuracy of IUS in terms of BWT has been acceptable compared to endoscopy. In addition, when BWT was combined to color Doppler assessment, the accuracy increased, and it has been reported around 95% across all the bowel segments measured.

A recent systematic review highlights a significant heterogeneity between all the IUS measures for assessing disease activity and identified that increased BWT and detection of increased blood flow by color Doppler were the most often applied criteria for disease activity and distribution (56).

In a prospective observational study, including 53 patients with UC, Allocca et al. (53) reported that BWT > 3 mm, hypoechogenicity, a signal on power Doppler, and lymphadenopathy correlated with endoscopic disease activity. Based on them, a score consisting of BWT > 3 mm plus vascularity or flow within the colonic wall or BWT > 4.43 mm alone without vascular signal was built. This score had a sensitivity of 0.71 and a specificity of 1.00 in assessing disease activity and inter-observer agreement was excellent ( $\kappa = 0.86$ ) so it has been recently validated under the name 'Milan ultrasound criteria (MUC)' (57) in a cohort of 98 patients with UC. Importantly, there was a strong correlation between MUC and the Mayo Endoscopic Score (MES) at baseline (p = 0.653; p < 0.001). In addition, a baseline MUC > 6.2 was predictive of a negative disease course (HR: 3.87, 95% CI: 2.25-6.64, p < 0.001), while patients with MUC < 6.2 had a significantly lower cumulative probability of treatment escalation, need of corticosteroids, hospitalization, and colectomy (58).

Similarly, Bots et al. (59) developed and internally validated, in 60 patients with UC, a new index for grading disease activity, using endoscopy with MES as the reference standard. Based on this index, a BWT > 2.1 mm discriminated between remission (MES 0) and mild (MES 1) endoscopic activity, while a cut-off of 3.2 mm distinguished between mild and moderate endoscopic activity (MES 0–1 vs. MES 2–3) and, finally, a BWT > 3.9 mm correlated with severe endoscopic activity. The other parameters included in this score were an enhanced color Doppler signal and a lack of haustrations, both predicting disease activity. In addition, fat wrapping was predictive of severe disease. The TRUST&UC study (52) has shown that BWT correlates with disease clinical activity scores measured using the Simple Clinical Colitis Activity Index (SCCAI) at the beginning of a flare and after 12 weeks of therapy. High BWT (> 4 mm in the sigmoid colon and > 3 mm in the other segments) and the Doppler signal were observed at the time of diagnosis and over 12 weeks (at 2, 6, and 12 weeks). Loss of haustration, loss of wall stratification, ascites, lymphadenopathy, and mesenteric fat proliferation were further evaluated during follow-up. It is noteworthy that the percentage of patients with high BWT changed significantly over time from baseline to 12 weeks after starting therapy and BWT at week 2 predicted the response to medical treatment followed by the SCCAI.

Kinoshita et al. (54) performed the first prospective multicentric study to compare US with colonoscopy for assessing UC. They found a significant overall correlation between US and colonoscopy in all the colonic segments (k = 0.55; p < 0.001) and the concordance for each colonic segment was moderate, whereas, for the rectum, it was poor.

The poor diagnostic accuracy of IUS for detecting inflammation in the rectum in patients with UC was further confirmed by a recent meta-analysis (60). Good sensitivity and specificity were reported for detecting active disease (when BWT > 3 mm) in the right and transverse colons. However, this accuracy decreased toward the rectum due to the rectum's deep position in the pelvis and to the small intestine gas distension.

Hence, IUS is not considered a reliable tool for assessing rectal disease. Sagami et al. (48) used the IUS combined with transperineal ultrasound (TPUS) and FC for active patients with UC who required colonoscopy as the gold standard to evaluate the rectum. BWT < 4 mm in TPUS was a significant independent predictor for rectal endoscopic and histologic healing (p < 0.05) and, notably, the predictability was better than FC. Thus, the authors proposed TPUS in combination with IUS to assess the whole colon (61).

## REFERENCES

- Kaplan GG, Windsor JW. The four epidemiological stages in the global evolution of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 18:56–66. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-00360-x
- Zhao M, Gönczi L, Lakatos PL, Burisch J. The burden of inflammatory bowel disease in europe in 2020. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis*. (2021) 15:1573–87. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab029
- Mak WY, Zhao M, Ng SC, Burisch J. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: east meets west. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2020) 35:380–9. doi: 10.1111/jgh.14872
- 4. Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Crohn's disease. Lancet. (2012) 380:1590-605.
- Gomollón F, Dignass A, Annese V, Tilg H, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, et al. 3rd European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease 2016: Part 1: diagnosis and medical management. *ECCOJC*. (2017) 11:3–25. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw168
- Ordás I, Eckmann L, Talamini M, Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Ulcerative colitis. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:1606–19.
- Conrad K, Roggenbuck D, Laass MW. Diagnosis and classification of ulcerative colitis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:463–6. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev. 2014.01.028
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Sandborn W, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Bemelman W, Bryant RV, et al. Selecting therapeutic targets in inflammatory bowel disease (STRIDE): determining therapeutic goals for treat-to-target. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 110:1324–38. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.233

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Current evidence suggests that IUS is shifting from a tool to diagnose IBD and simply discriminate active vs. inactive disease to a more complex, valid, and reliable instrument for closely monitoring patients with IBD and predicting therapeutic response.

Recent evidence supports that adjusting therapeutic approaches based on IUS parameters appear to be a reasonable strategy in CD. Indeed, assessing IUS findings after starting therapy could be crucial to establish the early response to treatment and speed up making clinical decisions.

The use of IUS in UC is still challenging, given that endoscopy and, more recently, histology remain the reference standard for assessing UC activity. However, based on the latest findings, it is time to include IUS in routine clinical management.

Developing IUS scores to determine disease activity and response to treatment is the next crucial step toward standardized IBD monitoring and expanding IUS adoption.

We strongly believe that in the next future, the full acknowledgment of the role of IUS in IBD could allow us to replace invasive assessment of endoscopic response/remission and thus reduce the psychological burden of colonoscopies on the patients.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

OMN and GC contributed to the conception, design, drafting, and revision of the manuscript. AT, AC, and GF contributed to the manuscript draft. AR critically reviewed the manuscript. FC contributed to the conception and critically reviewed the manuscript for important intellectual content and provided overall supervision. All authors have contributed to the article and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

- Turner D, Ricciuto A, Lewis A, D'Amico F, Dhaliwal J, Griffiths AM, et al. STRIDE-II: an update on the selecting therapeutic targets in inflammatory bowel disease (STRIDE) initiative of the international organization for the study of IBD (IOIBD): determining therapeutic goals for treat-to-target strategies in IBD. *Gastroenterology*. (2021) 160:1570–83. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2020.12.031
- Lafeuille P, Hordonneau C, Vignette J, Blayac L, Dapoigny M, Reymond M, et al. Transmural healing and MRI healing are associated with lower risk of bowel damage progression than endoscopic mucosal healing in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Therap.* (2021) 53:577–86. doi: 10.1111/apt.16232
- Geyl S, Guillo L, Laurent V, D'Amico F, Danese S, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Transmural healing as a therapeutic goal in Crohn's disease: a systematic review. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 6:659–67. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00096-0
- Fraquelli M, Castiglione F, Calabrese E, Maconi G. Impact of intestinal ultrasound on the management of patients with inflammatory bowel disease: how to apply scientific evidence to clinical practice. *Digest Liver Dis.* (2020) 52:9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2019.10.004
- Wilkens R, Novak KL, Maaser C, Panaccione R, Kucharzik T. Relevance of monitoring transmural disease activity in patients with Crohn's disease: current status and future perspectives. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2021) 14:175628482110066. doi: 10.1177/17562848211006672
- Rispo A, Imbriaco M, Celentano L, Cozzolino A, Camera L, Mainenti PP, et al. Noninvasive diagnosis of small bowel Crohn's disease: combined use of bowel sonography and Tc-99M-Hmpao leukocyte scintigraphy: inflammatory

bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis. (2005) 11:376-82. doi: 10.1097/01.mib. 0000164020.65106.84

- Taylor SA, Mallett S, Bhatnagar G, Baldwin-Cleland R, Bloom S, Gupta A, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of magnetic resonance enterography and small bowel ultrasound for the extent and activity of newly diagnosed and relapsed Crohn's disease (METRIC): a multicentre trial. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2018) 3:548–58. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30161-4
- Castiglione F, Mainenti PP, De Palma GD, Testa A, Bucci L, Pesce G, et al. Noninvasive diagnosis of small bowel Crohn's disease: direct comparison of bowel sonography and magnetic resonance enterography. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:991–8. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e3182802b87
- Allocca M, Fiorino G, Bonifacio C, Furfaro F, Gilardi D, Argollo M, et al. Comparative accuracy of bowel ultrasound versus magnetic resonance enterography in combination with colonoscopy in assessing Crohn's disease and guiding clinical decision-making. *J Crohns Colitis.* (2018) 12:1280–7. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy093
- Castiglione F, Testa A, Rea M, De Palma GD, Diaferia M, Musto D, et al. Transmural healing evaluated by bowel sonography in patients with Crohn's disease on maintenance treatment with biologics. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:1928–34. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e31829053ce
- Castiglione F, Mainenti P, Testa A, Imperatore N, De Palma GD, Maurea S, et al. Cross-sectional evaluation of transmural healing in patients with Crohn's disease on maintenance treatment with anti-TNF alpha agents. *Digest Liver Dis.* (2017) 49:484–9. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2017.02.014
- Novak KL, Nylund K, Maaser C, Petersen F, Kucharzik T, Lu C, et al. Expert Consensus on optimal acquisition and development of the international bowel ultrasound segmental activity score [IBUS-SAS]: a reliability and inter-rater variability study on intestinal ultrasonography in Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. (2021) 15:609–16. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa216
- Castiglione F, Imperatore N, Testa A, De Palma GD, Nardone OM, Pellegrini L, et al. One-year clinical outcomes with biologics in Crohn's disease: transmural healing compared with mucosal or no healing. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. (2019) 49:1026–39. doi: 10.1111/apt.15190
- 22. Ripollés T, Paredes JM, Martínez-Pérez MJ, Rimola J, Jauregui-Amezaga A, Bouzas R, et al. Ultrasonographic changes at 12 weeks of anti-TNF drugs predict 1-year sonographic response and clinical outcome in Crohn's disease: a multicenter study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2465–73. doi: 10.1097/MIB. 00000000000882
- Paredes JM, Moreno N, Latorre P, Ripollés T, Martinez MJ, Vizuete J, et al. Clinical impact of sonographic transmural healing after anti-TNF antibody treatment in patients with Crohn's disease. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2019) 64:2600–6. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05567-w
- Calabrese E, Rispo A, Zorzi F, De Cristofaro E, Testa A, Costantino G, et al. Ultrasonography tight control and monitoring in Crohn's disease during different biological therapies: a multicenter study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 20:e711–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.03.030
- Helwig U, Fischer I, Hammer L, Kolterer S, Rath S, Maaser C, et al. Transmural response and transmural healing defined by intestinal ultrasound: new potential therapeutic targets? *J Crohns Colitis.* (2022) 16:57–67. doi: 10. 1093/ecco-jcc/jjab106
- Ma L, Li W, Zhuang N, Yang H, Liu W, Zhou W, et al. Comparison of transmural healing and mucosal healing as predictors of positive long-term outcomes in Crohn's disease. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2021) 14:175628482110162. doi: 10.1177/17562848211016259
- Civitelli F, Nuti F, Oliva S, Di Nardo G, Murciano M, Messina L, et al. Looking beyond mucosal healing: effect of biologic therapy on transmural healing in pediatric Crohn's disease. *Digest Liver Dis.* (2014) 46:e84. doi: 10.1097/MIB. 00000000000897
- Zorzi F, Ghosh S, Chiaramonte C, Lolli E, Ventura M, Onali S, et al. Response assessed by ultrasonography as target of biological treatment for Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 18:2030–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019. 10.042
- Orlando S, Fraquelli M, Coletta M, Branchi F, Magarotto A, Conti CB, et al. Ultrasound elasticity imaging predicts therapeutic outcomes of patients with Crohn's disease treated with anti-tumour necrosis factor antibodies. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2018) 12:63–70. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx116
- 30. Allocca M, Craviotto V, Dell'Avalle C, Furfaro F, Zilli A, D'Amico F, et al. Bowel ultrasound score is accurate in assessing response to therapy in patients with

Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. (2022) 55:446-54. doi: 10.1111/apt. 16700

- Van Assche G, Dignass A, Panes J, Beaugerie L, Karagiannis J, Allez M, et al. The second european evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: definitions and diagnosis. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2010) 4:7–27. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.12.003
- Ma C, Moran GW, Benchimol EI, Targownik LE, Heitman SJ, Hubbard JN, et al. Surgical rates for Crohn's disease are decreasing: a population-based time trend analysis and validation study. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 112:1840–8. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.394
- Vuitton L, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Pharmacological prevention of postoperative recurrence in Crohn's disease. *Drugs.* (2020) 80:385–99. doi: 10.1007/s40265-020-01266-3
- Castiglione F, Bucci L, Pesce G, De Palma GD, Camera L, Cipolletta F, et al. Oral contrast-enhanced sonography for the diagnosis and grading of postsurgical recurrence of Crohn's disease. *Inflam Bowel Dis.* (2008) 14:1240– 5. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20469
- Calabrese E, Petruzziello C, Onali S, Condino G, Zorzi F, Pallone F, et al. Severity of postoperative recurrence in crohn's disease: correlation between endoscopic and sonographic findings. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2009) 15:1635–42. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20948
- 36. Calabrese E, Zorzi F, Onali S, Stasi E, Fiori R, Prencipe S, et al. Accuracy of Small-intestine contrast ultrasonography, compared with computed tomography enteroclysis, in characterizing lesions in patients with Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2013) 11:950–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013. 01.015
- 37. Onali S, Calabrese E, Petruzziello C, Zorzi F, Sica GS, Lolli E, et al. Endoscopic vs ultrasonographic findings related to Crohn's disease recurrence: a prospective longitudinal study at 3years. J Crohns Colitis. (2010) 4:319–28. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.12.010
- Onali S, Calabrese E, Petruzziello C, Lolli E, Ascolani M, Ruffa A, et al. Postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease: a prospective study at 5 years. *Digest Liver Dis.* (2016) 48:489–94. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.01.009
- Rispo A, Imperatore N, Testa A, Nardone OM, Luglio G, Caporaso N, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of ultrasonography in the detection of postsurgical recurrence in Crohn's disease: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2018) 24:977–88. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izy012
- Dal Piaz G, Mendolaro M, Mineccia M, Randazzo C, Massucco P, Cosimato M, et al. Predictivity of early and late assessment for post-surgical recurrence of Crohn's disease: data from a single-center retrospective series. *Digest Liver Dis.* (2021) 53:987–95. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2020.09.018
- 41. Yebra Carmona J, Poza Cordón J, Suárez Ferrer C, Martín Arranz E, Lucas Ramos J, Andaluz García I, et al. Correlation between endoscopy and intestinal ultrasound for the evaluation of postoperative recurrence of Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2022) 45:40–6. doi: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2021.02.010
- Lopes S, Andrade P, Afonso J, Rodrigues-Pinto E, Dias CC, Macedo G, et al. Correlation between calprotectin and modified rutgeerts score. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2173–81. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000850
- 43. Tham YS, Yung DE, Fay S, Yamamoto T, Ben-Horin S, Eliakim R, et al. Fecal calprotectin for detection of postoperative endoscopic recurrence in Crohn's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2018) 11:175628481878557. doi: 10.1177/1756284818785571
- 44. Iwańczak B, Ruczka M, Matusiewicz M, Pytrus T, Matusiewicz K, Krzesiek E. Correlation between biomarkers (calprotectin, seromucoid, metalloproteinase-3 and CRP) and clinical and endoscopic activity of ulcerative colitis in children. *Adv Med Sci.* (2020) 65:259–64. doi: 10.1016/j. advms.2020.03.004
- Vermeire S. Laboratory markers in IBD: useful, magic, or unnecessary toys? Gut. (2006) 55:426–31. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.069476
- 46. Ben-Horin S, Lahat A, Amitai MM, Klang E, Yablecovitch D, Neuman S, et al. Assessment of small bowel mucosal healing by video capsule endoscopy for the prediction of short-term and long-term risk of Crohn's disease flare: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 4:519–28. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30088-3
- Nardone OM, Shivaji UN, Ferruzza V, Ghosh S, Iacucci M. Soluble blood markers of mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease: the future of noninvasive monitoring. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2020) 26:961–9. doi: 10.1093/ ibd/izz226

- Ma C, Battat R, Parker CE, Khanna R, Jairath V, Feagan BG. Update on C-reactive protein and fecal calprotectin: are they accurate measures of disease activity in Crohn's disease? *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 13:319– 30. doi: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1563481
- Colombel JF, Panaccione R, Bossuyt P, Lukas M, Baert F, Vaňásek T, et al. Effect of tight control management on Crohn's disease (CALM): a multicentre, randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:2779–89. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(17)32641-7
- Weinstein-Nakar I, Focht G, Church P, Walters TD, Abitbol G, Anupindi S, et al. Associations among mucosal and transmural healing and fecal level of calprotectin in children with Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2018) 16:1089–97.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.01.024
- Noh SM, Oh EH, Park SH, Lee JB, Kim JY, Park JC, et al. Association of faecal calprotectin level and combined endoscopic and radiological healing in patients with Crohn's disease receiving anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:1231–40. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa042
- Maaser C, Petersen F, Helwig U, Fischer I, Roessler A, Rath S, et al. Intestinal ultrasound for monitoring therapeutic response in patients with ulcerative colitis: results from the TRUST&UC study. *Gut.* (2020) 69:1629–36. doi: 10. 1136/gutjnl-2019-319451
- Allocca M, Fiorino G, Bonovas S, Furfaro F, Gilardi D, Argollo M, et al. Accuracy of humanitas ultrasound criteria in assessing disease activity and severity in ulcerative colitis: a prospective study. J Crohns Colitis. (2018) 12:1385–91. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy107
- Kinoshita K, Katsurada T, Nishida M, Omotehara S, Onishi R, Mabe K, et al. Usefulness of transabdominal ultrasonography for assessing ulcerative colitis: a prospective, multicenter study. *J Gastroenterol.* (2019) 54:521–9. doi: 10. 1007/s00535-018-01534-w
- De Voogd F, Wilkens R, Gecse K, Allocca M, Novak K, Lu C, et al. A reliability study: strong inter-observer agreement of an expert panel for intestinal ultrasound in ulcerative colitis. *J Crohns Colitis.* (2021) 15:1284–90.
- Smith RL, Taylor KM, Friedman AB, Gibson RN, Gibson PR. Systematic review: clinical utility of gastrointestinal ultrasound in the diagnosis, assessment and management of patients with ulcerative colitis. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:465–79. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz163
- 57. Allocca M, Filippi E, Costantino A, Bonovas S, Fiorino G, Furfaro F, et al. Milan ultrasound criteria are accurate in assessing disease activity in ulcerative

colitis: external validation. U Eur Gastroenterol J. (2021) 9:438-42. doi: 10. 1177/2050640620980203

- Allocca M, Dell'Avalle C, Craviotto V, Furfaro F, Zilli A, D'Amico F, et al. Predictive value of Milan ultrasound criteria in ulcerative colitis: a prospective observational cohort study. UEG J. (2022) 2022:ueg212206. doi: 10.1002/ueg2. 12206
- Bots S, Nylund K, Löwenberg M, Gecse K, D'Haens G. Intestinal ultrasound to assess disease activity in ulcerative colitis: development of a novel UCultrasound index. J Crohns Colitis. (2021) 15:1264–71. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/ jjab002
- Sagami S, Kobayashi T, Miyatani Y, Okabayashi S, Yamazaki H, Takada T, et al. Accuracy of ultrasound for evaluation of colorectal segments in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 19:908–21.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020. 07.067
- Sagami S, Kobayashi T, Aihara K, Umeda M, Morikubo H, Matsubayashi M, et al. Transperineal ultrasound predicts endoscopic and histological healing in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2020) 51:1373–83. doi: 10.1111/apt.15767

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Nardone, Calabrese, Testa, Caiazzo, Fierro, Rispo and Castiglione. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Overview of Three Proliferation Pathways (Wnt, Notch, and Hippo) in Intestine and Immune System and Their Role in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBDs)

Seyed Mobin Khoramjoo<sup>1</sup>, Nesa Kazemifard<sup>2</sup>, Shaghayegh Baradaran Ghavami<sup>1\*</sup>, Maryam Farmani<sup>1</sup>, Shabnam Shahrokh<sup>1</sup>, Hamid Asadzadeh Aghdaei<sup>1</sup>, Ghazal Sherkat<sup>3</sup> and Mohammad Reza Zali<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Basic and Molecular Epidemiology of Gastrointestinal Disorders Research Center, Research Institute for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>2</sup> Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases Research Center, Research Institute for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>9</sup> Faculty of Mashhad Branch, Islamic Azad University, Mashhad, Iran

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a disorder, which involves the gastrointestinal (GI) tract consisting Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). The etiology of this disease is not yet clear and, hence, there are numerous medications and treatments for patients with IBD, although a definite and permanent treatment is still missing. Therefore, finding novel therapeutic approaches are vital for curing patients with IBD. In the GI tract, there are various lineages of cells with different roles that their existence is necessary for the barrier function of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). Therefore, signaling pathways, which manage the hemostasis of cell lineages in intestine, such as Wnt, Notch, and Hippo, could have crucial roles in regulation of barrier function in the intestine. Additionally, these signaling pathways function as a governor of cell growth, tissue homeostasis, and organ size. In patients with IBD, recent studies have revealed that these signaling pathways are dysregulated that it could result in depletion or excess of a cell lineage in the intestine. Moreover, dysregulation of these signaling pathways in different cell lineages of the immune system could lead to dysregulation of the immune system's responses in IBD. In this article, we summarized the components and signaling of Wnt, Notch, and Hippo pathways and their role in the intestine and immune system. Furthermore, we reviewed latest scientific literature on the crosstalk among these three signaling pathways in IBD. An overview of these three signaling pathways and their interactions in IBD could provide a novel insight for prospective study directions into finding efficient medications or treatments.

Keywords: inflammatory bowel disease, Wnt signaling, Notch signaling, Hippo signaling, immune system

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alain Pierre Gobert, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Harpreet Kaur, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Shaghayegh Baradaran Ghavami Sh.bghavami@yahoo.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 29 January 2022 Accepted: 14 April 2022 Published: 23 May 2022

#### Citation:

Khoramjoo SM, Kazemifard N, Baradaran Ghavami S, Farmani M, Shahrokh S, Asadzadeh Aghdaei H, Sherkat G and Zali MR (2022) Overview of Three Proliferation Pathways (Wnt, Notch, and Hippo) in Intestine and Immune System and Their Role in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBDs). Front. Med. 9:865131. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.865131

81

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a regressive inflammatory condition, which occurs in the gastrointestinal tract (1). Patients with IBD fall into two clinical types: ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). In patients with UC, part of involvement is limited to the colon and it can spread from the rectum to the cecum. In this type of IBD, these parts show large mucosal ulceration. On the other hand, in patients with CD, the parts, which are affected the most, are the ileum and the colon, but other parts of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract could be influenced patchily (2). In spite of the vast studies to find a causative factor for etiology of IBD, it is still known as a multifactorial disorder (3). Different factors, such as internal triggers (genetic susceptibility and immunoregulatory impairments), environmental factors (diet and chemicals), and microbial exposure, are considered to cause IBD (2, 4, 5). Moreover, recent studies have shown that the dysbiosis of gut microbiota profoundly contributes to the development of IBD (2, 6–8).

Various cell lineages arise by differentiation and proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs), which are controlled by multiple signaling pathways, including Hippo, Notch, and Wnt (9-13). These signaling pathways accelerate undifferentiated columnar cells, named crypt base columnar cells, to regenerate into absorptive and secretory cell types in the GI tract (14). Some studies have illustrated that in patients who suffer from IBD, especially those with ulcerative colitis (UC), overexpression of Notch and inhibition of Wnt lead to a lack of Paneth cells that exist in crypts (15). Similarly, other studies have demonstrated that an imbalance in components of Hippo signaling pathway in the intestine of patients with IBD resulted in excess of ISCs and shortage of secretory cells, such as goblet cells and Paneth cells (16). Therefore, dysregulation in pathways that play a role in proliferation and differentiation may explain the defective mucus secretion and wound healing, which could ultimately induce the failure of intestinal barrier in patients with IBD (15). Furthermore, recent studies on Wnt, Notch, and Hippo showed that these signaling pathways play a regulatory role in the function and generation of various immune cells' types that in IBD, it could be dysregulated (17-19). However, numerous studies have been conducted on understanding the function and regulation of the proliferation pathways in the gut epithelium and their specific role in IBDs is still unknown (20).

In IBD, the process of wound healing and mucus secretion is dysregulated that could lead to impaired barrier function of the GI tract and ultimately leaky gut. Herein, we briefly explain the barrier functionality of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) and the process of wound healing in IBD. In addition, it is illustrated that some proliferation pathways, including Wnt, Notch, and Hippo, could have critical impacts on these processes and the immune system. We also summarize these three signaling pathways and their role in the intestine and immune system. Finally, we concisely discuss the interactions of these signaling pathways in IBD.

## BARRIER FUNCTION OF INTESTINAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

The intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) establish a barrier, which is selectively permeable and sets apart luminal content from beneath tissues (21, 22). Basically, IECs function as a barrier, which prevents unacceptable solutes, microorganisms, viruses, and luminal antigens from passing the epithelium and entering the lamina propria (22, 23). Multiple components that participate in the intestinal barrier consist of the epithelial cells with tight junctions, adherens junctions, and luminal secretions, such as mucus or unstirred layers, on the apical side of the epithelium (22).

## PROCESS OF WOUND AND MUCOSAL HEALING IN INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE

The process of wound healing starts when a part of the intestinal epithelium gets injured. Intestinal wound healing depends on the accurate balance between migration, proliferation, and differentiation of the epithelial cells, which are nearby the wounded area (24). First, epithelial cells surround the wounded area, which loses their columnar polarity. Then, they proliferate to surge the pool of cells for resurfacing the wound. Finally, to maintain the mucosal barrier function, maturation and differentiation of epithelial cells are vital (25). Dysfunction of these three steps during the wound healing's process in patients with IBD results in the broken differentiation and proliferation of different cell lineages in gut, such as goblet cells or Paneth cells, that lead to flawed mucosal secretion and leaky gut (26).

## IMPORTANCE OF PROLIFERATION PATHWAYS IN INTESTINE

Many cell lineages are vital for maintenance of intestinal epithelial barrier integrity, which arise by differentiation and proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) (27). Crypt-based stem cells, which are near the base of the crypts, need to actively proliferate to maintain continuous renewal of different cell lineages (28). As these cells move up from crypt to villus, proliferation ends gradually and differentiation into one of the four primary cell types occurs (i.e., enterocytes, goblet, Paneth, and enteroendocrine cells) (29, 30). Multiple signaling pathways, such as Hippo, Notch, and Wnt, are responsible for regulating the proliferation and the differentiation in intestinal epithelial cells (9–13, 31). Finally, an imbalance among these types of pathways in epithelium could lead to colorectal cancer and IBD (27).

## WNT PATHWAY

The Wnt signaling pathways are a group of signaling pathways, which commence with proteins that transmit signals into a cell by cell surface receptors (32, 33). Therefore, this pathway is activated by the cell-cell communications and it has been conserved

throughout the biological evolution (27). Wnt pathway is divided into  $\beta$ -catenin dependent (canonical) and  $\beta$ -catenin independent (noncanonical) types (34). This signaling pathway gets activated when Wnt proteins contact with Frizzled (Frz) receptor on the cells' surface (18, 33). Thereafter, Wnt proteins run a complex signaling cascade that plays an important role in regulating cell proliferation and differentiation by regulating the  $\beta$ -catenin, which is an important mediator (34–36). When the Wnt pathway is silenced,  $\beta$ -catenin can be phosphorylated by the ubiquitin-proteasome system [including glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3), casein kinase I $\alpha$  (CKI $\alpha$ ), axin, and adenomatosis polyposis coli (APC)] and then transcription complexes prohibit gene transcriptional activity (37, 38). In opposition, when the Wnt signaling pathway has been activated,  $\beta$ -catenin degradation is banned, which is leading to its aggregation (38, 39). As a result, transcription complexes are changed by accumulated βcatenin, which activates targeted expression of genes related to cell proliferation and migration, EphB2/B3, Cylind-1, and c-Myc (40, 41).

## **ROLE OF WNT PATHWAY IN INTESTINE**

Wnt signaling pathway plays a vital role in the intestinal epithelium, specifically in regulating the stem cells' behavior, proliferation, differentiation, and migration (42). This pathway is one of the many signaling pathways for the maintenance of stem cells (43). Recent studies have shown that deletion of  $\beta$ -catenin's encoding gene (CTNNB1) results in disruption of secretory cells' differentiation (44). Wnt pathway is able to direct the beginning development of secretory cells lineage and the endpoint of differentiation of Paneth cells for sustaining homeostasis (45). Reduced Wnt pathway, particularly diminished expression in its transcription factor 4 (TCF-4), could mediate Paneth cells differentiation flaws that it induces specific deficiency of Paneth cell defensins, which is a principal factor in IBD pathogenesis (15, 46). In addition, evidence found in TCF-4 knockout mice illustrated that the reduced level of defensins in gut permits bacteria to invade the epithelium and resulting in colitis (42, 47). On the other hand, excessive Wnt pathway accumulates  $\beta$ -catenin in the cytoplasm, then they are translocated to the nuclear, and finally induces overexpression of Wnt target genes, which lead to colon cancer (48). Furthermore, recent studies on IBD-associated colorectal cancer (CRC) revealed that negative regulators of Wnt, such as AXIN2 and RFN43, are downregulated in 31 tissue sample of patients with IBD-CRC (49).

# ROLE OF WNT PATHWAY IN IMMUNE SYSTEM

One of the important roles of Wnt pathway is in multiple layers of immune regulation. Presence or absence of Wnt proteins could have impact on different immune cells, such as dendritic cells, macrophages, CD8+T cells, and CD4+Tcells (18, 50). Based on recent studies on Wnt proteins and dendritic cells (DCs), it is demonstrated that Wnt proteins may be involved in promoting DCs into a tolerogenic state (51). Manicassamy et al. showed that reduced expression of  $\beta$ -catenin in DCs enhances inflammatory responses in the mice model of inflammatory bowel disease. Therefore, in DCs, β-catenin signaling causes a tolerogenic state and prevents them from inflammatory responses (52). Recent studies on Wnt pathway and macrophages showed that in macrophages, Wnt ligands have crucial roles in repairing injured tissues, since macrophages' role in tissue repairing and wound healing is well known (53, 54); however, in some studies, it is demonstrated that macrophagederived Wnt5a maintains immune functions and stimulates the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (55). Some previous studies showed that proteins of Wnt signaling play a regulatory role in the function of CD8+ T-cell effector and generating memory T-cell pool (18, 56). Functional regulation of β-cateninmediated CD8+ T-cell immune responses remains unclear (57-60). The role of Wnt pathway in CD4+ T-cells is not yet clear and it needs more accurate investigations for various Wnt ligands; however, some studies suggested that the overexpression of βcatenin in regulatory T (Treg) cells enhanced Treg function in IBD (61, 62). The canonical Wnt signaling proteins are able to induce their roles in T-cell differentiation and effector function in various inflammatory diseases, such as IBD, cancer, as well as in autoimmunity and viral infections (18). Wnt signaling is important in inflammatory and fibrotic diseases and it is in harmony with the roles of Wnt proteins in repairing injured tissue. Recent studies' outcomes demonstrated that Wnt signaling plays vital roles in lymphomyelopoiesis and immune responses (56). Moreover, Wnt pathway and inflammatory signaling pathways, such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-KB), Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (JAK-STAT3), and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), affect each other, which regulate inflammatory factors' secretion during the pathogenesis of colitis (18, 63).

## **NOTCH PATHWAY**

The Notch signaling pathway is conserved during the evolution that is presented in most animals (27). It regulates the differentiation and development of cells, tissues, and organs by interactions among nearby cells (27). The pathway consists of receptors, ligands, transformation complexes, and several regulatory molecules (64). The Notch transmembrane receptor plays a critical role in the signaling pathway that regulates the fate and development of a wide range of metazoan cells through local cell interactions (65-67). There are at least four different Notch receptors (Notch 1-4) in mammals that the Notch-1 is dominant in the intestine (66, 68). As a result of binding ligands, slight structural conformations in the membrane around the binding site activate matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and ysecretase (69). With the assistance of activated  $\gamma$ -secretase and a disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM)-family MMPs, Notch intracellular domain (NICD), which is the activated form of Notch receptors, is generated (64, 66, 70). Thereafter, NICD enters the nuclear and by the help of activator transcription

complexes, it regulates the *HES* genes to determine the fate of the cell (64, 71–74).

## **ROLE OF NOTCH PATHWAY IN INTESTINE**

In the intestine, Notch is necessary for the survival of ISCs. Notch is also responsible for determining ISCs differentiation into secretory or absorptive lineages (63). High Notch signaling leads to absorptive differentiation, whereas low Notch signaling induces differentiation of secretory cells (75). Abnormal activity of the Notch pathway in IBD induces increased expression of the HES1 transcription factor in human colon cell lines, which thereafter inhibits differentiation of secretory cell lineages and weakens the mucus barrier, which is linked to chronic colitis (76). Accordingly, it is demonstrated that the Notch signaling pathway has a crucial role in maintaining goblet cells in the lesion of patients with UC that is so important in mucosal and wound healing in IBD. Zheng et al. illustrated that abnormality in expression of Notch intracellular domain (NICD) in ulcers induces reduction in the quantity of goblet cells in patients with UC (77). NICDs imposed expression leads to a decrease in phenotypic genes for goblet cells located in human IECs (77). In addition, several signaling pathways and cytokines cascade with Notch pathway mediate epithelial regeneration, such as interleukin-22 (IL-22) and tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a) (27, 78). Accordingly, Kuno et al. found that messenger RNA (mRNA) expression of OFLM4, intestinal stem cell marker, is upregulated by TNF- $\alpha$  and Notch pathway in patients with IBD (63). Moreover, it is reported that Notch signaling pathway contributes to the maintenance of tight junctions and adherens junction proteins in mice. Ahmed et al. showed that during the infection with Citrobacter rodentium and absence of Notch pathway, the function of tight junctions and adherens junctions impaired, which could result in increased permeability of epithelial cells and more exposure of luminal contents with immune system and inflammation (79). Notch dysregulation has also been demonstrated in colon cancer (80).

## ROLE OF NOTCH PATHWAY IN IMMUNE SYSTEM

Notch signaling is important pervasively all over the immune system, since it has lineage and context-dependent impacts on a broad range of cells. In the immune system, Notch1 ligands, especially Jagged1, are present in regulatory T-cells (Tregs) (17). The activation of Notch1 in dendritic cells (Notch1 intracellular domain) induces the interaction of signaling elements and components that result in overexpression and the transport of pSmad3, which is known to facilitate the effector function of Tregs (17, 81). Notch signaling is also involved in the improvement of inflammatory conditions. Some studies revealed that Notch signaling pathway improves an inflammatory cascade in macrophages in inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) (82, 83).

## **HIPPO PATHWAY**

The Hippo pathway is a pathway, which is remained conserved throughout the evolution and it controls the size and homeostasis of an organ by regulating cell proliferation, survival, apoptosis, and stemness (84, 85). Specifically, intercellular contacts and membrane adhesion complexes modulate the transduction of a signal by the fundamental constituents of this pathway, which are highly conserved in mammals (86). These components contain the mammalian sterile 20-like kinases, MST1 and MST2, with their regulatory protein WW45 (SAV1) and the large tumor suppressor 1 and 2 kinases (LATS1 and LATS2) with their regulatory protein MOBKL1A/B (MOB1) (87). When the MST1/2 kinases get activated and LATS kinases get phosphorylated, it leads to negative regulation of cell proliferation (88). Concisely, phosphorylation of LATS kinases results in a process of phosphorylation of the transcriptional coactivators Yes-associated protein (YAP) at Ser127 and PDZbinding motif (TAZ) at Ser89, so it makes binding sites for 14-3-3 proteins that accumulate YAP/TAZ in the cytoplasm (88). Once this inhibitory phosphorylation does not work, these transcription factors will be able to enter to the nucleus and contact with other transcriptional factors that enhance cell proliferation (89, 90). In cells that are in apoptotic phase because of exposure to severe DNA damage stress, YAP activates the transcription of proapoptotic genes through binding to the p73 transcription factor that is a p53-like tumor suppressor. This process is moderated by phosphorylation of YAP at the Tyr357 position through c-Abl protein, which provides a higher affinity of YAP compared to p73 (89, 91).

## **ROLE OF HIPPO PATHWAY IN INTESTINE**

It is confirmed that YAP/TAZ enhances regeneration of tissues in the mammalian intestine (92). Accordingly, Yui et al. demonstrated that YAP/TAZ is associated with the expression of Sca1, which is a cell surface protein representing a marker for the repairing epithelium (93). YAP/TAZ has two different roles in the renewal of the intestinal epithelium: one is ISCs' proliferation that happens through collaboration of YAP/TAZ with transcription factor TEADs (94) and the other role is encouraging goblet cells differentiation by cooperation with transcription factor klf4 (95, 96). The activity of MST1/2 gets higher, as cells move from the crypts toward the lumen, so MST1/2 has decreased activity in the crypts (97). Contrarily, YAP is plentiful in the nucleus of the cells, which are located in lower crypts; however, this molecule is also found in cytoplasm of upper cells in the villi (97). In general, the expression of YAP in the nucleus of cells diminishes as cells move from the crypts to the villi; in contrary, expression of YAP in cytoplasm surges (16). Deletion of MST1/2 in mouse intestinal epithelium cells induces an improved amount of nuclear YAP; as a result, it increases proliferation of undifferentiated ISCs and lack of secretory cells both in the small and large intestines (16). In another study, it is demonstrated that in IECs, conditional knockout of MST1/2 results in disorganized villus structures, increased undifferentiated cells, and dysplastic epithelia (98). It is also reported that in mouse gut, deficiency

of SAV1 induces enlargement of crypt structures (92). YAP modulates the regeneration of mucus both in the patients with IBD and the DSS-induced colitis mouse model (99). Moreover, previous studies conducted by Ou et al. illustrated that YAP/TAZ expression is linked with promotion of fibrosis in patients with CD by activating intestinal fibroblasts (100). To sum up, YAP in the nucleus has a positive role in the regeneration of intestinal epithelium in IBD and may provide a novel therapeutic target for IBD.

## ROLE OF HIPPO PATHWAY IN IMMUNE SYSTEM

Recent studies have shown that the Hippo pathway plays an important role in the modulation of immune system. MST1/2 has a pivotal role in mediating, migration, adherence, and survival of T cells by its downstream effectors, such as LATS1/2, NDR1/2, and YAP (101). MST1/2 promotes the function of regulatory T-cell (Treg) through modulating Foxp3 acetylation (16, 102). It is shown the deficiency of MST1/2 leads to impairment of Foxp3 expression and Treg cell development and its function in mice (16, 102). It is also illustrated that the deficiency of MST1/2 might induce the lack of naïve T cells, which could lead to autoimmune demonstrations or resulting in recurrent bacterial or viral infections (103, 104). Additionally, in a study by Geng et al., it has been found that the TAZ is able to determine the fate of a T cell to become a proinflammatory T-helper (Th) 17 cell or an immunosuppressive Treg cell (105). Particularly, lack of TAZ improves the differentiation of Treg cells; however, activation of TAZ enhances Th17 cell differentiation (105). On the other hand, YAP in macrophages was shown to deteriorate the IBD, since it negatively affects M2 polarization of macrophages, which is induced by IL-4/IL-13 and promotes the activation of M1 macrophages that is caused by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) (19).

## CROSSTALK BETWEEN WNT, NOTCH, AND HIPPO SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE

There is an interplay among the proliferation signaling pathways, including Hippo, Wnt, and Notch, in intestinal regeneration (**Figure 1**) and imbalance among these pathways results in different problems, which are associated with different diseases, including IBD.

Once the Hippo pathway gets activated, it negatively affects the Wnt signaling pathway by cytoplasmic and phosphorylated YAP/TAZ; however, deactivation of the Hippo pathway has a positive effect on the expression of Wnt target genes by nuclear and dephosphorylated YAP (20). Additionally, it is reported that  $\beta$ -catenin activates and upregulates YAP and TAZ (106, 107). Imajo et al. illustrated that the YAP/TAZ regulates Wnt signaling that relies on the state of phosphorylation and cellular localization of YAP/TAZ proteins (108). Cytoplasmic YAP/TAZ downregulates the Wnt signaling through the regulation of nuclear translocation and activation of  $\beta$ -catenin (108, 109). This is in contrast to nuclear YAP, which stabilizes  $\beta$ -catenin and resulting in the improved expression of Wnt target genes (110, 111). It is shown that YAP and  $\beta$ -catenin grow in nucleus within regeneration following inflammation. Once the nuclear YAP is overexpressed, it enhances Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and significantly leads to the improvement of the IECs' healing ability, thereby demonstrating that nuclear YAP improves the IECs' proliferation by the activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathways (112). In addition, within intestinal regeneration following tissue damage, cytoplasmic YAP restricts Wnt signals, interrupts the ISCs, and decreases the stem cells' growth, which induce abnormal migration of Paneth cells and reduction of ISCs (97).

In previous studies, it is reported that the Hippo pathway is able to regulate Notch signaling. In intestine, conditional knockout of MST1/2 leads to increased amount of NICD in nucleus (16). Reduction of MST1/2 results in activation of Notch signaling through decreasing of phosphorylation and increasing the abundance of nuclear accumulation of YAP (16). Intrinsically, the YAP molecules, which are located in nucleus, facilitate Notch signaling (98). Moreover, it is shown that administration of gamma-secretase inhibitors (GSIs), which restrict YAP-activating Notch, induce colitis (98, 113). In general, the Hippo pathway is able to downregulate Notch signaling *via* phosphorylation and suppression of the YAP.

Wnt and Notch signaling pathways are so intertwined that it has been suggested that they established an integrated signaling termed as "Wntch" (114). An accurate balance between Wnt and Notch is required for the homeostasis of intestine, as their dysregulation may result in inflammation, colitis, and tumorigenesis. It is demonstrated that activation of Notch pathway upregulates the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin (115). On the other hand, Kay et al., by utilizing chemical reaction network theory (CRNT), found that Wnt-mediated actions on Hes1 promoter are able to change dynamic transition of Notch signaling pathway from multistability to monostability, highlighting the role of  $\beta$ -catenin in modulating Notch signaling pathway (116).

## DISCUSSION

In this short article, we aimed to overlook on three proliferation pathways playing important roles in intestine and immune system. We also reviewed some of their impacts on pathogenesis of IBD. In the process of wound and mucosal healing in a healthy condition, adjacent cells to the lesion start to proliferate and migrate to retrieve the columnar polarity of the epithelial cells (24). This process is faulty in the intestine of patients with IBD, particularly those who have UC. Multiple factors contribute in this flaw, but it is shown that one of the most important factors is the dysregulation of proliferation pathways, such as Hippo, Wnt, and Notch, and also an imbalance among them (27). Moreover, dysregulation of these pathways leads to an imbalance of cell lineages in intestine. Importantly, this dysregulation results in depletion of goblet cells and Paneth cells, which leads to impaired secretion of mucus and defensins and invasion of various bacteria to epithelial cells (26). Accordingly, this results in massive responses of the immune system and inflammation that cause tissue damage and ulcers, which are the clinical symptoms



**FIGURE 1** [Wnt, Hippo, and Notch signaling in an intestinal stem cell [inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) condition]. The disrupted intestinal epithelial barrier promotes a leaky gut in inflammatory conditions, such as IBD. In this state, differentiation-related pathways, such as Wnt, Hippo, and Notch, are dysregulated in intestinal stem cells. The Wnt signaling pathway plays a vital role in the intestinal epithelium and downregulation of  $\beta$ -catenin disrupts the differentiation of secretory cells in IBD. The Hippo pathway regulates cell proliferation, survival, apoptosis, and stemness. An improved amount of nuclear YAP/TAZ occurred in IBD and increased the proliferation of undifferentiated intestinal stem cells (ISCs) and a lack of secretory cells. In contrast, cytoplasmic YAP/TAZ overexpression is seen in inflamed tissue. Also, MST1/2 is downregulated and disorganized villus structures and increased undifferentiated cells and dysplastic epithelia. However, it is controversial that Hippo pathway is upregulated or downregulated in IBD. The Notch pathway regulates the differentiation and development of cells, tissues, and organs by interactions among nearby cells. Upregulation of the Notch pathway in IBD inhibits differentiation of secretory cell lineages and abnormality in the expression of NICD in ulcers reduces the quantity of goblet cells in patients with ulcerative colitis (UC). Red arrows show crosstalk between these three pathways and dotted lines display downregulated pathways and molecules. Abbreviations: low-density-lipoprotein-related protein (LRP), ERM domain-containing protein 6 (FRMD6), mammalian Sterile 20-related 1 and 2 kinases (MST1 and MST2), Salvador 1 (SAV1), Large tumor suppressor 1 and 2 kinases (LATS1 and LATS2), Mps One Binder Kinase Activator-Like 1A (MOB1), Yes-associated protein 1 (YAP), PDZ-binding motif (TAZ), TEA domain family member (TEAD), Fat-related atypical cadherins 1-4 (FAT 1-4), A Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 10 (ADAM 10), Notch intracellular

of IBD (117). These signaling pathways also play important roles in various immune cells, including dendritic cells, macrophages, and T cells. These signaling pathways could impact immune cells to differentiate to a particular type that it could attenuate or strengthen immune responses (117). Moreover, there is a crosstalk between these signaling pathways and inflammatory signaling pathways, such as NF- $\kappa$ B, JAK-STAT3, and MAPK, that could influence an immune cell to produce proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory cytokines (104). Dysregulation in these pathways in immune cells is reported to be important in immune responses to inflammation in patients with IBD (117).

## **FUTURE PERSPECTIVE**

This study needs more investigation in different aspects. First, a precise analysis of the relationship among these three pathways needs to be more investigated. By doing so, we will be able to understand the impact of different molecules of signaling pathways on each other. In addition, current findings demonstrated the role of these pathways in several immune cells yet not all of them. More experiments could be done in finding their role in other immune cells. Finally, these proliferation pathways can be a potential target for medications. More studies are required to develop efficient drugs for triggering epithelial cells to regulate these pathways. The results of prospective studies can dwindle the morbidity and mortality linked to IBD, hence reduce the worldwide incidence of this disease.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SMK: literature search and writing. SBG, MF, SS, HA, GS, and MZ: literature search. NK: drawing of figure. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## REFERENCES

- Endo K, Shiga H, Kinouchi Y, Shimosegawa T. Inflammatory bowel disease: IBD. Rinsho Byori Jpn J Clin Pathol. (2009) 57:527–32.
- Ananthakrishnan AN. Epidemiology and risk factors for IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2015) 12:205–17. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2015.34
- Venkataraman GR, Rivas MA. Rare and common variant discovery in complex disease: the IBD case study. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2019) 28:R162– 9. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddz189
- Kaplan GG. Global variations in environmental risk factors for IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2014) 11:708–9. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.182
- Hammer T, Lophaven SN, Nielsen KR, Petersen MS, Munkholm P, Weihe P, et al. Dietary risk factors for inflammatory bowel diseases in a high-risk population: results from the Faroese IBD study. *United Eur Gastroenterol J*. (2019) 7:924–32. doi: 10.1177/2050640619852244
- Putignani L, Del Chierico F, Vernocchi P, Cicala M, Cucchiara S, Dallapiccola B, et al. Gut Microbiota dysbiosis as risk and premorbid factors of IBD and IBS along the childhood–Adulthood transition. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:487–504. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000002
- Lim JS, Lim MY, Choi Y, Ko G. Modeling environmental risk factors of autism in mice induces IBD-related gut microbial dysbiosis and hyperserotonemia. *Mol Brain*. (2017) 10:1–12.
- van der Sloot KWJ, Weersma RK, Dijkstra G, Alizadeh BZ. Development and validation of a web-based questionnaire to identify environmental risk factors for inflammatory bowel disease: the Groningen IBD Environmental Questionnaire (GIEQ). J Gastroenterol. (2019) 54, 238–48. doi: 10.1007/s00535-018-1501-z
- Scoville DH, Sato T, He XC, Li LJG. Current view: intestinal stem cells and signaling. *Gastroenterol.* (2008) 134:849– 64. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.01.079
- Sancho R, Cremona CA, Behrens AJ. Stem cell and progenitor fate in the mammalian intestine: Notch and lateral inhibition in homeostasis and disease. *EMBO Rep.* (2015) 16, 571–81. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540188
- Cui S, Chang PY. Current understanding concerning intestinal stem cells. Worlds J Gastroenterol. (2016) 22:7099. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i31.7099
- Gregorieff A, Wrana JL. Hippo signalling in intestinal regeneration and cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol. (2017) 48:17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.04.005
- Xiao H, Xiong L, Song X, Jin P, Chen L, Chen X, et al. Angelica sinensis polysaccharides ameliorate stress-induced premature senescence of hematopoietic cell via protecting bone marrow stromal cells from oxidative injuries caused by 5-fluorouracil. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:2265. doi: 10.3390/ijms18112265
- Gassler NJ. Paneth cells in intestinal physiology and pathophysiology. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. (2017) 8:150. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v8.i4.150
- 15. Gersemann M, Stange EF, Wehkamp JJ. From intestinal stem cells to inflammatory bowel diseases. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2011) 17:3198.
- Zhou D, Zhang Y, Wu H, Barry E, Yin Y, Lawrence E, et al. Mst1 and Mst2 protein kinases restrain intestinal stem cell proliferation and colonic tumorigenesis by inhibition of Yes-associated protein (Yap) overabundance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2011) 108:E1312–20. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1110428108
- Cahill EF, Tobin LM, Carty F, Mahon BP. Jagged-1 is required for the expansion of CD4+ CD25+ FoxP3+ regulatory T cells and tolerogenic dendritic cells by murine mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2015) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0021-5
- Chae WJ, Bothwell AL. Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling in immune cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:830– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.08.006
- Zhou X, Li W, Wang S, Zhang P, Wang Q, Xiao J, et al. YAP aggravates inflammatory bowel disease by regulating M1/M2 macrophage polarization and gut microbial homeostasis. *Cell Rep.* (2019) 27, 1176–89. e1175. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.028
- Xie Z, Wang Y, Yang G, Han J, Zhu L, Li L, et al. The role of the Hippo pathway in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Cell Death Dis.* (2021) 12:1–14. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03229-8
- Laukoetter MJR. Regulation of the intestinal epithelial barrier by the apical junctional complex. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.* (2006) 22:85– 9. doi: 10.1097/01.mog.0000203864.48255.4f

- Laukoetter MG, Nava P, Nusrat AJ. Role of the intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. (2008)14, 401. doi: 10.3748/wjg.14.401
- Watson AJ, Chu S, Sieck L, Gerasimenko O, Bullen T, Campbell FM, et al. Epithelial barrier function in vivo is sustained despite gaps in epithelial layers. *Gastroenterol.* (2005) 129:902–12. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.06.015
- Moyer RA, Wendt MK, Johanesen PA, Turner JR, Dwinell MBJ. Rho activation regulates CXCL12 chemokine stimulated actin rearrangement and restitution in model intestinal epithelia. *Lab Invest.* (2007) 87:807– 17. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700595
- Iizuka M, Konno S. Wound healing of intestinal epithelial cells. World J Gastroenterol. (2011) 17:2161. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i17.2161
- Gersemann M, Becker S, Kübler I, Koslowski M, Wang G, Herrlinger KR, et al. Differences in goblet cell differentiation between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Differentiation*. (2009) 77:84–94. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2008.09.008
- Pu Z, Yang F, Wang L, Diao Y, Chen D. Advancements of compounds targeting Wnt and Notch signalling pathways in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease and colon cancer. *J Drug Target*. (2021) 29:507– 519. doi: 10.1080/1061186X.2020.1864741
- Gracz AD, Magness ST. Defining hierarchies of stemness in the intestine: evidence from biomarkers and regulatory pathways. Am J Physiol Gastrointestinal Liver Physiol. (2014) 307:G260–73. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00066.2014
- Yeung TM, Chia LA, Kosinski CM, Kuo CJ. Regulation of self-renewal and differentiation by the intestinal stem cell niche. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2011) 68:2513–23. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0687-5
- De Mey JR, Freund JN. Understanding epithelial homeostasis in the intestine: an old battlefield of ideas, recent breakthroughs and remaining controversies. *Tissue Barriers*. (2013) 1:e24965. doi: 10.4161/tisb.24965
- Attisano L, Wrana JL. Signal integration in TGF-β, WNT, and Hippo pathways. *F1000prime Reprts*. (2013) 5:17. doi: 10.12703/P5-17
- Nusse R, Brown A, Papkoff J, Scambler P, Shackleford GA, McMahon R, et al. A new nomenclature for int-1 and related genes: the Wnt gene family. *Cell.* (1991) 64:231–231. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90633-A
- Sharma M, Pruitt KJ. Wnt pathway: an integral hub for developmental and oncogenic signaling networks. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:8018. doi: 10.3390/ijms21218018
- Bugter JM, Fenderico N, Maurice MMJ. Mutations and mechanisms of WNT pathway tumour suppressors in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2021) 21:5– 21. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-00307-z
- Giles RH, Van Es JH, Clevers H. Caught up in a Wnt storm: Wnt signaling in cancer. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Rev Cancer. (2003) 1653: 1–24. doi: 10.1016/S0304-419X(03)00005-2
- Clevers HJC. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell. (2006) 127:469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Niehrs CJ. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2012) 13:767–79. doi: 10.1038/nrm3470
- Li X, Ortiz MA, Kotula L. The physiological role of Wnt pathway in normal development and cancer. *Exp Biol Med.* (2020) 245:411–26.
- Hale R, Strutt D. Conservation of planar polarity pathway function across the animal kingdom. Ann Rev Gene. (2015) 49:529–51. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-112414-055224
- Widera D, Papaccio G, Cantù C, James AW, Houschyar KS, Houschyar K, et al. Wnt Pathway in Bone Repair and Regeneration–What Do We Know So Far. Front Cell Develop Biol. (2019) 6:170. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2018.00170
- Lu H, Zhang R, Haydon R, Rayburn E, Kang Q, Si W, et al. Wnt/β-Catenin signaling pathway as novel cancer drug targets. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. (2004) 4:653–71. doi: 10.2174/1568009043332709
- Flanagan DJ, Austin CR, Vincan E, Phesse TJJ. Wnt signalling in gastrointestinal epithelial stem cells. *Genes.* (2018) 9:178. doi: 10.3390/genes9040178
- Yang S, Yu M. Role of goblet cells in intestinal barrier and mucosal immunity. J Inflamm Res. (2021) 14:3171. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S318327
- Kurokawa K, Hayakawa Y, Koike KJ. Plasticity of intestinal epithelium: stem cell niches and regulatory signals. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 22:357. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010357

- Andreu P, Colnot S, Godard C, Gad S, Chafey P, Niwa-Kawakita M, et al. Crypt-restricted proliferation and commitment to the Paneth cell lineage following Apc loss in the mouse intestine. *Development*. (2005) 132:1443– 51. doi: 10.1242/dev.01700
- 46. Wang Y, He K, Sheng B, Lei X, Tao W, Zhu X, et al. The RNA helicase Dhx15 mediates Wnt-induced antimicrobial protein expression in Paneth cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2021) 118:e2017432118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2017432118
- Wehkamp J, Wang G, Kübler I, Nuding S, Gregorieff A, Schnabel A, et al. The Paneth cell α-defensin deficiency of ileal Crohn's disease is linked to Wnt/Tcf-4. J Immunol. (2007) 179:3109–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.5.3109
- Krausova M, Korinek VJ. Wnt signaling in adult intestinal stem cells and cancer. Cell Signal. (2014) 26:570–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.11.032
- Rajamäki K, Taira A, Katainen R, Välimäki N, Kuosmanen A, Plaketti RM, et al. Genetic and Epigenetic Characteristics of Inflammatory Bowel Disease–Associated Colorectal Cancer. *Gastroenterol.* (2021)161, 592– 607. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.04.042
- Suryawanshi A, Hussein MS, Prasad PD, Manicassamy SJ. Wnt signaling cascade in dendritic cells and regulation of anti-tumor immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 122. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00122
- Tan K, Xie X, Shi W, Miao L, Dong X, Yang W, et al. Deficiency of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signalling in hepatic dendritic cells triggers autoimmune hepatitis. *Liver Int*. (2020) 40:131–40. doi: 10.1111/liv.14246
- Manicassamy S, Reizis B, Ravindran R, Nakaya H, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Wang YC, et al. Activation of β-catenin in dendritic cells regulates immunity versus tolerance in the intestine. *Science*. (2010) 329:849– 853. doi: 10.1126/science.1188510
- Vannella KM, Wynn T. Mechanisms of organ injury and repair by macrophages. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2017) 79:593– 617. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034356
- Feng Y, Ren J, Gui Y, Wei W, Shu B, Lu Q, et al. Wnt/β-catenin-promoted macrophage alternative activation contributes to kidney fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2018) 29:182–93. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017040391
- Shao Y, Zheng Q, Wang W, Xin N, Song X, Zhao CJO. Biological functions of macrophage-derived Wnt5a, and its roles in human diseases. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:67674. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11874
- Maimela NR, Liu S, Zhang Y. Fates of CD8+ T cells in tumor microenvironment. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J.* (2019) 17:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.11.004
- Gattinoni L, Zhong X-S, Palmer DC, Ji Y, Hinrichs CS, Yu Z, et al. Wnt signaling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8+ memory stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:808–13. doi: 10.1038/nm.1982
- Driessens G, Zheng Y, Gajewski TF. β-catenin does not regulate memory T cell phenotype. *Nat Med.* (2010) 16:513–4. doi: 10.1038/nm0510-513
- Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1290–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2446
- Arens R, Staal FJ, van Eggermond MC, van den Elsen PJ, Tiemessen MM, Baert MR, et al. T Cell Factor 1 Represses CD8. J Immunol. (2014) 193:5480– 7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303417
- Ding Y, Shen S, Lino AC, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. Betacatenin stabilization extends regulatory T cell survival and induces anergy in nonregulatory T cells. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:162–169. doi: 10.1038/nm1707
- 62. Graham JA, Fray M, Haseth SD, Lee KM, Lian M-M, Chase CM, et al. Suppressive regulatory T cell activity is potentiated by glycogen synthase kinase 3β inhibition. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:32852–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.150904
- Sacks D, Baxter B, Campbell BCV, Carpenter JS, Cognard C, Dippel D, et al. (2018). Multisociety consensus quality improvement revised consensus statement for endovascular therapy of acute ischemic stroke. *Int J Stroke* 13, 612–632. doi: 10.1177/1747493018778713
- 64. Bray SJ. Notch signalling: a simple pathway becomes complex. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2006) 7:678–89. doi: 10.1038/nrm2009
- Greenwald I. LIN-12/Notch signaling: lessons from worms and flies. Genes Develop. (1998) 12:1751–62. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.12.1751
- Tsakonas SA, Rand MD, Lake RJ. Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. *Science*. (1999) 284:770–6. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5415.770

- Canalis E. Notch in skeletal physiology and disease. Osteoporosis Int. (2018) 29:2611–21. doi: 10.1007/s00198-018-4694-3
- Kumar R, Juillerat-Jeanneret L, Golshayan D. Notch antagonists: potential modulators of cancer and inflammatory diseases. J Med Chem. (2016) 59:7719–37. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01516
- Soumelis V, Reche P, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edard G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 3:673–80. doi: 10.1038/ni805
- Kaemmerer E, Jeon MK, Berndt A, Liedtke C, Gassler N. Targeting Wnt Signaling via Notch in Intestinal Carcinogenesis. *Cancers*. (2019) 11:555. doi: 10.3390/cancers11040555
- Fre S, Huyghe M, Mourikis P, Robine S, Louvard D, Artavanis-Tsakonas SJN. Notch signals control the fate of immature progenitor cells in the intestine. *Nature*. (2005) 435:964–8. doi: 10.1038/nature03589
- van Es JH, Van Gijn ME, Riccio O, Van Den Born M, Vooijs M, Begthel H, et al. Notch/γ-secretase inhibition turns proliferative cells in intestinal crypts and adenomas into goblet cells. *Nature*. (2005) 435:959– 63. doi: 10.1038/nature03659
- Carulli AJ, Keeley TM, Demitrack ES, Chung J, Maillard I, Samuelson LC. Notch receptor regulation of intestinal stem cell homeostasis and crypt regeneration. *Dev Biol.* (2015) 402:98–108. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2015.03.012
- Sueda R, Kageyama R. Regulation of active and quiescent somatic stem cells by Notch signaling. *Develop Growth Diff.* (2020) 62:59– 66. doi: 10.1111/dgd.12626
- Siebel C, Lendahl U. Notch signaling in development, tissue homeostasis, and disease. *Physiol Rev.* (2017) 97:1235– 94. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00005.2017
- 76. Ghorbaninejad M, Heydari R, Mohammadi P, Shahrokh S, Haghazali M, Khanabadi B, et al. Contribution of NOTCH signaling pathway along with TNF-α in the intestinal inflammation of ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench*. (2019) 12:S80.
- 77. Zheng X, Tsuchiya K, Okamoto R, Iwasaki M, Kano Y, Sakamoto N, et al. Suppression of hath1 gene expression directly regulated by hes1 via notch signaling is associated with goblet cell depletion in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2011) 17:2251–60. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21611
- Zha J-M, Li H-S, Lin Q, Kuo W-T, Jiang Z-H, Tsai P-Y, et al. Interleukin 22 expands transit-amplifying cells while depleting Lgr5+ stem cells via inhibition of Wnt and notch signaling. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 7:255–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.09.006
- Ahmed I, Roy BC, Raach R-MT, Owens SM, Xia L, Anant S, et al. Enteric infection coupled with chronic Notch pathway inhibition alters colonic mucus composition leading to dysbiosis, barrier disruption and colitis. *PLoS One.* (2018)13:e0206701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.020 6701
- Tyagi A, Sharma AK, Damodaran C. A Review on Notch Signaling and Colorectal Cancer. Cells. (2020) 9:1549. doi: 10.3390/cells9061549
- Hue S, Kared H, Mehwish Y, Mouhamad S, Balbo M, Levy Y. Notch activation on effector T cells increases their sensitivity to T reg cell-mediated suppression through upregulation of TGF-β RII expression. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1796–803. doi: 10.1002/eji.20114 2330
- Levi B. Macrophages take rheumatoid arthritis up a Notch. Sci Transl Med. (2017) 9. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan3022
- Singh SB, Coffman CN, Carroll-Portillo A, Varga MG, Lin HC. Notch Signaling Pathway Is Activated by Sulfate Reducing Bacteria. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. (2021) 11:695299. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.695299
- Bissell MJ, Aggeler J. Dynamic reciprocity: how do extracellular matrix and hormones direct gene expression? *Progr Clin Biol Res.* (1987) 249:251–62.
- 85. Wu Z, Guan KL. Hippo signaling in embryogenesis and development. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2021) 46:51–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2020.08.008
- Ma S, Meng Z, Chen R, Guan K-L. The Hippo pathway: biology and pathophysiology. Ann Rev Biochem. (2019) 88:577– 604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-013118-111829
- Misra JR, Irvine KD. The Hippo Signaling Network and Its Biological Functions. Annu Rev Genet. (2018) 52:65– 87. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-120417-031621
- 88. Nterma P, Panopoulou E, Papadaki-Petrou E, Assimakopoulou M. Immunohistochemical profile of tumor suppressor proteins RASSF1A and

LATS1/2 in relation to p73 and YAP expression, of human inflammatory bowel disease and normal intestine. *Pathol Oncol Res.* (2020) 26:567–74. doi: 10.1007/s12253-018-00575-z

- Hong W, Guan K-L. The YAP and TAZ transcription co-activators: key downstream effectors of the mammalian Hippo pathway. *Sem Cell Develop Biol.* (2012) 23:785–93. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.05.004
- 90. Han Y. Analysis of the role of the Hippo pathway in cancer. *J Transl Med.* (2019) 17:116. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-1869-4
- Raj N, Bam R. Reciprocal Crosstalk Between YAP1/Hippo Pathway and the p53 Family Proteins: Mechanisms and Outcomes in Cancer. Front Cell Develop Biol. (2019) 7:159. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00159
- 92. Cai J, Zhang N, Zheng Y, De Wilde RF, Maitra A, Pan D. The Hippo signaling pathway restricts the oncogenic potential of an intestinal regeneration program. *Genes Develop.* (2010) 24:2383–8. doi: 10.1101/gad.1978810
- Yui S, Azzolin L, Maimets M, Pedersen MT, Fordham RP, Hansen SL, et al. YAP/TAZ-dependent reprogramming of colonic epithelium links ECM remodeling to tissue regeneration. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 22:35–49. e37. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.11.001
- Kriz V, Korinek V. Wnt, RSPO and Hippo Signalling in the Intestine and Intestinal Stem Cells. *Genes.* (2018) 9:20. doi: 10.3390/genes9010020
- Imajo M, Ebisuya M, Nishida E. Dual role of YAP and TAZ in renewal of the intestinal epithelium. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2015) 17:7–19. doi: 10.1038/ncb3084
- Fu V, Plouffe SW, Guan KL. The Hippo pathway in organ development, homeostasis, and regeneration. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* (2017) 49:99– 107. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.12.012
- Barry ER, Morikawa T, Butler BL, Shrestha K, de La Rosa R, Yan KS, et al. Restriction of intestinal stem cell expansion and the regenerative response by YAP. *Nature*. (2013) 493:106–10. doi: 10.1038/nature11693
- Zhou D, Conrad C, Xia F, Park J-S, Payer B, Yin Y, et al. Mst1 and Mst2 maintain hepatocyte quiescence and suppress hepatocellular carcinoma development through inactivation of the Yap1 oncogene. *Cancer Cell*. (2009) 16:425–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.09.026
- Taniguchi K, Wu L-W, Grivennikov SI, Jong PR, Lian I, Yu F-X, et al. A gp130–Src–YAP module links inflammation to epithelial regeneration. *Nature*. (2015)519:57–62. doi: 10.1038/nature14228
- 100. Ou W, Xu W, Liu F, Guo Y, Huang Z, Feng T, et al. Increased expression of yes-associated protein/YAP and transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif/TAZ activates intestinal fibroblasts to promote intestinal obstruction in Crohn's disease. *EBioMedicine*. (2021) 69:103452. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103452
- 101. Tang F, Gill J, Ficht X, Barthlott T, Cornils H, Schmitz-Rohmer D, et al. The kinases NDR1/2 act downstream of the Hippo homolog MST1 to mediate both egress of thymocytes from the thymus and lymphocyte motility. *Sci Signal.* (2015) 8:ra100–ra100. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aab2425
- 102. Li C, Bi Y, Li Y, Yang H, Yu Q, Wang J, et al. Dendritic cell MST1 inhibits Th17 differentiation. Nat Commun. (2017) 8:1–13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14275
- 103. De Nehme NT, Schmid JP, Debeurme F, André-Schmutz I, Lim A, Nitschke P, et al. MST1 mutations in autosomal recessive primary immunodeficiency characterized by defective naive T-cell survival. *Blood.* (2012) 119:3458–68. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-378364
- Yamauchi T, Moroishi T. Hippo Pathway in Mammalian Adaptive Immune System. Cells. (2019) 8:398. doi: 10.3390/cells8050398
- 105. Geng J, Yu S, Zhao H, Sun X, Li X, Wang P, et al. The transcriptional coactivator TAZ regulates reciprocal differentiation of TH 17 cells and T reg cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:800–12. doi: 10.1038/ni.3748
- Konsavage WM, Kyler SL, Rennoll SA, Jin G, Yochum GS. Wnt/βcatenin signaling regulates Yes-associated protein (YAP) gene

expression in colorectal carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:11730-9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.327767

- 107. Tsai BP, Hoverter NP, Waterman ML. Blending hippo and WNT: sharing messengers and regulation. *Cell.* (2012) 151:1401– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.007
- Imajo M, Miyatake K, Iimura A, Miyamoto A, Nishida E. A molecular mechanism that links Hippo signalling to the inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin signalling. *EMBO J.* (2012) 31:1109–22. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.487
- 109. Varelas X, Miller BW, Sopko R, Song S, Gregorieff A, Fellouse FA, et al. The Hippo pathway regulates Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Dev Cell.* (2010) 18:579–91. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2010.03.007
- 110. Heallen T, Zhang M, Wang J, Bonilla-Claudio M, Klysik E, Johnson RL, et al. Hippo pathway inhibits Wnt signaling to restrain cardiomyocyte proliferation and heart size. *Science.* (2011) 332:458–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1199010
- Rosenbluh J, Nijhawan D, Cox AG, Li X, Neal JT, Schafer EJ, et al. β-Catenindriven cancers require a YAP1 transcriptional complex for survival and tumorigenesis. *Cell.* (2012) 151:1457–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.026
- 112. Deng F, Peng L, Li Z, Tan G, Liang E, Chen S, et al. YAP triggers the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathway and promotes enterocyte self-renewal, regeneration and tumorigenesis after DSS-induced injury. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:1–16. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0244-8
- Jeon MK, Klaus C, Kaemmerer E, Gassler N. Intestinal barrier: molecular pathways and modifiers. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. (2013) 4:94. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v4.i4.94
- 114. Hayward P, Kalmar T, Martinez Arias A. Wnt/Notch signalling and information processing during development. *Development*. (2008) 135:411– 24. doi: 10.1242/dev.000505
- 115. Patni AP, Harishankar MK, Joseph JP, Sreeshma B, Jayaraj R, Devi A. Comprehending the crosstalk between Notch, Wnt and Hedgehog signaling pathways in oral squamous cell carcinoma—clinical implications. *Cell Oncol.* (2021) 44:473–94. doi: 10.1007/s13402-021-00591-3
- 116. Kay SK, Harrington HA, Shepherd S, Brennan K, Dale T, Osborne JM, et al. The role of the Hes1 crosstalk hub in Notch-Wnt interactions of the intestinal crypt. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2017) 13:e1005400. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005400
- Moparthi L, Koch S. Wnt signaling in intestinal inflammation. Differentiation. (2019) 108:24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2019.01.002

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Khoramjoo, Kazemifard, Baradaran Ghavami, Farmani, Shahrokh, Asadzadeh Aghdaei, Sherkat and Zali. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Impact of BNT162b2 mRNA Vaccination on the Development of Short and Long-Term Vaccine-Related Adverse Events in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Multi-Center Prospective Study

Mohammad Shehab<sup>1\*</sup>, Fatema Alrashed<sup>2</sup>, Israa Abdullah<sup>3</sup>, Ahmad Alfadhli<sup>1</sup>, Hamad Ali<sup>4,5</sup>, Mohamed Abu-Farha<sup>6</sup>, Arshad Mohamed Channanath<sup>6</sup>, Jehad Ahmed Abubaker<sup>6</sup> and Fahd Al-Mulla<sup>6\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Mark Mattar, MedStar Georgetown University Hospital, United States Y. F. Gu, Zhejiang University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Mohammad Shehab dr\_mshehab@hotmail.com Fahd Al-Mulla fahd.almulla@dasmaninstitute.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 22 February 2022 Accepted: 03 May 2022 Published: 08 June 2022

#### Citation:

Shehab M, Alrashed F, Abdullah I, Alfadhli A, Ali H, Abu-Farha M, Channanath AM, Abubaker JA and Al-Mulla F (2022) Impact of BNT162b2 mRNA Vaccination on the Development of Short and Long-Term Vaccine-Related Adverse Events in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Multi-Center Prospective Study. Front. Med. 9:881027. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.881027 <sup>1</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Mubarak Alkabeer University Hospital, Kuwait University, Jabriya, Kuwait, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmacy, Health Sciences Center (HSC), Kuwait University, Jabriya, Kuwait, <sup>3</sup> Clinical Pharmacy Unit, Department of Pharmacy, Kuwait Hospital, Sabah Al-Salem, Kuwait, <sup>4</sup> Department of Genetics and Bioinformatics, Dasman Diabetes Institute (DDI), Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>5</sup> Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Health Sciences Center (HSC), Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>6</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Dasman Diabetes Institute (DDI), Kuwait City, Kuwait

**Introduction:** Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) vaccination has been effective in protecting against severe COVID-19 infections and related mortality. It is recommended for all individuals including patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). However, safety data are lacking in this group of patients. Therefore, we aim to evaluate the short- and long-term vaccine related adverse events (AEs) in patients with IBD.

**Methods:** This is a prospective, observational cohort study investigating short- and long-term AEs related to the BNT162b2 vaccine in patients with IBD (study group) after the first and second dose compared to healthy participants (control group). Patients were recruited at the time of attendance to the clinic or infusion rooms. Short term (<3 weeks) localized and systemic AEs were assessed *via* questionnaire. Follow-up phone-based survey was made to collect data on long term (up to 24 weeks) AEs.

**Results:** A total of 408 patients answered the questionnaires, 204 patients in each group, the study and control group. No serious adverse events were reported in either the study or the control group after the first or the second dose. Participants in the control group reported more frequent pain at the injection site than those in the study group after the first dose [58 (57%) vs. 38 (37%) respectively, P = 0.005]. After the second dose, tiredness was reported more frequently in the control group [49 (48%)] compared to the study group [25 (24%) (P < 0.001)]. At 20–24 weeks post vaccination, 386 out of 408 (94.6%) patients were willing to participate in the follow-up phone based questionnaire [196 (96.1%) in the study group vs. 190 (93.1%) in the control group]. In both groups, none of the patients reported local, systemic, or severe adverse events (0 out of 386) at week 20–24 post second dose.

90

**Conclusion:** The BNT162b2 vaccine is safe in patients with IBD. No severe or longterm adverse events were reported in our study. The frequency of local and systemic adverse events after the second dose was generally higher among healthy participants compared to patients with IBD. Further studies including a larger cohort with a longer follow-up duration are needed to assess for possible rare adverse events.

Keywords: IBD, COVID-19, vaccine, safety, symptoms

## INTRODUCTION

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) emerged in Wuhan, China in December 2019 (1). The disease has been known to cause a significant morbidity and mortality among many of those infected. The outbreak, which was later declared a pandemic, had global health and socioeconomic consequences (2). This has led to an international effort for vaccine development and the introduction of the first vaccine, the BNT162b2 mRNA (Pfizer/BioNTech) vaccine in December 2020 followed by ChAdOx1 nCoV-19, mRNA-1273 (Moderna) and other vaccines, which later were authorized under the emergency use authorization (3, 4).

Thereafter, clinical trials and real-world data have shown efficacy and safety of these vaccines in reducing COVID-19 infection severity and decreasing both hospitalization and mortality in patients with COVID-19. Nevertheless, patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) were largely excluded from these trials (5–7).

Despite the fact that many of the patients with IBD are on immune-modifying medications, those patients were not found to be at higher risk of developing COVID-19 infection. However, being on corticosteroids was found to be a risk factor for developing more severe infection (8). Vaccination against the SARS-CoV-2 virus in patients with IBD is highly recommended by most international gastrointestinal societies (9, 10).

A study showed that the overall prevalence of COVID-19 vaccination among patients with IBD on biologic therapies was lower than that of the general population (11). Furthermore, many studies focused on the efficacy of COVID-19 vaccination in patients with IBD receiving biologic therapies, while the safety of vaccination was not extensively explored (12, 13). However, evidence regarding the vaccine safety in patients with IBD is slowly emerging, with the majority of studies investigating only the short-term adverse events following vaccination in patients with IBD (14, 15). Therefore, it is imperative to assess the long-term safety of SARS-CoV-2 vaccine in patients with IBD. This study aims to evaluate the short- and long-term adverse events following vaccination with BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine among patients with IBD.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed a prospective multi-center cohort study at two tertiary care centers (Muabark Alkabeer Hospital and Dasman Center) to assess short and long-term adverse events related to COVID-19 mRNA vaccine, BNT162b2 (Pfizer/BioNTech) in patients with IBD (study group) compared to healthy participants (control group).

This study was performed and reported in accordance with Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines (16). This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Review Board of Mubarak Alkabeer Hospital and Dasman Center "Protocol # RA HM-2021-008" as per the updated guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (64th WMA General Assembly, Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013) and of the US Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. The study was also approved by the regional health authority (reference: 3799, protocol number 1729/2021). Subsequently, patient informed written consent was obtained before inclusion in the study.

Localized and systemic adverse events to the BNT162b2 vaccine were assessed *via* paper questionnaires at the time of attendance at the gastroenterology infusion rooms and outpatient clinics from 1 August 2021 to 15 September 2021, and patients were followed up to 10 February 2022, using a phone based questionnaire. Outcomes were stratified by first and second doses.

Study group patients were eligible to be included if they: (1) had confirmed diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) before the start of the study, (2) had received one or two doses of COVID-19 vaccination with BNT162b2 (Pfizer-BioNTech), (3) were at least 18 years of age or older. Patients were excluded if they received any vaccine other than the BNT162b2 or if they tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 previously or had symptoms of COVID-19 since the start of the pandemic up to the time of vaccination. Patients were also excluded if they have one of the following within 8 weeks of vaccination: stool fecal calprotectin levels >250 ug/g, C-Reactive Protein (CRP) levels >10 mg/L, active symptoms of IBD or endoscopic active disease (refer below), use of corticosteroids or active extraintestinal manifestation of IBD (e.g., inflammatory uveitis, arthritis, skin rashes, etc).

Patients with Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) >4 and partial clinical Mayo score >1 are considered to have active symptoms of IBD. In addition, patients who had colonoscopies with an endoscopic Mayo score >1 for ulcerative colitis or Simple Endoscopic Score for Crohn's Disease (SES-CD) >4 are considered to have active endoscopic. In addition, patients who had severe allergic reactions to a previous vaccine in their life or were unwilling to participate in the study were excluded.

On the other hand, healthy participants (control) group were individuals who volunteered to participate in the study at Dasman Center with no previous history of chronic medical illnesses such as diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, autoimmune diseases, osteoarthritis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, renal disease, asthma, hyperlipidemia, or history of stroke and bleeding disorder. In addition, basic laboratory tests were performed (full blood count, renal function tests, liver function tests, lipid profile, HbA1c, ESR, and CRP) to objectively screen for underlying diseases.

The baseline questionnaire assessed the type of immunization, date of immunization(s), patient demographics and IBD characteristics, and data regarding IBD medication use around the time of vaccination. Participants were asked to report shortterm localized and systemic adverse events defined as adverse events occurring within 14 days after receiving the BNT162b2 vaccine dose 1 and 21 days of receiving vaccine dose 2. The follow-up phone-based survey collected data on long term (20– 24 weeks from the first dose) adverse events of BNT162b2 vaccination. Both groups were tested with SARS-CoV-2 PCR within 72h before each vaccine dose. Positive subjects were excluded from the study. Patients were also monitored 24 weeks post vaccination. Any subjects who reported symptoms of COVID-19 or tested positive for it were also excluded.

Vaccine adverse events were classified as the injection site (localized) or systemic reactions. Adverse localized reactions included pain, redness, itching, swelling, or tenderness at the injection site. Systemic adverse reactions included fever, chills, fatigue, headache, joint pain, muscle aches, nausea, allergic reaction, rash, or other. Severe adverse events were defined as incidence of pulmonary embolism, acute myocardial infarction, immune thrombocytopenia, and disseminated intravascular coagulation per the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) definition of potential adverse events of interest (17).

Diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) was made according to the international classification of diseases (ICD-10 version: 2016). Patients were considered to have IBD when they had ICD-10 K50, K50.1, K50.8, K50.9 corresponding to Crohn's disease (CD) and ICD-10 K51, K51.0, K51.2, K51.3, K51.5, K51.8, K51.9 corresponds to ulcerative colitis (UC) (18).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Analysis was conducted using R (19). We performed descriptive statistics to present the demographic characteristics of patients included in this study. The McNemar test was used to determine whether the proportion of participants who had any symptoms (yes or no) after the first dose of the vaccine differed after the second dose. Pearson's Chi-squared test was used to compare the proportions of symptoms of the control group vs. the study group. Participants in both groups were matched for *Age* and *Gender*. The technique attempts to choose matches that collectively optimize an overall criterion. The criterion used is the sum of the absolute pair distances in the matched sample.

## RESULTS

## **Baseline Characteristics**

Between 1 August 2021 and 15 September 2021, a total of 204 patients diagnosed with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) answered the questionnaire. Of these, 119 (58%) were males.

The median age of the patients included was 34.6 years (IQR 25–41). A total of 140 (68.7%) patients and 64 (31.3%) patients had Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, respectively. Most patients were receiving biologic therapy [82(40%)], followed by immunomodulators [75 (37.0%)], whereas 47 (23.0%) patients were on 5-aminosalicylates.

Before receiving the first dose, the mean CRP was 7 mg/L in the study group and 5 mg/L in the control group. Mean stool fecal calprotectin was 85 mcg/g in the study group.

In the study group, half of the patients (n = 102) received one dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine, while the other half (n =102) received two doses of the vaccine. Asthma (8%), arthritis (5%), and diabetes (3.9%) were the most common comorbidities in the study group. Demographics are shown in **Table 1**. No serious adverse events were reported in either the study or the control group after the first or the second dose.

# Symptoms After the First Dose in the Study Group vs. Control Group

Adverse events after the first vaccine dose are shown in **Table 2**. The most common local adverse event was pain at the injection site reported in 37% of the study group. In general, after receiving the first dose, local adverse events were reported more frequently by patients in the control group. Specifically, subjects in the control group reported more frequent pain at the injection site than those in the study group [58 (57%) vs. 38 (37%), respectively, P = 0.005]. Redness and swelling at the injection site were also more common in the control group compared to the study group, [17 (17%) vs. 3 (2.9%), P < 0.001, and 18 (18%) vs. 4 (3.9%), P = 0.002], respectively.

Similarly, after receiving the first dose, more subjects reported systemic reactions in the control group compared to the study group. Specifically, tiredness was reported by 35 (34%) of the subjects in the control group as opposed to 19 (19%) subjects in the study group (P = 0.011), muscle pain in 24 (24%) subjects in the control group and 11 (11%) subjects in the study group (P = 0.016), chills in 14 (14%) subjects in the control group compared to 4 (3.9%) subjects in the study group (P = 0.009). There was no significant difference in the occurrence of headaches, fever, or joint pain between the control group and the study group after the first dose of the vaccine.

# Symptoms After the Second Dose in the Study Group vs. Control Group

The frequency of local adverse events after the second dose was also generally higher among subjects in the control group than those in the study group (**Table 3**). Pain at the injection site was reported by 50 (49%) subjects in the control group and 32 (31%) subjects in the study group (P = 0.01). Additionally, 15 (15%) subjects in the control group reported redness at the injection site compared to 4 (3.9%) subjects in the study group (P = 0.008), while 29 (28%) subjects had swelling at the injection site in the control group compared to 3 (2.9%) subjects in the study group (P < 0.001).

 TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

**TABLE 2** Comparison of symptoms after the first dose in patients with IBD (study) group vs. healthy participants (control) group.

Characteristic	<i>N</i> = 204
Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	34.6 (25, 41
Gender	
Female	85 (42%)
Male	119 (58%)
Nationality	
Kuwaiti	180 (88%)
Non-Kuwaiti	24 (12%)
Disease extent, n (%)	
Ulcerative colitis (UC)	64 (31.3%)
E1: ulcerative proctitis	12 (18.7%)
E2: left sided colitis	20 (31.2%)
E3: extensive colitis	32 (50.0%)
Crohn's disease (CD)	140 (68.7%)
L1: ileal	62 (44.2%)
L2: colonic	24 (17.1%)
L3: ileocolonic	48 (34.4%)
L4: upper gastrointestinal	6 (4.3%)
B1: inflammatory	68 (48.8%)
B2: structuring	33 (23.3%)
B3: penetrating	39 (27.7%)
Past medical history	
Diabetes	8 (3.9%)
Hypertension	5 (2.0%)
Heart disease	5 (2.0%)
Arthritis	11 (5.0%)
COPD	2 (1.0%)
Kidney	5 (2.0%)
Asthma	16 (8.0%)
Hyperlipidemia	7 (3.0%)
IBD medications	
5-aminosalicylates	47 (23.0%)
Immunomodulators	75 (37.0%)
Biologics and small molecules	82 (40.0%)

<sup>a</sup>Median (IQR) or frequency (%).

When comparing systemic reactions among subjects in the control group as opposed to the study group, tiredness was reported by 49 (48%) subjects vs. 25 (24%) subjects (P < 0.001), headaches in 35 (34%) subjects vs. 21 (20%) (P = 0.001), muscle pain in 34 (33%) vs. 16 (15%) subjects (P < 0.001), chills in 19 (19%) vs. 9 (8.8%) subjects (P = 0.042), nausea in 14 (14%) subjects vs. 2 (2.0%) subjects (P = 0.002), and joint pain in 20 (20%) vs. 4 (3.9%) subjects (P < 0.001) respectively. Conversely, no significant difference was found in the frequency of fever between the control group and the study group [26 (25%) vs. 20 (20%), P = 0.3] (**Table 3**).

Other than nausea, none of the participants reported gastrointestinal (GI) related symptoms such as diarrhea or abdominal pain after the first or second dose. Furthermore, none of the patients reported any severe adverse events after the first

Characteristic	Study group, $N = 102^{a}$	Control group, $N = 102^{a}$	<b>P</b> <sup>b</sup>
Age_in years	33 (26, 41)	34 (28, 43)	
Gender			
Female	48 (47%)	52 (51%)	
Male	54 (53%)	50 (49%)	
Injection site			
Pain	38 (37%)	58 (57%)	0.005
Redness	3 (2.9%)	17 (17%)	< 0.00
Swelling	4 (3.9%)	18 (18%)	0.002
Systemic AEs			
Tiredness	19 (19%)	35 (34%)	0.011
Headache	15 (15%)	16 (16%)	0.8
Muscle pain	11 (11%)	24 (24%)	0.016
Chills	4 (3.9%)	14 (14%)	0.014
Fever	13 (13%)	14 (14%)	0.8
Nausea	1 (1.0%)	9 (8.8%)	0.009
Joint pain	8 (7.8%)	11 (11%)	0.5

<sup>a</sup>Median (IQR) or frequency (%).

<sup>b</sup>Wilcoxon rank sum test; Pearson's Chi-squared test.

or second dose. Additionally, no significant differences in any adverse reaction frequency were seen based on sex or age.

## Symptoms After the First Dose vs. the Second Dose in the Study Group

The frequency and type of adverse reactions after the first dose of the vaccine were compared with adverse reactions after the second dose of the vaccine among patients with IBD (study group). There was no significant difference in the frequency of symptoms reported after the first and second dose among subjects in the study group. The most common local reaction was pain at the injection site reported by 38 (37%) patients after the first dose and 32 (31%) patients after the second dose (P = 0.3). Redness was reported in 3 (2.9%) subjects after the first dose and 4 (3.9%) after the second dose (P > 0.9) and swelling 4 (3.9%) subjects after the first dose and in 3 (2.9%) after the second dose (P > 0.9).

Systemic reactions were reported as follows: tiredness in 19 (19%) after dose 1 vs. 25 (24%) after dose 2, P > 0.9, headache in 15 (15%) after dose 1 vs. 21 (20%) after dose 2, P > 0.9, muscle pain in 11 11% after dose 1 vs. 16 (15%) after dose 2, P > 0.9, chills in 4 (3.9%) after dose 1 vs. 9 (8.8%) after dose 2, P = 0.2, fever in 13 (13%) after dose 1 vs. 20 (20%) after dose 2, P = 0.2, nausea in 1 (1%) after dose 1 vs. 2 (2%) after dose 2, P > 0.9, and joint pain in 8 (7.8%) after dose 1 vs. 4 (3.9%) after dose 2, P = 0.3 (Table 4).

### Long-Term Adverse Events

At 20–24 weeks post vaccination, 386 out of 408 patients were willing to participate in the follow-up phone-based questionnaire. In the study group, 196 (96.1%) patients and 190

TABLE 3   Comparison of symptoms after the second dose in patients with IBD
(study) group vs. healthy participants (control) group.

Characteristic	Study group, $N = 102^{a}$	Control group, $N = 102^{a}$	Pb
Age_in years	34 (25, 41)	33 (25, 45)	
Gender			
Female	43 (42%)	49 (48%)	
Male	59 (58%)	53 (52%)	
Injection site			
Pain	32 (31%)	50 (49%)	0.010
Redness	4 (3.9%)	15 (15%)	0.008
Swelling	3 (2.9%)	29 (28%)	< 0.001
Systemic AEs			
Tiredness	25 (24%)	49 (48%)	< 0.001
Headache	21 (20%)	35 (34%)	0.001
Muscle pain	16 (15%)	34 (33%)	< 0.001
Chills	9 (8.8%)	19 (19%)	0.042
Fever	20 (20%)	26 (25%)	0.3
Nausea	2 (2.0%)	14 (14%)	0.002
Joint pain	4 (3.9%)	20 (20%)	<0.001

<sup>a</sup>Median (IQR) or frequency (%).

<sup>b</sup>Wilcoxon rank sum test; Pearson's Chi-squared test.

**TABLE 4** | Symptoms after the first dose and second dose in patients with IBD (study group).

Characteristic	First dose, $N = 102^{a}$	Second dose, $N = 102^{a}$	Pb
Injection site			
Pain	38 (37%)	32 (31%)	0.3
Redness	3 (2.9%)	4 (3.9%)	>0.9
Swelling	4 (3.9%)	3 (2.9%)	>0.9
Systemic AEs			
Tiredness	19 (19%)	25 (24%)	>0.9
Headache	15 (15%)	21 (20%)	>0.9
Muscle pain	11 (11%)	16 (15%)	>0.9
Chills	4 (3.9%)	9 (8.8%)	0.2
Fever	13 (13%)	20 (20%)	0.2
Nausea	1 (1.0%)	2 (2.0%)	>0.9
Joint pain	8 (7.8%)	4 (3.9%)	0.3

<sup>a</sup>n (%).

<sup>b</sup>McNemar's Chi-squared test with continuity correction; McNemar's Chi-squared test.

(93.1%) in the control group answered the questionnaire. 21 (10.7%) out of 196 patients in the study group, and 19 (10.0%) out of 190 in the control group reported having a breakthrough SARS-CoV-2 infection confirmed by PCR test after the second dose of vaccination. None of the patients who tested positive were hospitalized.

In both groups, none of the patients reported local, systemic, or severe adverse events (0 out of 386). In addition, short-term local and systemic adverse events have been resolved in the control and study groups.

### DISCUSSION

We performed a survey-based study to explore the onset of adverse events related to the BNT162b2 vaccine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) compared with healthy participants. In our study, none of our patients had severe vaccine-related adverse events, as they are very rare (20). We found that the most common adverse events after the first and the second doses were tiredness and headache, followed by local pain at the injection site. Nausea was reported in both study and control group, however, none of the groups reported other gastrointestinal (GI) related symptoms such as diarrhea or abdominal pain.

Weaver et al. (21) explored vaccine related adverse events among patients with IBD and the effect of vaccination on IBD disease course. Similar to our study, they found that severe localized and systemic vaccine-related adverse events were rare in patients with IBD. Injection site tenderness (68%) and fatigue (46% dose 1, 68% dose 2) were the most commonly reported localized and systemic adverse events after vaccination.

Interestingly, we also found that local and systemic adverse events were more common in healthy participants compared to patients with IBD. Given that the majority of our IBD cohort are on biologics or immunomodulators, it is possible that these medications blunt the immune response to vaccination. Botwin et al. (14) evaluated post-mRNA vaccination adverse events in 246 vaccinated adults with IBD participating in a longitudinal vaccine registry. Similar to our finding, the study found that adverse events were less common in individuals receiving biologic therapy. The authors concluded that patients with IBD can be reassured that the risk of adverse events is likely not increased, and may be reduced while receiving concomitant biologic therapy.

None of the participants in our study experienced severe short- or long-term adverse events. One systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated SARSCoV-2 vaccination in patients with IBD. The study did not find any severe adverse events or vaccinerelated mortality in patients with IBD and the majority of patients reported mild adverse events after vaccination, including fatigue, headache, dizziness, and gastrointestinal symptoms (22).

Another study (23) observed a higher rate of diarrhea and abdominal pain in vaccinated patients with IBD compared to the general population. They also found that age and disease remission was inversely correlated with the onset of GI symptoms. To our knowledge, no evidence has emerged of IBD flare-ups caused by COVID-19 vaccination. Furthermore, in a population-based study, the effect of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination on IBD course was evaluated for a period of 4 weeks in patients with IBD. The study reported no clinical and laboratory exacerbation compared with the pre-vaccination baseline and no increase in corticosteroid prescription 1 month after vaccination in a large retrospective cohort compared with a matched unvaccinated cohort (24).

Another study (15) explored immediate (within 1 day) adverse events after mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in patients with IBD in the United States. Similar to our study, the authors found that the incidence of adverse events including acute myocardial infarction, anaphylaxis, facial nerve palsy, and coagulopathy in patients with IBD after COVID-19 vaccination was small and similar to a matched cohort of patients without IBD. Immediate adverse events after vaccination were rare in both cohorts.

In our study, none of our patients reported long-term adverse events 20–24 weeks after vaccination. One study (20) involved more than 1.5 million BNT162b2 vaccinated persons from an integrated healthcare organization, followed over a period of 42 days. The study reported an excess risk of lymphadenopathy (78.4 events per 1,00,000 persons), herpes zoster infection (15.8 events), appendicitis (5.0 events), and myocarditis (2.7 events) in the vaccinated cohort. However, the author concluded that their results indicate that SARS-CoV-2 infection is itself a very strong risk factor for myocarditis, and it also substantially increases the risk of multiple other serious adverse events.

Taken together, these emerging data provide reassurance that COVID-19 vaccination does not cause severe adverse events in patients with IBD and support recent consensus recommendations to vaccinate all patients with IBD. British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) (10), the International Organization for the Study of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IOIBD) (25), and the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology (9) recommend that all patients with IBD should receive SARS-CoV-2 vaccination regardless of whether patients were in remission or not. In addition, the CORALE-IBD study group is assessing and conducting studies at Cedars-Sinai to understand the effects of vaccination against COVID-19 in people with IBD, and their recent publications reassured patients with IBD and provider communities that symptoms after the second and third dose of mRNA vaccine are generally mild and well tolerated. It also showed that responses after mRNA vaccination in adults with IBD receiving various medication regimens are robust (26, 27).

Our study has several strengths. It provides real world data for the public about adverse effects and vaccine safety in a subpopulation that was not studied in the initial clinical trials. In addition, the comparison to healthy participants and the rigorous matching allowed for precise estimation of the rate of adverse events in patients with IBD. Finally, the long-term follow-up period helps detect any possible late events that may occur several weeks after vaccination.

Our study also has some limitations. Given the observational nature of this study, it is possible that some hidden confounding variables were still not properly addressed. In addition, this study was performed prospectively in the context of an ongoing pandemic, therefore, the association between any breakthrough infection and any given adverse events cannot be ruled out. In addition, COVID antibody testing was not performed for all patients which could help identify those patients with previous silent infection. However, in our follow-up phone-based survey we asked patients about any previous or current SARS-CoV-2

## REFERENCES

1. WHO. *Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)*. (2020). Available online at: https:// www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-andinfection. Despite these limitations, our study provides highly anticipated data regarding the short- and long-term adverse events of the SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in patients with IBD.

## CONCLUSION

The BNT162b2 vaccine is safe in patients with IBD. No severe or long-term adverse events were reported in our study. The frequency of local and systemic adverse events after the second dose was generally higher among healthy participants compared to patients with IBD. Further studies including a larger cohort with a longer follow-up duration are needed to assess for possible rare adverse events.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data presented in this study are available upon request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to local legal and ethical regulations.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Review Board of Mubarak Alkabeer Hospital and Dasman Center Protocol # RA HM-2021-008 as per the updated guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (64th WMA General Assembly, Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013) and of the US Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. The study was also approved by the Regional Health Authority (Reference: 3799, Protocol Number 1729/2021). Subsequently, the patient informed written consent was obtained before inclusion in the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MS: study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and submission of the manuscript. FA, MS, and IA: acquisition of data and drafting of the manuscript. AC: statistical analysis and interpretation of data. HA: data collection and supervision. JA and FA: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and study supervision. All the authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was funded by Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) Grant (RA HM-2021-008).

answers-hub/q-a-detail/coronavirus-disease-covid-19 (accessed January 30, 2022).

 WHO. WHO Director-General's Opening Remarks at the Media Briefing on COVID-19. (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/directorgeneral/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-themedia-briefing-on-covid-19-3-march-2020 (accessed January 30, 2022).

- Food and Drug Administration. Spikevax and Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine. (2020). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparednessand-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/spikevax-and-modernacovid-19-vaccine (accessed February 9, 2022).
- Food and Drug Administration. Comirnaty and Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. (2021). https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-andresponse/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/comirnaty-and-pfizerbiontech-covid-19-vaccine (accessed February 9, 2022).
- Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S et al. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:2603–15. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2034577
- Falsey AR, Sobieszczyk ME, Hirsch I, Sproule S, Robb ML, Corey L, et al. Phase 3 safety and efficacy of AZD1222 (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19) COVID-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med. (2021) 385:2348–60. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2105290
- Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R, et al. Efficacy and safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:403–16. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2035389
- Alrashed F, Battat R, Abdullah I, Charabaty A, Shehab M. Impact of medical therapies for inflammatory bowel disease on the severity of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol.* (2021) 8:e000774. doi: 10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000774
- 9. Tse F, Moayyedi P, Waschke KA, MacMillan M, Forbes N, CarrolMW et al. COVID-19 vaccination in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: communiqué from the canadian association of gastroenterology. *J Can Assoc Gastroenterol.* (2021) 4:49–9. doi: 10.1093/jcag/gwaa046
- Alexander JL, Moran G, Gaya DR, Raine T, Hart A, Kennedy NA, et al. BSG inflammatory bowel disease section and clinical research group position statement on SARS-CoV2 vaccination. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 6:218–4. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00024-8
- Shehab M, Zurba Y, Abdulsalam A. Al, Alfadhli A, Elouali S. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among patients with inflammatory bowel disease receiving biologic therapies in kuwait: a cross-sectional study vaccines. *Vaccines*. (2022) 10:55. doi: 10.3390/vaccines10010055
- Shehab M, Alrashed F, Alfadhli A, Alotaibi K, Alsahli A, Mohammad H, et al. Serological response to bnt162b2 and chadox1 ncov-19 vaccines in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on biologic therapies. *Vaccines*. (2021) 9:1471. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9121471
- Shehab M, Abu-Farha M, Alrashed F, Alfadhli A, Alotaibi K, Alsahli A, et al. Immunogenicity of bnt162b2 vaccine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on infliximab combination therapy: a multicenter prospective study. *J Clin Med.* (2021)10:5362. doi: 10.3390/jcm10225362
- Botwin GJ Li D, Figueiredo J, Cheng S, Braun J, McGovern DPB, et al. Adverse events after SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2021) 116:1746– 51. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000001342
- Hadi YB, Thakkar S, Shah-Khan SM, Hutson W, Sarwari A, Singh S. COVID-19 Vaccination is safe and effective in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: analysis of a large multi-institutional research network in the united states. *Gastroenterology*. (2021) 161:1336–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.06.014
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Int J Surg.* (2014) 12:1495–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014. 07.013
- Food and Drug Administration. Initial Results of Near Real-Time Safety Monitoring of COVID-19 Vaccines in Persons Aged 65 Years and Older. (2021).

Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/safetyavailability-biologics/initial-results-near-real-time-safety-monitoringcovid-19-vaccines-persons-aged-65-years-and-older (accessed February 2, 2022).

- ICD-10. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems : Tenth Revision, 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization (2004).
- 19. R Core Team. Free Software Foundation. Boston, MA (2017).
- Barda N, Dagan N, Ben-Shlomo Y, Kepten E, Waxmen J, Ohana R, et al. Safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in a nationwide setting. N Engl J Med. (2021) 385:1078–90. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2110475
- Weaver KN, Zhang X, Dai X, Watkins R, Adler J, Dubinsky MC, et al. Impact of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination on inflammatory bowel disease activity and development of vaccine-related adverse events: results from PREVENT-COVID. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2021) 2021, izab302. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izab302
- Sung K-Y, Chang T-E, Wang Y-P, Lin CC, Chang CY, Hou MC, et al. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Chin Med Assoc.* (2022) 85:421–30. doi: 10.1097/jcma.00000000000682
- Cannatelli R, Ferretti F, Carmagnola S, Bergna IMB, Monico MC, Maconi G, et al. Risk of adverse events and reported clinical relapse after COVID-19 vaccination in patients with IBD. *Gut.* (2021) 2021:gutjnl-2021-326237. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-326237
- 24. Ben-Tov A, Banon T, Chodick G, Kariv R, Assa A, Gazit S. BNT162b2 messenger RNA COVID-19 vaccine effectiveness in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: preliminary real-world data during mass vaccination campaign. *Gastroenterology.* (2021) 161:1715–7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.06.076
- Rubin DT, Abreu MT, Rai V, Siegel CA. Management of patients with crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis during the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic: results of an international meeting. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 159:6– 13.e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.04.002
- 26. Li D, Debbas P, Cheng S, Braun J, McGovern DPB, Melmed GY, et al. Post-vaccination symptoms after a third dose of mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *medRxiv*. (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.12.05.21266089
- Melmed GY, Botwin GJ, Sobhani K, Li D, Prostko J, Figueiredo J, et al. Antibody responses after SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination in in adults with inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:1768– 70. doi: 10.7326/M21-2483

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Shehab, Alrashed, Abdullah, Alfadhli, Ali, Abu-Farha, Channanath, Abubaker and Al-Mulla. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Impact of Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and IBD Medications on Risk of Hyperlipidemia and *in vitro* Hepatic Lipogenic-Related Gene Expression: A Population-Based Cohort Study

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Kevin Sheng-Kai Ma, University of Pennsylvania, United States Chung-Han Ho, Chi Mei Medical Center, Taiwan

#### \*Correspondence:

Yun-Ping Lim limyp@mail2000.com.tw; limyp@mail.cmu.edu.tw Yi-Jen Fang fang531109@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 01 April 2022 Accepted: 16 May 2022 Published: 13 June 2022

#### Citation:

Tien N, Wu T-Y, Lin C-L, Wu C-J, Hsu C-Y, Fang Y-J and Lim Y-P (2022) Impact of Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) and IBD Medications on Risk of Hyperlipidemia and in vitro Hepatic Lipogenic-Related Gene Expression: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Front. Med. 9:910623. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.910623 Ni Tien<sup>1,2†</sup>, Tien-Yuan Wu<sup>3,4†</sup>, Cheng-Li Lin<sup>5</sup>, Chia-Jui Wu<sup>6</sup>, Chung-Y Hsu<sup>7</sup>, Yi-Jen Fang<sup>8,9,10,11,12\*</sup> and Yun-Ping Lim<sup>6,13,14\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Laboratory Science and Biotechnology, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pharmacy, Taichung Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tzu Chi University, Hualien, Taiwan, <sup>5</sup> Management Office for Health Data, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>6</sup> Department of Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>7</sup> Graduate Institute of Biomedical Sciences, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>8</sup> Research Center for Environmental Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup> Ph.D. Program in Environmental and Occupational Medicine, College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University and National Health Research Institutes, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>10</sup> Graduate Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Health Research Institutes, Zhunan, Taiwan, <sup>12</sup> Digestive Disease Center, Show Chwan Memorial Hospital, Changhua, Taiwan, <sup>13</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>14</sup> Department of Medical Research, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) present a higher risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) due to chronic inflammation, which plays an essential role in atherogenesis. Hyperlipidemia is another risk factor for CVDs; however, the association between IBD, IBD medications, and hyperlipidemia remains controversial. We conducted a nationwide, population-based, retrospective, cohort study to examine the effect of IBD and IBD medications on the risk of developing hyperlipidemia. The effects of IBD medications on the expression of lipogenesis-related hepatic genes were also evaluated. We obtained data from the Longitudinal Health Insurance Database of Taiwan from patients with new-onset IBD and a comparison cohort of patients without IBD. A Cox proportional hazards regression model was used to analyze the difference in the risk of developing hyperlipidemia between the two cohorts. We also examined the influence of IBD medications on the expression of lipogenesis-related hepatic genes. After adjusting for comorbidities and confounding factors, the case group (N = 14,524) had a higher risk for hyperlipidemia than the control group (N = 14,524) [adjusted hazards ratio (aHR), 2.18]. Patients with IBD that did not receive IBD medications exhibited a significantly higher risk of hyperlipidemia (aHR, 2.20). In those treated with IBD medications, the risk of developing hyperlipidemia was significantly lowered than those without such medications (all aHR  $\leq$  0.45). Gene expression analysis indicated that IBD medications downregulated the expression of lipogenesis-related genes. Screening blood lipids in IBD patients is needed to explore the specific role and impact of IBD medications in the development of CVD.

Keywords: inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), IBD medications, hyperlipidemia, Longitudinal Health Insurance Database (LHID), lipogenesis

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) have no cure and are characterized by chronic, recurrent exacerbation and intestinal inflammation, resulting in altered gut functions (1). IBDs consist of Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). The fundamental causes of these autoimmune diseases include the interplay between genetic and environmental factors, excluding pathogenic infections (2). IBD diagnoses depend on multiple factors, including clinical, endoscopic, radiological, and histological features, but not infectious etiology (1). In Taiwan, crude CD and UC incidences increased from 0.17 to 0.47 and 0.54 to 0.95 new cases per 100,000 persons, respectively, between 2001 and 2015. Moreover, CD and UC prevalence increased from 0.6 to 3.9 and 2.1 to 12.8 cases per 100,000 persons, respectively, within the same time frame. The maleto-female ratio in the study samples were 2.19 for CD and 1.62 for UC (3-5). Meanwhile, IBD prevalence in the USA is estimated to be 1.1-3 million adults (6). In the Western world, IBD prevalence is approximately 50-200 and 120-200 cases per 100,000 persons for CD and UC, respectively (7). J. Cosnes, C. Gower-Rousseau, P. Seksik, and A. Cortot, "Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases," Gastroenterology, vol. 140, no. 6, pp. 1785-1794.e4, 2011. View at: Publisher Site. UC, as a chronic and recurrent intestinal disease, is mainly an autoimmune disease caused by genetic-environmental interactions, rather than colonic colitis caused by general bacterial and viral infections.IBD cases increase annually, and drugs and changes to the environment can improve patient quality of life. Medications remain the main therapeutic strategy for IBD and to relieve inflammation. In addition, surgery can be introduced if medications are unsuccessful or result in serious adverse reactions (1).

IBDs coincide with clotting abnormalities and vascularrelated comorbidities, such as deep vein thrombosis, portal vein thrombosis, and ischemic vascular diseases (8). It has been reported that patients with IBD have a venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk 1.7–5.9 times greater than the general population. This has been found to affect 0.55–6.15% of patients with IBD, and the overall prevalence of VTE in IBD subjects was estimated as 1–8% (9). Moreover, VTE-associated mortality is twice as high in patients with IBD than in the general population (10). Further, a meta-analysis demonstrated that IBD is associated with an 18% higher risk of CVD (11), and the risk is higher for females than males [adjusted odds ratio (aOR), 1.28] (8). Additionally, the risk of mesenteric ischemia is increased 3.4-fold, and that of VTE is increased 1.4-fold (12).

The relationship between IBD and hyperlipidemia risk should be evaluated. Moreover, further research is warranted to devise therapeutic modalities to prevent hyperlipidemia and consequently decrease the CVD risk for IBD patients. Preventive or therapeutic strategies can also be developed to identify the pathogenic causes of these complications (9, 11, 13-19). Hyperlipidemia, a well-established CVD risk factor (20), is defined as abnormal lipid levels with total cholesterol  $(TC) \ge 200 \text{ mg/dL}$ , triglycerides  $(TGs) \ge 150 \text{ mg/dL}$ , highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) < 40 mg/dL, and low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C)  $\geq$  130 mg/dL. Hyperlipidemia can originate from genetics, diet, lifestyle, metabolic disorders, and other diseases (21). Additionally, the degree of hyperlipidemia correlates with CVD severity and can predict prognosis. For example, patients with IBD often have changing blood lipid profiles, similar to those reported in CVD, frequently caused by IBD medications. Thus, risk factor modulation is needed to reduce blood lipid levels and CVD risk (8).

In contrast to lipid levels in hyperlipidemia, patients with IBD have low levels of TC and HDL-C and high levels of LDL-C and TGs (22). The exact mechanism underlying these altered levels is unknown; however, active inflammation and changes to lipid, apolipoprotein, and lipoprotein profiles via altered lipid *de novo* synthesis and degradation might play a role (22–24). Despite these lipid levels, patients with IBD have an increased risk of CVD (25), resulting in a "lipid paradox". However, studies showing these results are limited by small sample sizes. Moreover, the relationship between IBD therapeutics and reduced CVD risk remains controversial (26). Thus, we conducted a long-term, retrospective study with a large cohort to evaluate patients with IBD and the effects of their medications.

Abbreviations: ACLY, ATP citrate lyase; ACP, acid phosphatase; AMI, acute myocardial infarction; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; CAD, coronary artery disease; CD, Crohn's disease; CI, confidence interval; CKD, chronic kidney disease; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CRP, C-reactive protein; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; FAS, fatty acid synthase; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; HR, hazard ratio; IBDs, inflammatory bowel diseases; ICD-9-CM, International Classification of Diseases, Clinical Modification; IFN-y, interferon y; IL-6, interleukin 6; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; LHID, Longitudinal Health Insurance Database; LXRs, Liver X receptors; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NHIRD, National Health Insurance Research Database; NHRI, National Health Research Institutes; NO, nitric oxide; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; PNPP, para-nitrophenylphosphate; qRT-PCR, quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction; RR, relative risk; SCD, stearoyl CoA desaturase; SD, standard deviation; SE, standard error; SREBP-1c, sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; TC, total cholesterol; TGs, triglycerides; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; UC, ulcerative colitis; VTE, venous thromboembolism.

The mechanisms underlying the increased risk of CVD in patients with IBD are under investigation; however, systemic inflammation might play a role. Different drugs are selectively and broadly used to inhibit inflammation in IBD, controlling the active disease and inhibiting remission. Pharmacological treatment for IBD can be divided into four main classes, (1) aminosalicylates (5-aminosalicylic acid derivatives), (2) corticosteroids, (3) immunosuppressants, and (4) monoclonal antibodies (26). 5-Aminosalicylates are the most widely used and are ideal for IBD with mild to moderate symptoms mainly by blocking prostaglandin and leukotriene production (27). Corticosteroids are also used for reducing inflammation, however, they frequently have side effects dependent on the dose and treatment duration (28). Immunosuppressive and immunoregulatory agents could include the suppression of a specific subgroup of T cells, achieving a therapeutic response after a prolonged period (28). Therefore, these drugs are only useful for long-term control, rather than acute disease. Biologics are groups of monoclonal antibodies for patients with a reduced response to IBD drugs with small molecules. Several anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapies could inhibit TNF production by macrophages through altered regulatory peptide expression with IBD, which might lead to monocyte apoptosis (28). In addition, biologics can block leukocyte migration by blocking integrin adhesion molecules. Nevertheless, when prolonged treatment results in complications or adverse events, surgery can also be performed.

The liver is responsible for most processes involved in lipid homeostasis, including lipogenesis and blood lipid balancing. Therefore, any changes in hepatic lipid metabolism might affect the balance and homeostasis of blood lipid levels and could result in the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (29, 30). Liver X receptor alpha (LXRa), a nuclear receptor activated by ligands and act as transcription factor, is highly and specifically expressed in liver, responsible for lipid metabolism and de novo synthesis and excretion of cholesterol (31). LXRa activation results in the development of steatosis, which is mediated by the hepatic lipogenic pathway, primarily through sterol regulatory element binding protein 1 (SREBP-1c) (32). In addition, hepatic expression of LXRα, SREBP-1c, and their target genes, was found to be significantly upregulated in liver biopsies from NAFLD patients (33). Ultrasonographic monitoring revealed hepatic steatosis in approximately 50% of patients with associated with hypertriglyceridemia (29). Hyperlipidemia is commonly associated with NAFLD and is an independent risk factor of atherogenic dyslipidemia based on various clinical studies (33). Thus, the most important role of LXRa is the maintenance of lipid homeostasis as it regulates the balance of lipid-metabolism genes.

Further studies are warranted to determine how treatments for IBD affect hyperlipidemia risk. Thus, we performed a nationwide, population-based, cohort study to evaluate the risk of hyperlipidemia in patients with IBD from the 2000 to 2012 National Health Insurance Research Database (NHIRD) compared to that in the general population in Taiwan. We also examined the impact of IBD medications on the risk of hyperlipidemia and the expression of lipogenesis-related genes in differentiated HepaRG cells. We show that patients with IBD are more likely to have hyperlipidemia than those without IBD.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Data Source**

We obtained data from the NHIRD. The database covers >99% of the population of 23 million in Taiwan and was constructed using comprehensive inpatient and outpatient health care information, including demographic data, diagnostic codes, and prescription details. The dataset from the NHIRD is a subset of the Longitudinal Health Insurance Database, which comprises data of one million randomly sampled beneficiaries enrolled in the NHI program. The International Classification of Diseases, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM, procedure code 555 and 556) was used as the disease diagnostic tool. This study was approved by the Central Regional Research Ethics Committee of China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan (CMUH-104-REC2-115-R5).

## **Study Population**

In this population-based cohort study, we established an IBD cohort and a non-IBD cohort of patients enrolled in the database from January 1, 2000 to December 31, 2012 to compare their risk of hyperlipidemia. The index date of the case group (IBD cohort) was defined as the date of the first diagnosis of IBD and that of the control group (as the non-IBD cohort) was a random date during the study period. We excluded patients who had a history of hyperlipidemia before the index date. According to age (5-year intervals), gender, and the index year, the cohorts were frequency matched at a 1:1 ratio. The end date of the follow-up period was the onset of hyperlipidemia, death, or the end of study period (December 31, 2013), whichever came first. The primary outcome of the study was an individual event of hyperlipidemia (ICD-9-CM code 272) is defined as increased serum fasting levels of TC ( $\geq$ 200 mg/dL), LDL-C ( $\geq$ 130 mg/dL), or TG ( $\geq$ 150 mg/dL), and elevations of fasting TC concentration, which may or may not be associated with the elevated TG concentration, and decreased of HDL-C. To avoid subjects being mistakenly diagnosed or mistakenly coded as hyperlipidemia cases, we therefore defined patients with at least two claims for outpatient care and/or one hospitalization visit to ensure the validity of diagnosis. We selected potential confounders based on the previous research for multivariable analysis, including age, sex, and comorbidities of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (ICD-9-CM 250), obesity (ICD-9-CM 278), coronary artery disease (CAD) (ICD-9-CM 410-414), hypertension (ICD-9-CM 401-405), and chronic kidney disease (CKD) (ICD-9-CM 585, 586). Further analysis was performed to investigate the effect of IBD treatment available in Taiwan on the risk of hyperlipidemia compared to non-IBD controls, IBD without medical treatment, and IBD without surgical treatment.

## **Chemicals and Cell Culture**

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and were of the highest-purity grade available. Chemicals were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at appropriate concentrations before use. Human hepatoma HepaRG<sup>TM</sup> cells were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Frozen cells were thawed and maintained in Williams' E medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% Fetal Clone<sup>TM</sup> II serum (Hyclone<sup>TM</sup>, GE Healthcare, Chicago, Illinois, USA),  $1 \times L$ -glutamine,  $5 \mu g/mL$  human insulin, and  $50 \mu M$  hydrocortisone hemisuccinate without antibiotics for 2 weeks. Next, the medium was replaced with the same medium plus 2% DMSO for two additional weeks to induce differentiated hepatocyte-like properties. Cells were cultured in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. Cell viability was assessed using *p*-nitrophenylphosphate in an acid phosphatase assay (ACP), as previously reported (34).

## RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)

To evaluate the effects of IBD medications (corticosteroids, immunomodulators, and aminosalicylates) on hepatic lipogenesis-related gene expression, mRNA levels were measured. Total RNA was extracted from differentiated HepaRG cells under various treatment conditions using a Direct-zol<sup>TM</sup> RNA MiniPrep kit (ZYMO Research, Irvine, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The quantity and purity of RNA were confirmed by calculating the ratio of the absorbance at 260 nm to the absorbance at 280 nm. Total RNA (1 µg) was subjected to synthesis of first-strand cDNA using a MultiScribe<sup>TM</sup> reverse transcriptase kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). Expression of SREBP-1c, SCD, FAS, adenosine 5'triphosphate citrate lyase (ACLY), ACC, LXR $\alpha$ , and  $\beta$ -actin was analyzed by qRT-PCR using Luminaris Color HiGreen qPCR master mix (ThermoFisher Scientific) in the StepOnePlus<sup>TM</sup> Real-Time PCR System following the standard procedure. Each pair of specific primers used for RT-PCR analysis is listed in Table 1. The amount of target cDNA in each sample was calculated by determining a fractional PCR threshold cycle number (Ct value). The relative mRNA levels were normalized to those of  $\beta$ -actin, and the target cDNA expression was calculated as follows:  $2^{-(Cttargetgene-Ct\beta-actin)}$ . Data are presented as fold-change compared to the control group.

## **Statistical Analysis**

We evaluated the frequency and percentage of each categorical variable and the mean and standard deviation (SD) of each continuous variable. A chi-squared test was used to examine the differences of the demographic categorical variables between the IBD and non-IBD cohorts. Student's t-test was used to measure the association of continuous demographic variables between the two cohorts. To address the concern of constant proportionality, we examined the proportional hazard model assumption using a test of scaled Schoenfeld residuals. Results showed that there was no significant relationship between Schoenfeld residuals for IBD and follow-up time (*p*-value = 0.68) in the model evaluating the hyperlipidemia risk. Stratified Cox models were used to estimate the risk of hyperlipidemia by sex, age, and comorbidity between the two cohorts. The aHR was obtained for age, sex, and comorbidities of T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD disease through multivariable analysis. The Kaplan-Meier method was applied to estimate cumulative incidence curves of hyperlipidemia in both cohorts, with significance based on the log-rank test. Analyses were performed in SAS software, version 9.4, and survival curves were drawn using R software.

For *in vitro* studies, data obtained from separate measurements were reported as the mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE). The *P*-value for each experimental comparison was determined using analysis of variance, followed by the least significant difference test for multiple comparisons. All *P*-values were determined relative to the control group, as indicated in the figures. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows, version 20.0 (IBM SPSS, Armonk, NY, USA). *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

## **Baseline Characteristics: Demographic and Association Findings**

Table 2 shows the baseline characteristics of the study population from 2000 to 2013. After propensity score matching, and calculating the real-world database power as 0.9996, this study included 14,524 patients with and without IBD, respectively. Among the types of IBD, 1,362 (9.38%) and 13,162 (90.6%) patients had UC and CD, respectively. The mean ages for the IBD and non-IBD cohorts were 44.3 (SD = 16.4) and 43.9 (SD = 16.7) years, respectively. No significant differences were observed between the two cohorts in sex, age, or comorbidity of CKD. Patients with IBD were at higher risk of T2DM, obesity, CAD, and hypertension. Regarding treatment for patients with IBD, 68.6%, 0.97%, 3.60%, 0.03%, and 1.46% of patients received corticosteroids, immunomodulators, aminosalicylates, monoclonal antibodies, and surgical treatment, respectively. As shown in Figure 1, the Kaplan-Meier plots revealed that the cumulative incidence curve of hyperlipidemia showed a significantly higher risk in patients with IBD than those without.

Table 3 displays the stratified analyses of the risk of hyperlipidemia by sex, age, and comorbidity between the two cohorts. Compared with the control cohort, the IBD cohort faced a 2.18-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia (95% CI, 2.03-2.34). Compared with that in the control cohort, UC resulted in a 2.60-fold increased hyperlipidemia risk (95% CI, 2.06-3.28), and the CD group was associated with a 2.15-fold increased hyperlipidemia risk (95% CI, 1.99-2.32). Moreover, females had a 2.10-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia in the IBD cohort after controlling for other factors (95% CI, 1.90-2.32), while the risk for males in the IBD cohort was 2.25-fold (95% CI, 2.03-2.49). Among patients aged  $\leq$  49 years, the IBD cohort had a 2.00fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia than the non-IBD cohort (95% CI, 1.81-2.21). Similarly, those aged 50-64 years had a 2.10-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia in the IBD cohort (95% CI, 1.86-2.37). Additionally, among those aged  $\geq$ 65 years, the IBD cohort had a 2.78-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia (95% CI, 2.34-3.31). Moreover, among patients without comorbidities, the IBD cohort had a 2.06-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia compared to the non-IBD cohort. Meanwhile, patients with comorbidities in the

#### TABLE 1 | Sequences of PCR primers.

Gene Species		Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
SREBP-1c	human	CGC TCC TCC ATC AAT GAC AA	TGC AGA AAG CGA ATG TAG TCG AT
SCD	human	CCG ACG TGG CTT TTT CTT CT	GCG TAC TCC CCT TCT CTT TGA C
FAS	human	ACA TCA TCG CTG GTG GTC TG	GGA GCG AGA AGT CAA CAC GA
ACLY	human	GTG TGG ACG TGG GTG ATG TG	TTG ATG TCC TCA GGA TTC AGT TTC
ACC	human	CTC TTG ACC CTG GCT GTG TAC TAG	TGA GTG CCG TGC TCT GGA T
LXRα	human	CGA TC GAG GTG ATG CTT CTG	GGC AAA GTC TTC CCG GTT AT
β-actin	human	CCT GGC ACC CAG CAC AAT	GCC GAT CCA CAC GGA GTA CT

**TABLE 2** | Demographic characteristics, comorbidities, and medications in patient with and without inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

Variable	II	IBD		
	No	Yes		
	<i>N</i> = 14,524	N = 14,524		
	N (%)	N (%)		
Type of IBD				
Ulcerative colitis (UC)		1,362 (9.38)		
Crohn's disease (CD)		13,162 (90.6)		
Sex			0.99	
Female	7,820 (53.8)	7,820 (53.8)		
Male	6,704 (46.2)	6,704 (46.2)		
Age, mean (SD)	43.9 (16.7)	44.3 (16.4)	0.08	
Stratify age			0.99	
≤49	9,765 (67.2)	9,765 (67.2)		
50–64	2,798 (19.3)	2,798 (19.3)		
65+	1,961 (13.5)	1,961 (13.5)		
Comorbidity				
Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)	394 (2.71)	453 (3.12)	0.04	
Obesity	101 (0.70)	132 (0.91)	0.04	
Coronary artery disease (CAD)	1,055 (7.26)	1,479 (10.2)	< 0.001	
Hypertension	2,341 (16.1)	2,808 (19.3)	< 0.001	
Chronic kidney disease (CKD)	120 (0.83)	143 (0.98)	0.15	
Medications				
Corticosteroids		9,959 (68.6)		
Immunomodulators		141 (0.97)		
Aminosalicylates		523 (3.60)		
Monoclonal antibody and small molecule		5 (0.03)		
Surgical treatment		212 (1.46)		

<sup>#</sup>Chi-Square Test.

Two sample T-test.

IBD cohort had a 2.25-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia than those in the non-IBD cohort.

**Table 4** presents the incidence, as well as the crude and aHR of hyperlipidemia among IBD patients with and without treatment compared to those without IBD. Compared to the control cohort, the IBD cohort without treatment had a 2.20-fold higher risk of hyperlipidemia (95% CI, 2.05–2.36). Stratification of each type of IBD treatment suggested that immunomodulators,



aminosalicylates, and corticosteroids could significantly decrease the risk of hyperlipidemia (aHR, 0.29; 95% CI, 0.18–0.49, aHR, 0.43; 95% CI, 0.34–0.55, aHR, 0.45; 95% CI, 0.42–0.49, respectively) compared to that of patients with IBD without treatment. Further stratification according to surgical treatment for IBD showed that surgical treatment could reduce the risk of hyperlipidemia (aHR, 0.32; 95% CI, 0.20–0.51).

## Effects of IBD Medications on Lipogenesis-Related Gene Expression

We assessed the influence of corticosteroids (budesonide, prednisolone, methylprednisolone, and hydrocortisone), immunomodulators (azathioprine, methotrexate, cyclosporine, tacrolimus, and 6-mercaptopurine), and aminosalicylates (sulfasalazine, balsalazide, and 5-aminosalicylate) on hepatic gene expression. The concentrations were adjusted according to the maximum plasma or serum drug TABLE 3 Comparison of incidence (CI) and hazard ratio (HR) of hyperlipidemia stratified by sex, age, and comorbidities between with and without inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

			IE	BD				
Variable		No			Yes			
	Event	PY	Rate <sup>#</sup>	Event	PY	Rate <sup>#</sup>	Crude HR (95% CI)	Adjusted $\mathrm{HR}^{\dagger}$ (95% CI)
All	2,345	107,920	21.7	2,927	106,110	27.6	1.27 (1.20, 1.34)***	2.18 (2.03, 2.34)***
Type of IBD								
UC	252	10,484	24.0	310	9,904	31.3	1.30 (1.10, 1.54)***	2.60 (2.06, 3.28)***
CD	2,093	97,436	21.5	2,617	9,6213	27.2	1.27 (1.20 1.34)***	2.15 (1.99, 2.32)***
Sex								
Female	1,301	59,279	22.0	1,540	58,317	26.4	1.20 (1.12, 1.29)***	2.10 (1.90, 2.32)***
Male	1,044	48,641	21.5	1,387	47,793	29.0	1.35 (1.25, 1.47)***	2.25 (2.03, 2.49)***
Stratify age								
≤49	1,128	77,553	14.5	1,520	76,695	19.8	1.36 (1.26, 1.47)***	2.00 (1.81, 2.21)***
50–64	822	18,830	43.7	952	18,262	52.1	1.19 (1.09, 1.31)***	2.10 (1.86, 2.37)***
65+	395	11,537	34.2	455	11,153	40.8	1.19 (1.04, 1.36)*	2.78 (2.34, 3.31)***
Comorbidity <sup>‡</sup>								
No	1,429	91,362	15.6	1,742	85,918	20.3	1.30 (1.21, 1.39)***	2.06 (1.88, 2.26)***
Yes	916	16,558	55.3	1,185	20,191	58.7	1.06 (0.97, 1.16)	2.25 (2.01, 2.51)***

<sup>#</sup>incidence rate, per 1,000 person-years; Crude HR, crude hazard ratio.

<sup>†</sup>Multivariable analysis including age, sex, and comorbidities of T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD.

<sup>‡</sup>Patients with any one of the comorbidities T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD were classified as the comorbidity group.

\*p < 0.05.

\*\*\*p < 0.001.

TABLE 4 Incidence, crude, and adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) of hyperlipidemia compared among inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients with and without IBD treatment compared to non-IBD controls.

Variables	N	Event	PY	Rate <sup>#</sup>	Crude HR (95% CI)	Adjusted HR <sup>†</sup> (95% CI)	Adjusted HR <sup>†</sup> (95% CI)
Non-IBD controls	14,524	2,345	107,920	21.7	1 (Reference)	1 (Reference)	
IBD without anti-IBD treatment	4,425	1,115	24,689	45.2	2.07 (1.92, 2.22)***	2.20 (2.05, 2.36)***	1 (Reference)
IBD with anti-IBD treatment							
Immunomodulators	138	15	1,171	12.8	0.59 (0.36, 0.98)*	0.65 (0.39, 1.08)	0.29 (0.18, 0.49)***
Aminosalicylates	478	68	2,937	23.2	1.06 (0.83, 1.35)	0.95 (0.74, 1.21)	0.43 (0.34, 0.55)***
Monoclonal antibody and small molecule	5	0	26	23.2	-	-	-
Corticosteroids	9,478	1,729	77,287	22.4	1.03 (0.97, 1.10)	0.99 (0.93, 1.05)	0.45 (0.42,0.49)***
IBD without surgical treatment	14,312	2,910	104,631	27.8	1.28 (1.21, 1.35)***	2.20 (2.05, 2.36)***	1 (Reference)
Surgical treatment	212	17	1,479	11.5	0.53 (0.33,0.85)**	0.69 (0.43, 1.12)	0.32 (0.20, 0.51)***

#Incidence rate, per 1,000 person-years; Crude HR, crude hazard ratio.

<sup>†</sup>Multivariable analysis including age, sex, and comorbidities of T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD.

concentrations as they exhibit hepatotoxicity (35-47). We tested the toxicity of the drugs in a cell viability assay using human hepatoma HepaRG cells. The concentrations of corticosteroids were 0.01, 1.13, 0.72, and  $1.42\,\mu M$ for budesonide, prednisolone, methylprednisolone, and hydrocortisone, respectively; those of immunomodulators were 0.15, 1.77, 1.91, 0.03, and  $0.77 \,\mu M$  for azathioprine, methotrexate, cyclosporine, tacrolimus, and 6-mercaptopurine, respectively; and those of aminosalicylates were 61.5,

1.40, and  $60.1 \,\mu M$  for sulfasalazine, balsalazide, and 5-aminosalicylate, respectively.

The cells were treated with IBD medications for 48 h, and the ACP assay was used to assess the cell viability. Our results indicated that the cell viability from each drug remained >95% compared with the control group (Figure 2). Moreover, the expression of lipogenesis-related hepatic genes, such as SREBP-1c, SCD, FAS, ACLY, ACC, and LXRa were assessed using RT-PCR in differentiated HepaRG cells treated with IBD medications

<sup>\*</sup>p < 0.05.

<sup>\*\*</sup> p < 0.01. . \*\*\* p < 0.001.



for 48 h. The total RNA was extracted, and gene expression was analyzed. *SREBP-1c*, a transcription factor that regulates lipid homeostasis by modulating the expression of a series of target lipogenic genes (33), is mainly distributed in the liver and participates in hepatic fatty acid synthesis by upregulating the expression of downstream genes. T0901317, a synthetic *LXR* $\alpha$  agonist, significantly induced the expression of these target genes. However, the expression levels of *SREBP-1c*, *SCD*, *FAS*, *ACLY*, *ACC*, and *LXR* $\alpha$  were significantly lower in most treatment groups than the untreated groups (**Figures 3A-F**). IBD medications reduce the risk of hyperlipidemia and partially reduce the expression of hepatic genes involved in lipogenesis, resulting in improved blood lipid profiles.

## DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study to report the correlation of IBD medications and risk of hyperlipidemia in patients with IBD, particularly in Asian populations. This study assessed 23 million people living in Taiwan using the NHIRD (47). The results show that the risk of hyperlipidemia was 2.18 times higher in patients with IBD than the general population after adjusting for confounding factors and comorbidities (*P* 

< 0.001). Moreover, this exclusive, nationwide populationbased cohort study presented a comprehensive and complete assessment of an Asian population and discovered a significant association between IBD, IBD medications, and hyperlipidemia. We also found that without IBD therapies (medications and surgical treatment), the risk of hyperlipidemia was higher in patients with IBD than in the control cohort (aHR, 2.20; 95% CI, 2.05–2.36, P < 0.001). Furthermore, with IBD therapies (medications and surgical treatment), the risk of hyperlipidemia decreased in patients with IBD compared to those without IBD (all aHR < 0.99, not significant). In addition, among patients with IBD, the risk of hyperlipidemia significantly decreased in those that received IBD treatment compared to those that did not (all aHR < 0.45, P < 0.001). Finally, IBD medications in hepatocytederived HepaRG cells significantly reduced the expression of lipogenesis-related genes, such as SREBP-1c, SCD, FAS, ACLY, ACC, and  $LXR\alpha$ , contributing to improved blood lipid profiles. These findings provide valuable insights for clinical physicians regarding the benefits of IBD therapies for improving blood lipid profiles and CVD prognosis, as well as reducing the risk of CVD through blood lipid control. Our study clarifies the impact of IBD medications on the development of hyperlipidemia, and the decreased risk of hyperlipidemia in patients receiving treatment may be due to drug-induced downregulation of lipogenic genes, especially the master lipogenic transcription factors, SREBP-1c and  $LXR\alpha$ .

Our analysis of 29,048 people (14,524 with IBD and 14,524 without) with a mean follow-up period >7 years showed an overall significant increase in risk of hyperlipidemia compared with the general population (aHR, 2.18). Moreover, males, patients >65 years of age, and those with comorbidities were at higher risk than those in the general population matched by age, sex, and comorbidities of T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD. As such, these groups may require early and aggressive intervention for CVD risk management. Furthermore, a significant association was observed between hyperlipidemia and IBD; however, patients with IBD that received IBD therapy had a decreased risk of hyperlipidemia compared to those that did not receive therapy.

Several large meta-analyses and cohort studies have reported increased rates of CVD in patients with IBD. However, hyperlipidemia was less likely to be assessed among such patients, which could result in the silent progression of atherosclerosis and vascular defects. Moreover, acute myocardial infarction (AMI) was found to be higher in patients with IBD than in those without (OR, 12.05; 95% CI, 11.16-13.01), as was the rate of VTE (12, 18). A prospective study of 24 patients with IBD who had undergone surgical treatment, exhibited increased levels of HDL-C, TC, and LDL-C in patients in remission compared to those with recurrent active IBD (48). In another retrospective study, TC and LDL-C levels were significantly lower in patients with IBD after restorative proctocolectomy than in control subjects (49). These findings may be due to malabsorption from accelerated transit and the exclusion of the terminal ileum caused by the covering ileostomy (49). TC and HDL-C levels were significantly lower, TG levels were significantly higher in patients with IBD compared to controls were also reported (50). Ripollés Piquer



et al. suggested that the levels they observed corresponded with those of atherogenesis and may contribute to the development of CVD (24). Nevertheless, more large-scale and epidemiological studies are warranted to evaluate lipid alterations in patients with IBD more in depth.

Lipid profile alterations in patients with IBD have been presented in previous studies. First, Becker and colleagues (51) showed an association of decreased TC levels and increased TG levels with intestinal resection in patients with CD in a study of 22 children with CD and 10 healthy controls. Moreover, a US study (22) concluded that patients with IBD have lower TC and HDL-C levels and higher LDL-C and TG levels compared to controls from the NHANES 2005–2006 database. Another report showed that patients with IBD have lower TC and LDL-C levels compared to control subjects due to systemic inflammation from reduced lipoprotein and hepatic lipase activity and decreased cholesterol absorption (52). The conflicting results of these studies may be partially explained by the differences in study population, methodology, data interpretation, duration of sampling, and baseline characteristics of the study samples (21, 22, 50). While our findings are not consistent with all studies, we performed an in-depth analysis of different treatment modalities over a prolonger follow-up period. Moreover, our study was based on a nationwide population database rather than a single institution.

No study has previously reported the correlation of IBD therapies with hyperlipidemia. We found that IBD treatments can prevent patients from developing hyperlipidemia. Thus, while IBD can neither be prevented nor cured, hyperlipidemia can be partially prevented by appropriate interventions such as diet control, regular exercise, and reduced body weight. In view of hyperlipidemia-related CVD, physicians who participate in the long-term care of patients with IBD should consider aggressive modification of risk factors associated with hyperlipidemia. Finally, we conclude that the association of IBD and hyperlipidemia remains to be explored due to conflicting results of each study.

The association between IBD and the increased risk of CVD has been previously reported in a systemic review. The review observed 6,478 coronary events in 123,907 patients with IBD and found a 19% higher risk of CVD in those with IBD (53). Additionally, patients with IBD exhibited a higher risk of carotid atherosclerotic plaque, warranting evaluation of carotid intima-media thickness through ultrasonography for this high-risk subpopulation. Moreover, Kristensen et al. (13) found that compared with controls, patients with IBD presented an increased risk of stroke [relative risk (RR), 1.15; 95% CI, 1.05-1.27] and hospitalization due to heart failure (RR, 1.37; 95% CI, 1.26-1.49) (13). Since, hyperlipidemia is a major risk factor for stroke, which is a leading cause of death (54, 55), may play a role in this situation. In addition, a case-control study reported an increased risk of stroke in patients with IBD (aOR, 2.93; 95% CI, 1.44-5.98) especially in those younger than 50 years of age (56). Thus, the periodic and continuous monitoring of CVD risk in this population is necessary. However, no specific guidelines exist for patients with IBD regarding the prevention and management of CVD (9, 53). Although the current American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology guidelines on blood cholesterol management showed that chronic inflammatory disorders increase the risk of CVD, patients with IBD have not been specifically assessed (57).

Our findings show that patients with IBD were likely to have more comorbidities. For example, several pathophysiological factors are involved in the development of hyperlipidemia in these patients and may increase the risk of CVD. However, lipid profile monitoring in IBD patients is not routinely performed in Taiwan. Additionally, awareness of hyperlipidemia is lower than that of diabetes and hypertension; therefore, hyperlipidemia is diagnosed only when physical complications, such as CVD accompanied by chest pain (58). Thus, hyperlipidemia is rarely managed in patients with IBD. We suggest that clinicians perform blood lipid profiling for patients with IBD due to their increased risk of hyperlipidemia to provide suitable treatment and complete medical care.

Although a previous report showed that body mass index and blood lipid levels are often low in patients with IBD due to poor absorption of bile during active inflammation and after surgery (59). Our data showed that obesity is pronounced in these patients, which may further increase the risk of hyperlipidemia. Another report revealed that the inflammationbased increase of TGs is caused by increased hepatic lipoprotein production and decreased lipoprotein clearance. TGs are mediated by apolipoprotein C-III, which is a main risk factor for atherosclerogenesis (60). Several studies have indicated that chronic inflammation is associated with altered blood lipid profiles and CVD and generates inflammatory cytokines such as  $TNF\alpha$ , reduces NOS expression, decreases NO bioavailability, impairs endothelium vasodilation, and increases cell adhesion molecules and stimulating leukocyte migration, therefore promoting atherosclerosis (61). Inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF, IL-6, and IFN- $\gamma$  may downregulate lipolytic enzyme activity (8); however, the pathophysiological activities in IBD are more complex because of the chronic inflammation, malnutrition, and lipid malabsorption due to intestinal damage or resection (25).

Previous study found that low TC and LDL-C levels were correlated with systemic inflammation and CRP levels in IBD (52). Meanwhile, one study that observed a significant association of low TC and high TGs levels with disease severity failed to present any association with increased levels of inflammatory biomarkers (CRP, ESR, and albumin) (21). They reported increased risk of CVD in patients with IBD along with lower TC levels and chronic inflammation reflects a complicated and poorly understood pathogenic mechanism, described as a "lipid paradox" or dyslipidemia. A better understanding of dyslipidemia in IBD will help prevent and manage atherosclerosis and CVD.

We found that, each group of patients that received IBD medications showed a significant decrease in risk of hyperlipidemia (all aHR < 0.46) after adjusting for age, sex, and comorbidities with T2DM, obesity, CAD, hypertension, and CKD. Whether IBD medications play an important role in reducing the risk of hyperlipidemia and CVD had not been previously elucidated. Moreover, although it has been reported that corticosteroids may increase the risk of atherosclerosis and acute coronary syndrome resulting from hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and thromboembolism (11, 26), they overall reduce the risk of CVD through inhibition of inflammatory response. In the current study, we also found that corticosteroids may inhibit hepatic lipogenic gene expression. Thus, the contribution of corticosteroids to the reduced risk of CVD remains controversial. Nevertheless, methotrexate has been reported to rarely induce steatohepatitis associated with acute coronary syndrome and thromboembolic events (62, 63). We found that among the immunomodulators, methotrexate and 6-mercaptopurine inhibited the expression of lipogenic genes. Moreover, cyclosporine was associated with increased risk of acute coronary syndrome and heart failure (64). In addition, 5aminosalicylates, a standard first-line treatment for IBD, may be used to prevent CVD and VTE in patients with IBD (14, 65, 66) due to their anti-inflammatory effects and ability to inactivate platelets. Moreover, we found that most 5-aminosalicylates were shown to inhibit lipogenic gene expression.

Increased carotid intimal thickness, wall stiffness, and endothelial dysfunction observed in patients with IBD may be due to the increase in circulating inflammatory cytokines and CRP (67). IBD medications are beneficial for their dual effects of decreasing the expression of lipogenic genes and treating IBD symptoms; however, the net effects of IBD medications on the lipid profile in terms of CVD risk remain uncertain. Thus, the metabolic profiles of patients with IBD should be considered when making therapeutic decisions. Nevertheless, prospective studies are needed to evaluate the dual effects of IBD medications in the general IBD population.

We performed a longitudinal population-based cohort study with cases and controls matched for sex and age to explore the possible correlation of hyperlipidemia and IBD in Taiwan. We also evaluated the effect of IBD medications on the risk of developing hyperlipidemia. Nevertheless, our study had several limitations. First, the database we used may have misclassified IBD and hyperlipidemia, limiting the reliability and validity. However, in Taiwan, universal health insurance is distributed, and as a result, a peer review system is enacted by specialists

to reduce the possibilities of false positives. Second, several potential risk factors of hyperlipidemia, such as smoking habits, alcohol intake, body mass index, lifestyle and dietary habits, and family history of hyperlipidemia were not included in this study as they are not provided in the NHIRD. In addition, the risk of hyperlipidemia according to the severity of IBD could not be estimated, as the database had no information regarding the severity of IBD, such as Harvey-Bradshaw Index and Mayo score. Third, this claim database was initially created for charging purposes, and as some information was anonymized, we could not contact the patients directly to get individual data from them. Fourth, several clinical laboratory data were not included in this database, and as such, we could not assess the degree of hyperlipidemia in patients with IBD. For example, serum TC, TGs, HDL-C, and LDL-C. Cases of hyperlipidemia were defined indirectly according to the physicians' records based on lipid levels under IBD medication therapy. In this study, both IBD and hyperlipidemia were accurately analyzed and coded (ICD-9-CM codes) by specialists according to the standard symptomatic criteria by considering the normal side effects, signs, research facility information, and imaging findings. Additionally, this study reduced the confounding effect of medications by adjusting for comorbidities. However, more information should be obtained from other databases to conduct a comprehensive prospective study or randomized controlled trial to further investigate the relationships of IBD, IBD medications, and hyperlipidemia. Most crucially, evidence derived from a retrospective cohort study is typically lower in statistical quality because of numerous sources of inherent bias, including the classification bias. However, the NHI program has a high coverage rate, and medical reimbursement specialists and peer reviewers scrutinized all insurance claims, ensuring that the diagnoses and coding of diseases were highly reliable in the NHIRD. The classification bias was also supposed to be nondifferential, and this should not invalidate our result. Primary human hepatocytes (PHHs) are a well defined in vitro hepatic model to predict drug responses with respect to metabolism and toxicity, based on the proper maintenance of metabolism, transport, and biological signaling pathways. However, the significant variability among individuals and high cost of PHHs has led to the development of alternative cell line models. Thus, HepaRG cells have emerged as a promising alternative to PHHs as an *in vitro* model, as this cell model, upon reaching phenotypic maturity, can grow to confluence and differentiate over 4 weeks (from progenitor cells) into cocultures of hepatocyte-like and cholangiocyte-like cells (68). However, it must be kept in mind that cell lines do not behave identically to primary cells and do not necessarily completely replace and reflect the effects and outcomes of primary cells.

This study had several strengths. First, we used a nationwide, population-based cohort of patients with anonymized data to minimize selection bias. Additionally, we evaluated the effect of IBD and IBD medications on the risk of hyperlipidemia over a prolonged follow-up period. Moreover, by adjusting for age and sex in a 1:1 ratio, we accounted for confounders that may affect the occurrence of hyperlipidemia. Finally, although detection bias may have occurred if patients had more hospital visits than the control population by increasing the possibility of detecting hyperlipidemia, the risk of hyperlipidemia was still increased 2.2-fold in patients with  $\geq$ 2 hospital visits per year. Overall, this is the first study to investigate the IBD-associated risk for developing hyperlipidemia and evaluate the effects of IBD medications on lipogenic gene expression.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, patients with IBD have a significantly increased risk of developing hyperlipidemia compared to non-IBD controls. However, under all IBD medications and surgical treatment, patients with IBD experienced a reduced risk of hyperlipidemia compared with non-treated IBD patients. We further confirmed that the effects of IBD medications on the decreased expression of lipogenic-related genes contributed to the beneficial effects on the blood lipid profiles. Therefore, regular monitoring of blood lipid levels should be considered for the early detection of hyperlipidemia in patients with IBD, especially in elderly patients, to decrease the risk of CVD. Large, population-based studies or randomized clinical trials are warranted to confirm our observation that IBD and IBD medications play an important role in the development of hyperlipidemia. In addition, early detection, monitoring, aggressive, and comprehensive treatment for metabolic disturbances, and alleviation of acquired risk factors are highly recommended. Further investigations into the possible biological and pathological mechanisms underlying the relationship between hyperlipidemia and the use of IBD medications are essential.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The NHIRD encrypts patient personal information to protect privacy and provides researchers with anonymous identification numbers associated with relevant claims information, including sex, date of birth, medical services received, and prescriptions. Therefore, patient consent is not required to access the NHIRD. This study was approved to fulfill the condition for exemption by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of China Medical University (CMUH-104-REC2-115-R5). The IRB also specifically waived the consent requirement.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NT, T-YW, Y-JF, and Y-PL: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, supervision, and funding acquisition. C-LL, C-JW, and C-YH: software and formal analysis. NT and Y-PL: validation. C-LL, C-YH, and Y-PL: resources and data curation. C-YH and Y-PL: project administration. All authors: writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, and

visualization. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, R.O.C. (MOST110-2320-B-039-016-MY3),

## REFERENCES

- Jess T, Jensen BW, Andersson M, Villumsen M, Allin KH. Inflammatory bowel diseases increase risk of type 2 diabetes in a nationwide cohort study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020) 18:881–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.07.052
- Kumar A, Teslova T, Taub E, Miller JD, Lukin DJ. Comorbid diabetes in inflammatory bowel disease predicts adverse diseaserelated outcomes and infectious complications. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2021) 66:2005–13. doi: 10.1007/s10620-020-06439-4
- Wei SC, Chang TA, Chao TH, Chen JS, Chou JW, Chou YH, et al. Management of ulcerative colitis in Taiwan: consensus guideline of the Taiwan society of inflammatory bowel disease. *Intest Res.* (2017) 15:266– 84. doi: 10.5217/ir.2017.15.3.266
- Wei SC, Chang TA, Chao TH, Chen JS, Chou JW, Chou YH, et al. Management of Crohn's disease in Taiwan: consensus guideline of the Taiwan society of inflammatory bowel disease. *Intest Res.* (2017) 15:285– 310. doi: 10.5217/ir.2017.15.3.285
- Yen HH, Weng MT, Tung CC, Wang YT, Chang YT, Chang CH, et al. Epidemiological trend in inflammatory bowel disease in Taiwan from 2001 to 2015: a nationwide population-based study. *Intest Res.* (2019) 17:54– 62. doi: 10.5217/ir.2018.00096
- 6. Loftus EV Jr. Update on the incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the United States. *Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2016) 12:704–7.
- Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:1785– 94. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.055
- Schicho R, Marsche G, Storr M. Cardiovascular complications in inflammatory bowel disease. *Curr Drug Targets.* (2015) 16:181–8. doi: 10.2174/1389450116666150202161500
- Tan VP, Chung A, Yan BP, Gibson PR. Venous and arterial disease in inflammatory bowel disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2013) 28:1095– 113. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12260
- Bollen L, Vande Casteele N, Peeters M, Van Assche G, Ferrante M, Van Moerkercke W, et al. The occurrence of thrombosis in inflammatory bowel disease is reflected in the clot lysis profile. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2015) 21:2540– 8. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000531
- Singh S, Singh H, Loftus EV Jr, Pardi DS. Risk of cerebrovascular accidents and ischemic heart disease in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2014) 12:382–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.08.023
- Sridhar ARM, Parasa S, Navaneethan U, Crowell MD, Olden K. Comprehensive study of cardiovascular morbidity in hospitalized inflammatory bowel disease patients. J Crohns Colitis. (2011) 5:287–94. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2011.01.011
- Kristensen SL, Ahlehoff O, Lindhardsen J, Erichsen R, Jensen GV, Torp-Pedersen C, et al. Disease activity in inflammatory bowel disease is associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction, stroke and cardiovascular death: a Danish nationwide cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e56944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056944
- Rungoe C, Basit S, Ranthe MF, Wohlfahrt J, Langholz E, Jess T. Risk of ischaemic heart disease in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a nationwide Danish cohort study. *Gut.* (2013) 62:689–94. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303285
- 15. Nguyen GC, Bernstein CN, Bitton A, Chan AK, Griffiths AM, Leontiadis GI, et al. Consensus statements on the risk, prevention, and treatment of venous thromboembolism in inflammatory bowel disease:

China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan (CMU110-MF-29), China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan (DMR-111-105; DMR-111-228), partially supported by the Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare Clinical Trial Center (MOHW110-TDU-B-212-124004), Taichung Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation (TTCRD111-31), Show Chwan Memorial Hospital, Changhua, Taiwan (SRD-110027).

Canadian Association of Gastroenterology. *Gastroenterology*. (2014) 146:835-48. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.042

- Tsai MS, Lin CL, Chen HP, Lee PH, Sung FC, Kao CH. Long-term risk of acute coronary syndrome in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a 13-year nationwide cohort study in an Asian population. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2014) 20:502–7. doi: 10.1097/01.MIB.0000441200.10 454.4f
- Kirchgesner J, Beaugerie L, Carrat F, Andersen NN, Jess T, Schwarzinger M. BERENICE study group. Increased risk of acute arterial events in young patients and severely active IBD: a nationwide French cohort study. *Gut.* (2018) 67:1261–8. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-3 14015
- Panhwar MS, Mansoor E, Al-Kindi SG, Sinh P, Katz J, Oliveira GH, et al. Risk of myocardial infarction in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based national study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2019) 25:1080–7. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izy354
- Card TR, Zittan E, Nguyen GC, Grainge MJ. Disease activity in inflammatory bowel disease is associated with arterial vascular disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2021) 27:629–38. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa156
- Nelson RH. Hyperlipidemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Prim Care. (2013) 40:195–211. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2012. 11.003
- Koutroumpakis E, Ramos-Rivers C, Regueiro M, Hashash JG, Barrie A, Swoger J, et al. Association between long-term lipid profiles and disease severity in a large cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2016) 61:865–71. doi: 10.1007/s10620-015-3932-1
- Sappati Biyyani RS, Putka BS, Mullen KD. Dyslipidemia and lipoprotein profiles in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Lipidol. (2010) 4:478–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2010. 08.021
- Levy E, Rizwan Y, Thibault L, Lepage G, Brunet S, Bouthillier L, et al. Altered lipid profile, lipoprotein composition, and oxidant and antioxidant status in pediatric Crohn disease. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 71:807– 15. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.3.807
- Ripollés Piquer B, Nazih H, Bourreille A, Segain JP, Huvelin JM, Galmiche JP, et al. Altered lipid, apolipoprotein, and lipoprotein profiles in inflammatory bowel disease: consequences on the cholesterol efflux capacity of serum using Fu5AH cell system. *Metabolism.* (2006) 55:980–8. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2006. 03.006
- Singh S, Kullo IJ, Pardi DS, Loftus Jr EV. Epidemiology, risk factors and management of cardiovascular diseases in IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2015) 12:26–35. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.20 14.202
- Bunu DM, Timofte CE, Ciocoiu M, Floria M, Tarniceriu CC, Barboi OB, et al. Cardiovascular manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease: Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and preventive strategies. *Gastroenterol Res Pract Actions*. (2019) 2019:3012509. doi: 10.1155/2019/3012509
- Podolsky DK. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. (2002) 347:417– 29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra020831
- Yeshi K, Ruscher R, Hunter L, Daly NL, Loukas A, Wangchuk P. Revisiting inflammatory bowel disease: Pathology, treatments, challenges and emerging therapeutics including drug leads from natural products. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:1273. doi: 10.3390/jcm90 51273
- Changchien CS, Wang JH, Tsai TL, Hung CH. Correlation between fatty liver and lipidemia in Taiwanese. J Med Ultrasound. (2003) 11:60– 5. doi: 10.1016/S0929-6441(09)60043-6
- 30. Wang J, Su Z, Feng Y, Xi R, Liu J, Wang P. Comparison of several blood lipidrelated indexes in the screening of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in women: a cross-sectional study in the Pearl River Delta region of southern China. BMC
- Gastroenterol. (2021) 21:482. doi: 10.1186/s12876-021-02072-1
  31. Willy PJ, Umesono K, Ong ES, Evans RM, Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ, et al. a nuclear receptor that defines a distinct retinoid response pathway. *Genes Dev.* (1995) 9:1033–45. doi: 10.1101/gad.9. 9.1033
- Schultz JR, Tu H, Luk A, Repa JJ, Medina JC Li L, et al. Role of LXRs in control of lipogenesis. *Genes Dev.* (2000) 14:2831–8. doi: 10.1101/gad.850400
- 33. Higuchi N, Kato M, Shundo Y, Tajiri H, Tanaka M, Yamashita N, et al. Liver X receptor in cooperation with SREBP-1c is a major lipid synthesis regulator in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatol Res.* (2008) 38:1122– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2008.00382.x
- 34. Liu SP, Shibu MA, Tsai FJ, Hsu YM, Tsai CH, Chung JG, et al. Tetramethylpyrazine reverses high-glucose induced hypoxic effects by negatively regulating HIF-1 $\alpha$  induced BNIP3 expression to ameliorate H9c2 cardiomyoblast apoptosis. *Nutr Metab.* (2020) 17:12. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-0432-x
- Edsbäcker S, Andersson T. Pharmacokinetics of budesonide (Entocort EC) capsules for Crohn's disease. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2004) 43:803– 21. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200443120-00003
- Elliott PR, Powell-Tuck J, Gillespie PE, Laidlow JM, Lennard-Jones JE, English J, et al. Prednisolone absorption in acute colitis. *Gut.* (1980) 21:49– 51. doi: 10.1136/gut.21.1.49
- Al-Habet SM, Rogers HJ. Methylprednisolone pharmacokinetics after intravenous and oral administration. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (1989) 27:285– 90. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.1989.tb05366.x
- Jung C, Greco S, Nguyen HH, Ho JT, Lewis JG, Torpy DJ, et al. Plasma, salivary and urinary cortisol levels following physiological and stress doses of hydrocortisone in normal volunteers. *BMC Endocr Disord.* (2014) 14:91. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-14-91
- Van Os EC, Zins BJ, Sandborn WJ, Mays DC, Tremaine WJ, Mahoney DW, et al. Azathioprine pharmacokinetics after intravenous, oral, delayed release oral and rectal foam administration. *Gut.* (1996) 39:63–8. doi: 10.1136/gut.39.1.63
- Hoekstra M, Haagsma C, Neef C, Proost J, Knuif A, van de Laar M. Bioavailability of higher dose methotrexate comparing oral and subcutaneous administration in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. (2004) 31:645–8.
- NEORAL (2009). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/; https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2009/050715s027,050716s028lbl. pdf
- Lemaitre F, Blanchet B, Latournerie M, Antignac M, Houssel-Debry P, Verdier MC, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of tacrolimus in liver transplant recipients: inside the white blood cells. *Clin Biochem.* (2015) 48:406–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.12.018
- Saiz-Rodríguez M, Ochoa D, Belmonte C, Román M, Martínez-Ingelmo C, Ortega-Ruíz L, et al. Influence of thiopurine S-methyltransferase polymorphisms in mercaptopurine pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2019) 124:449–55. doi: 10.1111/bcpt. 13153
- Astbury C, Taggart AJ, Juby L, Zebouni L, Bird HA. Comparison of the single dose pharmacokinetics of sulphasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (1990) 49:587– 90. doi: 10.1136/ard.49.8.587
- 45. GIAZO (2012). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/
- Hussain FN, Ajjan RA, Riley SA. Dose loading with delayedrelease mesalazine: a study of tissue drug concentrations and standard pharmacokinetic parameters. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2000) 49:323–30. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2125.2000.00164.x
- Lai SW, Kuo YH, Liao KF. Association between inflammatory bowel disease and diabetes mellitus. *Clin Gastro Hepatol.* (2020) 18:1002– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.09.016
- Romanato G, Scarpa M, Ruffolo C, Marin R, Zambon S, Zanoni S, et al. Lipid and phospholipid profile after bowel resection for Crohn's disease. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* (2008) 23:931–8. doi: 10.1007/s00384-008-0503-3

- Scarpa M, Romanato G, Manzato E, Ruffolo C, Marin R, Basato S, et al. Restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis: impact on lipid metabolism and adipose tissue and serum fatty acids. *J Gastrointest Surg.* (2008) 12:279– 87. doi: 10.1007/s11605-007-0380-z
- Agouridis AP, Elisaf M, Milionis HJ. An overview of lipid abnormalities in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Gastroenterol.* (2011) 24:181– 7.
- 51. Becker SA, McClave SA. Lipid profiles in Crohn's disease patients with and without ileal resection. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (1996) 91:2452.
- Romanato G, Scarpa M, Angriman I, Faggian D, Ruffolo C, Marin R, et al. Plasma lipids and inflammation in active inflammatory bowel diseases. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2009) 29:298–307. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2008.03886.x
- Biondi RB, Salmazo PS, Bazan SGZ, Hueb JC, de Paiva SAR, Sassaki LY. Cardiovascular risk in individuals with inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Exp Gastroenterol.* (2020) 13:107–13. doi: 10.2147/CEG.S24 3478
- Alloubani A, Nimer R, Samara R. Relationship between hyperlipidemia, cardiovascular disease and stroke: a systematic review. *Curr Cardiol Rev.* (2021) 17:e051121189015. doi: 10.2174/1573403X16999201210 200342
- Ferrara P, Di Laura D, Cortesi PA, Mantovani LG. The economic impact of hypercholesterolemia and mixed dyslipidemia: a systematic review of cost of illness studies. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0254631. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 54631
- Andersohn F, Waring M, Garbe E. Risk of ischemic stroke in patients with Crohn's disease: a population-based nested case-control study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:1387–92. doi: 10.1002/ibd. 21187
- Bigeh A, Sanchez A, Maestas C, Gulati M. Inflammatory bowel disease and the risk for cardiovascular disease: does all inflammation lead to heart disease? *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* (2020) 30:463–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2019.10.001
- Groenendyk JW, Rivera AS, Sinha A, Lloyd-Jones DM, Feinstein MJ. Changes in proportionate cardiovascular mortality in patients with chronic infectious and inflammatory conditions in the United States, 1999-2018. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:23985. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-0 3407-4
- 59. Tigas S, Tsatsoulis A. Endocrine and metabolic manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Gastroenterol.* (2012) 25:37–44.
- Kohan AB. Apolipoprotein C-III: a potent modulator of hypertriglyceridemia and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* (2015) 22:119–25. doi: 10.1097/MED.00000000000136
- Steyers CM. 3rd, Miller FJ Jr. Endothelial dysfunction in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2014) 15:11324– 49. doi: 10.3390/ijms150711324
- Rabinowich L, Shibolet O. Drug induced steatohepatitis: An uncommon culprit of a common disease. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:168905. doi: 10.1155/2015/168905
- He M, Pawar A, Desai RJ, Glynn RJ, Lee H, Weinblatt ME, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism associated with methotrexate versus hydroxychloroquine for rheumatoid arthritis: A propensity score-matched cohort study. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2021) 51:1242–50. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2021. 10.001
- 64. Lazzerini PE, Capecchi PL, Galeazzi M, Laghi-Pasini F. Biologic drugs and arrhythmic risk in chronic inflammatory arthritis: the good and the bad. *Immunol Res.* (2017) 65:262–75. doi: 10.1007/s12026-016-8 833-7
- 65. Barnes EL, Beery RM, Schulman AR, McCarthy EP, Korzenik JR, Winter RW. Hospitalizations for acute myocardial infarction are decreased among patients with inflammatory bowel disease using a nationwide inpatient database. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2229–37. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0000000000 00899
- 66. Zuin M, Rigatelli G, Del Favero G, Andreotti AN, Picariello C, Zuliani G, et al. Cardiovascular disease in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: an issue in no guidelines land. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 222:984–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016. 08.101

- Lu Q, Shi R, Mao T, Wang Z, Sun Z, Tan X, et al. Arterial stiffness in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated systematic review and metaanalysis. *Turk J Gastroenterol.* (2021) 32:422–30. doi: 10.5152/tjg.2021. 20293
- Gripon P, Rumin S, Urban S, Le Seyec J, Glaise D, Cannie I, et al. Infection of a human hepatoma cell line by hepatitis B virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2002) 99:15655–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.232 137699

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tien, Wu, Lin, Wu, Hsu, Fang and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Immunogenicity of BNT162b2 Vaccine Booster Dose in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Receiving Infliximab Combination Therapy: A Prospective Observational Study

Mohammad Shehab<sup>1\*</sup>, Fatema Alrashed<sup>2</sup>, Ahmad Alfadhli<sup>1</sup>, Abdulwahab Alsayegh<sup>3</sup>, Usama Aldallal<sup>3</sup>, Mariam Alsayegh<sup>4</sup>, Preethi Cherian<sup>4</sup>, Irina Alkhair<sup>4</sup>, Thangavel Alphonse Thanaraj<sup>5</sup>, Arshad Channanath<sup>5</sup>, Ali A. Dashti<sup>6</sup>, Anwar Albanaw<sup>6</sup>, Hamad Ali<sup>5,6</sup>, Mohamed Abu-Farha<sup>4</sup>, Jehad Abubaker<sup>4</sup> and Fahd Al-Mulla<sup>5\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonietta G. Gravina, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Jin-Wen Song, Fifth Medical Center of the PLA General Hospital, China Polona Žigon, University Medical Centre Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### \*Correspondence:

Mohammad Shehab dr\_mshehab@hotmail.com Fahd Al-Mulla fahd.almulla@dasmaninstitute.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gastroenterology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

**Received:** 01 May 2022 **Accepted:** 07 June 2022 **Published:** 04 July 2022

#### Citation:

Shehab M, Alrashed F, Alfadhli A, Alsayegh A, Aldallal U, Alsayegh M, Cherian P, Alkhair I, Thanaraj TA, Channanath A, Dashti AA, Albanaw A, Ali H, Abu-Farha M, Abubaker J and Al-Mulla F (2022) Immunogenicity of BNT162b2 Vaccine Booster Dose in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Receiving Infliximab Combination Therapy: A Prospective Observational Study. Front. Med. 9:933996. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.933996 <sup>1</sup> Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Mubarak Alkabeer University Hospital, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmacy, Health Sciences Center (HSC), Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>3</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Medical University of Bahrain, Busaiteen, Bahrain, <sup>4</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Dasman Diabetes Institute (DDI), Dasman, Kuwait, <sup>5</sup> Department of Genetics and Bioinformatics, Dasman Diabetes Institute (DDI), Kuwait City, Kuwait, <sup>6</sup> Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Health Sciences Center (HSC), Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait

**Introduction:** Few data exist regarding the immunogenicity of the third dose of BNT162b2 relative to the second dose in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) on different immunosuppressive therapies. We investigated the immunogenicity of BNT162b2 vaccine booster dose in patients with IBD on infliximab combination therapy.

**Method:** This is a prospective single-center observational study conducted from January 1, 2022 to February 28, 2022. Patients were recruited at the time of attendance at the infusion center. Eligibility criteria included patients with a confirmed diagnosis of IBD who are receiving infliximab with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine. Patients who received two doses of BNT162b2 vaccine (second dose group) were compared to patients who had received three doses of BNT162b2 vaccine [third dose (booster) group]. Patients were excluded if they were infected or had symptoms of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) previously since the start of the pandemic or received other vaccines than the BNT162b2. Our primary outcome was the concentrations of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies Immunoglobulin G (IgG) and neutralizing antibodies 40–45 weeks from the first dose of BNT162b2 vaccine in patients with IBD receiving infliximab combination therapy. Medians with interquartile range (IQR) were calculated.

**Results:** In total, 162 patients with IBD and receiving infliximab combination therapy were recruited, and the number of patients in both the second dose group and third dose (booster) group was 81. Mean age was 35 years old in both groups. Median (IQR) SARS-CoV-2 IgG levels were significantly lower after the second dose [125 BAU/ml (43, 192)] compared to patients who received the third booster dose [207 BAU/ml (181, 234)]

(P = 0.003). Neutralizing antibody levels were also lower after the second dose [80% (21, 95)] compared to patients who received the third booster dose [96% (93, 99)] ( $P \le 0.001$ ). The percentage of patients who achieved positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG levels in the third (booster) dose group was 96.3%, whereas it was 86.4% in the second dose group. The percentage of participants who received the third (booster) dose and achieved a positive SARS-CoV-2-neutralizing antibody level was 100%, whereas it was 88.9% in the participants who received the second dose only.

**Conclusion:** Most patients with IBD on infliximab combination therapy had positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing antibody concentrations 40–45 weeks post BNT162b2 vaccination. However, SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing antibody concentrations were lower in patients who received two doses only compared to patients who received a third dose. A longer follow-up study is needed to evaluate decay in antibodies over time.

Keywords: IBD, vaccine, infliximab, COVID-19, immunogenicity, booster

# INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus was first identified to have infected people in the mid-1960s. Since then, multiple subgroupings have emerged. Recent and most notable of which have been severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) originating from Wuhan, China (1, 2). SARS-CoV-2 is particularly dangerous in part due to its heterogeneous symptoms resulting in anything between diarrhea to severe respiratory distress and its high infectious rate. The transmission of the virus occurs via the presence of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors, present on the epithelial type II cells in the lungs and the brush border of gut enterocytes. Here, the virus can then utilize these receptors to access the host's tissue resulting in infection (3). As a result of its rapid spread, SARS-CoV-2, as of May 23, 2022, has infected 525,467,084 confirmed cases, of which 6,285,171 resulted in deaths (4). Despite new variants like Delta and Omicron continuing to cause a global surge in cases, the advent of vaccines, such as boosters, brings confidence that the spread will be curbed.

Global efforts led to the development of highly effective COVID-19 vaccines, with early findings reporting 95% efficacy of mRNA vaccine BNT162b2 against COVID-19 (5, 6). Since then; however, variants sprouted and immunity dwindled. This resulted in the reported efficacy of BNT162b2 against Omicron dropping to 34–37% after 15 weeks of the second dose. Thankfully, the arrival of boosters for BNT162b2 primary course recipients helped push COVID-19 vaccine efficacy back over 70%, making it especially important for the immunocompromised patients such as those with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (7).

Inflammatory bowel disease is a chronic immune-mediated inflammatory process often distinguished between two subtypes, Crohn's disease (CD) and Ulcerative Colitis (UC), impacting millions of patients. IBD is often treated using immunosuppressive drugs like corticosteroids, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitors, thiopurines, and Janus kinase inhibitors, raising concerns over the risk of patient

complications from infectious sources. This is exceptionally significant today, as recent evidence suggests that corticosteroid and 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) use is associated with more severe COVID-19 outcomes such as hospitalization and death (8-11). This can be explained due to a blockage of intracellular signals needed for the host to fight pathogens with patients on immunosuppressive drugs (12, 13). Furthermore, early findings in patients receiving biological treatments such as infliximab combination therapy demonstrated lower SARS-CoV-2 IgG, IgA, and neutralizing antibody levels after BNT162b2 vaccination compared with healthy participants (14). In addition, a previous study demonstrated that the immunogenicity of COVID-19 vaccines varies according to the immunosuppressive drug exposure and is attenuated in recipients of infliximab, infliximab plus thiopurines, and tofacitinib (15). All things considered, most patients displayed significant immunogenicity after two doses of the vaccines, illustrating the potential greater benefits of a third dose (16). Thus, this study aims to assess the immunogenicity of the second dose compared to the third (booster) dose of BNT162b2 vaccine in patients with IBD receiving infliximab with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine (infliximab combination).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

A prospective single-center observational study was conducted at a tertiary care IBD center, Mubarak Al-Kabeer Hospital. Patients were recruited at the time of attendance at the infusion center from January 1, 2022, to February 28, 2022. Patients who received two doses of BNT162b2 vaccine (second dose group) were compared to patients who had received three doses of BNT162b2 vaccine [third dose (booster) group]. This study was performed and reported in accordance with Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines (17). The international classification of diseases (ICD-10 version: 2016) was used to diagnose IBD. Patients were considered to



have IBD when they had ICD-10 K50, K50.1, K50.8, K50.9 corresponding to CD and ICD-10 K51, k51.0, k51.2, k51.3, k51.5, k51.8, k51.9 corresponding to UC (18).

Patients were eligible to be included if they: (1) had a confirmed diagnosis of IBD before the start of the study; (2) were receiving infliximab with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine for at least 6 weeks or more for the induction of remission or with at least one dose of drug received for the maintenance of remission in the previous 8 weeks before the first dose of vaccination; (3) Second dose group: have received two-dose of COVID-19 vaccination with BNT162b2 vaccine, 3 weeks apart. Third dose (booster) group: have received two-dose of COVID-19 vaccination with BNT162b2 vaccine, 3 weeks apart and a third (booster) dose 24 weeks after the second dose (Figure 1); (4) were at least 18 years of age or older. SARS-CoV-2 PCR was performed within 72 h of each vaccine dose, and if positive, patients were excluded. Patients were also excluded if they were infected or had symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 previously since the start of the pandemic. In addition, patients who received other vaccines than the BNT162b2 were excluded. Patients who received corticosteroids 2 weeks before the first dose of the vaccine up to the time of recruitment were also excluded. Finally, patients taking other immunomodulators such as methotrexate were also excluded.

## Outcome Measures

Our primary outcome was the concentrations of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies, including Immunoglobulin G (IgG) and neutralizing antibodies 40–45 weeks after their first dose of BNT162b2 in patients with IBD receiving infliximab combination therapy. Data regarding the type and extent of IBD as well as duration of infliximab combination therapy were also recorded.

## Laboratory Methods

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (SERION ELISA agile SARS-CoV-2 IgG and IgA SERION Diagnostics, Würzburg, Germany) was used to measure plasma levels of SARS-CoV-2-specific IgG antibodies based on the manufacturer's protocol. Units of IgG levels were reported as binding antibody units (BAU)/ml. Values below 31.5 BAU/ml were considered negative or non-protective.

The SARS-CoV-2-Specific Neutralizing Antibodies levels in the plasma were quantified using a SARS-CoV-2-specific surrogate Virus Neutralization Test (sVNT) (SARS-CoV-2 sVNT kit, GenScript, USA, Inc.) based on the manufacturer's protocol. Determination of positive and negative thresholds was performed by following the manufacturer's recommendations. The results were interpreted by calculating inhibition rates

Immunogenicity of	of BNT162b2	Vaccine	Booster	in IBD
-------------------	-------------	---------	---------	--------

 TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of participants.

Characteristic	Second dose, N = 81	Booster dose N = 81
Mean Age (years)	35.2	35.6
Gender n (%)		
Female	38 (47%)	36 (45%)
Male	43 (53%)	45 (55%)
BMI (median)	24.7	25.8
Smoking <i>n</i> (%)	19 (23.0%)	17 (21.0%)
Co-morbidities n (%)		
Diabetes	3 (3.7%)	3 (3.6%)
Hypertension	7 (8.6%)	6 (7.1%)
Heart disease	5 (6.1%)	6 (7.1%)
Arthritis or any autoimmune disease	8 (9.8%)	9 (11%)
COPD	1 (1.2%)	1 (1.2%)
Kidney disease	2 (2.4%)	0 (0%)
Asthma	2 (2.5%)	1 (3.6%)
Hyperlipidemia	9 (11%)	9 (11%)
Duration of infliximab combination therapy (median, months)	12	13
Disease extent n (%)		
Ulcerative colitis (UC)	33 (41%)	36 (44%)
E1: ulcerative proctitis	5 (16%)	6 (18%)
E2: left sided colitis	11 (32%)	12 (33%)
E3: extensive colitis	17 (52%)	18 (49%)
Crohn's disease (CD)	48 (59%)	45 (56%)
L1: ileal	26 (54%)	23 (51%)
L2: colonic	5 (10%)	5 (11%)
L3: ileocolonic	17 (36%)	15 (34%)
L4: upper gastrointestinal	0 (0%)	2 (4%)
B1: inflammatory	21 (44%)	19 (43%)
B2: stricturing	13 (28%)	12 (27%)
B3: penetrating	14 (30%)	14 (30%)
Lab parameters		
CRP, mg/L (median)	6.3	6.2
Albumin, g/L (median)	40	42
ESR, mm/h	11	9
Stool fecal calprotectin, $\mu g/g$ (median)	114	112

for samples per the following equation: Inhibition = (1-sample O.D/O.D negative control)  $\times$  100%. Neutralizing antibody levels below 20% were considered negative or non-protective.

#### **Ethical Consideration**

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Review Board of Dasman Institute "Protocol # RA HM-2021-008" as per the updated guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (64th WMA General Assembly, Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013) and of the US Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. The study was also approved by the Ministry of Health of Kuwait (reference: 3799, protocol number 1729/2021). Subsequently, patient informed written consent was obtained before inclusion in the study.

#### **Statistics**

We performed descriptive statistics to characterize both the second and third (booster) dose groups. The standard descriptive statistics were used to present the demographic characteristics of patients included in this study and their measured antibody levels. Analysis was conducted in R (19). Data are expressed as medians with interquartile range (IQR) unless otherwise indicated. Categorical variables were compared using the Fisher's exact test or Pearson's chi-squared test. The unpaired and paired continuous variables were compared with the Wilcoxon rank-sum test and Wilcoxon signed-rank exact test, respectively. A *P*-value of  $\leq$ 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

Both groups were matched for age, sex, and time-sincefirst vaccine-dose using the optimal pair matching method. The technique attempts to choose matches that collectively optimize an overall criterion. The criterion used was the sum of the absolute pair distances in the matched sample. In addition, the percentage of positive IgG and neutralizing antibody levels was calculated in both groups. The  $\chi^2$  tests were used to assess whether the percentages of positive antibodies differed across categories of both groups.

# RESULTS

#### **Baseline Cohort Characteristics**

Patients were recruited between January 1, 2022 and February 28, 2022. In total, 162 patients were recruited, and serology assays were performed to quantify SARS-CoV-2 antibody levels for all patients. The number of patients included in both the second dose group and third (booster) dose group was 81. The mean age was 35 years old in both groups, and body mass index (BMI) was lower in the second dose group compared to the third dose group (25.8 vs. 24.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). In both groups, most patients had CD (>56%), and more than 20% of patients were smokers. The mean duration between the serology test and second dose of vaccine was 40 weeks, and the mean duration between the serology test and third (booster dose) was 16 weeks. The median duration of infliximab combination therapy was 12 months (see **Table 1**).

## Outcomes

Median (IQR) SARS-CoV-2 IgG level was significantly lower in patients treated with infliximab combination therapy after the second dose [125 BAU/ml (43, 192)] compared to patients who received the third booster dose [207 BAU/ml (181, 234)] following vaccination with BNT162b2 (P = 0.003) (see **Figure 2**). Neutralizing antibody levels were also lower in patients who were treated with infliximab combination therapy after the second dose [80% (21, 95)] compared to patients who received the third booster dose [96% (93, 99)] following vaccination with BNT162b2 ( $P \le 0.001$ ) (see **Table 2** and **Figure 3**).

The percentage of patients who achieved positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG levels in patients who received the third (booster) dose was 96.3% (78 out of 81), whereas



FIGURE 2 | Anti-SARS-CoV-2 -IgG antibody concentrations in patients receiving infliximab combination therapy after the second and third (booster) dose. The median anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG concentration after receiving the second dose was 125 BAU/ml, whereas the median anti-SARS-CoV-2 -IgG antibody concentration was 207 BAU/ml after receiving the third (booster) dose.

TABLE 2   Antibody responses in patients receiving infliximab combination
therapy after third (booster) dose vs. second dose.

Type of antibody test	Second dose, N = 81 <sup>a</sup>	Booster dose, N = 81 <sup>a</sup>	P- value <sup>b</sup>
lgG BAU/ml	125 (43, 192)	207 (181, 234)	0.003
Neutralizing antibody (%)	80 (21, 95)	96 (93, 99)	<0.001

<sup>a</sup>Median (IQR).

<sup>b</sup>Wilcoxon signed-rank exact test; random intercept logistic regression.

the percentage of patients with positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG levels (>31.5 BAU/ml) in patients who received the second dose only was 86.4% (70 out 81) P = 0.026. The percentage of participants who received the third (booster) dose and achieved a positive SARS-CoV-2-neutralizing antibody level was 100%, and the percentage of patients was 88.9% (72 out 81) of the participants who received the second dose only (P = 0.009). Finally, four patients had 0 neutralizing antibody levels after the second dose (see **Figure 4**).



96% after receiving the third (booster) dose.

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that most patients with IBD on infliximab combination therapy had positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing antibody concentrations 40–45 weeks post BNT162b2 vaccination regardless of whether patients received a booster dose or not. However, SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing antibody concentrations were lower in patients who received two doses only compared to patients who received the third (booster) dose. Our study highlighted the importance of the booster dose in the IBD population. A study by Levin et al. (20) found that 6 months after receiving the second dose of the BNT162b2 vaccine, the humoral response was substantially decreased among persons 65 years of age or older and persons with immunosuppression. Levin et al. also showed that SARS-CoV2 IgG and neutralizing antibody levels were lower in older men and participants with immunosuppression.

Another important finding of our study is that the percentage of participants who received the third (booster) dose and achieved positive SARS-CoV-2-neutralizing antibody level was significantly higher at 100%, relative to the percentage of patients who received the second dose only (88.9%). A study by Bergwerk



et al. (21) recently reported a correlation between neutralizing antibody titers and infectivity. Similar to our study, Deepak et al. (22) found that 88.7% (118 of 133) of patients with chronic inflammatory diseases such as IBD and rheumatoid arthritis treated with immunosuppressive medications achieved positive anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgG levels after two doses of the BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 vaccine; however, in many cases, antibody levels were lower than in immunocompetent participants. Another study looked at the SARS-CoV-2 neutralization antibody levels after the second-vaccine dose. Similarly, the study found that 85% of infliximab-treated patients and 86% vedolizumab-treated patients achieved positive neutralizing antibody levels (23). These studies suggested that although the specific threshold of antibody levels that can confer protection against breakthrough infection is still unclear, neutralizing antibodies may still be used to determine the efficacy and protection of vaccines.

The effect of TNF antagonists on serological responses of COVID-19 vaccination is becoming well documented in the literature. One study (15) recruited 362 patients with IBD treated with different immunosuppressive treatment regimens and 121 healthy controls. The authors found that patients treated with infliximab or tofacitinib had lower anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike protein antibody concentrations after two doses of vaccine than healthy controls. On the other hand, reductions in antibody responses were not observed in patients with IBD being treated with thiopurines, ustekinumab, or vedolizumab

compared to control participants. Surprisingly, patients treated with infliximab experienced a 10-times reduction in anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike protein antibody concentrations relative to the control group. Similarly, another study by Shehab et al. recruited 116 patients with IBD receiving infliximab combination therapy. The authors concluded that in patients with IBD receiving infliximab combination therapy, SARS-CoV2 IgG, IgA, and neutralizing antibody levels were lower than the healthy participants (16). Finally, Melmed et al. (23) published a study that assessed antibody titers in adults with IBD who received mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. The study included 582 participants with IBD receiving different immunosuppressive therapies who have been vaccinated with either BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 vaccines. The authors found that the mean SARS-CoV-2 antibody levels at 8 weeks were the highest among those treated with anti-integrin and anti-interleukin-12/23 and lowest among those treated with anti-TNFs combination therapy or corticosteroids; however, the study was not powered to assess differences across medication subgroups. In our study, we also noticed wide variability in the range of IgG and neutralizing antibodies, which could be attributed to age and comorbidity differences among patients. However, the range was narrow after the booster dose, which supports the recommendation for a third dose.

Comparing the efficacy of frequently administered vaccines, such as Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) and Influenza, in IBD patients

can expand our understanding of viral vaccination interactions amid IBD therapies. Prat et al. reported considerably reduced seroprotective levels after HBV vaccinations (HBsAb > 10 and 100 IU/L) among IBD patients receiving anti-TNF therapy (46.3%; P < 0.01) than those who did not. Furthermore, the report also mentioned that IBD patients receiving anti-TNF therapy combined with immunomodulators had worse outcomes, with 40.9% achieving levels adequate for protection (P < 0.001) (24). Similarly, Shirai et al. found that patients receiving anti-TNF therapies, such as infliximab, revealed decreased mean antibody titer after influenza vaccination. This was especially true in patients receiving infliximab combination therapy. Despite the overall reduction, patients still achieved sufficient levels of protection from a single influenza vaccine (25). These reports follow a comparable trend observed among COVID-19 vaccinated IBD patients. Like COVID-19 vaccines, HBV and Influenza vaccines among patients receiving anti-TNF therapy, especially infliximab (with or without combination therapy), exhibited lower seroprotective levels.

Our results build on growing literature confirming that most patients with IBD can mount humoral responses after the second dose of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination, with a small proportion generating poor or no response, which justifies current recommendations for this population to receive a booster dose of BNT162b2 vaccine. In addition, our pre-defined inclusion and exclusion criteria lower the risk of confounding bias, and patients were equally distributed and matched in terms of demographic characteristics such as age, sex, and BMI.

This study has some limitations. We cannot rule out that some of the included patients might have had silent COVID-19 at the time of recruitment, such as by doing SARS-CoV-2 N protein-specific IgG tests, which could have provoked a serological response (26). However, we did PCR testing before each vaccine dose and excluded any patients with current or previous symptoms of COVID-19. In addition, we only assessed positive IgG and neutralizing antibodies. However, we did not investigate cellular immunity, B-, and T-cell responses, which may also play a role in vaccine efficacy. We assessed infliximab with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine only. Further studies are needed to investigate the effect of other immunomodulators. Finally, we did not compare our data to a healthy control group.

# CONCLUSION

Most patients with IBD on infliximab combination therapy had positive SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing

## REFERENCES

- CDC. Human Coronavirus Types. COVID-19. Available online at: https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/types.html (accessed January 30, 2022).
- WHO. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19. (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/directorgeneral/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-themedia-briefing-on-covid-19---3-march-2020 (accessed January 30, 2022).

antibody concentrations 40–45 weeks post BNT162b2 vaccination. However, SARS-CoV-2 IgG and neutralizing antibody concentrations were lower in patients who received two doses relative to patients who received the third (booster) dose. A longer follow-up study is needed to evaluate the decay in antibodies over time.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

are The datasets presented in this article not local readily available because legal restrictions. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to mkh@moh.edu.kw.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Review Board of Dasman Institute Protocol # RA HM-2021-008 as per the updated guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (64th WMA General Assembly, Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013) and of the US Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. The study was also approved by the Ministry of Health of Kuwait (reference: 3799, protocol number 1729/2021). Subsequently, patient informed written consent was obtained before inclusion in the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MS: study concept and design, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and submission of the manuscript. FA, AAlf, AAls, and UA: acquisition of data and drafting of the manuscript. PC and IA: statistical analysis. TT and AC: interpretation of data. AD, AAlb, and HA: data collection and supervision. MA-F, JA, and FA-M: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and study supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This study was funded by the Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) grant (RA HM-2021-008).

- Ahlawat S, Asha, Sharma KK. Immunological Co-ordination between gut and lungs in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Virus Res.* (2020) 286:198103. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198103
- 4. World Health Organization. *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19).* (2022). Available online at: https://covid19.who.int (accessed May 28, 2022).
- Kaur SP, Gupta V. COVID-19 vaccine: a comprehensive status report. Virus Res. (2020) 288:198114. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres. 2020.198114

- Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA covid-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:2603–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577
- Andrews N, Stowe J, Kirsebom F, Toffa S, Rickeard T, Gallagher E, et al. Covid-19 vaccine effectiveness against the omicron (B. 1.1.529) variant. *N Engl J Med.* (2022) 386:1532–46. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2119451
- Khan N, Mahmud N, Trivedi C, Reinisch W, Lewis JD. Risk factors for SARS-CoV-2 infection and course of COVID-19 disease in patients with IBD in the Veterans Affair Healthcare System. *Gut.* (2021) 70:1657– 1664. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324356
- Meyer A, Semenzato L, Zureik M, Weill A, Carbonnel F, Dray-Spira R. Risk of severe COVID-19 in patients treated with IBD medications: a French nationwide study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2021 54:160– 166. doi: 10.1111/apt.16410
- Alrashed F, Battat R, Abdullah I, Charabaty A, Shehab M. Impact of medical therapies for inflammatory bowel disease on the severity of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol.* (2021) 8:e000774. doi: 10.1136/bmjgast-2021-000774
- 11. Brenner EJ, Ungaro RC, Gearry RB, Kaplan GG, Kissous-Hunt M, Lewis JD, et al. Corticosteroids, but not TNF antagonists, are associated with adverse COVID-19 outcomes in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: results from an international registry. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 159:481–91.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.032
- Monteleone G, Ardizzone S. Are patients with inflammatory bowel disease at increased risk for covid-19 infection? *J Crohns Colitis.* (2020) 14:1334– 6. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjaa061
- Govani SM, Higgins PDR. Combination of thiopurines and allopurinol: adverse events and clinical benefit in IBD. J Crohn's Colitis. (2010) 4:444– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2010.02.009
- Kennedy NA, Goodhand JR, Bewshea C, Nice R, Chee D, Lin S, et al. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody responses are attenuated in patients with IBD treated with infliximab. *Gut.* (2021) 70:865–75. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324388
- Alexander JL, Kennedy NA, Ibraheim H, Anandabaskaran S, Saifuddin A, Castro Seoane R, et al. COVID-19 vaccine-induced antibody responses in immunosuppressed patients with inflammatory bowel disease (VIP): a multicentre, prospective, case-control study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2022) 7:342–52. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(22)00005-X
- Shehab M, Abu-Farha M, Alrashed F, Alfadhli A, Alotaibi K, Alsahli A, et al. Immunogenicity of bnt162b2 vaccine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on infliximab combination therapy: a multicenter prospective study. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10:5362. doi: 10.3390/jcm10225362
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Int J Surg.* (2014) 12:1495–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.013
- World Health Organization. *ICD-10 : International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems : Tenth Revision*. 2nd ed. Available online at: https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases (accessed April 30, 2022).

- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Core Team, Vienna, Austria. (2017). Available online at: https://www.Rproject.org/
- Levin EG, Lustig Y, Cohen C, Fluss R, Indenbaum V, Amit S, et al. Waning immune humoral response to BNT162b2 covid-19 vaccine over 6 months. N Engl J Med. (2021) 385:e84. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2114583
- Bergwerk M, Gonen T, Lustig Y, Amit S, Lipsitch M, Cohen C, et al. Covid-19 breakthrough infections in vaccinated health care workers. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:1474–84. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2109072
- 22. Deepak P, Kim W, Paley MA, Yang M, Carvidi AB, Demissie EG, et al. Effect of immunosuppression on the immunogenicity of mRNA vaccines to SARS-CoV-2. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:1572–1585. doi: 10.7326/M2 1-1757
- Melmed GY, Botwin GJ, Sobhani K, Li D, Prostko J, Figueiredo J, et al. Antibody responses after SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination in in adults with inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:1768– 1770. doi: 10.7326/M21-2483
- Pratt PK, David N, Weber HC, Little FF, Kourkoumpetis T, Patts GJ, et al. Antibody response to hepatitis B virus vaccine is impaired in patients with inflammatory bowel disease on infliximab therapy. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2018) 24:380–6. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izx001
- 25. Shirai S, Hara M, Sakata Y, Tsuruoka N, Yamamoto K, Shimoda R, et al. Immunogenicity of quadrivalent influenza vaccine for patients with inflammatory bowel disease undergoing immunosuppressive therapy. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2018) 24:1082–91. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izx101
- Ali H, Alahmad B, Al-Shammari AA, Alterki A, Hammad M, Cherian P, et al. Previous COVID-19 infection and antibody levels after vaccination. *Front Public Heal.* (2021) 9:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021. 778243

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Shehab, Alrashed, Alfadhli, Alsayegh, Aldallal, Alsayegh, Cherian, Alkhair, Thanaraj, Channanath, Dashti, Albanaw, Ali, Abu-Farha, Abubaker and Al-Mulla. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





**@** 

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

**Contact us:** frontiersin.org/about/contact

**Frontiers** 

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your